FRONTIERS IN BRAIN BASED THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS AND BIOMARKER RESEARCH IN CHILD AND ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRY

EDITED BY: Paul E. Croarkin and Stephanie H. Ameis PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-954-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-954-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

FRONTIERS IN BRAIN BASED THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS AND BIOMARKER RESEARCH IN CHILD AND ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRY

Topic Editors: Paul E. Croarkin, Mayo Clinic, USA

Stephanie H. Ameis, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health & The Hospital for Sick Children & University of Toronto, Canada

Developmental neuroscience research is on the cusp of unprecedented advances in the understanding of how variations in brain structure and function within neural circuits confer risk for symptoms of childhood psychiatric disorders. Novel dimensional approaches to illness classification, the availability of non-invasive, diverse and increasingly sophisticated methods to measure brain structure and function in humans in vivo, and advances in genetics, animal model and multimodal research now place brain-based biomarkers within reach in the field of psychiatry. These advances hold great promise for moving neuroscience research into the clinical realm. One exciting new area of translational research in child and adolescent psychiatry, is in the use of a variety of neuroscience research tools to track brain response to clinical intervention. Examples of this include: using longitudinal neuroimaging techniques to track changes in white matter microstructure following a training intervention for children with poor reading skills, or using functional imaging to compare brain activity before and after children with bipolar disorder begin taking psychotropic medication treatment. Brain stimulation is another cutting-edge research area where brain response to the rapeutic intervention can be closely tracked with electroencephalography or other brain imaging modalities. Research using neuroscience tools to track brain response to clinical interventions is beginning to yield novel insights into the etiopathogenesis of psychiatric illness, and is providing preliminary feedback around how therapeutic interventions work in the brain to bring about symptom improvement. Using these novel approaches, neuroscience research may soon move into the clinical realm to target early pathophysiology, and tailor treatments to both individuals and specific neurodevelopmental trajectories, in an effort to alter the course of development and mitigate risk for a lifetime of morbidity and ineffective treatments. Excitement and progress in these areas must be tempered with safety and ethical considerations for these vulnerable populations. This research topic focuses on efforts to use neuroscience research tools to identify brain-based biomarkers of therapeutic response in child and adolescent psychiatry.

Citation: Croarkin, P. E., Ameis, S. H., eds. (2016). Frontiers in Brain Based Therapeutic Interventions and Biomarker Research in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-954-9

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Editorial

05 Editorial: Frontiers in Brain-Based Therapeutic Interventions and Biomarker Research in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

Paul E. Croarkin and Stephanie H. Ameis

Chapter 2 Neurodevelopmental Disorders

08 Biomarkers in autism

Andre A. S. Goldani, Susan R. Downs, Felicia Widjaja, Brittany Lawton and Robert L. Hendren

21 A comparison of neuroimaging findings in childhood onset schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorder: a review of the literature

Danielle A. Baribeau and Evdokia Anagnostou

36 Upregulated GABA inhibitory function in ADHD children with child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile: 123I-iomazenil SPECT study

Shinichiro Nagamitsu, Yushiro Yamashita, Hitoshi Tanigawa, Hiromi Chiba, Hayato Kaida, Masatoshi Ishibashi, Tatsuyuki Kakuma, Paul E. Croarkin and Toyojiro Matsuishi

Chapter 3 Affective Disorders

43 A preliminary study of white matter in adolescent depression: relationships with illness severity, anhedonia, and irritability

Sarah E. Henderson, Amy R. Johnson, Ana I. Vallejo, Lev Katz, Edmund Wong and Vilma Gabbay

55 Meta-analyses of developing brain function in high-risk and emerged bipolar disorder

Moon-Soo Lee, Purnima Anumagalla, Prasanth Talluri and Mani N. Pavuluri

65 Stress, inflammation, and cellular vulnerability during early stages of affective disorders: biomarker strategies and opportunities for prevention and intervention

Adam J. Walker, Yesul Kim, J. Blair Price, Rajas P. Kale, Jane A. McGillivray, Michael Berk and Susannah J. Tye

Chapter 4 Eating Disorders

73 Neural responses during social and self-knowledge tasks in bulimia nervosa Carrie J. McAdams and Daniel C. Krawczyk

85 Altered SPECT 123I-iomazenil Binding in the Cingulate Cortex of Children with Anorexia Nervosa

Shinichiro Nagamitsu, Rieko Sakurai, Michiko Matsuoka, Hiromi Chiba, Shuichi Ozono, Hitoshi Tanigawa, Yushiro Yamashita, Hayato Kaida, Masatoshi Ishibashi, Tatsuki Kakuma, Paul E. Croarkin and Toyojiro Matsuishi

Chapter 5 Treatment Innovation in Children and Youth

94 Assessing and stabilizing aberrant neuroplasticity in autism spectrum disorder: the potential role of transcranial magnetic stimulation

Pushpal Desarkar, Tarek K. Rajji, Stephanie H. Ameis and Zafiris Jeff Daskalakis

100 Neurocognitive effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in adolescents with major depressive disorder

Christopher A. Wall, Paul E. Croarkin, Shawn M. McClintock, Lauren L. Murphy, Lorelei A. Bandel, Leslie A. Sim and Shirlene M. Sampson





Editorial: Frontiers in Brain-Based Therapeutic Interventions and Biomarker Research in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

Paul E. Croarkin^{1*} and Stephanie H. Ameis^{2,3,4}

¹ Noninvasive Brain Stimulation Program, Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic Depression Center, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA, ² The Margaret and Wallace McCain Centre for Child, Youth and Family Mental Health, Temerty Centre for Therapeutic Brain Intervention, Slaight Centre for Youth in Transition, Campbell Family Mental Health Research Institute, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Centre for Brain & Mental Health, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴ Child & Youth Mental Health Division, Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, ON, Canada

Keywords: adolescent, biomarker, child, child and adolescent psychiatry, neuroimaging, non-invasive brain stimulation, pediatric

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Frontiers in Brain-Based Therapeutic Interventions and Biomarker Research in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by: Stefan Borgwardt, University of Basel, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Paul E. Croarkin croarkin.paul@mayo.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroimaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> **Received:** 19 June 2016 **Accepted:** 27 June 2016 **Published:** 05 July 2016

Citation:

Croarkin PE and Ameis SH (2016) Editorial: Frontiers in Brain-Based Therapeutic Interventions and Biomarker Research in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Front. Psychiatry 7:123. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00123 Childhood psychiatric disorders present challenges given the heterogeneity of presentations, instability of phenotypes, and nascent understanding of neurodevelopment. Recent efforts, such as the National Institute of Mental Health Research Domain Criteria, aim to hone precision medicine approaches for psychiatric disorders (1). Elucidating the ontogeny of psychiatric illnesses and underlying neurobiology is a mandate for advancing modern clinical practice. Recent advances in neuroimaging, preclinical studies, genomics, and non-invasive brain stimulation may soon provide improved monitoring of development in health and disease. These tools also hold great promise for developing biological markers of illness that may be targeted through treatment innovation. This research topic surveys recent developmentally informed clinical neuroscience efforts focused on conditions that affect children and adolescents. Broadly, this includes studies focusing on neurodevelopmental disorders, eating disorders, mood disorders, and treatment innovations.

NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

Recent changes in descriptive diagnostic criteria, such as DSM-5 (2), aim to bridge basic science findings with clinical practice (3). Goldani et al. examine existing literature focused on putative biomarkers of autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Markers of mitochondrial function, oxidative stress, genetic clustering, and inflammation are promising approaches. However, at present, there is insufficient evidence to embed these markers into clinical practice (Goldani et al.). In other efforts to better understand neurobiology in ASD and related neurodevelopmental disorders, Baribeau and Anagnostou review neuroimaging correlates of ASD and schizophrenia. Volumetric changes, cortical thickness differences, and white matter changes in childhood onset schizophrenia (COS) appear to attenuate with age. Impaired local connectivity may also be coupled with amplified long-range connectivity in this condition. Neuroimaging findings in ASD collectively suggest an initial period of brain verdancy followed by dysmorphogenesis in adolescence. Furthermore in ASD, patterns of

local hyper-connectivity are coupled with impaired long-range neural communication (Baribeau and Anagnostou). Nagamitsu et al. present recent dimensional work with brain single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) in participants with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Children with ADHD, and higher scores on the child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile had significantly increased ¹²³I-iomazenil biding in the posterior cingulate cortex. These data suggest that GABAergic inhibitory neurons are involved in the pathophysiology of ADHD (Nagamitsu et al.).

AFFECTIVE DISORDERS

Recent controversies surrounding the phenotyping of childhood mood disorders underscore the necessity of ongoing work focused on the neurobiological characterization of affective disorders during neurodevelopment (4). Henderson et al. examine white matter microorganization as assessed with diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) in adolescents with depression and healthy controls. Anhedonia and irritability were associated with unique neuroanatomical signatures. This promising early work suggests that prefrontal and limbic tracts are disrupted in depression and unique symptom presentations may have DTI signatures (Henderson et al.). Lee et al. examine brain function of healthy control participants, high-risk offspring, and youth with bipolar disorder by means of a meta-analytic approach. The authors postulated that greater activity in high-risk participants signifies potential compensatory mechanisms, whereas more widespread findings in bipolar patients signified chronic disease processes (Lee et al.). Finally, Walker et al. propose a compelling model for the mood disorder prodrome. These authors posit that early life stress, inflammation, and allosteric load are key contributors to disease burden, disease progression, and neuropathology (Walker et al.).

EATING DISORDERS

Eating disorders are severely impairing psychiatric illnesses, with high mortality rates, and profound neurobiologic underpinnings (5). Herein, McAdams and Krawczyk describe findings from a study of patients with anorexia, patients with bulimia, and healthy controls. Participants were exposed to social attribution, social identity, and physical identity fMRI tasks. Consistently throughout each region of interest, average activation levels for bulimic participants were greater than the group of patients with anorexia, but less than healthy participants. The authors concluded that patients with eating disorders could have a similar biological substrate in terms of social functioning, yet a distinctive functional characterization is a plausible pursuit for future work (McAdams and Krawczyk). Nagamitsu et al. also present intriguing work focused on developing SPECT biomarkers to guide the treatment of children with anorexia nervosa. In children with anorexia nervosa, decreased ¹²³I-iomazenil binding in the anterior cingulate and left parietal cortices was associated with a suboptimal response to treatment. Successful weight restoration was associated with increased relative binding of ¹²³I-iomazenil in the posterior cingulate and occipital cortices (Nagamitsu et al.).

TREATMENT INNOVATION IN CHILDREN AND YOUTH

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a powerful therapeutic and neurophysiological probe. Neurocognitive outcomes are key both in terms of safety and for intervention development, as they may serve as optimal clinical outcome measures in youth (6, 7). Wall et al. report on a study in which eighteen depressed adolescents received 30 sessions of 10-Hz rTMS, applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Participants demonstrated improvements in delayed verbal recall and memory. Furthermore, there were no decrements in other neurocognitive dimensions (Wall et al.). Desarkar et al. postulate that imbalances in excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission could underlie aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD. At the receptor level, this may involve excessive NMDA and deficient GABAmediated neurotransmission. Interventions with high frequency rTMS may have a role in stabilizing dysregulated neuroplasticity in ASD (Desarkar et al.).

In conclusion, the synthesis of neuroscience with child and adolescent psychiatry is yielding important discoveries and new directions for treatment innovation. However, we have yet to make the discoveries necessary to bring neuroscience research into the clinical realm through specific biomarker discovery that could pave the way for precision medicine where biomarkers are profiled in the clinic and individualized treatments are selected to optimize neurodevelopmental trajectories, mitigate the long-term effects of psychiatric illness, and maximize functioning for individuals. Novel research tools, innovative study designs that go beyond the case-control model, longitudinal research that identifies developmental trajectories within heterogeneous conditions, and largescale studies with the power to detect small effects are likely the next frontier in research focused on advancing our understanding of neurobiological underpinnings and developing biologically informed treatments for children and youth with mental illness.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. PC has received financial support from the Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, the Mayo Foundation, and NIMH (grant K23 MH100266). The content of this editorial and research topic is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Dr. SA receives financial support from the CAMH Foundation *via* the O'Brien Scholarship Fund, the University of Toronto, Faculty of Medicine, Dean's Fund New Staff Grant, and the Ontario Mental Health Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Garvey M, Avenevoli S, Anderson K. The national institute of mental health research domain criteria and clinical research in child and adolescent psychiatry. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2016) 55(2):93–8. doi:10.1016/j. jaac.2015.11.002
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).
- Lord C, Bishop SL. Recent advances in autism research as reflected in DSM-5 criteria for autism spectrum disorder. *Ann Rev Clin Psychol* (2015) 11:53–70. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112745
- Wiggins JL, Brotman MA, Adleman NE, Kim P, Oakes AH, Reynolds RC, et al. Neural correlates of irritability in disruptive mood dysregulation and bipolar disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* (2016). doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15060833
- Lutter M, Croghan AE, Cui H. Escaping the golden cage: animal models of eating disorders in the post-diagnostic and statistical manual era. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 79(1):17–24. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.006
- Krishnan C, Santos L, Peterson MD, Ehinger M. Safety of noninvasive brain stimulation in children and adolescents. *Brain Stimul* (2015) 8(1):76–87. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.10.012

 Croarkin PE, Daskalakis ZJ. Could repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation improve neurocognition in early-onset schizophrenia spectrum disorders? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2012) 51(9):949–51. doi:10.1016/j. jaac.2012.05.012

Conflict of Interest Statement: Dr. PC has received in-kind support for research (supplies and genotyping) from Assurex Health. He has received in-kind support for equipment from Neuronetics. He has received travel support and research support (investigator-initiated trial and serves as a site primary investigator for a multicenter study) from Neuronetics. He has received research support from Pfizer (investigator-initiated grant). Dr. SA has no financial conflicts of interest to declare.

Copyright © 2016 Croarkin and Ameis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Biomarkers in autism

Andre A. S. Goldani¹, Susan R. Downs², Felicia Widjaja², Brittany Lawton² and Robert L. Hendren²*

¹ Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

² Department of Psychiatry, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Edited by:

Paul Croarkin, Mayo Clinic, USA

Reviewed by:

Randi Hagerman, UC Davis Medical Center, USA Richard Eugene Frye, Harvard University, USA

*Correspondence:

Robert L. Hendren, University of California San Francisco, 401 Parnassus Avenue, San Francisco, CA 94143-0984, USA e-mail: robert.hendren@ucsf.edu Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are complex, heterogeneous disorders caused by an interaction between genetic vulnerability and environmental factors. In an effort to better target the underlying roots of ASD for diagnosis and treatment, efforts to identify reliable biomarkers in genetics, neuroimaging, gene expression, and measures of the body's metabolism are growing. For this article, we review the published studies of potential biomarkers in autism and conclude that while there is increasing promise of finding biomarkers that can help us target treatment, there are none with enough evidence to support routine clinical use unless medical illness is suspected. Promising biomarkers include those for mitochondrial function, oxidative stress, and immune function. Genetic clusters are also suggesting the potential for useful biomarkers.

Keywords: biomarker, autism spectrum disorders, epigenetics, treatment targets, neuroimaging, genetics

INTRODUCTION

Several neurodevelopmental disorders have complex genetic and epigenetic features that lead to their phenotype and for some there is no single genetic marker for the diagnosis; therefore, the diagnosis is made phenotypically as in schizophrenia, ADHD, and autism spectrum disorder (ASD). While phenotypic characterization of neurodevelopmental disorders is an integral part of advances in clinical practice and research, a given phenotype may arise from a diverse set of biochemical processes (especially when the disorder is caused by numerous genetic and epigenetic factors). Therefore, the treatment of a "phenotypic diagnosis" with a specific drug or intervention might be extremely effective for one "phenotypically characterized" individual with a given set of genetic and/or epigenetic biomarkers, but completely ineffective for another with a different pattern of biomarkers. An important goal of ongoing research in ASD, therefore, is to more precisely identify the many different abnormal genetic and epigenetic processes that underlie the phenotype of the disorder. This might allow individuals with ASD to be characterized into subsets with certain biomarker profiles that would respond more favorably to specific treatments. It also has the potential to elucidate the abnormal physiology that leads to autism, which could improve the understanding of the disorder and lead to earlier diagnosis and more targeted treatments.

A significant challenge in identifying biomarkers in ASD is that biomarkers may reflect genetic and neurobiological changes or epigenetic (broadly defined, see below) processes that may be active only during particular periods of time and do not define the disorder, only the process that led to it. In addition, treatment research should ideally include biomarkers that are believed to predict improvements in clinical symptoms from clinical interventions (1) to know if an intervention is altering or targeting an active biomedical process that relates to response in the subject at that time. Indeed, the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) has changed how they fund clinical trials so that "trial proposals will need to identify a target or mediator; a positive result will require not only that an intervention ameliorated a symptom but also that it had a demonstrable effect on a target, such as a neural pathway implicated in the disorder or a key cognitive operation"(2).

Traditionally, research in psychiatry has been guided by DSM symptom based diagnoses and selection criteria for clinical trials were based on these symptom clusters. Biomarkers have not been reliable or valid markers of response to treatment in past trials, and this may be due to the wide variety of genetic and epigenetic processes that underlie the DSM-based diagnosis. Recently, progress in biomarker research has led to the commitment to the Research Domain Criteria project (RDoC) as a basis for future NIMH funding for biomarker based research (3, 4). The RDoC goal is to define basic dimensions of functioning to be studied across multiple units of analysis, from genes to neural circuits to behaviors, cutting across disorders as traditionally defined. The intent is to translate rapid progress in basic neurobiological and behavioral research to an improved integrative understanding of psychopathology and the development of new and/or optimally matched treatments for mental disorders (5).

In this article, we review the literature on biomarkers for ASD including genetic, epigenetic, brain based, and body metabolism biomarkers. This is a huge area and this review is not intended to be comprehensive. New potential biomarkers for ASD are being identified every day so the list needs to be updated frequently. We do extensively review the literature at the time of this writing, report on methodologically sounds studies, offer summary tables, and summarize what we know.

GENETIC BIOMARKERS

The literature supports a hereditary component in the susceptibility to ASDs, there are much higher concordance rates of ASDs in monozygotic twins (92%) than dizygotic twins (10%), and a recent estimate of the sibling recurrence risk ratio (λ s) is 22 for autism. Despite being highly heritable, ASDs show heterogeneous clinical symptoms and genetic architecture, which have hindered the identification of common genetic susceptibility factors. Although previous linkage studies, candidate gene association studies, and cytogenetic studies have implicated several chromosomal regions for the presence of autism susceptibility loci, they have not consistently identified and replicated common genetic variants that increase the risk of ASDs other than some clearly genetic disorders such as fragile X, tuberous sclerosis, and RASopathies whose phenotypes meet the ASD category description (5). As autism is not a single clinical entity, it can be viewed as a behavioral manifestation of tens or perhaps hundreds of genetic and genomic disorders (6). It has been estimated that there are over 500 distinct genetic loci that may be related to ASD (7) (**Figure 1**).

In addition, recent research has shown that there are many epigenetic mechanisms that could account for hereditary influences. A study by Hallmayer et al. (9) reports that the environment may actually account for more of the etiology of autism than genetics. Their study, the largest population-based twin study of autism that used contemporary standards for the autism diagnosis, found that heritability estimated at 38%, while shared environmental component was 58% (9). Heritability of ASD and autistic disorder is estimated to be approximately 50% (10).

Being one of the most familial psychiatric disorders, autism has garnered inquiries about possible genetic biomarkers (11); however, progress has been slow until recently with the introduction of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and microarrays (12). Research into the microbiological underpinnings of ASDs suggests that it is not a monogenic disorder following Mendelian tendencies, with a few studied individuals and families as notable exceptions (11). In fact, the literature suggests that the risk of developing autism is derived by variations across many genes, none of which have been conclusively, definitively responsible for ASDs although some individuals with single gene disorders such as fragile X also meet the criteria for ASD.

Genome-wide association studies have identified, with replication, *de novo* variations that are strongly associated (with sufficient



Neurexin 1 (NRXN1) deletion
7q11.23 duplication
15q11-13 duplication
16p11.2 duplication and deletion
SHANK 3
SHANK 2
SNC2A
CHD8
DYRKIA
POG2
GRIN2B
KATNAL2
CNTN4 deletion
CNTNAP2
5p14.1
CDH10
CDH9
MTHFR 677 > T
SEMA5A
TAS2R1
2q22.1
3p26.3
4q12
14q23
NLGN4

power) with ASDs (**Table 1**): deletions at the Neurexin 1 (NRXN1) locus, duplications at 7q11.23, duplications at 15q11-13, and deletions and duplications at 16p11.2. Earlier studies found rare, functional mutations in genes encoding for NRXN1, SHANK3, and SHANK2, all of which are proteins that affect the functioning of synapses and have been linked to other, known genetic disorders (12). In addition, whole exome sequencing verified by four reports have found genetic mutations associated with autism including SNC2A, CHD8, DYRKIA, POG2, GRIN2B, and KATNAL2 (13).

Studying particular genes in certain, recognized disorders with social deficits, such as fragile X syndrome and tuberous sclerosis, may shed light on the genetic underpinnings of ASDs. This strategy gives credence to the idea that ASD is the result of many variations among genes that converge to a similar phenotype. A prime example of implementation of such a strategy is with contactin 4 (CNTN4), and its association with social and intellectual disability in a recurrent deletion syndrome. Mutations in the respective genes are identified in idiopathic ASDs. Similarly, mutations in CNTNAP2 are linked to a variety of results, such as language delay, functional connectivity abnormalities, selective mutism, and anxiety. More importantly in the scope of ASDs, alterations in CNTNAP2 are noted in consanguineous pedigrees (12). Research shows an increased prevalence of ASDs in families that are consanguineous (11).

In a study published by Nature in 2009, Wang and colleagues completed a genetic analysis in a large number of ASD individuals and families, with a combined sample set of more than 10,000 subjects of European ancestry. They identified common genetic variants on 5p14.1 that are associated with susceptibility to ASDs and replicated these findings in separate analyses. The contribution of chromosome 5p14 to cell adhesion and its connection to autism susceptibility supports the conclusion that specific genes in this class help create the connectivity and structure of the brain that ultimately leads to ASD (14). Besides the potential role of the nearby CDH10 and CDH9 genes, pathway-based association analysis lend further support to neuronal cell-adhesion molecules in conferring susceptibility to ASDs, suggesting that specific genetic variants in this gene class may be involved in shaping the physical structure and functional connectivity of the brain that leads to the clinical manifestations of ASDs (14).

Among the common polymorphisms found to be associated with autism risk, the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) polymorphism is one of the most widely studied genetic correlations with autism. The MTHFR 677C > T polymorphism causes a reduction in enzyme activity, which results in higher production of 5-formyltetrahydrofolate (5-FTHF) necessary for DNA synthesis and repair along with lower 5-MTHF production. The MTHFR 677C > T polymorphism causes decline of normal enzyme activity to 35% (15). The MTHFR 677T-variant allele is correlated with a 2.79-fold increased risk for autism. However, this study also found that MTRR 66A and SHMT 1420T alleles demonstrated protective roles against autism risk (16). MTHFR also has a strong interaction with maternal folic acid intake before and during pregnancy, which is associated with autism risk. Children with high autism risk whose mothers carried MTHFR 677 TT allele and were reported taking prenatal vitamins had fewer diagnoses of autism than the children whose mothers with the same allele and did not take prenatal vitamins (17).

In several GWAS (14, 18–20), four genes have been associated with ASDs. These genes, cadherin (CDH9), cadherin 10 (CDH10), semaphorin 5A (SEMA5A), and taste receptor, type 2, member 1 (TAS2R1), are found on chromosome 5p14, which regulates axon growth and cell adhesion. While gene networks could not be established from the small number of genes, these findings do suggest that these genes and the dysregulation of synaptic connection may be a key feature in ASDs (21).

Griswold and coworkers found a significantly higher burden in the number and size of deletions carried by ASD individuals when compared with controls (22). Among the copy-number variations (CNVs) identified were several that overlapped with well-established autism-associated regions and candidate genes. They isolated four large, novel deletions on 2q22.1, 3p26.3, 4q12, and 14q23 that include new genes and regions linked to ASDs. Scattered findings related to NLGN4 and autism susceptibility occur across cultures. In the Chinese ASD cases, there were no significant findings regarding SNPs along NLGN4 gene and autism risk (23), yet in Greek ASD cases, nine nucleotide changes in NLGN4X are found to be associated with autism (24).

Copy-number variations has unveiled the overexpression of rare, *de novo* structural variations in the genome of simplex families (families which have one affected offspring) when compared to families with multiple affected offspring, and especially control families. Furthermore, these results have been replicated in later studies, bolstering the confidence in which discoveries can be made about genetic ties with common diseases and autism (12); however, *de novo* CNVs have been found in only 5-10% of researched subjects, and thus, do not make up the majority of affected, researched individuals. Despite this finding, it seems as though large (>100 kb), multigenic *de novo* CNVs are the most indicative of ASD risk at this time.

The genetic component of a disorder can be transmitted or acquired through de novo ("new") mutations. A study based on a 343 family subset of the Simons Simplex collection did not find significantly greater numbers of de novo missense mutations in affected versus unaffected children, but gene-disrupting mutations (nonsense, splice site, and frame shifts) were twice as frequent (59 versus 28) (25). They found that the father is more frequently the parent of origin for de novo mutations than the mother (50/17) for single nucleotide variants (SNVs). Parental age also appears to play a role in mutation rate. A study published in Nature found that the rate of de novo SNVs increases with paternal age (p = 0.008) and that paternal and maternal ages are highly correlated (p < 0.0001) (26). Overall these data demonstrate that non-synonymous de novo SNVs, and particularly highly disruptive nonsense and splice-site de novo mutations, are associated with ASD.

Several companies are marketing genetic testing for autism based on clusters of genes with a strong clustering for ASD risk (27, 28). In the future, there may be biomarkers that can pinpoint for high risk for ASD diagnosis. For example, a mother who may be high risk for immune dysfunction leading to ASD in a second child once the first child has ASD (29) or the increase in the AktmTOR pathway, which can be seen in fragile X syndrome and in other ASD subtypes (30).

EPIGENETICS

Considerable symptom severity differences within ASDconcordant monozygotic twins, strongly implicates a role for non-genetic epigenetic factors (31). Epigenetics refers to the study of heritable changes in gene activity that are not caused by changes in the DNA sequence; it also can be used to describe the study of stable, long-term alterations in the transcriptional potential of a cell that are not necessarily heritable. Epigenetic changes in ASD occur through methylation, histone modification (31), chromatin remodeling, transcriptional feedback loops, and RNA silencing (32). Processes in the gene \times environment interaction that influence gene expression include metabolic processes such as oxidative stress, mitochondrial function, methylation, immune function, and inflammation that are byproducts of influences such as the mothers and fathers immune systems, environmental toxicants, and diet to name a few. This section will review these epigenetic influences associated with ASD.

Studies show that DNA methylation differences can occur in many loci including AFF2, AUTS2, GABRB3, NLGN3, NRXN1, SLC6A4, UBE3A (31), the oxytocin receptor (33), MeCP2 (a cause for most cases of Rett syndrome) in the frontal cortex (34), and changed chromatin structure in prefrontal cortex neurons at hundreds of loci (35). The severity of the autistic phenotype is related to DNA methylation at specific sites across the genome (31). Environmental and physiological influences are important factors accounting for interindividual DNA methylation differences, and these influences differ across the genome (36). The following sections describe markers for metabolic pathways and environmental influences that can effect epigenetic changes.

METABOLIC BIOMARKERS

There are no autism-defining, metabolic biomarkers, but examining the biomarkers of pathways associated with ASD can point to potentially treatable metabolic abnormalities and provide a baseline that can be tracked over time. Each child may have different metabolic pathologies related to SNPs, nutrient deficiencies, and toxic exposures. Examples of metabolic disorders that can lead to an autistic-like presentation include phenylketonuria (PKU) (37), disorders of purine metabolism (38), biotinidase deficiency (39), cerebral folate deficiency (40), creatine deficiency (41), and excess propionic acid (which is produced by *Clostridium*) (42, 43).

A recent review assessed the research on physiological abnormalities associated with ASD (44). The authors identified four main mechanisms that have been increasingly studied during the past decade: immunologic/inflammation, oxidative stress, environmental toxicants, and mitochondrial abnormalities. In addition, there is accumulating research on the lipid, GI systems, microglial activation, and the microbiome, and how these can also contribute to generating biomarkers associated with ASD (45, 46).

Pathways are interconnected with a defect in one likely leading to dysfunction in others. Many metabolic disorders can lead to endpoints such as impaired methylation, sulfuration, and detoxification pathways and nutritional deficiencies. Mitochondrial dysfunction, environmental risk factors, metabolic imbalances, and genetic susceptibility can all lead to oxidative stress (47), which in turn leads to inflammation, damaged cell membranes, autoimmunity (48), impaired methylation (49), cell death (48), and neurological deficits (50). The brain is highly vulnerable to oxidative stress (51), particularly in children (52) during the early part of development (47). As environmental events and metabolic imbalances affect oxidative stress and methylation, they also can affect the expression of genes.

Several studies have detected altered levels of a large collection of substances in body-based fluids from ASD subjects compared to controls (e.g., serum, whole-blood, and CSF) (53). These findings encompass either of two main disease-provoking mechanisms: a CNS disorder that is being detected peripherally [e.g., serotonin and its metabolites, sulfate (54), low platelet levels of gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) (55), low oxytocin (which affects social affiliation) (56), and low vitamin D levels (57, 58)] or a systemic abnormality that has repercussions in the brain (59).

Serotonin in the brain promotes prosocial behavior and correct assessment of emotional, social cues (60) and can contribute to immune abnormalities (61). Oxytocin can affect social affiliation and social communication deficits (62). Vitamin D has many effects including regulating serotonin synthesis, reducing maternal antibodies that attack the fetal brain, modulating oxytocin synthesis, lowering GI inflammation by lowering gut serotonin (58), DNA repair, anti-inflammatory actions, anti-autoimmune activities, antiseizure activity, increase in regulatory T cells, mitochondrial protection, stimulation of antioxidant pathway (63), and increasing glutathione (64).

OXIDATIVE STRESS MARKERS

Oxidative stress can be detected by studying antioxidant status, antioxidant enzymes, lipid peroxidation, and protein/DNA oxidation, all of which have been found to be elevated in children with autism (**Table 2**). Different subgroups of children with ASD have different redox abnormalities, which may arise from various sources (65). A recent meta-analysis from 29 studies of blood samples from subjects with ASD shows that reduced levels of glutathione, glutathione peroxidase, methionine, and cysteine along with increased levels of oxidized glutathione are statistically different in ASD (66). The level of antioxidants excreted in urine was found to be significantly lower than normal in autistic children. These findings correlated with the severity of the ASD (67).

Measurements of antioxidant status include measurement of *glutathione*, the primary antioxidant in the protection against oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and mitochondrial damage (68, 69). Glutathione is instrumental in regulating detoxification pathways and modulates the production of precursors to advanced glycation end products (AGEs) (70). Measuring reduced glutathione, oxidized glutathione, or the ratio of reduced glutathione to oxidized glutathione helps determine the patient's oxidation status. In many patients with ASD, the ratio of reduced glutathione to oxidized glutathione is decreased, indicating a poor oxidation status (71).

The enzyme glutathione peroxidase has been used as a marker and is typically reduced. There are mixed results concerning the enzyme levels of *superoxide dismutase* (*SOD*) (72). Other markers for glutathione inadequacy include alpha hydroxybutyrate, pyroglutamate, and sulfate, which can be assessed in an organic acid test. Lipid peroxidation refers to the oxidative degradation of cell membranes. There is a significant correlation between the severity autism and urinary lipid peroxidation products (67), which are increased in patients with ASD.

Plasma F2t-Isoprostanes (F2-IsoPs) are the most sensitive indicator of redox dysfunction and are considered by some to be the gold standard measure of oxidative stress (73). They are increased in patients with ASD and are even higher when accompanied by gastrointestinal dysfunction (73). F2t-isoprostanes (F2-IsoPs) can be measured in the urine as well.

Urine 8-OHdG is biomarker for oxidative damage to DNA. It is commonly used although there are confounding factors and intra individual variations (74) and some researchers have reported that the increases in urine 8-OHdG in patients with ASD is not significant. The increases in urine 8-OHdG did not reach statistical significance (75).

Decreased levels of major antioxidant serum proteins *trans-ferrin* (iron-binding protein) and *ceruloplasmin* (copper binding protein) have been observed in patients with ASD. The levels of reduction in these proteins correlate with loss of previously acquired language (47) although there are mixed reviews of the significance of this (66).

Plasma 3-chlortyrosine (3CT), a measure of reactive nitrogen species and myeloperoxidase activity, is an established biomarker of chronic inflammatory response. Plasma 3CT levels reportedly increased with age for those with ASD and mitochondrial dysfunction but not for those with ASD without mitochondrial dysfunction (65).

Table 2 | Oxidative stress biomarkers in ASD (see text for references).

Glutathione – reduced/oxidized
Methionine
Cysteine
Organic acid test – alpha hydroxybutyrate, pyroglutamate, and sulfate
Plasma F2t-isoprostanes (F2-IsoPs)
Urine8-OHdG
Transferrin
Ceruloplasmin
Plasma 3-chlortyrosine (3CT)
3-Nitrotyrosine (3NT)

Table 3 | Mitochondrial function biomarkers in ASD (see text for references).

Lactate	
Pyruvate	
Lactate/pyruvate ratio	
Carnitine (free and total)	
Alanine	
Quantitative plasma amino acids	
Ubiquinone	
Ammonia	
CD	
AST/ALT	
CO ₂	
Creatine kinase	
Aspartate aminotransferase	
Serum creatine kinase	
Serum creatine kinase	

3-Nitrotyrosine (3NT) is a plasma measure of chronic immune activation and is a biomarker of oxidative protein damage and neuron death. This measure correlates with several measures of cognitive function, development, and behavior for subjects with ASD and mitochondrial dysfunction but not for subjects with ASD without a mitochondrial dysfunction (65).

MITOCHONDRIAL DYSFUNCTION MARKERS

Mitochondrial dysfunction is marked by impaired energy production. Some children with ASD are reported to have a spectrum of mitochondrial dysfunction of differing severity (44) (**Table 3**). Mitochondrial dysfunction, most likely an early event in neurodegeneration (76), is one of the more common dysfunctions found in autism (77) and is more common than in typical controls (78). There is no reliable biomarker to identify all cases of mitochondrial dysfunction (79). It is possible that up to 80% of the mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with both ASD and a mitochondrial disorder are acquired rather than inherited (44).

Mitochondrial dysfunction can be a downstream consequence of many proposed factors including dysreactive immunity and altered calcium (Ca^{2+}) signaling (80), increased nitric oxide and peroxynitrite (68), propionyl CoA (81), malnutrition (82), vitamin B6 or iron deficiencies (83), toxic metals (83), elevated nitric acid (84,85), oxidative stress (86), exposure to environmental toxicants, such as heavy metals (87–89), chemicals (90), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (91), pesticides (92, 93), persistent organic pollutants (POPs) (94), and radiofrequency radiation (95). Other sources of mitochondrial distress include medications such as valproic acid (VPA), which inhibits oxidative phosphorylation (96) and neuroleptics (97, 98).

Markers of mitochondrial dysfunction include lactate, pyruvate and lactate-to-pyruvate ratio, carnitine (free and total), quantitative plasma amino acids, ubiquinone, ammonia, CD, AST, ALT, CO₂ glucose, and creatine kinase (CK) (44). Many studies of ASD report elevations in lactate and pyruvate, others report a decrease in carnitine, while others report abnormal alanine in ASD patients (44) or elevations in aspartate aminotransferase and serum CK (99). Increases in lactate are not specific and may only occur during illness, after exercise or struggling during a blood draw (100).

Rossignol and Frye (44) recommend a mitochondrial function screening algorithm. This includes fasting morning labs of lactate, pyruvate, carnitine (free and total), acyl carnitine panel, quantitative plasma amino acids, ubiquinone, ammonia, CK, AST/ALT, CO₂, and glucose (44). The interpretation of such a panel and the indications for specific treatments has not yet been established.

METHYLATION

The methylation pathway provides methyl groups for many functions, including the methylation of genes, which can result in the epigenetic changes of turning genes on and off (**Table 4**). This transfer occurs when *S*-adenosylmethionine (SAM) donates a methyl group and is transformed to *S*-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH). SAH can be transferred to homocysteine, which can either be re-methylated to methionine or be transferred by the sulfuration pathway to cysteine to create glutathione. With increased oxidative stress, SAH might be diverted away from the methylation pathway to the sulfuration pathway in order to make more glutathione. This will result in less methionine and less methylation ability.

Impaired methylation may reflect the effects of toxic exposure on sulfur metabolism. Oxidative stress initiated by environmental factors in genetically vulnerable individuals, can lead to impaired methylation and neurological deficits (49) both of which may contribute to the manifestation of autism (71).

A marker of methylation dysfunction is decreased SAM/SAH ratio in patients with ASD. Fasting plasma methionine decreases since through SAM it is the main methyl donor. Fasting plasma cysteine, a sulfur containing amino acid is the rate-limiting step in the production of glutathione and is significantly decreased. Plasma sulfate is decreased, which may impair detoxification pathways. Homocysteine is generally increased, but the studies are mixed (66). Vitamin B12 and folate are required for the methylation pathway. The MTHFR genetic SNP is reported to heavily influence the methylation pathway (66).

IMMUNE DYSREGULATION

Cytokine evaluation

Chronic inflammation and microglia cell activation is present in autopsied brains of people with ASD (101, 102) (**Table 5**). Factors that increase the risk of activating brain microglia include traumatic brain injury (TBI) (103) reactive oxygen species (104) and a dysfunctional blood brain barrier (105).

Table 4 | Methylation biomarkers in ASD (see text for references).

S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)/*S*-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) Homocysteine MTHFR

Table 5 | Immune biomarkers in ASD (see text for references).

Subjects with ASD	
TGF-beta	
CCL 2	
CCL 5	
IGM	
IgG	
Th1/Th2	
Neopterin	
S110B protein	
Anti ganglioside M1 antibodies	
Antineronal antibodies	
Serum anti-nuclear antibodies	
BDNF	
Mothers of subjects with ASD	
IFN-Y	
11-4	
II-5	
II-6	

The blood brain barrier can be compromised by oxidative stress (106), acutely stressful situations (107), elevated homocysteine (108), diabetes (109), and hyperglycemia (110). Cytokines can pass through a permeable blood brain barrier and start this process (111). Hence, cytokines can serve as a marker of the immune dysregulation, which can further complicate ASD.

Irregular cytokines profiles are found in ASD (112, 113) and elevations in plasma cytokines are reportedly correlated with regressive onset and severity of autistic and behavioral symptoms (113). Altered pro-inflammatory cytokines, complement proteins, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and growth factors are correlated with ASD. More specifically, altered TGF-beta, CCL2, and CCL5, IgM and IgG classes of immunoglobulin circulating levels are linked with a worsening of behavioral scores (114). An imbalance in Th1/Th2 has are found as well, which may play a role in the pathogenesis of autism (115).

Neopertin as a urine marker of immune dysfunction and activation. Neopterin is associated with increased production of reactive oxygen systems and can be considered as a measurement of the oxidative stress elicited by the immune system. Neopterin levels are found to be significantly higher in children with autism than in the comparison subjects (116).

Increased *S100B protein*, a calcium binding protein produced primarily by astrocytes, is a biomarker reflecting neurological/brain damage found elevated in ASD and correlated to autistic severity (117).

AUTOIMMUNITY AND MATERNAL ANTIBODIES

Autoimmune autistic disorder is proposed as a major subset of autism (118), and autoimmunity may play a role in the pathogenesis of language and social developmental abnormalities in a subset of children with these disorders (119). There are many autoantibodies found in the nervous system of children with ASD who have a high level of brain antibodies (120, 121). These can be measured as biomarkers in this subset of ASD patients. The anti ganglioside M1 antibodies (122), antineuronal antibodies (123), and serum anti-nuclear antibodies (123, 124) correlate with the severity of autism. Other autoantibodies postulated to play a pathological role in autism include: anti neuron-axon filament protein (anti-NAFP) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (anti-GFAP) (125), antibodies to brain endothelial cells and nuclei (119), antibodies against myelin basic protein (126, 127), and anti myelin associated glycoprotein, an index for autoimmunity in the brain (128). BDNF antibodies were found higher in ASD (129), and low BDNF levels may be involved in the pathophysiology of ASD (130).

Antibodies in patients with autism are found to cells in the caudate nucleus (131), cerebellum (132, 133), hypothalamus and thalamus (121), the cingulate gyrus (134), and to cerebral folate receptors (135). Children with cerebellar autoantibodies had lower adaptive and cognitive function as well as increased aberrant behaviors compared to children without these antibodies (132).

MOTHER'S IMMUNE STATUS

Research studies indicate an association between viral or bacterial infections in expectant mothers and their ASD offspring (136, 137). Maternal antibodies cross the underdeveloped blood brain barrier of the fetus (138) leading to impaired fetal neurodevelopment and long-term neurodegeneration, neurobehavioral, and cognitive difficulties (139).

A maternal infection or immune response includes cytokines, which affect aspects of fetal neurogenesis, neuronal migration (140), synaptic plasticity, and stem cell fate (141). Elevated serum IFN- γ , IL-4, and IL-5 were more common in women who gave birth to a child subsequently diagnosed with ASD (142). Fetal IL-6 exposure, especially in late pregnancy, leads abnormalities of hippocampal structural and morphology, and decreased learning during adulthood (139).

Some of the antibodies that cross the fetal developing blood brain barrier recognize and attack the brain (138). The presence of fetal brain protein antibodies in ASD can result in an inappropriate approach to unfamiliar peers (143).

Braunschweig et al. developed a panel of clinically significant maternal autoantibody-related autoantibody biomarkers with over 99% specificity for autism risk (144). This panel is suggested to lead to an early diagnosis of maternal autoantibodyrelated autism, allow for interventions that limit fetal exposure to these antibodies and allow for early behavioral intervention.

DYSBIOSIS

When the gut becomes inflamed, it breaks down and becomes permeable, sometimes referred to as dysbiosis. Dysbiosis is reported to be an upstream contributing factor to autoimmune conditions and inflammation. Markers under consideration include circulating antibodies against tight junction proteins, LPS, actomyosin (145)

Table 6 | Other potential biomarkers in ASD

Glutamate	
GABA	
BDNF	
RBC fatty acids	

calprotectin (146), and lactoferrin (147). Dysbiosis was found in 25.6% of patients with ASD (148). It is proposed to have a direct effect on the brain as it is a hypothesized source of inflammation (149–151) and autoimmunity (152, 153), possibly through molecular mimicry (154). Diet is one source of dysbiosis (155).

AMINO ACIDS AND NEUROPEPTIDES

Platelet hyperserotonemia is considered one of the most consistent neuromodulator findings in patients with ASD (**Table 6**). As for other neuropeptides, a recent review reported approximately 15 components that are altered in ASD compared to controls (53). Among them, interesting research has been done on glutamate, GABA, BDNF, and dopamine and noradrenaline systems. A recent study reported a positive correlation between severity of clinical symptoms and plasma GABA levels in patients with ASD, supporting the idea of a disrupted GABAergic system (156). Additionally, a similar grouping of substances measured in the urine is suggested as a more convenient and less invasive way to draw information on these patients (41).

FATTY ACID ANALYSIS

Abnormal fatty acid metabolism may play a role in the pathogenesis of ASD and may suggest some metabolic or dietary abnormalities in the regressive form of autism (42, 157). There is evidence of a relationship between changes in brain lipid profiles and the occurrence of ASD-like behaviors using a rodent model of autism (42). Hyperactivity in patients was inversely related to the fluidity of the erythrocyte membrane and membrane polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) levels (158). Imbalances of membrane fatty acid composition and PUFA loss can affect ion channels and opiate, adrenergic, insulin receptors (159) and the modulation of (Na + K)-ATPase activity (160). Analysis of red blood cell membrane fatty acids is a very sensitive indicator of tissue status and may reflect the brain fatty acid composition (161).

Seventeen percent of children with ASD manifest biomarkers of abnormal mitochondrial fatty acid metabolism, the majority of which are not accounted for by genetic mechanisms (162). Patients with ASD had reduced percentages of highly unsaturated fatty acids (163) and an increase in $\omega 6/\omega 3$ ratio (158).

ENVIRONMENTAL TOXICANTS

For environmental toxicant biomarkers, it is difficult to interpret abnormal levels in ASD. For instance, a high burden of aluminum, cadmium, lead, mercury, and arsenic was found in a subgroup of a sample of over 500 patients with ASD (164). Other studies have described decreased levels of some of these heavy metals in urine and in hair samples, which may imply that the body is not excreting the heavy metals adequately (41).

A systematic review of toxicant-related studies in ASD found that pesticides, phthalates, PCBs, solvents, toxic waste sites, air pollutants, and heavy metals were implicated in ASD, with the strongest evidence found for air pollutants and pesticides (165).

BRAIN FOCUSED BIOMARKERS

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING

Like other areas in psychiatry, new approaches are being devised to tackle ASD in a "bottom-up paradigm" – that is, identifying genetic or biological alterations, which are associated with the clinical manifestations of symptoms. In neuroimaging, much progress has been made toward understanding the condition, but only very few observed biomarkers have sufficient evidence to suggest that they might hold diagnostic or treatment significance.

One of the best-replicated brain findings from subjects with ASD is an early-accelerated brain volume growth. The increase is usually around 10%, peaking between 2 and 4 years of age followed by a plateau (166). Head circumference (HC), an adequate proxy for brain size, is being investigated for diagnostic relevance for ASD (167). However, recent findings on HC in ASD show that there might be an unrelated growth in HC in both patients and controls. Thus, the abnormal overgrowth observed in older studies might be because of a biased Center for Disease Control (CDC) HC norm, which is commonly used as the control group (168).

Gray matter thickness and surface areas and white matter integrity are also being studied. A general trend demonstrating increased gray matter thickness in subjects with ASD compared to controls is observed with an age-dependent effect (166). Even though there are studies correlating symptom severity with altered thickness there are several limitations such as using a cross-sectional approach and a small number of subjects that hinder clinical application (169). Likewise, diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) studies on white matter connectivity are not yet conclusive across studies.

Early studies using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) focus on task specific cognitive networks (e.g., face recognition, theory of mind, imitation, language processing, and proxies for receptive behavior) (166). In these cognitive network studies, individuals with ASD and controls perform a task while the fMRI is monitored. More recently, researchers are investigating the connectivity between these network and resting-state methods where fMRI is obtained while a subject is at rest and not performing a task. These more recent studies reveal a pattern that suggests less activity in the brain areas that typically perform executive function tasks (such as organization or planning). This combination of activity patterns in ASD is often called a "high noise-information ratio," supporting an excitatory/inhibitory imbalance theory of ASD (170). Conversely, even though all these fMRI findings shed light on the pathophysiology of ASD, they also are not mature enough to translate into a reliable biomarker that can be used in clinical practice.

ELECTROENCEPHALOGRAPHY

Aligned with the notion that ASD is an abnormal connectivity disorder, studies using electroencephalography (EEG) have explored local changes in signal complexities in patients (171). Some studies were able to detect abnormalities as early as 6 months of age, suggesting an important tool for early detection and risk group assessment (172). However, despite findings like multi-scale entropy differences being proposed as an early diagnostic biomarker, EEG has not yet been established as a reliable tool for diagnosis or to document clinical changes (173).

NEUROCHEMISTRY

Neuroimaging techniques also are used to monitor in vivo concentration of substances in the brain, and include positron emission tomography (PET), single photon emission tomography (SPECT), and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS). So far, the majority of studies report abnormalities in several of neurotransmitter networks and their respective metabolites (e.g., dopamine, GABA, serotonin, glutamate, and N-acetyl-aspartate), varying from synthesis, transport, and receptor activity in different regions of the brain in the glutamate-glutamine system, in particular, there appears to be either hyper (174) or hypoglutamatergic (175) states depending on the brain region, which could be interpreted as an excitatory increase relative to inhibition in key neural circuits (176). In addition, studies pointing toward GABA alterations also are accumulating, with findings of reduced levels of GABA in the frontal lobes of subjects with ASD. Using MRS (177), corroborated the histopathologic research on altered density and distribution of the GABA receptors (178).

BIOMEDICAL INTERVENTIONS

There are no published studies of interventions for ASD that use neuroimaging or genetic biomarkers in a prospective manner to guide treatment. Biomedical interventions based on body fluid/product biomarkers have been used in a small but growing numbers of well designed, published studies. Several recent reviews summarize these (179–181).

FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

A common feature of all prior studies of these putative biomarkers is that most consist of small samples of patients, and therefore, do not grasp the heterogeneity that characterizes ASD. Also, since they mainly compare subjects with ASD to typically developing controls, it is uncertain whether these biomarker profiles are unique to ASD – they may be present in other neurodevelopmental disorders. A promising new method that is designed to increase specificity of biomarkers in ASD is the multiplex immunoassay, a method that analyzes sets of biomarkers to create a diagnostic profile (182, 183). Furthermore, advances in chromatographic and proteomic techniques are also contributing to the progress of the field, allowing easier assessment of several substances (184, 185).

Thus far, numerous studies examining a diverse set of potential biomarkers have found a large number of genetic, imaging, and metabolic tests that are abnormal in children with ASD compared to control subjects. For most of these measures, it is not yet clear if the abnormal biomarker is a contributing factor to the development of ASD or a result of another underlying abnormality (i.e., causal or merely associated). Not surprisingly, the conclusion is that more studies are needed to further explore these possible mechanisms individually. However, the future in the ASD research might involve a broader view of these biomarkers, which might hold more value in combination than in isolation. As a result of new technological advances, it is possible to use a machine learning technique that is trained to identify complex patterns of data that can be applied to new individuals to make predictions (186). A recent study pooled regional white and gray matter volumes of whole-brain MRI scans in ASD subjects using this computer algorithm program, known as super vector machine. As a result, they could classify a new patient as having an ASD diagnosis or not with a high true positive rate (187). Although exemplified with neuroimaging, this approach could be generalized to other biomarkers (53, 188). In other words, individually insignificant biomarkers when analyzed together might generate a pattern of clinical relevance like diagnosis, severity staging, or response to treatment. These techniques might also be able to identify the most relevant or most predictive biomarkers among the many candidate biomarkers described above.

Although the maxim that "further studies are needed" still holds, ASDs may be witnessing the emergence of clinically relevant biomarkers in the near future.

REFERENCES

- Hendren RL, Bertoglio K, Ashwood P, Sharp F. Mechanistic biomarkers for autism treatment. *Med Hypotheses* (2009) 73:950–4. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2009. 06.032
- Insel T. Director's Blog: A New Approach to Clinical Trials [Online] (2014). Available from: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/about/director/2014/ a-new-approach-to-clinical-trials.shtml
- Insel T, Cuthbert B, Garvey M, Heinssen R, Pine DS, Quinn K, et al. Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167:748–51. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 2010.09091379
- Cuthbert BN, Insel TR. Toward the future of psychiatric diagnosis: the seven pillars of RDoC. *BMC Med* (2013) 11:126. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-126
- Hagerman R, Hendren R. Treatments for Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Targeting Neurobiological Mechanisms. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2014).
- Betancur C. Etiological heterogeneity in autism spectrum disorders: more than 100 genetic and genomic disorders and still counting. *Brain Res* (2011) 1380:42–77. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.11.078
- Stessman HA, Bernier R, Eichler EE. A genotype-first approach to defining the subtypes of a complex disease. *Cell* (2014) 156(5):872–7. doi:10.1016/j.cell. 2014.02.002
- Won H, Mah W, Kim E. Autism spectrum disorder causes, mechanisms, and treatments: focus on neuronal synapses. *Front Mol Neurosci* (2013) 6:19. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2013.00019
- Hallmayer J, Cleveland S, Torres A, Phillips J, Cohen B, Torigoe T, et al. Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2011) 68:1095–102. doi:10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.76
- Sandin S, Lichtenstein P, Kuja-Halkola R, Larsson H, Hultman CM, Reichenberg A. The familial risk of autism. *JAMA* (2014) 311(17):1770–7. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.4144
- El-Fishawy P, State MW. The genetics of autism: key issues, recent findings, and clinical implications. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* (2010) 33:83–105. doi:10.1016/j.psc.2009.12.002
- State MW, Levitt P. The conundrums of understanding genetic risks for autism spectrum disorders. *Nat Neurosci* (2011) 14:1499–506. doi:10.1038/nn.2924
- Murdoch JD, State MW. Recent developments in the genetics of autism spectrum disorders. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2013) 23:310–5. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2013. 02.003
- Wang K, Zhang HT, Ma DQ, Bucan M, Glessner JT, Abrahams BS, et al. Common genetic variants on 5p14.1 associate with autism spectrum disorders. *Nature* (2009) 459:528–33. doi:10.1038/Nature07999
- Chango A, Potier De Courcy G, Boisson F, Guilland JC, Barbe F, Perrin MO, et al. 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase common mutations, folate status and plasma homocysteine in healthy French adults of the Supplementation en Vitamines et Mineraux Antioxydants (SU.VI.MAX) cohort. *Br J Nutr* (2000) 84:891–6.

- Mohammad NS, Jain JM, Chintakindi KP, Singh RP, Naik U, Akella RR. Aberrations in folate metabolic pathway and altered susceptibility to autism. *Psychiatr Genet* (2009) 19:171–6. doi:10.1097/YPG.0b013e32832cebd2
- Schmidt RJ, Hansen RL, Hartiala J, Allayee H, Schmidt LC, Tancredi DJ, et al. Prenatal vitamins, one-carbon metabolism gene variants, and risk for autism. *Epidemiology* (2011) 22:476–85. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e31821d0e30
- Ma D, Salyakina D, Jaworski JM, Konidari I, Whitehead PL, Andersen AN, et al. A genome-wide association study of autism reveals a common novel risk locus at 5p14.1. Ann Hum Genet (2009) 73:263–73. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1809.2009. 00523.x
- Weiss LA, Arking DE, Daly MJ, Chakravarti A. A genome-wide linkage and association scan reveals novel loci for autism. *Nature* (2009) 461:802–8. doi:10.1038/nature08490
- Ronald A, Butcher LM, Docherty S, Davis OS, Schalkwyk LC, Craig IW, et al. A genome-wide association study of social and non-social autistic-like traits in the general population using pooled DNA, 500 K SNP microarrays and both community and diagnosed autism replication samples. *Behav Genet* (2010) 40:31–45. doi:10.1007/s10519-009-9308-6
- Lee TL, Raygada MJ, Rennert OM. Integrative gene network analysis provides novel regulatory relationships, genetic contributions and susceptible targets in autism spectrum disorders. *Gene* (2012) **496**:88–96. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2012. 01.020
- 22. Griswold AJ, Ma D, Cukier HN, Nations LD, Schmidt MA, Chung RH, et al. Evaluation of copy number variations reveals novel candidate genes in autism spectrum disorder-associated pathways. *Hum Mol Genet* (2012) 21:3513–23. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds164
- 23. Liu Y, Du Y, Liu W, Yang C, Wang H, Gong X. Lack of association between NLGN3, NLGN4, SHANK2 and SHANK3 gene variants and autism spectrum disorder in a Chinese population. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e56639. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0056639
- Volaki K, Pampanos A, Kitsiou-Tzeli S, Vrettou C, Oikonomakis V, Sofocleous C, et al. Mutation screening in the Greek population and evaluation of NLGN3 and NLGN4X genes causal factors for autism. *Psychiatr Genet* (2013) 23:198–203. doi:10.1097/YPG.0b013e3283643644
- Iossifov I, Ronemus M, Levy D, Wang Z, Hakker I, Rosenbaum J, et al. De novo gene disruptions in children on the autistic spectrum. *Neuron* (2012) 74:285–99. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.04.009
- Sanders SJ, Murtha MT, Gupta AR, Murdoch JD, Raubeson MJ, Willsey AJ, et al. De novo mutations revealed by whole-exome sequencing are strongly associated with autism. *Nature* (2012) 485:237–41. doi:10.1038/ nature10945
- Blue L. A Blood Test for Autism? (2012). Available from: http://healthland.time. com/2012/12/06/a-blood-test-for-autism/
- Hughes V. Genetic Tests for Autism Debut Amid Concerns About Validity [Online] (2012). Available from: http://sfari.org/news-and-opinion/news/ genetic-tests-for-autism-debut-amid-concerns-about-validity
- Goines P, Van de Water J. The immune system's role in the biology of autism. Curr Opin Neurol (2010) 23:111–7. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e3283373514
- Hoeffer CA, Sanchez E, Hagerman RJ, Mu Y, Nguyen DV, Wong H, et al. Altered mTOR signaling and enhanced CYFIP2 expression levels in subjects with fragile X syndrome. *Genes Brain Behav* (2012) 11:332–41. doi:10.1111/j.1601-183X. 2012.00768.x
- Wong CC, Meaburn EL, Ronald A, Price TS, Jeffries AR, Schalkwyk LC, et al. Methylomic analysis of monozygotic twins discordant for autism spectrum disorder and related behavioural traits. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19:495–503. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.41
- Ma DK, Marchetto MC, Guo JU, Ming GL, Gage FH, Song H. Epigenetic choreographers of neurogenesis in the adult mammalian brain. *Nat Neurosci* (2010) 13:1338–44. doi:10.1038/nn.2672
- Gregory SG, Connelly JJ, Towers AJ, Johnson J, Biscocho D, Markunas CA, et al. Genomic and epigenetic evidence for oxytocin receptor deficiency in autism. *BMC Med* (2009) 7:62. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-7-62
- 34. Nagarajan RP, Hogart AR, Gwye Y, Martin MR, Lasalle JM. Reduced MeCP2 expression is frequent in autism frontal cortex and correlates with aberrant MECP2 promoter methylation. *Epigenetics* (2006) 1:e1–11. doi:10.4161/epi.1. 4.3514
- Shulha HP, Cheung I, Whittle C, Wang J, Virgil D, Lin CL, et al. Epigenetic signatures of autism: trimethylated H3K4 landscapes in prefrontal neurons. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:314–24. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.151

- Wong CC, Caspi A, Williams B, Craig IW, Houts R, Ambler A, et al. A longitudinal study of epigenetic variation in twins. *Epigenetics* (2010) 5:516–26. doi:10.4161/epi.5.6.12226
- Lowe TL, Tanaka K, Seashore MR, Young JG, Cohen DJ. Detection of phenylketonuria in autistic and psychotic children. *JAMA* (1980) 243:126–8. doi:10.1001/jama.1980.03300280024022
- Bottini N, De Luca D, Saccucci P, Fiumara A, Elia M, Porfirio MC, et al. Autism: evidence of association with adenosine deaminase genetic polymorphism. *Neurogenetics* (2001) 3:111–3. doi:10.1007/s100480000104
- Zaffanello M, Zamboni G, Fontana E, Zoccante L, Tato L. A case of partial biotinidase deficiency associated with autism. *Child Neuropsychol* (2003) 9:184–8. doi:10.1076/chin.9.3.184.16457
- Moretti P, Peters SU, Del Gaudio D, Sahoo T, Hyland K, Bottiglieri T, et al. Brief report: autistic symptoms, developmental regression, mental retardation, epilepsy, and dyskinesias in CNS folate deficiency. *J Autism Dev Disord* (2008) 38:1170–7. doi:10.1007/s10803-007-0492-z
- Wang L, Angley MT, Gerber JP, Sorich MJ. A review of candidate urinary biomarkers for autism spectrum disorder. *Biomarkers* (2011) 16:537–52. doi:10.3109/1354750X.2011.598564
- 42. Thomas RH, Foley KA, Mepham JR, Tichenoff LJ, Possmayer F, Macfabe DF. Altered brain phospholipid and acylcarnitine profiles in propionic acid infused rodents: further development of a potential model of autism spectrum disorders. J Neurochem (2010) 113:515–29. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06614.x
- Macfabe DF. Short-chain fatty acid fermentation products of the gut microbiome: implications in autism spectrum disorders. *Microb Ecol Health Dis* (2012) 23. doi:10.3402/mehd.v23i0.19260
- Rossignol DA, Frye RE. Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17:290–314. doi:10.1038/mp.2010.136
- 45. El-Ansary A, Al-Ayadhi L. Lipid mediators in plasma of autism spectrum disorders. *Lipids Health Dis* (2012) **11**:160. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-11-160
- 46. Woods AG, Sokolowska I, Taurines R, Gerlach M, Dudley E, Thome J, et al. Potential biomarkers in psychiatry: focus on the cholesterol system. *J Cell Mol Med* (2012) 16:1184–95. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2012.01543.x
- Chauhan A, Chauhan V. Oxidative stress in autism. *Pathophysiology* (2006) 13:171–81. doi:10.1016/j.pathophys.2006.05.007
- Klein JA, Ackerman SL. Oxidative stress, cell cycle, and neurodegeneration. J Clin Invest (2003) 111:785–93. doi:10.1172/JCI18182
- Deth R, Muratore C, Benzecry J, Power-Charnitsky VA, Waly M. How environmental and genetic factors combine to cause autism: a redox/ methylation hypothesis. *Neurotoxicology* (2008) 29:190–201. doi:10.1016/j. neuro.2007.09.010
- Kern JK, Jones AM. Evidence of toxicity, oxidative stress, and neuronal insult in autism. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev (2006) 9:485–99. doi:10.1080/ 10937400600882079
- Perry SW, Norman JP, Litzburg A, Gelbard HA. Antioxidants are required during the early critical period, but not later, for neuronal survival. *J Neurosci Res* (2004) 78:485–92. doi:10.1002/jnr.20272
- Erden-Inal M, Sunal E, Kanbak G. Age-related changes in the glutathione redox system. *Cell Biochem Funct* (2002) 20:61–6. doi:10.1002/cbf.937
- Ratajczak HV. Theoretical aspects of autism: biomarkers a review. J Immunotoxicol (2011) 8:80–94. doi:10.3109/1547691X.2010.538749
- Seneff S, Lauritzen A, Davidson RM, Lentz-Marino L. Is encephalopathy a mechanism to renew sulfate in autism? *Entropy* (2013) 15:372–406. doi:10. 3390/e15010372
- 55. Baribeau DA, Anagnostou E. Social communication is an emerging target for pharmacotherapy in autism spectrum disorder – a review of the literature on potential agents. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2014) 23:20–30.
- Modahl C, Green L, Fein D, Morris M, Waterhouse L, Feinstein C, et al. Plasma oxytocin levels in autistic children. *Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 43:270–7. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00439-3
- Mostafa GA, Al-Ayadhi LY. Reduced serum concentrations of 25-hydroxy vitamin D in children with autism: relation to autoimmunity. *J Neuroinflammation* (2012) 9:201. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-201
- Patrick RP, Ames BN. Vitamin D hormone regulates serotonin synthesis. Part 1: relevance for autism. FASEB J (2014) 28(6):2398–413. doi:10.1096/fj.13-246546
- 59. Herbert MR, Ziegler DA, Deutsch CK, O'Brien LM, Kennedy DN, Filipek PA, et al. Brain asymmetries in autism and developmental language disorder:

a nested whole-brain analysis. Brain (2005) 128:213-26. doi:10.1093/brain/awh330

- Crockett MJ. The neurochemistry of fairness: clarifying the link between serotonin and prosocial behavior. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2009) 1167:76–86. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04506.x
- Burgess NK, Sweeten TL, McMahon WM, Fujinami RS. Hyperserotoninemia and altered immunity in autism. J Autism Dev Disord (2006) 36:697–704. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0100-7
- 62. Watanabe T, Abe O, Kuwabara H, Yahata N, Takano Y, Iwashiro N, et al. Mitigation of sociocommunicational deficits of autism through oxytocin-induced recovery of medial prefrontal activity: a randomized trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) **71**:166–75. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3181
- Cannell JJ, Grant WB. What is the role of vitamin D in autism? *Dermatoen*docrinol (2013) 5:199–204. doi:10.4161/derm.24356
- 64. Jain SK, Micinski D. Vitamin D upregulates glutamate cysteine ligase and glutathione reductase, and GSH formation, and decreases ROS and MCP-1 and IL-8 secretion in high-glucose exposed U937 monocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 437:7–11. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.06.004
- Frye RE, Delatorre R, Taylor H, Slattery J, Melnyk S, Chowdhury N, et al. Redox metabolism abnormalities in autistic children associated with mitochondrial disease. *Transl Psychiatry* (2013) 3:e273. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.51
- 66. Frustaci A, Neri M, Cesario A, Adams JB, Domenici E, Dalla Bernardina B, et al. Oxidative stress-related biomarkers in autism: systematic review and metaanalyses. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2012) **52**:2128–41. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2012.03.011
- Damodaran LP, Arumugam G. Urinary oxidative stress markers in children with autism. *Redox Rep* (2011) 16:216–22. doi:10.1179/1351000211Y. 0000000012
- 68. Vali S, Mythri RB, Jagatha B, Padiadpu J, Ramanujan KS, Andersen JK, et al. Integrating glutathione metabolism and mitochondrial dysfunction with implications for Parkinson's disease: a dynamic model. *Neuroscience* (2007) 149:917–30. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.08.028
- Ghanizadeh A, Akhondzadeh S, Hormozi M, Makarem A, Abotorabi-Zarchi M, Firoozabadi A. Glutathione-related factors and oxidative stress in autism, a review. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19:4000–5. doi:10.2174/092986712802002572
- Maher P. Methylglyoxal, advanced glycation end products and autism: is there a connection? *Med Hypotheses* (2012) 78:548–52. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2012.01. 032
- James SJ, Cutler P, Melnyk S, Jernigan S, Janak L, Gaylor DW, et al. Metabolic biomarkers of increased oxidative stress and impaired methylation capacity in children with autism. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2004) 80:1611–7.
- Sogut S, Zoroglu SS, Ozyurt H, Yilmaz HR, Ozugurlu F, Sivasli E, et al. Changes in nitric oxide levels and antioxidant enzyme activities may have a role in the pathophysiological mechanisms involved in autism. *Clin Chim Acta* (2003) 331:111–7. doi:10.1016/S0009-8981(03)00119-0
- Gorrindo P, Lane CJ, Lee EB, McLaughlin B, Levitt P. Enrichment of elevated plasma F2t-isoprostane levels in individuals with autism who are stratified by presence of gastrointestinal dysfunction. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e68444. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068444
- 74. Sajous L, Botta A, Sari-Minodier I. [Urinary 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine: a biomarker of environmental oxidative stress?]. Ann Biol Clin (2008) 66:19–29. doi:10.1684/abc.2008.0188
- Ming X, Stein TP, Brimacombe M, Johnson WG, Lambert GH, Wagner GC. Increased excretion of a lipid peroxidation biomarker in autism. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2005) 73:379–84. doi:10.1016/j.plefa. 2005.06.002
- Fernandez-Checa JC, Fernandez A, Morales A, Mari M, Garcia-Ruiz C, Colell A. Oxidative stress and altered mitochondrial function in neurodegenerative diseases: lessons from mouse models. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2010) 9:439–54. doi:10.2174/187152710791556113
- Oliveira G, Diogo L, Grazina M, Garcia P, Ataide A, Marques C, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: a population-based study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2005) 47:185–9. doi:10.1017/S0012162205000332
- Giulivi C, Zhang YF, Omanska-Klusek A, Ross-Inta C, Wong S, Hertz-Picciotto I, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism. *JAMA* (2010) **304**:2389–96. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1706
- 79. Haas RH, Parikh S, Falk MJ, Saneto RP, Wolf NI, Darin N, et al. Mitochondrial disease: a practical approach for primary care physicians. *Pediatrics* (2007) 120:1326–33. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-0391

- Palmieri L, Persico AM. Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: cause or effect? *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1797:1130–7. doi:10.1016/j. bbabio.2010.04.018
- Schwab MA, Sauer SW, Okun JG, Nijtmans LG, Rodenburg RJ, Van Den Heuvel LP, et al. Secondary mitochondrial dysfunction in propionic aciduria: a pathogenic role for endogenous mitochondrial toxins. *Biochem J* (2006) **398**:107–12. doi:10.1042/BJ20060221
- Morava E, Rodenburg R, Van Essen HZ, De Vries M, Smeitink J. Dietary intervention and oxidative phosphorylation capacity. *J Inherit Metab Dis* (2006) 29:589. doi:10.1007/s10545-006-0227-x
- Atamna H, Killilea DW, Killilea AN, Ames BN. Heme deficiency may be a factor in the mitochondrial and neuronal decay of aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:14807–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.192585799
- Bolanos JP, Peuchen S, Heales SJ, Land JM, Clark JB. Nitric oxide-mediated inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in cultured astrocytes. *J Neurochem* (1994) 63:910–6. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1994.63030910.x
- Husain M, Bourret TJ, McCollister BD, Jones-Carson J, Laughlin J, Vazquez-Torres A. Nitric oxide evokes an adaptive response to oxidative stress by arresting respiration. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:7682–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M708845200
- Fernandez-Checa JC, Kaplowitz N, Garcia-Ruiz C, Colell A, Miranda M, Mari M, et al. GSH transport in mitochondria: defense against TNF-induced oxidative stress and alcohol-induced defect. *Am J Physiol* (1997) 273:G7–17.
- Goyer RA. Toxic and essential metal interactions. Annu Rev Nutr (1997) 17:37–50. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.17.1.37
- Shenker BJ, Guo TL, O I, Shapiro IM. Induction of apoptosis in human T-cells by methyl mercury: temporal relationship between mitochondrial dysfunction and loss of reductive reserve. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (1999) 157:23–35. doi:10.1006/taap.1999.8652
- Pourahmad J, Mihajlovic A, O'Brien PJ. Hepatocyte lysis induced by environmental metal toxins may involve apoptotic death signals initiated by mitochondrial injury. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2001) **500**:249–52. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-0667-6_38
- Hiura TS, Li N, Kaplan R, Horwitz M, Seagrave JC, Nel AE. The role of a mitochondrial pathway in the induction of apoptosis by chemicals extracted from diesel exhaust particles. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:2703–11. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.165.5.2703
- Wong PW, Garcia EF, Pessah IN. Ortho-substituted PCB95 alters intracellular calcium signaling and causes cellular acidification in PC12 cells by an immunophilin-dependent mechanism. J Neurochem (2001) 76:450–63. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00022.x
- Yamano T, Morita S. Effects of pesticides on isolated rat hepatocytes, mitochondria, and microsomes II. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol (1995) 28:1–7. doi:10.1007/BF00213961
- 93. Sherer TB, Richardson JR, Testa CM, Seo BB, Panov AV, Yagi T, et al. Mechanism of toxicity of pesticides acting at complex I: relevance to environmental etiologies of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem (2007) 100:1469–79. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04333.x
- Lim S, Cho YM, Park KS, Lee HK. Persistent organic pollutants, mitochondrial dysfunction, and metabolic syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2010) 1201:166–76. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05622.x
- 95. Xu S, Zhou Z, Zhang L, Yu Z, Zhang W, Wang Y, et al. Exposure to 1800 MHz radiofrequency radiation induces oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA in primary cultured neurons. *Brain Res* (2010) **1311**:189–96. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2009.10.062
- Haas R, Stumpf DA, Parks JK, Eguren L. Inhibitory effects of sodium valproate on oxidative phosphorylation. *Neurology* (1981) 31:1473–6. doi:10.1212/WNL. 31.11.1473
- Casademont J, Garrabou G, Miro O, Lopez S, Pons A, Bernardo M, et al. Neuroleptic treatment effect on mitochondrial electron transport chain: peripheral blood mononuclear cells analysis in psychotic patients. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* (2007) 27:284–8. doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e318054753e
- Samavati L, Lee I, Mathes I, Lottspeich F, Huttemann M. Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibits oxidative phosphorylation through tyrosine phosphorylation at subunit I of cytochrome c oxidase. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:21134–44. doi:10.1074/jbc.M801954200
- Poling JS, Frye RE, Shoffner J, Zimmerman AW. Developmental regression and mitochondrial dysfunction in a child with autism. J Child Neurol (2006) 21:170–2. doi:10.1177/08830738060210021401

- 100. Haas RH, Parikh S, Falk MJ, Saneto RP, Wolf NI, Darin N, et al. The indepth evaluation of suspected mitochondrial disease. *Mol Genet Metab* (2008) 94:16–37. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2007.11.018
- 101. Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C, Zimmerman AW, Pardo CA. Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Ann Neurol* (2005) 57:67–81. doi:10.1002/ana.20315
- Blaylock RL. A possible central mechanism in autism spectrum disorders, part 1. Altern Ther Health Med (2008) 14:46–53.
- 103. Streit WJ. Microglial response to brain injury: a brief synopsis. Toxicol Pathol (2000) 28:28–30. doi:10.1177/019262330002800104
- Lull ME, Block ML. Microglial activation and chronic neurodegeneration. Neurotherapeutics (2010) 7:354–65. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2010.05.014
- Denieffe S, Kelly RJ, McDonald C, Lyons A, Lynch MA. Classical activation of microglia in CD200-deficient mice is a consequence of blood brain barrier permeability and infiltration of peripheral cells. *Brain Behav Immun* (2013) 34:86–97. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.174
- 106. Pun PB, Lu J, Moochhala S. Involvement of ROS in BBB dysfunction. Free Radic Res (2009) 43:348–64. doi:10.1080/10715760902751902
- 107. Esposito P, Gheorghe D, Kandere K, Pang X, Connolly R, Jacobson S, et al. Acute stress increases permeability of the blood-brain-barrier through activation of brain mast cells. *Brain Res* (2001) 888:117–27. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(00) 03026-2
- 108. Kamath AF, Chauhan AK, Kisucka J, Dole VS, Loscalzo J, Handy DE, et al. Elevated levels of homocysteine compromise blood-brain barrier integrity in mice. *Blood* (2006) **107**:591–3. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2506
- 109. Yi CX, Gericke M, Kruger M, Alkemade A, Kabra DG, Hanske S, et al. High calorie diet triggers hypothalamic angiopathy. *Mol Metab* (2012) 1:95–100. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2012.08.004
- 110. Kamada H, Yu F, Nito C, Chan PH. Influence of hyperglycemia on oxidative stress and matrix metalloproteinase-9 activation after focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion in rats: relation to blood-brain barrier dysfunction. *Stroke* (2007) 38:1044–9. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000258041.75739.cb
- 111. Perry VH. The influence of systemic inflammation on inflammation in the brain: implications for chronic neurodegenerative disease. *Brain Behav Immun* (2004) 18:407–13. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2004.01.004
- 112. Li X, Chauhan A, Sheikh AM, Patil S, Chauhan V, Li XM, et al. Elevated immune response in the brain of autistic patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2009) 207:111–6. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.12.002
- 113. Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen R, Pessah I, Van De Water J. Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. *Brain Behav Immun* (2011) 25:40–5. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.08.003
- 114. Onore C, Careaga M, Ashwood P. The role of immune dysfunction in the pathophysiology of autism. *Brain Behav Immun* (2012) 26:383–92. doi:10.1016/j.bbi. 2011.08.007
- 115. Ashwood P, Wills S, Van De Water J. The immune response in autism: a new frontier for autism research. J Leukoc Biol (2006) 80:1–15. doi:10.1189/jlb. 1205707
- 116. Sweeten TL, Posey DJ, McDougle CJ. High blood monocyte counts and neopterin levels in children with autistic disorder. Am J Psychiatry (2003) 160:1691–3. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.9.1691
- 117. Al-Ayadhi LY, Mostafa GA. A lack of association between elevated serum levels of S100B protein and autoimmunity in autistic children. *J Neuroinflammation* (2012) **9**:54. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-54
- Singh VK. Phenotypic expression of autoimmune autistic disorder (AAD): a major subset of autism. Ann Clin Psychiatry (2009) 21:148–61.
- 119. Connolly AM, Chez MG, Pestronk A, Arnold ST, Mehta S, Deuel RK. Serum autoantibodies to brain in Landau-Kleffner variant, autism, and other neurologic disorders. *J Pediatr* (1999) 134:607–13. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(99) 70248-9
- Ashwood P, Van de Water J. Is autism an autoimmune disease? Autoimmun Rev (2004) 3:557–62. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2004.07.036
- 121. Cabanlit M, Wills S, Goines P, Ashwood P, Van De Water J. Brain-specific autoantibodies in the plasma of subjects with autistic spectrum disorder. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2007) 1107:92–103. doi:10.1196/annals.1381.010
- 122. Mostafa GA, Al-Ayadhi I.Y. Increased serum levels of anti-ganglioside M1 autoantibodies in autistic children: relation to the disease severity. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:39. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-39

- 123. Mostafa GA, Al-Ayadhi LY. The relationship between the increased frequency of serum antineuronal antibodies and the severity of autism in children. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* (2012) 16:464–8. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2011.12.010
- 124. Mostafa GA, Kitchener N. Serum anti-nuclear antibodies as a marker of autoimmunity in Egyptian autistic children. *Pediatr Neurol* (2009) 40:107–12. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2008.10.017
- 125. Singh VK, Warren R, Averett R, Ghaziuddin M. Circulating autoantibodies to neuronal and glial filament proteins in autism. *Pediatr Neurol* (1997) 17:88–90. doi:10.1016/S0887-8994(97)00045-3
- 126. Singh VK, Warren RP, Odell JD, Warren WL, Cole P. Antibodies to myelin basic protein in children with autistic behavior. *Brain Behav Immun* (1993) 7:97–103. doi:10.1006/brbi.1993.1010
- 127. Mostafa GA, Al-Ayadhi LY. A lack of association between hyperserotonemia and the increased frequency of serum anti-myelin basic protein auto-antibodies in autistic children. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:71. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-71
- Mostafa GA, El-Sayed ZA, El-Aziz MM, El-Sayed MF. Serum anti-myelinassociated glycoprotein antibodies in Egyptian autistic children. *J Child Neurol* (2008) 23:1413–8. doi:10.1177/0883073808319321
- 129. Connolly AM, Chez M, Streif EM, Keeling RM, Golumbek PT, Kwon JM, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and autoantibodies to neural antigens in sera of children with autistic spectrum disorders, Landau-Kleffner syndrome, and epilepsy. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) **59**:354–63. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005. 07.004
- 130. Taurines R, Segura M, Schecklmann M, Albantakis L, Grunblatt E, Walitza S, et al. Altered peripheral BDNF mRNA expression and BDNF protein concentrations in blood of children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *J Neural Transm* (2014). doi:10.1007/s00702-014-1162-x
- Singh VK, Rivas WH. Prevalence of serum antibodies to caudate nucleus in autistic children. *Neurosci Lett* (2004) 355:53–6. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2003. 10.026
- 132. Goines P, Haapanen L, Boyce R, Duncanson P, Braunschweig D, Delwiche L, et al. Autoantibodies to cerebellum in children with autism associate with behavior. *Brain Behav Immun* (2011) 25:514–23. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.11.017
- 133. Wills S, Cabanlit M, Bennett J, Ashwood P, Amaral DG, Van De Water J. Detection of autoantibodies to neural cells of the cerebellum in the plasma of subjects with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23:64–74. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.007
- 134. Singer HS, Morris CM, Williams PN, Yoon DY, Hong JJ, Zimmerman AW. Antibrain antibodies in children with autism and their unaffected siblings. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 178:149–55. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.05.025
- Frye RE, Sequeira JM, Quadros EV, James SJ, Rossignol DA. Cerebral folate receptor autoantibodies in autism spectrum disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18:369–81. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.175
- 136. Atladottir HO, Thorsen P, Ostergaard L, Schendel DE, Lemcke S, Abdallah M, et al. Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord (2010) 40:1423–30. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y
- 137. Atladottir HO, Henriksen TB, Schendel DE, Parner ET. Autism after infection, febrile episodes, and antibiotic use during pregnancy: an exploratory study. *Pediatrics* (2012) 130:e1447–54. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-1107
- Diamond B, Huerta PT, Mina-Osorio P, Kowal C, Volpe BT. Losing your nerves? Maybe it's the antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:449–56. doi:10.1038/ nri2529
- 139. Samuelsson AM, Jennische E, Hansson HA, Holmang A. Prenatal exposure to interleukin-6 results in inflammatory neurodegeneration in hippocampus with NMDA/GABA(A) dysregulation and impaired spatial learning. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2006) **290**:R1345–56. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00268. 2005
- 140. Zhu Y, Yu T, Zhang XC, Nagasawa T, Wu JY, Rao Y. Role of the chemokine SDF-1 as the meningeal attractant for embryonic cerebellar neurons. *Nat Neurosci* (2002) 5:719–20. doi:10.1038/nn881
- 141. Bauer S, Kerr BJ, Patterson PH. The neuropoietic cytokine family in development, plasticity, disease and injury. Nat Rev Neurosci (2007) 8:221–32. doi:10.1038/nrn2054
- 142. Goines PE, Croen LA, Braunschweig D, Yoshida CK, Grether J, Hansen R, et al. Increased midgestational IFN-gamma, IL-4 and IL-5 in women bearing a child with autism: a case-control study. *Mol Autism* (2011) 2:13. doi:10.1186/2040-2392-2-13

- 143. Bauman MD, Iosif AM, Ashwood P, Braunschweig D, Lee A, Schumann CM, et al. Maternal antibodies from mothers of children with autism alter brain growth and social behavior development in the rhesus monkey. *Transl Psychiatry* (2013) **3**:e278. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.47
- 144. Braunschweig D, Krakowiak P, Duncanson P, Boyce R, Hansen RL, Ashwood P, et al. Autism-specific maternal autoantibodies recognize critical proteins in developing brain. *Transl Psychiatry* (2013) 3:e277. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.50
- 145. Vojdani A, Lambert J. The onset of enhanced intestinal permeability and food sensitivity triggered by medication used in dental procedures: a case report. Case Rep Gastrointest Med (2012) 2012:265052. doi:10.1155/2012/ 265052
- 146. Erbayrak M, Turkay C, Eraslan E, Cetinkaya H, Kasapoglu B, Bektas M. The role of fecal calprotectin in investigating inflammatory bowel diseases. *Clinics* (*Sao Paulo*) (2009) 64:421–5. doi:10.1590/S1807-59322009000500009
- 147. Gisbert JP, McNicholl AG, Gomollon F. Questions and answers on the role of fecal lactoferrin as a biological marker in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2009) 15:1746–54. doi:10.1002/ibd.20920
- 148. de Magistris L, Picardi A, Siniscalco D, Riccio MP, Sapone A, Cariello R, et al. Antibodies against food antigens in patients with autistic spectrum disorders. *Biomed Res Int* (2013) 2013:729349. doi:10.1155/2013/729349
- Fasano A. Zonulin and its regulation of intestinal barrier function: the biological door to inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer. *Physiol Rev* (2011) 91:151–75. doi:10.1152/physrev.00003.2008
- 150. Frazier TH, Dibaise JK, McClain CJ. Gut microbiota, intestinal permeability, obesity-induced inflammation, and liver injury. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* (2011) 35:14S–20S. doi:10.1177/0148607111413772
- Bengmark S. Gut microbiota, immune development and function. *Pharmacol Res* (2013) 69:87–113. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2012.09.002
- Fasano A. Intestinal permeability and its regulation by zonulin: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2012) 10:1096–100. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2012.08.012
- 153. Fasano A. Zonulin, regulation of tight junctions, and autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2012) 1258:25–33. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06538.x
- Oldstone MB. Molecular mimicry and immune-mediated diseases. FASEB J (1998) 12:1255–65.
- Brown K, Decoffe D, Molcan E, Gibson DL. Diet-induced dysbiosis of the intestinal microbiota and the effects on immunity and disease. *Nutrients* (2012) 4:1095–119. doi:10.3390/nu4081095
- 156. Alabdali A, Al-Ayadhi L, El-Ansary A. Association of social and cognitive impairment and biomarkers in autism spectrum disorders. J Neuroinflammation (2014) 11:4. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-4
- 157. Bu B, Ashwood P, Harvey D, King IB, Water JV, Jin LW. Fatty acid compositions of red blood cell phospholipids in children with autism. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2006) 74:215–21. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2006.02.001
- 158. Ghezzo A, Visconti P, Abruzzo PM, Bolotta A, Ferreri C, Gobbi G, et al. Oxidative stress and erythrocyte membrane alterations in children with autism: correlation with clinical features. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e66418. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0066418
- 159. Murphy MG. Dietary fatty acids and membrane protein function. J Nutr Biochem (1990) 1:68–79. doi:10.1016/0955-2863(90)90052-M
- 160. Rodrigo R, Bachler JP, Araya J, Prat H, Passalacqua W. Relationship between (Na + K)-ATPase activity, lipid peroxidation and fatty acid profile in erythrocytes of hypertensive and normotensive subjects. *Mol Cell Biochem* (2007) **303**:73–81. doi:10.1007/s11010-007-9457-y
- 161. Makrides M, Neumann MA, Byard RW, Simmer K, Gibson RA. Fatty acid composition of brain, retina, and erythrocytes in breast- and formula-fed infants. *Am J Clin Nutr* (1994) 60:189–94.
- 162. Frye RE, Melnyk S, Macfabe DF. Unique acyl-carnitine profiles are potential biomarkers for acquired mitochondrial disease in autism spectrum disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2013) 3:e220. doi:10.1038/tp.2012.143
- 163. Bell JG, Sargent JR, Tocher DR, Dick JR. Red blood cell fatty acid compositions in a patient with autistic spectrum disorder: a characteristic abnormality in neurodevelopmental disorders? *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2000) 63:21–5. doi:10.1054/plef.2000.0186
- 164. Yasuda H, Yasuda Y, Tsutsui T. Estimation of autistic children by metallomics analysis. Sci Rep (2013) 3:1199. doi:10.1038/srep01199
- 165. Rossignol DA, Genuis SJ, Frye RE. Environmental toxicants and autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. *Transl Psychiatry* (2014) 4:e360. doi:10.1038/tp.2014.4

- 166. Anagnostou E, Taylor MJ. Review of neuroimaging in autism spectrum disorders: what have we learned and where we go from here. *Mol Autism* (2011) 2:4. doi:10.1186/2040-2392-2-4
- 167. Samango-Sprouse CA, Stapleton EJ, Aliabadi F, Graw R, Vickers R, Haskell K, et al. Identification of infants at risk for autism spectrum disorder and developmental language delay prior to 12 months. *Autism* (2014). doi:10.1177/1362361314521329
- 168. Raznahan A, Wallace GL, Antezana L, Greenstein D, Lenroot R, Thurm A, et al. Compared to what? Early brain overgrowth in autism and the perils of population norms. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74:563–75. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013. 03.022
- 169. Doyle-Thomas KA, Duerden EG, Taylor MJ, Lerch JP, Soorya LV, Wang AT, et al. Effects of age and symptomatology on cortical thickness in autism spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* (2013) 7:141–50. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2012. 08.004
- 170. Minshew NJ, Keller TA. The nature of brain dysfunction in autism: functional brain imaging studies. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2010) 23:124–30. doi:10.1097/WCO. 0b013e32833782d4
- 171. Bosl W, Tierney A, Tager-Flusberg H, Nelson C. EEG complexity as a biomarker for autism spectrum disorder risk. *BMC Med* (2011) **9**:18. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-9-18
- 172. Wang J, Barstein J, Ethridge LE, Mosconi MW, Takarae Y, Sweeney JA. Resting state EEG abnormalities in autism spectrum disorders. *J Neurodev Disord* (2013) **5**:24. doi:10.1186/1866-1955-5-24
- 173. Griffin R, Westbury C. Infant EEG activity as a biomarker for autism: a promising approach or a false promise? *BMC Med* (2011) **9**:61. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-9-61
- 174. Bejjani A, O'Neill J, Kim JA, Frew AJ, Yee VW, Ly R, et al. Elevated glutamatergic compounds in pregenual anterior cingulate in pediatric autism spectrum disorder demonstrated by 1H MRS and 1H MRSI. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e38786. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038786
- 175. Bernardi S, Anagnostou E, Shen J, Kolevzon A, Buxbaum JD, Hollander E, et al. In vivo 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of the attentional networks in autism. *Brain Res* (2011) **1380**:198–205. doi:10.1016/j.brainres. 2010.12.057
- 176. Uzunova G, Hollander E, Shepherd J. The role of ionotropic glutamate receptors in childhood neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders and fragile x syndrome. *Curr Neuropharmacol* (2014) **12**:71–98. doi:10.2174/ 1570159X113116660046
- 177. Kubas B, Kulak W, Sobaniec W, Tarasow E, Lebkowska U, Walecki J. Metabolite alterations in autistic children: a 1H MR spectroscopy study. *Adv Med Sci* (2012) **57**:152–6. doi:10.2478/v10039-012-0014-x
- Blatt GJ, Fatemi SH. Alterations in GABAergic biomarkers in the autism brain: research findings and clinical implications. *Anat Rec* (2011) 294:1646–52. doi:10.1002/ar.21252

- 179. Lofthouse N, Hendren R, Hurt E, Arnold LE, Butter E. A review of complementary and alternative treatments for autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Res Treat* (2012) 2012:870391. doi:10.1155/2012/870391
- Cheng J, Widjaja F, Choi J, Hendren R. Considering biomedical/CAM treatments. Adolesc Med (2013) 024:446–64.
- Hendren R. Autism: biomedical complementary treatment approaches. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am (2013) 22:443–56. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2013.03.002
- 182. Mizejewski GJ, Lindau-Shepard B, Pass KA. Newborn screening for autism: in search of candidate biomarkers. *Biomark Med* (2013) 7:247–60. doi:10.2217/ bmm.12.108
- 183. Ramsey JM, Guest PC, Broek JA, Glennon JC, Rommelse N, Franke B, et al. Identification of an age-dependent biomarker signature in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Autism* (2013) 4:27. doi:10.1186/2040-2392-4-27
- Dudley E, Hassler F, Thome J. Profiling for novel proteomics biomarkers in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Expert Rev Proteomics* (2011) 8:127–36. doi:10.1586/epr.10.97
- Zurawicz E, Kaluzna-Czaplinska J, Rynkowski J. Chromatographic methods in the study of autism. *Biomed Chromatogr* (2013) 27:1273–9. doi:10.1002/bmc. 2911
- 186. Orru G, Pettersson-Yeo W, Marquand AF, Sartori G, Mechelli A. Using support vector machine to identify imaging biomarkers of neurological and psychiatric disease: a critical review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2012) 36:1140–52. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.01.004
- 187. Ecker C, Spooren W, Murphy DG. Translational approaches to the biology of autism: false dawn or a new era? *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18:435–42. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.102
- Ecker C. Autism biomarkers for more efficacious diagnosis. Biomark Med (2011) 5:193–5. doi:10.2217/bmm.11.13

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 18 December 2013; accepted: 22 July 2014; published online: 12 August 2014. Citation: Goldani AAS, Downs SR, Widjaja F, Lawton B and Hendren RL (2014) Biomarkers in autism. Front. Psychiatry 5:100. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00100

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2014 Goldani, Downs, Widjaja, Lawton and Hendren. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 20 December 2013 doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00175



A comparison of neuroimaging findings in childhood onset schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorder: a review of the literature

Danielle A. Baribeau¹ and Evdokia Anagnostou²*

¹ Department of Psychiatry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

² Autism Research Centre, Bloorview Research Institute, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Stephanie Ameis, University of Toronto, Canada

Reviewed by: Meng-Chuan Lai, University of Cambridge, UK Ossama Yassin Mansour, Alexandria University Hospital, Egypt Peter G. Enticott, Deakin University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Evdokia Anagnostou, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, 150 Kilgour Road, Toronto, ON M4G 1R8, Canada e-mail: eanagnostou@ hollandbloorview.ca **Background**: Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and childhood onset schizophrenia (COS) are pediatric neurodevelopmental disorders associated with significant morbidity. Both conditions are thought to share an underlying genetic architecture. A comparison of neuroimaging findings across ASD and COS with a focus on altered neurodevelopmental trajectories can shed light on potential clinical biomarkers and may highlight an underlying etiopathogenesis.

Methods: A comprehensive review of the medical literature was conducted to summarize neuroimaging data with respect to both conditions in terms of structural imaging (including volumetric analysis, cortical thickness and morphology, and region of interest studies), white matter analysis (include volumetric analysis and diffusion tensor imaging) and functional connectivity.

Results: In ASD, a pattern of early brain overgrowth in the first few years of life is followed by dysmaturation in adolescence. Functional analyses have suggested impaired long-range connectivity as well as increased local and/or subcortical connectivity in this condition. In COS, deficits in cerebral volume, cortical thickness, and white matter maturation seem most pronounced in childhood and adolescence, and may level off in adulthood. Deficits in local connectivity, with increased long-range connectivity have been proposed, in keeping with exaggerated cortical thinning.

Conclusion: The neuroimaging literature supports a neurodevelopmental origin of both ASD and COS and provides evidence for dynamic changes in both conditions that vary across space and time in the developing brain. Looking forward, imaging studies which capture the early post natal period, which are longitudinal and prospective, and which maximize the signal to noise ratio across heterogeneous conditions will be required to translate research findings into a clinical environment.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, childhood onset schizophrenia, neuroimaging, magnetic resonance imaging, child development, review

INTRODUCTION

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder of increasing prevalence in the modern era. Presently, this condition is reported to affect 1 in 88 individuals (1). Manifested by social communication deficits and restricted or repetitive interests and behaviors, children with ASD present along a wide spectrum of clinical severity, from mild social difficulties to severe functional impairment. This condition typically presents in the first 3 years of life, manifested by a failure to gain, or a loss of, social communication milestones.

Childhood onset schizophrenia (COS), on the other hand, is a relatively rare disorder, affecting 1 in 10,000–30,000 children (2). The diagnostic criteria are the same as in adult onset schizophrenia, including the presence of positive and/or negative symptoms (3), but with onset occurring prior to the 13th birthday (4).

Despite clinical heterogeneity, COS typically presents with psychotic symptoms after age seven, and is associated with a more severe course and poorer outcomes as compared to adult onset schizophrenia (2).

Although presently considered to separate clinical entities, prior to the twentieth century, catatonia, social withdrawal, bizarre behavior, and/or psychosis in children were considered undifferentiated conditions, labeled as "hereditary insanity," "dementia praecox," or "developmental idiocy" (5). With the onset of contemporary nosology, "autistic behavior and social withdrawal" were initially specified as features of "childhood schizophrenia" in the first and second editions of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (DSM-I and -II). Although formally defined as separate entities in DSM-III (6), at present the DSM-5 permits concurrent diagnosis of both conditions, should an individual with ASD subsequently develop prominent delusions or hallucinations (3).

In the current review, a comparison between ASD and COS was chosen for several reasons. Firstly, children with co-occurring and overlapping symptoms complicate a diagnosis (2, 4). At times, a period of medication washout and inpatient observation is required to achieve a diagnostic consensus (7), further supporting a need for brain based biomarkers of disease state and treatment response. Indeed, over one quarter of patients diagnosed with COS display prodromal neurodevelopmental disturbances, meeting criteria for pervasive developmental disorder, or ASD (8, 9). Children diagnosed with ASD are more likely to report psychotic symptoms in adolescence and adulthood (10, 11), although the exact incidence of a subsequent diagnosis of schizophrenia varies by study, ranging from 0 to 7% (12-14). From a neuroimaging perspective, analysis of atypical brain "growth curves" may afford an opportunity for early identification and risk stratification; consistent with the present goal of moving toward biologically based diagnostic categories in neuropsychiatric disease.

Secondly, a growing body of literature supports a neurodevelopmental origin of both schizophrenia and autism, with a shared genetic architecture contributing to, or precipitating, the development of both conditions (15, 16). Some have hypothesized that ASD and schizophrenia are diametrically opposed with respect to underlying pathology (17). While adult onset schizophrenia and ASD have been compared in previous reviews [see Ref. (18)], a focus on COS specifically permits a more indepth analysis of aberrant neurodevelopmental trajectories across comparable age ranges, which may provide insight into disease pathogenesis.

This review intends to translate several decades of neuroimaging research for a clinical audience, to highlight our current understanding of similarities and differences in the clinicopathogenesis of ASD and COS from a neuroimaging perspective. To our knowledge, this is the first focused review of neuroimaging findings in ASD and COS.

STRUCTURAL MRI STUDIES (VOLUMETRIC ANALYSIS, CORTICAL THICKNESS AND MORPHOLOGY, AND REGION OF INTEREST STUDIES)

VOLUMETRIC ANALYSIS

Structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) analysis for neuropsychiatric diseases began to emerge in the 1990s. Early trials employed manual delineation of gray and white matter to investigate specific regions of interest. With advancement in high resolution MRI technology and automated analysis, voxel-based morphometry (VBM) made it possible to quantify the specific gray matter content of each voxel (a volumetric pixel) in an image, allowing large data sets to be processed more efficiently (19). For statistical comparisons between case and control populations, images are "warped" onto a common template, and the degree of transposition of each voxel can be quantified. Inferences must be heeded with the consideration that the relative volumetric differences by region can vary by age, gender, whole brain volume, and by IQ, thus the degree to which these factors have been controlled for must be kept in mind.

Volumetric analysis in COS

Initial trials conducted by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) on a cohort of children with COS, identified a pattern of reduced cerebral volumes and larger ventricles, consistent with findings in the adult onset schizophrenia population (20). With expansion and longitudinal analysis of this patient sample, investigators were able to localize and describe patterns of change in brain structure and volume over time. While typically developing children were found to have a small decrease in cortical gray matter (~2%) in the frontal and parietal regions throughout adolescence, children with COS displayed exaggerated gray matter losses (~8%), involving the frontal, parietal, and temporal lobes. Of note, baseline IQ varied significantly between case and control groups in this data set (70 vs. 124) (21).

Subsequent analysis on the same NIMH sample (n = 60 patients), suggested that this pattern took on a "back to front" trajectory, with losses originating in the parietal lobes and spreading anteriorly over time (22). This pattern persisted after controlling for IQ and medication administration (23). Despite significant differences at an early age, the rate of gray matter loss was shown to level off in early adulthood, implicating adolescent neurodevelopment as a key window in disease pathogenesis (22, 24). This data is consistent with hypotheses pertaining to exaggerated synaptic pruning as a feature of schizophrenia (25).

Later work by the same group demonstrated that the abovedescribed pattern was specific for COS. Using VBM, 23 COS patients were compared to 38 age and gender matched healthy control subjects and 19 patients with other psychotic symptoms but not meeting criteria for COS, defined as "multidimensionally impaired" (MDI). MRI scans were conducted at study intake, and at 2.5 years follow up. The MDI group had equal exposure to neuroleptics at study intake, and had a similar degree of cognitive impairment. Total gray matter loss between the two time points demonstrated 5.1% loss for COS patients, 0.5% loss for MDI patients, and 1.5% loss for healthy control subjects. Thus, exaggerated gray matter loss during adolescence was considered to be a potential biomarker of COS (26).

There is very little literature looking at infants or toddlers who subsequently develop schizophrenia, given the methodological complexities of such a study. That being said, offspring of mothers with schizophrenia were found on average to have *larger* intracranial volumes, greater volumes of CSF, and greater gray matter volume on structural MRI in male neonates, compared to controls, although controlling for total intracranial volume resulted in all differences being non-significant (27).

Volumetric analysis in ASD

In ASD, earlier studies suggested a pattern of increased total brain volume, as well as increased ventricle size (28–30). Analyses across age ranges helped to further elucidate the chronology of this brain overgrowth picture. Indeed, exaggerated gray and white matter volumes seemed most pronounced in younger children, while older children with ASD had more typically appearing brains, when compared to their peers (31, 32) (see **Figure 1**). The hypothesis of brain overgrowth correlated with the measureable increase in rate of growth of head circumference during the first few years of life as well in this population (33, 34).



In 2005, a meta-analysis of published data on brain volume, head circumference, and post-mortem brain weight in ASD, further described the effect of age, with most marked differences occurring in the first few years of life. In adulthood, however, brain sizes did not vary from controls (35). Subsequent longitudinal and cross-sectional data from hundreds of children and adults with ASD documented volume enlargement during preschool years, most prominently in the anterior regions, followed by possible growth arrest or exaggerated losses later in childhood (36–38). Using cross-sectional age-adjusted data, Schumann et al. (36), for example, showed that children with ASD had 10% greater white matter volume, 6% greater frontal gray matter volume, and 9% greater temporal gray matter volume at 2 years of age. Longitudinal data showed altered growth trajectories at follow up scans (36).

Volumetric differences did not hold true in all ASD studies however, for example, when structural MRI from children with ASD were compared to children with other developmental delays (39, 40). Similarly, a recent systematic review of published data on head circumference overgrowth in children with ASD suggests differences may be much more subtle than previously thought. The authors attribute exaggerated differences to biased normative data in the CDC head circumference growth curves, to the selection of control groups from non-local communities, as well as to a failure to control for head circumference confounders such as weight and ethnicity (41).

Recently, a small study looked at whether volumetric MRI might be predictive of a subsequent diagnosis of ASD, prior to the development of clinical symptoms. A group of 55 infants (33 of which were considered high risk given that they had a sibling with ASD) were scanned prospectively at three time points prior to 24 months of age. At 24 and 36 months, they underwent detailed developmental assessments, at which point 10 infants were identified as having a diagnosis of ASD, and 11 were noted to have other developmental delays. The authors found increased extraaxial fluid volume in infants who developed ASD, and quantified the difference through manual delineation of CSF compartments. They were able to show that a ratio of fluid:brain volume of



>0.14 yielded 79% specificity and 78% sensitivity in 12–15 month old infants regarding a subsequent diagnosis of ASD (42) (see **Figure 2**). The finding remains to be replicated.

Summary and comparison. In summary, volumetric analyses in ASD describe early brain overgrowth in the first few years of life, a finding that is difficult to contrast to COS, given the methodological complexity of acquiring neuroimaging data in very young children or neonates who subsequently develop this condition. During childhood and adolescence, volumetric data suggests that individuals with ASD may have attenuated brain growth or exaggerated volume loss, since adults with ASD have comparable brain volumes to their typically developing peers. Some similarities emerge with the COS population, given findings of exaggerated gray matter loss during adolescent years.

CORTICAL THICKNESS AND MORPHOLOGY

With advancements in computational statistics, it became possible extract a more detailed analysis of the cortical gray matter with respect to surface morphology. Specifically, the transposition of cortical imaging data onto a common surface template allowed cortical gray matter volume to be further quantified in terms of cortical thickness, surface area, and gyrification. More recently, complex statistical approaches employing mathematical algorithms and machine-learning models have manipulated neuroimaging data collected from both volumetric and cortical thickness measurements, in efforts to generate diagnostic classifiers of ASD/COS.

Cortical measurements are of interest for neurodevelopmental disorders as they are thought to represent distinct embryological processes under tight regulatory control (43). Cortical surface area, for example, reflects to the process of neural stem cell proliferation and migration early in embryologic development (44). Cortical thickness, on the other hand, reflects axon and dendrite remodeling, myelination, and synaptic pruning, in a dynamic process lasting from birth into adulthood (45).

Cortical thickness and morphology in COS

In the NIMH-COS sample (46), a combination of cross-sectional and longitudinal data from 70 patients compared to controls revealed diffuse decreases in mean cortical thickness in childhood (~7.5% smaller), which became localized specifically to the frontal and temporal lobes with increasing age. Statistical significance survived correction for covariates such as sex, socioeconomic status, and IQ. Accordingly, while individuals with COS displayed global gray matter and cortical thickness losses in childhood, with age these losses became similar to those observed in adult onset schizophrenia, with deficits localizing more anteriorly (see **Figure 3**).

Interestingly, in two separate samples, non-affected siblings of COS probands also demonstrated a pattern of decreased cortical thickness in the frontal, temporal and parietal lobes during childhood and adolescence, which then normalized in early adulthood, implicating some sort of compensatory mechanism despite underlying genetic risk (47, 48).

With hospitalization and medication management, symptom remission correlated with localized increases in cortical thickness measurable in specific subregions of the cortex (49), irrespective of choice of antipsychotic (50). Children who had other psychiatric conditions with comorbid psychotic symptoms but not meeting full criteria for COS demonstrated cortical deficits in prefrontal/temporal pattern as well, but deficits were smaller and less striking than in COS patients (51). As mentioned in the introduction to this section, complex algorithms and mathematical protocols have been designed to identify and combine measurements that may be predictive of disease state. A multivariate machine-learning algorithm applied to cortical thickness data from the NIMH cohort was able to correctly classify 73.7% of patients with COS and controls. Through this method, 74 "important" regions were identified. Areas with the most predictive power clustered in frontal regions (primarily the superior and middle frontal gyris), and the left temporoparietal region (52). Given the rarity of COS in the general population, and the case-control study design, these results were not validated in a separate study population, precluding any calculation of positive or negative predictive value, and thus limiting any inferences regarding clinical utility.

Cortical thickness and morphology in ASD

There is significant heterogeneity in the literature with respect to cortical thickness and morphology in ASD, with at times seemingly contradictory results depending on the age, IQ, and clinical severity of the study population.

In a very young group of patients with ASD, cortical volume, and surface area (but not thickness) were found to be increased compared to controls at the age of 2 years. The rate of cortical growth between ages 2 and 5 years did not differ between groups, further implicating the prenatal and early postnatal periods as central to disease pathogenesis (53).

In slightly older age groups, many authors have observed evidence of exaggerated cortical thinning in ASD. For example, Hardan et al. (54) demonstrated that children with ASD ages 8–13 years had increased cortical thickness, particularly in the temporal lobe, as compared to aged matched controls. The small sample size (n = 17 cases), however, precluded co-variation for IQ, or analysis of age-related interactions (54). Longitudinal imaging 2-years later on seemingly the same cohort, showed that those with a diagnosis of ASD underwent exaggerated cortical thinning compared to controls, and that the degree of thinning correlated with the severity of symptoms. Differences, however, were mostly non-significant after controlling for multiple comparisons



and variation in IQ (55). In a comparable age group (6–15 years). Mak-Fan et al. (56) showed a similar pattern of increased cortical thickness, surface area, and gray matter volume in children with ASD at earlier ages (6–10 years), that then underwent exaggerated losses compared to controls, such that by 12–13 years of age, controls surpassed patients on all three measures (56). Wallace et al. (57), on the other hand, found baseline *deficits* in cortical thickness for adolescents with ASD, but also observed exaggerated rates of cortical thinning during adolescence and early adulthood (57). In the same study population, no differences in overall surface area were noted, but more overall gyrification in the ASD group, particularly in the occipital and parietal regions was observed. Both groups showed a decline in gyrification overtime (58).

On the other hand, several authors have noted deficits in cortical thinning in ASD. Looking over a wide age range, Raznahan et al. (59) used cross-sectional MRI data from 76 patients with ASD (primarily Asperger's syndrome) and 51 controls from ages 10 to 60 years to study the effects of age on cortical thickness and surface area. While surface area was relatively stable and comparable between both groups, they found significant differences with respect to cortical thickness. Typically developing individuals had greater cortical thickness in adolescence, which thinned steadily overtime. Individuals with ASD had reduced cortical thickness early in life, which underwent relatively little cortical thinning overtime, such that by middle age, they had surpassed their typically developing peers (59). ASD associated deficits in expected age-related cortical thinning during adolescence and adulthood has been shown in several other studies as well, both diffusely and in specific subregions (60, 61).

Recently, Ecker et al. (62) sought to tease apart the relative contributions of cortical thickness and cortical surface area to overall differences in cortical volume in a group of adult males (mean age of 26 years) with ASD compared to controls. While total brain volume and mean cortical thickness measurements were not significantly different between the two groups, several regional clusters emerged with both increased and decreased cortical volumes. The authors found that these relative differences were accounted for by variability primarily in cortical surface area, and less so from cortical thickness. As well, differences in cortical thickness/surface area were largely non-overlapping, and were deemed to be spatially independent from each other (62).

As in COS, several groups have aimed to combine the predictive power of multiple measurements by applying mathematical algorithms to neuroimaging data. Ecker et al. (63), for example, included five parameters (cortical convexity, curvature, folding, thickness and surface area) in their support vector machine analytic approach. These combined measurements were able to correctly classify patients with ASD (n = 20) and controls (n = 20)with 80-90% specificity and sensitivity, with cortical thickness being the most predictive measurement. This approach also demonstrated proof of principle in separating patients with ASD from patients with ADHD, despite the small sample size, and lack of reproduction in a separate group of patients with ASD from which the algorithm was generated (63). Similarly, Jiao et al. (64) incorporated cortical thickness and volume data from children with ASD and controls (ages 7-13) into a machine-learning model with the aims of predicting presence or absence of ASD. One

algorithm was able to predict diagnostic stratification with 87% accuracy based on cortical thickness measurements. The most predictive regions included both areas of decreased cortical thickness (in the left pars triangularis, orbital frontal gyrus, parahippocampalgyrus, and left frontal pole) and increased cortical thickness (left anterior cingulate and left precuneus) (64). Again, the case control design was not representative of true population prevalence, precluding calculation of positive predictive values.

Summary and comparison. In ASD, a small number of studies support a pattern of very early overgrowth in cortical surface area and volume (<2 years of age), which is immediately followed by cortical dysmaturation throughout childhood and adolescence, with evidence suggesting both exaggerated and impaired cortical thinning, depending on the study. Changes in cortical thickness and surface area seem to occur in non-overlapping regions. In COS on the other hand, cortical thickness is reduced diffusely in childhood, although data from very young patients (<8 years) are lacking. During adolescence, reductions in cortical thickness become more localized to frontal regions, although less has been written about the specific rates of cortical thinning in this patient group.

REGIONS OF INTEREST

Studies seeking out and investigating specific regions of interest in both COS and ASD have employed several different approaches. On the one hand, a general approach simultaneously comparing dozens of regions of interest or thousands of specific points in the absence of an *a priori* defined hypothesis has been used to survey for areas associated with the greatest differences between patient and control samples, and can help guide future areas of research. On the other hand, a predefined hypothesis regarding volumetric differences in a particular region allows optimization of statistical power, to more precisely elucidate candidate regions.

Regions of interest in COS

A meta-analysis of studies conducted in adult onset schizophrenia patients describes global deficits in volume, most consistently in the left superior temporal gyrus and the left medial temporal lobe (65). Looking specifically at COS, in the NIMH cohort, an automated and longitudinal analysis of over 40,000 points across the cortical surface found that the superior and middle frontal gyris showed the greatest overall reduction in cortical thickness compared to controls (46). In a different sample COS population from UCLA, specific analysis of the right posterior superior temporal gyrus (Wernicke's area, involved in verbal comprehension), found volume to be *increased* in this region (66). Investigations conducted by the same group on the anterior cingulate gyrus, a central and highly connected structure in the prefrontal cortex involved in many functions including error monitoring, yielded volume reductions (67).

Hypothesis driven approaches in the NIMH-COS cohort have been able to identify specific regional volume deficits as well. The insular cortex, for example, has been implicated in schizophrenia, given its role in distinguishing self from non-self, in visceral somatosensory interpretation, in processing of emotional experiences, and in salience. Patients with COS were found to have smaller insular volumes, whereas COS-siblings and controls were not statistically different, suggesting reduced insular size as an indicator of disease state. Additionally, level of functioning and severity of symptoms correlated with insular volume (68).

The cerebellum, classically understood to be involved in motor coordination and planning, has been implicated in schizophrenia given its association with learning and cognition. In longitudinal data from the NIMH cohort, smaller overall and regional cerebellar volumes were detected in affected individuals, with siblings falling between patients and controls on various measures (69).

Regarding subcortical structures, enlargement of the caudate (70) has been shown. In the limbic system, increased amygdala volume (71), but volume loss in the hippocampus and fornix (72, 73) has also been found in COS.

Regions of interest in ASD

Brain regions proposed to play a role in social cognition, communication, and "theory of mind" have been a focus of investigation in ASD. The region of the temporoparietal junction in particular, is thought to be central to the integration of social information and empathy, as well as selective attention to salient stimuli (74). Thinning of several areas in the temporoparietal region, particularly on the left side, has been shown in children, adolescents, and adults with ASD (38, 57, 59, 61, 75).

The orbital frontal cortex, in the ventromedial prefrontal region, is thought to play a role in sensory processing, goal directed behavior, adaptive learning, and attachment formation (76). Patients with autism, despite increased overall cortical thickness in the frontal region, have been shown to have specific deficits in cortical thickness (38), volume, and surface area (62) in the orbital frontal cortex, which correlated with symptoms severity (62). Other frontal lobe structures showing reduced cortical thickness in ASD include the inferior and middle frontal gyri, and the prefrontal cortex, depending on the study (38, 64, 77).

The anterior cingulate is a highly connected part of the social brain network situated along the medial aspect of the frontal cortex. Its role in self-perception, social processing, error monitoring, and reward based learning has been described (78). Relative increases (60, 64) and decreases (62, 75, 77) in volume and thickness of the anterior cingulate have been shown in ASD. Given that different regions may grow at different rates in individuals with ASD vs. controls (60, 61), variation in the age and distribution of study populations may account for some inconsistencies.

Volume deficits in the insular cortex have been demonstrated in young adults with pervasive developmental disorders (79). In adults with ASD, those who had a history of psychotic symptoms also demonstrated reduced insular volumes, particularly on the right side, as well as reduced cerebellar volumes (80).

Looking at subcortical structures, the caudate has been shown to be enlarged in ASD, across whole brain volumetric metaanalyses (81–83), and in targeted ROI analysis, even after controlling for confounding medication administration (84). Volume loss in the putamen has been shown across whole brain meta-analyses in adults with ASD (81, 83, 85), but enlargement of the putamen has also been observed in younger populations (86). In the amygdala, volume losses emerge across whole brain meta-analytic approaches (83, 85, 87), but volume gains are noted in younger patient groups as well (88). From a functional perspective, enlargement of the caudate may be associated with repetitive or self-injurious behavior (89–92), while volume loss in the amygdala may pertain to impaired emotional perception and regulation (93).

Summary and comparison. Volume losses have been noted in some overlapping prefrontal regions in both ASD and COS, particularly along the middle frontal gyrus. The anterior cingulate is also implicated in both conditions, although bidirectional changes in volume have been noted in ASD, depending on age of study participants. The area of the temporal-parietal junction shows volume loss in ASD, and was an area strongly predictive of diagnosis in group of individuals with COS (discussed in see Cortical Thickness and Morphology in COS). The insula is implicated in patients with COS, and in those with ASD who have comorbid psychotic symptoms. Looking at deep structures, both conditions are associated with volume gains in the caudate, which may pertain to repetitive behaviors, or concomitant neuroleptic treatment.

STRUCTURAL WHITE MATTER ANALYSIS (VOLUMETRIC ANALYSIS AND DIFFUSION TENSOR IMAGING)

Magnetic resonance imaging analyses that incorporate diffusion measurements allow for further sub-characterization of white matter microstructure, above volumetric differences. The diffusion of water molecules is measurable with MRI technology, and the magnitude and direction of diffusion within each individual voxel can be modeled mathematically with vector algebra. Axial diffusivity (AD) is the measurement of diffusion occurring *parallel* to white matter fibers; increased AD occurs in diseases involving axonal degeneration, and is thought to reflect both the integrity and density of axon structures. Radial diffusivity (RD) on the other hand, is a measurement of diffusion occurring *perpendicular* to the white matter fibers; it is used as a measure of myelination, and is increased in demyelinating diseases. Mean diffusivity (MD) (also known as the apparent diffusion coefficient, ADC) is a measure of average diffusion in absence of a directional gradient (94).

A summary ellipsoid vector incorporating the overall spherical nature of the combined vectors is termed "fractional anisotropy" (FA). A perfectly "isotropic" solution (FA = 0), such as free water, contains molecules that diffuse freely in all directions, whereas an anisotropic solution (i.e., a white matter fiber bundle) would restrict diffusion in one direction resulting in an elongated ellipsoid and FA values closer to 1. In white matter tract analysis, increased FA is thought to be a sensitive but not specific measure of fiber myelination, the integrity of cell membranes as well as the diameter of the fibers (95). Typically developing individuals show age related increases in FA and decreases in MD throughout development, in keeping with increasing white matter maturation (96). As in gray matter analyses, DTI can be applied to the whole brain in a voxel-based approach, or alternatively, specific regions of interest can be investigated with this method. Along these lines, specific anatomic white matter tracts can be reconstructed and analyzed from DTI data, in a method known as tractography. DTI data can also be transposed onto a common FA template, in tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) (97).

Magnetic resonance imaging data collected in the absence of diffusion measurements can still be utilized in studying white matter integrity and growth. Similar to gray matter analysis, simple volumetric studies on white matter structures have been employed. Alternatively, 3D mapping of volumetric changes in white matter tracts via tensor-based morphometry (TBM) has been validated as a method of studying white matter development over time. In brief, TBM applies initial and follow up scans to a standardized brain template to ensure precise anatomical alignment. Next, an elastic-deformation algorithm is used to calculate the specific degree of volume expansion in a set area, represented by an expansion factor called the "Jacobian determinant." Growth rates are calculated by comparing the Jacobian determinant measures across patient and control samples.

WHITE MATTER ANALYSIS IN COS

The corpus callosum is the largest white matter structure in the human brain, and is central for connectivity and relay of information between hemispheres. Deficits in the corpus callosum have been inconsistently demonstrated in adult onset schizophrenia populations (95). In a longitudinal analysis of children and young adults with COS, differences in the midsagittal area of the splenium of the corpus callosum emerged around age 22, with patients having significantly smaller structures (98). Later analysis looking at volumetric differences in subsections of the corpus callosum revealed no differences between NIMH-COS patients, their siblings and controls with respect to overall volume, and/or volume change over time (99).

Comparison of whole brain TBM data between 12 patients with COS and 12 age matched controls followed over a 5-year interval revealed aberrant white matter development between ages 13 and 19 years. Specifically, at baseline MRI, patients had a 15% deficit in white matter volume in the frontal regions. At follow up, control patients showed an average of 2.6% growth in white matter per year, while COS patient had only 0.4% white matter growth

Table 1	Summary	of white ma	atter findings	in ASD and COS.
---------	---------	-------------	----------------	-----------------

ASD vs. controls COS vs. controls White matter DTI in COS Meta-analysis on white Meta-analysis on DTI in ASD volume in COS matter volume in ASD (109)(110)Study (160); (99); (98) (102)Mean age of patient group (160) 14.1-18.7; (99) 17.3; 14.7 21.4 15.2 (98) 14.8 Whole brain white matter ↓ (160) ND FA ND Corpus callosum ↓ (98); ND (99) ND FA; ↑ RD/AD in LI ↓ FA; ↑ MD \downarrow ND FA; ↑ RD/AD in LI (L) \downarrow FA (L); \uparrow MD Superior longitudinal fasciculus _ Arcuate fasciculus ND FA ↑ ND FA Inferior longitudinal fasciulus ND FA; ↑ RD/AD in LI (L) _ Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus ND FA; ↑ RD/AD in LI (L) ND FA ↑ Cingulum ↓ (160) ND FA ND FA \downarrow ND FA Uncinate fasciulus ↓ FA (L); ND MD ↑

Note that for ASD, significant findings are reported from meta-analyses only. COS, childhood onset schizophrenia; ASD, autism spectrum disorder; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; ND, no difference; FA, fractional anisotropy; RD, radial diffusivity; MD, mean diffusivity; AD, axial diffusivity; L, left side; R, right side; LI, COS patients with language impairment.

per year. The white matter deficits in the COS sample seemed to progress in a front to back pattern, opposite to previous findings regarding gray-matter deficits, but consistent with expected growth patterns in healthy adolescent brains (100). Unaffected siblings of children with COS showed delayed white matter growth at younger ages (<14 years) but not at older ages (14–18 years) as measured by TBM. Delayed white matter growth was most significant in the parietal regions for siblings, but normalized by age 18 (101).

There are relatively few DTI studies in specific COS populations. Clark et al. (102) found no significant differences in FA diffusely between 18 children and adolescents with COS, and 25 controls. Of note, five COS patients had a comorbid diagnosis of ASD, of which four were tested as having a linguistic impairment. Increased RD and AD was noted for patient vs. control groups in several white matter tracts (see **Table 1**). Increases in RD and AD in these regions were explained primarily by the presence of a linguistic impairment, and not the diagnosis COS, however (102).

There is a growing body of literature, however, on diffusion tensor imaging in adult onset schizophrenia and early-onset schizophrenia (EOS: defined as symptom onset prior to age 18 years). Findings investigating these patient groups are summarized in several reviews (103, 104). Given the paucity of literature applying DTI in COS, some conclusions may be extrapolated from the earlyonset schizophrenia literature; therefore they will be discussed briefly.

In general, while results have varied, the corpus callosum, superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus, cingulum, and the uncinate fasciculus have been suggested as areas most affected with respect to white matter integrity as measured by decreases in FA (103, 104). Some studies have attempted to correlate DTI findings with symptomatology. Ashtari et al. (105), for example, found decreased FA in the left inferior longitudinal fasciculus was more pronounced for EOS patients with a history of visual hallucinations (105). As in volumetric imaging, studies that incorporate

analyses for age effects provide evidence of dynamic white matter abnormalities as well, in EOS. For example, FA in the anterior cingulate region increased with age in the healthy control population, but decreased with age in the early onset psychosis population (106). Similarly, patients with EOS showed decreased FA in parietal regions, while patients with adult onset schizophrenia had findings localizing to the frontal, temporal, and cerebellar regions (107).

WHITE MATTER ANALYSIS IN ASD

Earlier volumetric analyses suggested a pattern of accelerated of white matter volume and growth in younger children, particularly in the frontal regions, but that adolescents with ASD had similar or reduced white matter volume compared to controls (108). Meta-analysis of 13 VBM studies on white matter volume found no differences globally in white matter volume, and no differences between child/adolescent groups and adults groups, although no studies included very young children (<6 years). Some regional differences emerged, however (109) (see Table 1).

With respect to diffusion tensor imaging, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, combining DTI data from 14 studies, including both children and adults with ASD, summarized some areas of consensus and heterogeneity in the literature. In summary, decreased FA was most consistently demonstrated in the corpus callosum, left uncinate fasciculus, and left superior longitudinal fasciculus of individuals with ASD. Mean diffusivity was increased in the corpus callosum, and bilaterally in the superior longitudinal fasciculus (110). This meta-analysis included data from ROI and tractography studies only, however, excluding whole brain TBSS and voxel-based analyses. A recent literature review on DTI in ASD by Travers et al. (97), identified decreased FA, increased MD, and RD as the most common finding across methods, with the corpus callosum, cingulum, arcuate fasciculus, superior longitudinal, and uncinate fasciculus showing the greatest differences (97).

Most imaging studies in autism to date, as well as those included in the above-described meta-analyses, have been conducted in older children, adolescents, or adults. In these age groups, decreased FA and increased MD have been repeatedly documented in many white matter regions. The specific rate of change in white matter markers, as well as the effect of age on white matter maturation seems to vary by study, however. For example, Mak-Fan et al. (56) showed RD and MD measurements stayed stable between the ages 6 and 14 years in subjects with ASD, while control subjects showed expected decreases with age (111). Ameis et al. (112) found the between group differences in RD, AD, and MD, but not FA, which were more pronounced in childhood than in adolescence (112).

Few studies have been conducted in very young children, however, and less consistency emerges in the data from this age range. Contrary to literature in older populations, Weinstein et al. (113), reported that FA was *greater* for children ages 1.5–6 years with ASD compared to controls in the areas of the corpus callosum, superior longitudinal fasciculus, and cingulum. Differences in FA were attributable to decreased RD, while AD was the same between cases and controls (113). Similarly, Ben Bashat et al. (114), found evidence of accelerated white matter maturation marked by increased FA and reduced displacement values in a small sample of children with ASD ages 1.8–3.3 years, most prominently in frontal regions (114). Abdel Razek and colleagues (115), found ADC scores to be greater for preschool children with ASD in several regions, which correlated with severity of autistic symptoms as measured by the childhood autism rating scale (115). Walker et al. (116) on the other hand, found that 39 children between ages 2 and 8 years with ASD had decreased MD and FA compared to controls, accompanied by an attenuated rate of increase in FA, as well an accelerated rate of decreased MD compared to controls (116). Longitudinal data looking at high risk infants found evidence of higher FA at 6 months in children who were subsequently diagnosed with ASD, but that they had then had a slower rate of change such that by 24 months typically developing children had surpassed them in this measure (117).

For most studies, although differences have been statistically significant for certain regions, the magnitude of these differences has been quite small, on the range of 1–2%, thus limiting the predictive ability of any individual measurement. Lange et al. (118) generated a discriminant function that was able to distinguish between individuals with and without ASD with 94% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 92% accuracy, by combining the predictive ability of DTI data points centered primarily around the superior temporal gyrus and the temporal stem. The sensitivity and specificity was reproduced in a replicate sample as well, however the case-control design was not reflective of true population prevalence, again precluding inferences regarding predictive ability in a real life clinical setting (118).

Emerging efforts have tried to correlate neuroimaing findings to functional and behavioral outcomes. For example, increased MD in the superior longitudinal fasciculus correlated with degree of language impairment in children and adolescents (119). Increase FA and decreased RD in the arcuate fasciculus correlated with greater language abilities in another group of children with ASD (120). Similarly, lower FA in the dorsal lateral prefrontal region was associated with increased social impairment in a group of children with ASD in Japan (121). Attempts to identify structural deficits in areas involved socio-emotional processing have yielded mixed results as well. Further focus on understanding the functional connectivity between distant regions is described in the next section.

Summary and comparison. White matter development in COS patients compared to controls appears marked by global deficits in white matter volume and decreased rates of white matter growth/integrity in adolescence, although the specific chronology, most affected regions and the relation to symptoms continues to be explored. In ASD, meta-analyses suggest no differences overall in white matter volume in adults, although early white matter volumetric overgrowth may occur in younger patient samples. Looking at specific white matter regions, volume losses have been noted in both ASD and COS in the corpus callosum and cingulum. In both conditions, decreased white matter integrity as measured though DTI has been observed in the superior longitudinal fasciculus, which may pertain to comorbid language impairments.

FUNCTIONAL CONNECTIVITY

While imaging of white matter tracts through techniques like DTI permits the quantification of structural connectivity between

regions, functional connectivity requires in vivo analysis of brain activation. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) measures regional changes in blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signaling, given the subtle differences in magnetic field strength between oxygenated and deoxygenated blood. Brain activation patterns may be analyzed in subjects at rest (termed resting state) or during a specific cognitive or behavioral task performed in an MRI scanner. Data can be analyzed with respect to a specific region of interest (seed technique), where connections to and from an *a priori* defined region are studied. Alternatively, independent component analysis (ICA), or similar techniques, look at overall activation patterns across all regions, and can comment on patterns in functional networks (i.e., default mode network, salience network). Data from functional neuroimaging studies are often analyzed using graph theory. In this approach, the relationship between certain areas of central activation (termed "nodes") and the vectors of connectivity between nodes (termed "edges") are described using discrete mathematics (122). Short-range connectivity (i.e., within a specific lobe, or to a neighboring lobe) and long-range connectivity between remote regions can be quantified in this manner.

FUNCTIONAL CONNECTIVITY IN COS

Two separate analyses in the NIMH cohort of COS have suggested exaggerated long-range connectivity, and impaired short-range connectivity, in keeping with a hypothesis of exaggerated synaptic pruning. Resting state fMRI data was used to graph the connectivity between 100 regional nodes for 13 patients and 19 controls. Data showed that patients with COS had signals that were less clustered with more disrupted modularity marked by fewer edges between nodes of the same module. On the other hand, they showed greater global connectedness and greater global efficiency (123). Subsequent analyses with a slightly larger sample again found reduced connectivity at short distances and increased connectivity at long distances for patients with COS compared to controls on resting state fMRI. Relative to healthy controls, patients with COS had several regions in the frontal and parietal lobes that were "nodes" of over-connectedness with respect to long-range associations (124). White et al. (125) on the other hand, interpreted an opposite pattern from a study using a visual stimulus to analyze connectivity in the occipital lobe of children and adolescents with early onset schizophrenia (125). Similarly, structural connectivity analysis in neonates at high risk for schizophrenia found decreased global efficiency, increased local efficiency, and fewer nodes and edges overall compared to control infants (126).

FUNCTIONAL CONNECTIVITY IN ASD

In ASD on the other hand, there is an abundance of recent literature on functional connectivity. An emerging hypothesis suggests that frontoparietal under connectivity in ASD results in reduced "bandwidth" in long-range circuits [reviewed by Just et al. (127)]. Some propose that this coincides with local increases in connectivity within a specific lobe, resulting in a failure to integrate and regulate multiple sources of information (128). This hypothesis is consistent with structural white matter deficits in long-range association fibers, as well as structural patterns in gray matter showing increased local, but deficits in global modularity (129).

With respect to functional analyses, impaired synchronization, and under connectivity between large-scale networks has been shown in fMRI studies incorporating various task-based assessments, including those pertaining to language comprehension and auditory stimuli (130-132), executive functioning (133), visual spatial processing (134), and response to emotional cues (135, 136). Under connectivity has not been the only finding however, with many functional MRI studies showing evidence of increased connectivity or altered developmental trajectories with respect to integrated neural networks (137-139). For example, a recent meta-analysis of fMRI studies found greater activation in children with ASD in response to a social task in certain specific regions (i.e., in the left-precentral gyrus) but relative under activation compared to controls in other areas (superior temporal gyrus, parahippocampal gyrus, amygdala, and fusiform gyrus). In adults with ASD, activation was greater in the superior temporal gyrus, but less in the anterior cingulate during social processing (140).

The literature is also divided with respect to functional neuroimaging in resting state MRI, in the absence of any particular stimulus or task. Some have proposed that methodological issues may be contributing to observed inconsistencies (141). While hypoconnectivity seems most prevalent in the literature, [Ref. (142, 143); reviewed by Uddin et al. (144)], Uddin et al. (144) observed long-range hyperconnectivity via ICA across remote regions in 20 children ages 7-12 years with autism compared to controls. Hyperconnectivity was noted to involve the default mode network, frontotemporal, motor, visual, and salience networks. Hyperconnectivity of the salience network (which involves the anterior cingulate and insula) was most predictive of the diagnosis of ASD and was able to discriminate between cases and controls with 83% accuracy, a finding that was reproduced in a separate image dataset (145). Other resting state fMRI studies have also observed mixed patterns, which vary by region, network, and by age of the sample (146, 147).

The literature in very young patients with ASD is relatively sparse but seems to suggest altered developmental trajectories for affected children beginning at very young ages. A recent publication observed increased functional connectivity at 3 months, which disappeared by 12 months in high risk infants (148). Alternatively, Redcay and Courchesne (139) found increased connectivity between hemispheres in 2–3 year old children with ASD compared to chronological age matched controls, however the opposite pattern emerged when they were compared to mental age matched controls (139). Dinstein et al. (132) observed hypoconnectivity between hemispheres and in language regions in toddlers with ASD in response to auditory stimuli (132).

A recent review article by Uddin et al. (144) summarizes the literature to date with respect to resting state functional connectivity analyses. While intrinsic connectivity and seed-based analyses across 17 published studies suggest both hyper- and hypo-connectivity, Uddin and colleagues propose that the developmental age of the sample may be one explanatory factor with respect to variability in results. They describe a hypothesis in which increased functional connectivity in prepubescent children with ASD as compared to their peers is then met with altered maturational trajectories such that adults with ASD seem to have reduced connectivity compared to controls (144).

A recent publication put forth by a data sharing initiative entitled "autism brain imaging data exchange" (ABIDE) proposes to remedy disagreement in the literature through a large-scale international collaboration combining 1112 resting state fMRI scans. Analysis of 360 male subjects with ASD compared to controls found hypo connectivity in cortical networks but hyper connectivity in subcortical networks. They also identified localized differences in connectivity in certain regions, including the insula, cingulate, and thalamus. They did not perform specific analyses looking for age-associated differences, however, given that the majority of included participants were adolescents or adults (146).

Summary and comparison. There are only a handful of studies looking at functional connectivity in COS, but data from fMRI suggest a pattern of increased long-range connectivity, with disrupted short-range connectivity, in keeping with pathology of exaggerated synaptic pruning. In comparison, data from fMRI in ASD suggest to some extent an opposite pattern, with increased local but decreased global connectivity. fMRI data sharing between research centers reveal hyperconnectivity in subcortical networks, and hypoconnectivity in cortical networks in adult males with ASD. Smaller studies in younger age groups suggest important age effects regarding the connectivity hypothesis as well, with younger children with ASD seemingly showing more "over-connectedness" than adults.

DISCUSSION

This review compares and contrasts neuroimaging findings in ASD and COS. Overall, across volumetric, structural, and functional neuroimaging data, there arises evidence for a dynamic changes in both conditions. In ASD, a pattern of early brain overgrowth is seemingly met with dysmaturation in adolescence, although the literature in this regard is far from certain. Functional analyses have suggested impaired long-range connectivity as well as increased local and/or subcortical connectivity, which may also progress with age. In COS, global deficits in cerebral volume, cortical thickness, and white matter maturation seem most pronounced in childhood and adolescence, and may level off in early adulthood. Deficits in local connectivity, with increased long-range connectivity have been proposed, in keeping with exaggerated cortical pruning; however the opposite has also been shown. Symptom and neuroimaging overlap across conditions was illustrated via a meta-analysis of fMRI data in both schizophrenia and ASD, which identified shared deficits in regions involved in social cognition (149).

The significance of these findings is tempered, however, by heterogeneity in results across other pediatric onset neurodevelopmental disorders. In ADHD for example, longitudinal MRI analyses in children suggest overall reduced cortical thickness prior to the onset of puberty (158) with peak cortical thickness and onset of cortical thinning occurring at later ages (159). In the future, clinical neuroimaging must be able to identify not only the presence of aberrant neurodevelopment, but also be able to discern across overlapping conditions.

While there is heterogeneity in the literature in both conditions, findings regarding COS at times appear more consistent. It is important to note that, given the rarity of this condition,

these findings emerge from relatively few research samples, and are derived primarily from data collected from the same population of individuals. In ASD on the other hand, there has been an international explosion of investigation at numerous institutions, across ages, IQ ranges, and diagnostic severity, which has resulted in at times seemingly contradictory results. A call for collaboration (150) has been met with a first international compilation of neuroimaging datasets, which has helped to clarify some discrepancies in the literature with respect to fMRI (146). Going forward, ongoing collaboration to facilitate large scale, prospective, longitudinal neuroimaging studies, will be necessary to separate signals from noise in these complex and heterogeneous diseases. A focus on genetic subtypes may help to unite synapse pathology with neuroimaging findings and network dysfunction, to permit some degree of hypothesis generation with respect to molecular pathogenesis.

In ASD, for example, a loss of inhibitory control leading to exaggerated growth, premature cortical thinning, and then early stabilization of cortical structures has led some to suggest that overall the developmental curve has been "shifted to the left" along the time axis in this condition, with respect to brain maturation (75, 151). Current genetic investigations suggest alterations in structural scaffolding at the excitatory synapse could be contributory in ASD (152). Single gene disorders associated with autism may shed light on underlying final common pathways (153). Fragile X syndrome (FXS), for example, is a genetic condition comorbid with ASD in 20-30% of cases (154). Individuals afflicted with this condition have dysfunction or absence of the fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP). FMRP is now understood to play a critical role in regulation of protein synthesis at the excitatory synapse, and without it, exaggerated receptor cycling and dysfunctional neuroplasticity can results (153). A similar mechanism in idiopathic ASD would hypothetically results in a loss of inhibitory control on expected maturational changes, uncoupling the structural and temporal timeline of synaptic neurodevelopment.

In schizophrenia, exaggerated synaptic pruning has been a long held hypothesis with respect to an etiology (25), which is consistent with aspects of the neuroimaging literature in COS. On the other hand, a small study in high risk infants suggests enlarged cerebral volumes may exist early in life, implying that some type of early dysregulated growth may be at play in this condition as well, similar to the process occurring in ASD (27). Investigations in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DS), a genetic disorder associated with schizophrenia in 20-25% of cases (155), permits longitudinal and prospective analysis of children at high risk for schizophrenia. Interestingly, MRI data collected in children as young as 6 years old with 22q11.2 DS found early increases in cortical thickness and deficits in cortical thinning in preadolescence, which are then met with exaggerated cortical thinning during adolescent years. Patients who subsequently developed schizophrenia indeed had more exaggerated deficits in cortical thickness (156).

In studies recruiting adolescents, it is difficult to tease out the possible influence of confounders such as substance abuse on both clinical and radiologic findings. While comorbid substance abuse is common in adult onset schizophrenia populations (occurring in 50–80% cases), the rate of substance abuse in COS, while presumed

lower, has not been described (157). Ongoing study of clinical, environmental, and cultural confounding factors in both ASD and COS is needed.

Many investigators have sought to use neuroimaging protocols as predictors of diagnosis in case-control studies. The accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of these analyses have on average ranged between 60 and 90%, and some groups have been able to reproduce high levels of diagnostic accuracy in separate patient samples. The clinical utility of these algorithms, however, remains uncertain in the absence of their application to populations reflecting realistic disease prevalence (i.e., positive predictive values are low or not reported). The development of clinically useful, cost-effective wide scale diagnostic tests for neurodevelopment conditions remains a common goal, and several groups have initiated prospective trials on high risk patient populations which may perhaps yield some hopeful results in the next decade.

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTION

Danielle A. Baribeau authored the manuscript. Evdokia Anagnostou developed the research topic, provided guidance, editing, and supervision.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Funding for this research was provided by the Province of Ontario Neurodevelopmental Disorders Network (POND), supported by the Ontario Brain Institute.

REFERENCES

- Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders – autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. MMWR Surveill Summ (2012) 61(3):1–19.
- Clemmensen L, Vernal DL, Steinhausen HC. A systematic review of the longterm outcome of early onset schizophrenia. *BMC Psychiatry* (2012) 12:150. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-12-150
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).
- McKenna K, Gordon CT, Lenane M, Kaysen D, Fahey K, Rapoport JL. Looking for childhood-onset schizophrenia: the first 71 cases screened. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1994) 33(5):636–44. doi:10.1097/00004583-199406000-00003
- Shorter E, Wachtel LE. Childhood catatonia, autism and psychosis past and present: is there an "iron triangle"? *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2013) 128(1):21–33. doi:10.1111/acps.12082
- 6. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (1980).
- Gochman P, Miller R, Rapoport JL. Childhood-onset schizophrenia: the challenge of diagnosis. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2011) 13(5):321–2. doi:10.1007/s11920-011-0212-4
- Sporn AL, Addington AM, Gogtay N, Ordonez AE, Gornick M, Clasen L, et al. Pervasive developmental disorder and childhood-onset schizophrenia: comorbid disorder or a phenotypic variant of a very early onset illness? *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55(10):989–94. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.01.019
- Rapoport J, Chavez A, Greenstein D, Addington A, Gogtay N. Autism spectrum disorders and childhood-onset schizophrenia: clinical and biological contributions to a relation revisited. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2009) 48(1):10–8. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e31818b1c63
- Sullivan S, Rai D, Golding J, Zammit S, Steer C. The association between autism spectrum disorder and psychotic experiences in the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children (ALSPAC) birth cohort. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2013) 52(8):806–14.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.05.010
- Joshi G, Wozniak J, Petty C, Martelon MK, Fried R, Bolfek A, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity and functioning in a clinically referred population of adults with autism spectrum disorders: a comparative study. *J Autism Dev Disord* (2013) 43(6):1314–25. doi:10.1007/s10803-012-1679-5

- Stahlberg O, Soderstrom H, Rastam M, Gillberg C. Bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and other psychotic disorders in adults with childhood onset AD/HD and/or autism spectrum disorders. *J Neural Transm* (2004) 111(7):891–902. doi:10.1007/s00702-004-0115-1
- Abdallah MW, Greaves-Lord K, Grove J, Norgaard-Pedersen B, Hougaard DM, Mortensen EL. Psychiatric comorbidities in autism spectrum disorders: findings from a Danish Historic Birth Cohort. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2011) 20(11–12):599–601. doi:10.1007/s00787-011-0220-2
- Hutton J, Goode S, Murphy M, Le Couteur A, Rutter M. New-onset psychiatric disorders in individuals with autism. *Autism* (2008) 12(4):373–90. doi:10.1177/1362361308091650
- Lionel AC, Vaags AK, Sato D, Gazzellone MJ, Mitchell EB, Chen HY, et al. Rare exonic deletions implicate the synaptic organizer gephyrin (GPHN) in risk for autism, schizophrenia and seizures. *Hum Mol Genet* (2013) 22(10):2055–66. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt056
- Lee SH, Ripke S, Neale BM, Faraone SV, Purcell SM, Perlis RH, et al. Genetic relationship between five psychiatric disorders estimated from genome-wide SNPs. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(9):984–94. doi:10.1038/ng.2711
- Crespi B, Stead P, Elliot M. Evolution in health and medicine Sackler colloquium: comparative genomics of autism and schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2010) 107(Suppl 1):1736–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906080106
- de Lacy N, King BH. Revisiting the relationship between autism and schizophrenia: toward an integrated neurobiology. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* (2013) 9:555–87. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185627
- Hernandez-Garcia L, Buschkuehl M. Advances in longitudinal MRI diagnostic tests. *Expert Opin Med Diagn* (2012) 6(4):309–21. doi:10.1517/17530059.2012. 686995
- Frazier JA, Giedd JN, Hamburger SD, Albus KE, Kaysen D, Vaituzis AC, et al. Brain anatomic magnetic resonance imaging in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1996) 53(7):617–24.
- Rapoport JL, Giedd JN, Blumenthal J, Hamburger S, Jeffries N, Fernandez T, et al. Progressive cortical change during adolescence in childhood-onset schizophrenia. A longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1999) 56(7):649–54. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.56.7.649
- Sporn AL, Greenstein DK, Gogtay N, Jeffries NO, Lenane M, Gochman P, et al. Progressive brain volume loss during adolescence in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160(12):2181–9. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.12. 2181
- 23. Thompson PM, Vidal C, Giedd JN, Gochman P, Blumenthal J, Nicolson R, et al. Mapping adolescent brain change reveals dynamic wave of accelerated gray matter loss in very early-onset schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) **98**(20):11650–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.201243998
- Giedd JN, Jeffries NO, Blumenthal J, Castellanos FX, Vaituzis AC, Fernandez T, et al. Childhood-onset schizophrenia: progressive brain changes during adolescence. *Biol Psychiatry* (1999) 46(7):892–8. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(99) 00072-4
- Boksa P. Abnormal synaptic pruning in schizophrenia: Urban myth or reality? J Psychiatry Neurosci (2012) 37(2):75–7. doi:10.1503/jpn.120007
- Gogtay N, Sporn A, Clasen LS, Nugent TF III, Greenstein D, Nicolson R, et al. Comparison of progressive cortical gray matter loss in childhood-onset schizophrenia with that in childhood-onset atypical psychoses. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2004) 61(1):17–22. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.61.1.17
- Gilmore JH, Kang C, Evans DD, Wolfe HM, Smith JK, Lieberman JA, et al. Prenatal and neonatal brain structure and white matter maturation in children at high risk for schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(9):1083–91. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09101492
- Piven J, Arndt S, Bailey J, Havercamp S, Andreasen NC, Palmer P. An MRI study of brain size in autism. *Am J Psychiatry* (1995) 152(8):1145–9.
- Hardan AY, Minshew NJ, Mallikarjuhn M, Keshavan MS. Brain volume in autism. J Child Neurol (2001) 16(6):421–4. doi:10.1177/088307380101600607
- Piven J, Arndt S, Bailey J, Andreasen N. Regional brain enlargement in autism: a magnetic resonance imaging study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1996) 35(4):530–6. doi:10.1097/00004583-199604000-00020
- Aylward EH, Minshew NJ, Field K, Sparks BF, Singh N. Effects of age on brain volume and head circumference in autism. *Neurology* (2002) 59(2):175–83. doi:10.1212/WNL59.2.175
- 32. Courchesne E, Karns CM, Davis HR, Ziccardi R, Carper RA, Tigue ZD, et al. Unusual brain growth patterns in early life in patients with autistic disorder: an MRI study. *Neurology* (2001) 57(2):245–54. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.2.245

- Courchesne E, Carper R, Akshoomoff N. Evidence of brain overgrowth in the first year of life in autism. *JAMA* (2003) 290(3):337–44. doi:10.1001/jama.290.
 3.337
- 34. Hazlett HC, Poe M, Gerig G, Smith RG, Provenzale J, Ross A, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging and head circumference study of brain size in autism: birth through age 2 years. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62(12):1366–76. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.12.1366
- Redcay E, Courchesne E. When is the brain enlarged in autism? A metaanalysis of all brain size reports. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 58(1):1–9. doi:10.1016/ j.biopsych.2005.03.026
- Schumann CM, Bloss CS, Barnes CC, Wideman GM, Carper RA, Akshoomoff N, et al. Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of cortical development through early childhood in autism. *J Neurosci* (2010) 30(12):4419–27. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5714-09.2010
- Courchesne E, Campbell K, Solso S. Brain growth across the life span in autism: age-specific changes in anatomical pathology. *Brain Res* (2011) 1380:138–45. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.09.101
- McAlonan GM, Cheung V, Cheung C, Suckling J, Lam GY, Tai KS, et al. Mapping the brain in autism. A voxel-based MRI study of volumetric differences and intercorrelations in autism. *Brain* (2005) 128(Pt 2):268–76. doi:10.1093/brain/awh332
- 39. Zeegers M, Hulshoff Pol H, Durston S, Nederveen H, Schnack H, van Daalen E, et al. No differences in MR-based volumetry between 2- and 7-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder and developmental delay. *Brain Dev* (2009) **31**(10):725–30. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2008.11.002
- 40. Gray KM, Taffe J, Sweeney DJ, Forster S, Tonge BJ. Could head circumference be used to screen for autism in young males with developmental delay? *J Paediatr Child Health* (2012) 48(4):329–34. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1754.2011.02238.x
- Raznahan A, Wallace GL, Antezana L, Greenstein D, Lenroot R, Thurm A, et al. Compared to what? Early brain overgrowth in autism and the perils of population norms. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(8):563–75. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013. 03.022
- 42. Shen MD, Nordahl CW, Young GS, Wootton-Gorges SL, Lee A, Liston SE, et al. Early brain enlargement and elevated extra-axial fluid in infants who develop autism spectrum disorder. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 9):2825–35. doi:10.1093/brain/ awt166
- Lui JH, Hansen DV, Kriegstein AR. Development and evolution of the human neocortex. *Cell* (2011) 146(1):18–36. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.030
- Rakic P. Evolution of the neocortex: a perspective from developmental biology. Nat Rev Neurosci (2009) 10(10):724–35. doi:10.1038/nrn2719
- Shaw P, Kabani NJ, Lerch JP, Eckstrand K, Lenroot R, Gogtay N, et al. Neurodevelopmental trajectories of the human cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci* (2008) 28(14):3586–94. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5309-07.2008
- Greenstein D, Lerch J, Shaw P, Clasen L, Giedd J, Gochman P, et al. Childhood onset schizophrenia: cortical brain abnormalities as young adults. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2006) 47(10):1003–12. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01658.x
- Gogtay N, Greenstein D, Lenane M, Clasen L, Sharp W, Gochman P, et al. Cortical brain development in nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhoodonset schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2007) 64(7):772–80. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.64.7.772
- Mattai AA, Weisinger B, Greenstein D, Stidd R, Clasen L, Miller R, et al. Normalization of cortical gray matter deficits in nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2011) 50(7):697–704. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.03.016
- Greenstein DK, Wolfe S, Gochman P, Rapoport JL, Gogtay N. Remission status and cortical thickness in childhood-onset schizophrenia. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2008) 47(10):1133–40. doi:10.1097/CHI. 0b013e3181825b0c
- Mattai A, Chavez A, Greenstein D, Clasen L, Bakalar J, Stidd R, et al. Effects of clozapine and olanzapine on cortical thickness in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 116(1):44–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.018
- Gogtay N, Weisinger B, Bakalar JL, Stidd R, Fernandez de la Vega O, Miller R, et al. Psychotic symptoms and gray matter deficits in clinical pediatric populations. *Schizophr Res* (2012) **140**(1–3):149–54. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.07.006
- Greenstein D, Malley JD, Weisinger B, Clasen L, Gogtay N. Using multivariate machine learning methods and structural MRI to classify childhood onset schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Front Psychiatry* (2012) 3:53. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00053

- 53. Hazlett HC, Poe MD, Gerig G, Styner M, Chappell C, Smith RG, et al. Early brain overgrowth in autism associated with an increase in cortical surface area before age 2 years. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2011) 68(5):467–76. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.39
- Hardan AY, Muddasani S, Vemulapalli M, Keshavan MS, Minshew NJ. An MRI study of increased cortical thickness in autism. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163(7):1290–2. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.163.7.1290
- Hardan AY, Libove RA, Keshavan MS, Melhem NM, Minshew NJ. A preliminary longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of brain volume and cortical thickness in autism. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66(4):320–6. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.04.024
- Mak-Fan KM, Taylor MJ, Roberts W, Lerch JP. Measures of cortical grey matter structure and development in children with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord (2012) 42(3):419–27. doi:10.1007/s10803-011-1261-6
- Wallace GL, Dankner N, Kenworthy L, Giedd JN, Martin A. Age-related temporal and parietal cortical thinning in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain* (2010) 133(Pt 12):3745–54. doi:10.1093/brain/awq279
- Wallace GL, Robustelli B, Dankner N, Kenworthy L, Giedd JN, Martin A. Increased gyrification, but comparable surface area in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 6):1956–67. doi:10.1093/ brain/awt106
- Raznahan A, Toro R, Daly E, Robertson D, Murphy C, Deeley Q, et al. Cortical anatomy in autism spectrum disorder: an in vivo MRI study on the effect of age. Cereb Cortex (2010) 20(6):1332–40. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp198
- Doyle-Thomas KA, Duerden EG, Taylor MJ, Lerch JP, Soorya IV, Wang AT, et al. Effects of age and symptomatology on cortical thickness in autism spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* (2013) 7(1):141–50. doi:10.1016/j. rasd.2012.08.004
- Scheel C, Rotarska-Jagiela A, Schilbach L, Lehnhardt FG, Krug B, Vogeley K, et al. Imaging derived cortical thickness reduction in high-functioning autism: key regions and temporal slope. *Neuroimage* (2011) 58(2):391–400. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.040
- 62. Ecker C, Ginestet C, Feng Y, Johnston P, Lombardo MV, Lai MC, et al. Brain surface anatomy in adults with autism: the relationship between surface area, cortical thickness, and autistic symptoms. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) **70**(1):59–70. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.265
- 63. Ecker C, Marquand A, Mourao-Miranda J, Johnston P, Daly EM, Brammer MJ, et al. Describing the brain in autism in five dimensions magnetic resonance imaging-assisted diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder using a multiparameter classification approach. J Neurosci (2010) 30(32):10612–23. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5413-09.2010
- 64. Jiao Y, Chen R, Ke X, Chu K, Lu Z, Herskovits EH. Predictive models of autism spectrum disorder based on brain regional cortical thickness. *Neuroim*age (2010) 50(2):589–99. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.047
- Honea R, Crow TJ, Passingham D, Mackay CE. Regional deficits in brain volume in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162(12):2233–45. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.12. 2233
- Taylor JL, Blanton RE, Levitt JG, Caplan R, Nobel D, Toga AW. Superior temporal gyrus differences in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 73(2–3):235–41. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.07.023
- Marquardt RK, Levitt JG, Blanton RE, Caplan R, Asarnow R, Siddarth P, et al. Abnormal development of the anterior cingulate in childhood-onset schizophrenia: a preliminary quantitative MRI study. *Psychiatry Res* (2005) 138(3):221–33. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.01.001
- 68. Moran ME, Weisinger B, Ludovici K, McAdams H, Greenstein D, Gochman P, et al. At the boundary of the self: the insular cortex in patients with childhoodonset schizophrenia, their healthy siblings, and normal volunteers. *Int J Dev Neurosci* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2013.05.010
- Greenstein D, Lenroot R, Clausen L, Chavez A, Vaituzis AC, Tran L, et al. Cerebellar development in childhood onset schizophrenia and non-psychotic siblings. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) **193**(3):131–7. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011. 02.010
- 70. Juuhl-Langseth M, Rimol LM, Rasmussen IA Jr, Thormodsen R, Holmen A, Emblem KE, et al. Comprehensive segmentation of subcortical brain volumes in early onset schizophrenia reveals limited structural abnormalities. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) 203(1):14–23. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.10.005

- Levitt JG, Blanton RE, Caplan R, Asarnow R, Guthrie D, Toga AW, et al. Medial temporal lobe in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2001) 108(1):17–27. doi:10.1016/S0925-4927(01)00108-1
- Mattai A, Hosanagar A, Weisinger B, Greenstein D, Stidd R, Clasen L, et al. Hippocampal volume development in healthy siblings of childhood-onset schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(4):427–35. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 2010.10050681
- Kendi M, Kendi AT, Lehericy S, Ducros M, Lim KO, Ugurbil K, et al. Structural and diffusion tensor imaging of the fornix in childhood- and adolescentonset schizophrenia. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2008) 47(7):826–32. doi:10.1097/CHI.Ob013e318172ef36
- Decety J, Lamm C. The role of the right temporoparietal junction in social interaction: how low-level computational processes contribute to meta-cognition. *Neuroscientist* (2007) 13(6):580–93. doi:10.1177/1073858407304654
- 75. Greimel E, Nehrkorn B, Schulte-Ruther M, Fink GR, Nickl-Jockschat T, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, et al. Changes in grey matter development in autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Struct Funct* (2013) 218(4):929–42. doi:10.1007/ s00429-012-0439-9
- Goursaud AP, Bachevalier J. Social attachment in juvenile monkeys with neonatal lesion of the hippocampus, amygdala and orbital frontal cortex. *Behav Brain Res* (2007) 176(1):75–93. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2006.09.020
- Hadjikhani N, Joseph RM, Snyder J, Tager-Flusberg H. Anatomical differences in the mirror neuron system and social cognition network in autism. *Cereb Cortex* (2006) 16(9):1276–82. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhj069
- Pfeifer JH, Peake SJ. Self-development: integrating cognitive, socioemotional, and neuroimaging perspectives. *Dev Cogn Neurosci* (2012) 2(1):55–69. doi:10. 1016/j.dcn.2011.07.012
- 79. Kosaka H, Omori M, Munesue T, Ishitobi M, Matsumura Y, Takahashi T, et al. Smaller insula and inferior frontal volumes in young adults with pervasive developmental disorders. *Neuroimage* (2010) **50**(4):1357–63. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2010.01.085
- Toal F, Bloemen OJ, Deeley Q, Tunstall N, Daly EM, Page L, et al. Psychosis and autism: magnetic resonance imaging study of brain anatomy. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 194(5):418–25. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.049007
- Duerden EG, Mak-Fan KM, Taylor MJ, Roberts SW. Regional differences in grey and white matter in children and adults with autism spectrum disorders: an activation likelihood estimate (ALE) meta-analysis. *Autism Res* (2012) 5(1):49–66. doi:10.1002/aur.235
- Stanfield AC, McIntosh AM, Spencer MD, Philip R, Gaur S, Lawrie SM. Towards a neuroanatomy of autism: a systematic review and meta-analysis of structural magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Eur Psychiatry* (2008) 23(4):289–99. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2007.05.006
- Yu KK, Cheung C, Chua SE, McAlonan GM. Can Asperger syndrome be distinguished from autism? An anatomic likelihood meta-analysis of MRI studies. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2011) 36(6):412–21. doi:10.1503/jpn.100138
- Langen M, Bos D, Noordermeer SD, Nederveen H, van Engeland H, Durston S. Changes in the development of striatum are involved in repetitive behavior in autism. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.013
- Nickl-Jockschat T, Habel U, Michel TM, Manning J, Laird AR, Fox PT, et al. Brain structure anomalies in autism spectrum disorder – a meta-analysis of VBM studies using anatomic likelihood estimation. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2012) 33(6):1470–89. doi:10.1002/hbm.21299
- Hua X, Thompson PM, Leow AD, Madsen SK, Caplan R, Alger JR, et al. Brain growth rate abnormalities visualized in adolescents with autism. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2013) 34(2):425–36. doi:10.1002/hbm.21441
- Via E, Radua J, Cardoner N, Happe F, Mataix-Cols D. Meta-analysis of gray matter abnormalities in autism spectrum disorder: should Asperger disorder be subsumed under a broader umbrella of autistic spectrum disorder? *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2011) 68(4):409–18. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry. 2011.27
- Bellani M, Calderoni S, Muratori F, Brambilla P. Brain anatomy of autism spectrum disorders II. Focus on amygdala. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci* (2013) 22(4):309–12. doi:10.1017/S2045796013000346
- Langen M, Durston S, Staal WG, Palmen SJ, van Engeland H. Caudate nucleus is enlarged in high-functioning medication-naive subjects with autism. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(3):262–6. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.040
- 90. Qiu A, Adler M, Crocetti D, Miller MI, Mostofsky SH. Basal ganglia shapes predict social, communication, and motor dysfunctions in boys with autism

spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 49(6):e1-4. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.02.012

- 91. Wolff JJ, Hazlett HC, Lightbody AA, Reiss AL, Piven J. Repetitive and self-injurious behaviors: associations with caudate volume in autism and fragile X syndrome. *J Neurodev Disord* (2013) 5(1):12. doi:10.1186/1866-1955-5-12
- Hollander E, Anagnostou E, Chaplin W, Esposito K, Haznedar MM, Licalzi E, et al. Striatal volume on magnetic resonance imaging and repetitive behaviors in autism. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 58(3):226–32. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005. 03.040
- Groen W, Teluij M, Buitelaar J, Tendolkar I. Amygdala and hippocampus enlargement during adolescence in autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 49(6):552–60. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2009.12.023
- 94. Alexander AL, Lee JE, Lazar M, Field AS. Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain. *Neurotherapeutics* (2007) 4(3):316–29. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2007.05.011
- Kubicki M, McCarley R, Westin CF, Park HJ, Maier S, Kikinis R, et al. A review of diffusion tensor imaging studies in schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res (2007) 41(1–2):15–30. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.05.005
- Faria AV, Zhang J, Oishi K, Li X, Jiang H, Akhter K, et al. Atlas-based analysis of neurodevelopment from infancy to adulthood using diffusion tensor imaging and applications for automated abnormality detection. *Neuroimage* (2010) 52(2):415–28. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.238
- Travers BG, Adluru N, Ennis C, Tromp do PM, Destiche D, Doran S, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging in autism spectrum disorder: a review. *Autism Res* (2012) 5(5):289–313. doi:10.1002/aur.1243
- Keller A, Jeffries NO, Blumenthal J, Clasen LS, Liu H, Giedd JN, et al. Corpus callosum development in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2003) 62(1–2):105–14. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00354-7
- 99. Johnson SL, Greenstein D, Clasen L, Miller R, Lalonde F, Rapoport J, et al. Absence of anatomic corpus callosal abnormalities in childhood-onset schizophrenia patients and healthy siblings. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 211(1):11–6. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.09.013
- 100. Gogtay N, Lu A, Leow AD, Klunder AD, Lee AD, Chavez A, et al. Threedimensional brain growth abnormalities in childhood-onset schizophrenia visualized by using tensor-based morphometry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105(41):15979–84. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806485105
- 101. Gogtay N, Hua X, Stidd R, Boyle CP, Lee S, Weisinger B, et al. Delayed white matter growth trajectory in young nonpsychotic siblings of patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69(9):875–84. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2084
- Clark K, Narr KL, O'Neill J, Levitt J, Siddarth P, Phillips O, et al. White matter integrity, language, and childhood onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 138(2–3):150–6. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.016
- 103. Samartzis L, Dima D, Fusar-Poli P, Kyriakopoulos M. White matter alterations in early stages of schizophrenia: a systematic review of diffusion tensor imaging studies. *J Neuroimaging* (2013). doi:10.1111/j.1552-6569.2012. 00779.x
- 104. Fitzsimmons J, Kubicki M, Shenton ME. Review of functional and anatomical brain connectivity findings in schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2013) 26(2):172–87. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32835d9e6a
- 105. Ashtari M, Cottone J, Ardekani BA, Cervellione K, Szeszko PR, Wu J, et al. Disruption of white matter integrity in the inferior longitudinal fasciculus in adolescents with schizophrenia as revealed by fiber tractography. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2007) 64(11):1270–80. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.11.1270
- 106. Kumra S, Ashtari M, Cervellione KL, Henderson I, Kester H, Roofeh D, et al. White matter abnormalities in early-onset schizophrenia: a voxel-based diffusion tensor imaging study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2005) 44(9):934–41. doi:10.1097/01.chi.0000170553.15798.94
- 107. Kyriakopoulos M, Perez-Iglesias R, Woolley JB, Kanaan RA, Vyas NS, Barker GJ, et al. Effect of age at onset of schizophrenia on white matter abnormalities. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) **195**(4):346–53. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108. 055376
- 108. Courchesne E, Redcay E, Kennedy DP. The autistic brain: birth through adulthood. Curr Opin Neurol (2004) 17(4):489–96. doi:10.1097/01.wco. 0000137542.14610.b4
- 109. Radua J, Via E, Catani M, Mataix-Cols D. Voxel-based meta-analysis of regional white-matter volume differences in autism spectrum disorder versus healthy controls. *Psychol Med* (2011) 41(7):1539–50. doi:10.1017/S0033291710002187

- 110. Aoki Y, Abe O, Nippashi Y, Yamasue H. Comparison of white matter integrity between autism spectrum disorder subjects and typically developing individuals: a meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging tractography studies. *Mol Autism* (2013) 4(1):25. doi:10.1186/2040-2392-4-25
- 111. Mak-Fan KM, Morris D, Vidal J, Anagnostou E, Roberts W, Taylor MJ. White matter and development in children with an autism spectrum disorder. *Autism* (2013) 17(5):541–57. doi:10.1177/1362361312442596
- 112. Ameis SH, Fan J, Rockel C, Voineskos AN, Lobaugh NJ, Soorya L, et al. Impaired structural connectivity of socio-emotional circuits in autism spectrum disorders: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *PLoS One* (2011) **6**(11):e28044. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028044
- 113. Weinstein M, Ben-Sira L, Levy Y, Zachor DA, Ben Itzhak E, Artzi M, et al. Abnormal white matter integrity in young children with autism. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2011) **32**(4):534–43. doi:10.1002/hbm.21042
- 114. Ben Bashat D, Kronfeld-Duenias V, Zachor DA, Ekstein PM, Hendler T, Tarrasch R, et al. Accelerated maturation of white matter in young children with autism: a high b value DWI study. *Neuroimage* (2007) **37**(1):40–7. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.04.060
- 115. Abdel Razek A, Mazroa J, Baz H. Assessment of white matter integrity of autistic preschool children with diffusion weighted MR imaging. *Brain Dev* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2013.01.003
- 116. Walker L, Gozzi M, Lenroot R, Thurm A, Behseta B, Swedo S, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging in young children with autism: biological effects and potential confounds. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) **72**(12):1043–51. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2012.08.001
- 117. Wolff JJ, Gu H, Gerig G, Elison JT, Styner M, Gouttard S, et al. Differences in white matter fiber tract development present from 6 to 24 months in infants with autism. Am J Psychiatry (2012) 169(6):589–600. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 2011.11091447
- 118. Lange N, Dubray MB, Lee JE, Froimowitz MP, Froehlich A, Adluru N, et al. Atypical diffusion tensor hemispheric asymmetry in autism. *Autism Res* (2010) 3(6):350–8. doi:10.1002/aur.162
- 119. Nagae LM, Zarnow DM, Blaskey L, Dell J, Khan SY, Qasmieh S, et al. Elevated mean diffusivity in the left hemisphere superior longitudinal fasciculus in autism spectrum disorders increases with more profound language impairment. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2012) **33**(9):1720–5. doi:10.3174/ajnr. A3037
- 120. Joseph RM, Fricker Z, Fenoglio A, Lindgren KA, Knaus TA, Tager-Flusberg H. Structural asymmetries of language-related gray and white matter and their relationship to language function in young children with ASD. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2013). doi:10.1007/s11682-013-9245-0
- 121. Noriuchi M, Kikuchi Y, Yoshiura T, Kira R, Shigeto H, Hara T, et al. Altered white matter fractional anisotropy and social impairment in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Res* (2010) **1362**:141–9. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010. 09.051
- 122. Dennis EL, Thompson PM. Mapping connectivity in the developing brain. Int J Dev Neurosci. (2013) 31(7):525–42. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2013.05.007
- 123. Alexander-Bloch AF, Gogtay N, Meunier D, Birn R, Clasen L, Lalonde F, et al. Disrupted modularity and local connectivity of brain functional networks in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Front Syst Neurosci* (2010) **4**:147. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2010.00147
- 124. Alexander-Bloch AF, Vertes PE, Stidd R, Lalonde F, Clasen L, Rapoport J, et al. The anatomical distance of functional connections predicts brain network topology in health and schizophrenia. *Cereb Cortex* (2013) 23(1):127–38. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr388
- 125. White T, Moeller S, Schmidt M, Pardo JV, Olman C. Evidence for intact local connectivity but disrupted regional function in the occipital lobe in children and adolescents with schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2012) **33**(8):1803–11. doi:10.1002/hbm.21321
- 126. Shi F, Yap PT, Gao W, Lin W, Gilmore JH, Shen D. Altered structural connectivity in neonates at genetic risk for schizophrenia: a combined study using morphological and white matter networks. *Neuroimage* (2012) 62(3):1622–33. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.05.026
- 127. Just MA, Keller TA, Malave VL, Kana RK, Varma S. Autism as a neural systems disorder: a theory of frontal-posterior underconnectivity. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2012) **36**(4):1292–313. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012. 02.007

- Courchesne E, Pierce K. Why the frontal cortex in autism might be talking only to itself: local over-connectivity but long-distance disconnection. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* (2005) 15(2):225–30. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2005.03.001
- 129. Shi F, Wang L, Peng Z, Wee CY, Shen D. Altered modular organization of structural cortical networks in children with autism. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(5):e63131. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063131
- 130. Just MA, Cherkassky VL, Keller TA, Minshew NJ. Cortical activation and synchronization during sentence comprehension in high-functioning autism: evidence of underconnectivity. *Brain* (2004) **127**(Pt 8):1811–21. doi:10.1093/ brain/awh199
- 131. Williams DL, Cherkassky VL, Mason RA, Keller TA, Minshew NJ, Just MA. Brain function differences in language processing in children and adults with autism. Autism Res (2013) 6(4):288–302. doi:10.1002/aur.1291
- 132. Dinstein I, Pierce K, Eyler L, Solso S, Malach R, Behrmann M, et al. Disrupted neural synchronization in toddlers with autism. *Neuron* (2011) 70(6):1218–25. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.04.018
- 133. Just MA, Cherkassky VL, Keller TA, Kana RK, Minshew NJ. Functional and anatomical cortical underconnectivity in autism: evidence from an FMRI study of an executive function task and corpus callosum morphometry. *Cereb Cortex* (2007) 17(4):951–61. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhl006
- 134. Damarla SR, Keller TA, Kana RK, Cherkassky VL, Williams DL, Minshew NJ, et al. Cortical underconnectivity coupled with preserved visuospatial cognition in autism: evidence from an fMRI study of an embedded figures task. *Autism Res* (2010) 3(5):273–9. doi:10.1002/aur.153
- 135. Abrams DA, Lynch CJ, Cheng KM, Phillips J, Supekar K, Ryali S, et al. Underconnectivity between voice-selective cortex and reward circuitry in children with autism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(29):12060–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1302982110
- 136. Rudie JD, Shehzad Z, Hernandez LM, Colich NL, Bookheimer SY, Iacoboni M, et al. Reduced functional integration and segregation of distributed neural systems underlying social and emotional information processing in autism spectrum disorders. *Cereb Cortex* (2012) 22(5):1025–37. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr171
- 137. Shih P, Keehn B, Oram JK, Leyden KM, Keown CL, Muller RA. Functional differentiation of posterior superior temporal sulcus in autism: a functional connectivity magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70(3):270–7. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.03.040
- 138. Shen MD, Shih P, Ottl B, Keehn B, Leyden KM, Gaffrey MS, et al. Atypical lexicosemantic function of extrastriate cortex in autism spectrum disorder: evidence from functional and effective connectivity. *Neuroimage* (2012) 62(3):1780–91. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.06.008
- 139. Redcay E, Courchesne E. Deviant functional magnetic resonance imaging patterns of brain activity to speech in 2-3-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) **64**(7):589–98. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2008.05.020
- 140. Dickstein DP, Pescosolido MF, Reidy BL, Galvan T, Kim KL, Seymour KE, et al. Developmental meta-analysis of the functional neural correlates of autism spectrum disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2013) 52(3):279–89.e16. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.12.012
- 141. Muller RA, Shih P, Keehn B, Deyoe JR, Leyden KM, Shukla DK. Underconnected, but how? A survey of functional connectivity MRI studies in autism spectrum disorders. *Cereb Cortex* (2011) 21(10):2233–43. doi:10.1093/cercor/ bhq296
- 142. Weng SJ, Wiggins JL, Peltier SJ, Carrasco M, Risi S, Lord C, et al. Alterations of resting state functional connectivity in the default network in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res* (2010) 1313:202–14. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.11.057
- 143. Kennedy DP, Courchesne E. The intrinsic functional organization of the brain is altered in autism. *Neuroimage* (2008) **39**(4):1877–85. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2007.10.052
- Uddin LQ, Supekar K, Menon V. Reconceptualizing functional brain connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:458. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00458
- 145. Uddin LQ, Supekar K, Lynch CJ, Khouzam A, Phillips J, Feinstein C, et al. Salience network-based classification and prediction of symptom severity in children with autism. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) **70**(8):869–79. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.104

- 146. Di Martino A, Yan CG, Li Q, Denio E, Castellanos FX, Alaerts K, et al. The autism brain imaging data exchange: towards a large-scale evaluation of the intrinsic brain architecture in autism. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013). doi:10.1038/mp. 2013.78
- 147. Lynch CJ, Uddin LQ, Supekar K, Khouzam A, Phillips J, Menon V. Default mode network in childhood autism: posteromedial cortex heterogeneity and relationship with social deficits. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(3):212–9. doi:10. 1016/j.biopsych.2012.12.013
- 148. Keehn B, Wagner JB, Tager-Flusberg H, Nelson CA. Functional connectivity in the first year of life in infants at-risk for autism: a preliminary near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:444. doi:10.3389/fnhum. 2013.00444
- 149. Sugranyes G, Kyriakopoulos M, Corrigall R, Taylor E, Frangou S. Autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia: meta-analysis of the neural correlates of social cognition. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(10):e25322. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0025322
- 150. Belmonte MK, Mazziotta JC, Minshew NJ, Evans AC, Courchesne E, Dager SR, et al. Offering to share: how to put heads together in autism neuroimaging. *J Autism Dev Disord* (2008) **38**(1):2–13. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0352-2
- 151. Courchesne E. Brain development in autism: early overgrowth followed by premature arrest of growth. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev* (2004) 10(2):106–11. doi:10.1002/mrdd.20020
- Ebert DH, Greenberg ME. Activity-dependent neuronal signalling and autism spectrum disorder. *Nature* (2013) 493(7432):327–37. doi:10.1038/nature11860
- 153. Bhakar AL, Dolen G, Bear MF. The pathophysiology of fragile X (and what it teaches us about synapses). Annu Rev Neurosci (2012) 35:417–43. doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-060909-153138
- 154. Kaufmann WE, Cortell R, Kau AS, Bukelis I, Tierney E, Gray RM, et al. Autism spectrum disorder in fragile X syndrome: communication, social interaction, and specific behaviors. *Am J Med Genet A* (2004) **129A**(3):225–34. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.30229
- 155. Fung WL, McEvilly R, Fong J, Silversides C, Chow E, Bassett A. Elevated prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder in adults with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) **167**(8):998. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010. 09101463
- 156. Schaer M, Debbane M, Bach Cuadra M, Ottet MC, Glaser B, Thiran JP, et al. Deviant trajectories of cortical maturation in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome

(22q11DS): a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *Schizophr Res* (2009) **115**(2–3):182–90. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.09.016

- 157. Green AI, Drake RE, Brunette MF, Noordsy DL. Schizophrenia and cooccurring substance use disorder. Am J Psychiatry (2007) 164(3):402–8. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.164.3.402
- 158. Shaw P, Lerch J, Greenstein D, Sharp W, Clasen L, Evans A, et al. Longitudinal mapping of cortical thickness and clinical outcome in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2006) 63(5):540–9. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.5.540
- 159. Shaw P, Eckstrand K, Sharp W, Blumenthal J, Lerch JP, Greenstein D, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder is characterized by a delay in cortical maturation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**(49):19649–54. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0707741104
- 160. Gogtay N. Cortical brain development in schizophrenia: insights from neuroimaging studies in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2008) 34(1):30–6. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbm103

Conflict of Interest Statement: Danielle A. Baribeau has no financial conflicts to disclose. Evdokia Anagnostou has consulted to Seaside Therapeutics and Novartis. She has received grant funding from Sanofi Canada. The Guest Associate Editor – Stephanie Ameis – declares that, in spite of her adjunct affiliation with the same institution as authors Danielle A. Baribeau and Evdokia Anagnostou, the review process was handled objectively and no conflict of interest exists.

Received: 29 September 2013; accepted: 09 December 2013; published online: 20 December 2013.

Citation: Baribeau DA and Anagnostou E (2013) A comparison of neuroimaging findings in childhood onset schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorder: a review of the literature. Front. Psychiatry **4**:175. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00175

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2013 Baribeau and Anagnostou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


Upregulated GABA inhibitory function in ADHD children with child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile: 123I-iomazenil SPECT study

Shinichiro Nagamitsu^{1*}, Yushiro Yamashita¹, Hitoshi Tanigawa², Hiromi Chiba³, Hayato Kaida², Masatoshi Ishibashi², Tatsuyuki Kakuma⁴, Paul E. Croarkin⁵ and Toyojiro Matsuishi¹

¹ Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ² Department of Radiology, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁴ Biostatistics Center, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Stephanie Ameis, The Hospital for Sick Children and University of Toronto, Canada

Reviewed by:

Rosana Lima Pagano, Hospital Sírio-Libanês, Brazil Mehereen Bhaijiwala, The Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

*Correspondence:

Shinichiro Nagamitsu, Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Kurume University School of Medicine, 67 Asahi-machi Kurume City, Fukuoka 830-0011, Japan kaoru@med.kurume-u.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 16 February 2015 Accepted: 18 May 2015 Published: 02 June 2015

Citation:

Nagamitsu S, Yamashita Y, Tanigawa H, Chiba H, Kaida H, Ishibashi M, Kakuma T, Croarkin PE and Matsuishi T (2015) Upregulated GABA inhibitory function in ADHD children with child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile: 1231-iomazenil SPECT study. Front. Psychiatry 6:84. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00084 The child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile (CBCL-DP) refers to a pattern of elevated scores on the attention problems, aggression, and anxiety/depression subscales of the child behavior checklist. The aim of the present study was to investigate the potential role of GABA inhibitory neurons in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and dysregulation assessed with a dimensional measure. Brain single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) was performed in 35 children with ADHD using 123I-iomazenil, which binds with high affinity to benzodiazepine receptors. lomazenil binding activities were assessed with respect to the presence or absence of a threshold CBCL–DP (a score \geq 210 for the sum of the three subscales: Attention Problems, Aggression, and Anxiety/Depression). We then attempted to identify which CBCL-DP subscale explained the most variance with respect to SPECT data, using "age," "sex," and "history of maltreatment" as covariates. Significantly higher iomazenil binding activity was seen in the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) of ADHD children with a significant CBCL-DP. The Anxiety/Depression subscale on the CBCL had significant effects on higher iomazenil binding activity in the left superior frontal, middle frontal, and temporal regions, as well as in the PCC. The present brain SPECT findings suggest that GABAergic inhibitory neurons may play an important role in the neurobiology of the CBCL–DP, in children with ADHD.

Keywords: CBCL-dysregulation profile, iomazenil, GABA, ADHD

Introduction

Severe behavioral and affective dysregulation with symptoms, such as hyperactivity, aggression, irritability, mood instability, and anxiety, contribute to significant academic and psychosocial impairment in children. Some of these symptoms are consistent with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). ADHD is the most frequent neuropsychiatric disorder in children and often presents with co-occurring disruptive behavior disorders, anxiety disorders, and bipolar disorder. Hyperactivity, irritability, and impulsivity place children at risk of maltreatment as a result of

strained parent-child interactions (1, 2). The insecure parent-child relationship further exacerbates the behavioral and affective dysregulation observed in children.

The child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile (CBCL-DP) refers to a pattern of elevated scores on the Attention Problems, Aggression, and Anxiety/Depression subscales of the child behavior checklist (CBCL) (3). The CBCL-DP was originally proposed as a means of identifying youth with bipolar disorder (4). However, recent studies suggest that the results of the CBCL-DP are not simply an early manifestation of a single disease process, but rather that the CBCL-DP can be used as a developmental risk marker for a persisting deficit in self-regulation of affect and behavior (5, 6). The CBCL-DP may be best interpreted as an indicator of symptom severity and functional impairment (7, 8). Children with ADHD who had a threshold level CBCL–DP score (\geq 210) showed higher rates of comorbidity disorders, including oppositional defiant disorder (ODD), conduct disorder (CD), anxiety disorder, bipolar disorder, and depression (9). The CBCL-DP is also associated with mood, anxiety, disruptive behavior disorders, and substance use in adulthood (3).

The underlying neurobiological defects or aberrant neuronal activity leading to the dysregulation profile in children with ADHD are elusive. Reducing serotoninergic function in children with ADHD and a significant CBCL-DP resulted in slower cognitive performance compared to children with ADHD who did not have the CBCL-DP, indicating that serotoninergic function could play a decisive role in the etiology of the CBCL-DP (10). In addition, the CBCL subscale of "Aggression" was found to be the main discriminator of ADHD children with CBCL-DP versus those without CBCL-DP with respect to serotoninergic dysfunction. Conversely, prior translational work with magnetic resonance spectroscopy and transcanial magnetic stimulation paradigms suggest that GABAergic neurochemistry and neurotransmission are dysregulated in children with ADHD (11). Ongoing work also suggests that defects in the GABAergic system in adults increase an individual's vulnerability to severe psychiatric illnesses due to aberrant regulation of serotoninergic and/or dopaminergic neurons (12, 13). Previous biochemical and pharmacological studies indicate that deficits in GABA receptor function, induced by intravenous infusion of iomazenil followed by a serotoninergic agonist, predispose healthy volunteers to increased anxiety and dissociative disturbances, suggesting that deficits in the GABAergic system may contribute to the pathophysiology of serotonininduced psychosis (12).

123I-iomazenil is a radioactive ligand for central-type benzodiazepine receptors that forms a complex with GABA(A) receptors. Thus, 123I-iomazenil single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) can indirectly index GABA receptor function. 123Iiomazenil is a frequently used radionuclide tracer for presurgical evaluation of patients with refractory partial epilepsy (14, 15). Moreover, recent neuroimaging studies have explored the role of GABAergic inhibitory function in psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, anxiety disorders, and developmental disorders (16–20). To our knowledge, there is no previous work which characterizes GABA receptor functioning with 123I-iomazenil SPECT among children with ADHD. The working hypothesis of the present study was that behavioral and affective symptoms in children with ADHD, reflected in CBCL–DP scores, would correlate with changes in cortical GABAergic neuronal activity. To confirm this hypothesis, brain SPECT was performed using 123Iiomazenil in ADHD children with or without CBCL–DP. Further, we tried to identify which of the three significant scales in the CBCL–DP explains the most variance with respect to SPECT data using "age," "sex," and "history of maltreatment" as covariates.

Materials and Methods

Ethics Statement

The design of the study and procedures for obtaining informed consent were approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Kurume University School of Medicine (#10081). Informed consent was obtained from each child and his/her parents prior to their participation in the study.

Participants

Thirty-five children with ADHD (23 boys, 12 girls) enrolled in the study. Participants were recruited after visits from the Department of Pediatrics, Kurume University, for the management of externalizing symptoms (e.g., difficulty maintaining attention, restlessness, hyperactivity, and aggressive behavior) or internalizing symptoms (e.g., anxiety, dissociation, and depressive symptoms). A diagnosis of ADHD was made using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition, Text Revision (Dsm-Iv-Tr) (21). Children who had anxious or depressive symptoms, but did not have ADHD symptoms were excluded in this study. Of the 35 child participants with ADHD, 15 had the combined type, 11 had hyperactive-impulsive type, and 9 had inattentive type. Seventeen children (7 male, 10 females) had experienced an obvious maltreatment, such as physical (n = 9), psychological (n = 6), or sexual abuse (n = 1), or sexual assault (n = 1) during preschool. In 11 of these instances, a child-welfare consultation center had previously supported the families in hopes of preventing maltreatment. Two children stayed in a child residential care institution. However, none of the participants met the diagnostic criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) on assessment. Seven of the 35 subjects (20%) had comorbid disorders, such as ODD (n = 2), CD (n = 1), anxiety disorder (n = 2), and depression (n = 2). The mean age of the children at the time of their hospital visit was 10.4 years. All participants were medication naïve prior to enrollment.

Child Behavior Checklist

Behavioral and psychiatric assessments of the children included the CBCL, ADHD rating scale (hyperactivity/impulsive and inattention scores, as well as total score) (22, 23), the Child Depression Inventory (CDI), the Child Dissociative Checklist (CDC), and the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC-III). The CBCL was used to evaluate children's emotional and behavioral functioning, competencies, and social problems, with specific items evaluating internalizing and externalizing symptoms, as well as attention and thought problems. Items evaluating internalizing symptoms focus on withdrawal, somatic complaints, and anxiety/depression. Items evaluating externalizing symptoms focus on delinquent or aggressive behavior. The CBCL–DP refers to

GABA in children with ADHD

a pattern of elevated scores on the Attention Problems, Aggression, and Anxiety/Depression subscales of the CBCL. A threshold CBCL–DP was defined as a score \geq 210 for the sum of three subscales. (4) Physicians rated the participants using the ADHD rating scale, CDI, and CDC, and the parents rated their children using the CBCL.

Iomazenil Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography and Analysis of Regions of Interest

All 35 children underwent iomazenil SPECT imaging of the brain. Briefly, children were injected intravenously with a bolus of 95-117 MBq 123I-iomazenil (Nihon Medi-Physics, Tokyo, Japan), which binds with high affinity to benzodiazepine receptors. The SPECT scan was performed 3h after injection of the tracer, without any sedation, using a large field-of-view dual-detector camera and a computer system equipped with a low-energy, high-resolution, parallel-hole collimator. The dual detector camera rotated over 180° in a circular orbit and in 32 steps of 40 s each to cover 360° in about 22 min. Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed using a superconducting magnet operating at 1.5 T. For coregistered SPECT and MRI analysis, a method of image integration was applied using Fusion Viewer software (Nihon Medi-Physics) with a registration algorithm based on maximum mutual information (Figure 1). Subsequently, the cortical and subcortical regions of interest (ROIs) in the acquired SPECT data were defined. Using elliptical templates, the ROIs were placed over the following regions: the superior frontal, middle frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital regions in each hemisphere; the midbrain; and the anterior and posterior cingulate cortex (ACC and PCC, respectively; Figure 1). Each relative iomazenil binding activity in ROIs was expressed as a ratio of that in the occipital cortex. As 123I-iomazenil affinity in the occipital region was maximum and stable in brain cortex, the occipital region was used as a reference (24).

Data Analysis

The differences of each CBCL subscale, ADHD-RS, CDI score, CDC score, and Intelligence scale between ADHD children with/without CBCL–DP were compared by student's *t*-test. We first analyzed correlations between the relative iomazenil binding activity expressed as a ratio in each ROI and psychometric profiles after controlling for the effects of age, sex, and history of maltreatment. Further, we compared iomazenil binding activity with respect to the presence or absence of a threshold CBCL–DP score in these children and tried to identify which of the three CBCL–DP subscales explained the most variance with respect to the SPECT data. Associations between each of the CBCL–DP subscales and iomazenil binding activity in each brain area were evaluated using liner regression models, with "age," "sex," and "history of maltreatment" as covariates.

Results

Behavioral and psychiatric assessments of the participants were shown in **Table 1**. Of the 35 participants, 15 had a threshold CBCL–DP score (i.e., a score \geq 210) and 20 had CBCL–DP scores <210. The group with threshold CBCL–DP scores had a lower



FIGURE 1 | Designated regions of interest (ROIs) in fusion images of
 1231-iomazenil SPECT and MRI. The top panel shows brain MRI
 (transverse and sagittal T₁ sequences), the middle panel shows
 corresponding results of 1231-iomazenil SPECT, and the bottom panel shows
 fusion imaging. Outlined regions in the bottom panel indicate designated
 ROIs, namely (a) the superior frontal, (b) parietal, (c) middle frontal,
 (d) temporal, (e) occipital regions, (f) anterior, and (g) posterior cingulate gyrus.

ratio of male to female participants and more instances of maltreatment. Each ADHD rating scale, all subscales of CBCL with the exception of somatic problems, and CDC score were significantly higher in ADHD children with threshold CBCL–DP scores. Four participants with threshold level CBCL–DP scores had comorbidity disorders, including depression (n = 2), ODD (n = 1), and CD (n = 1). Three participants without threshold CBCL–DP scores had comorbidity disorders, including anxiety disorder (n = 2) and ODD (n = 1). There was a difference in the CBCL–DP scores between participants with/without comorbidity disorders; however, this difference did not reach statistical significance (n = 28, 199 ± 20, and n = 7, 209 ± 12, respectively, p = 0.10).

Analyses of all participants (n = 35) revealed correlations between iomazenil binding activity in several brain regions and some part of the CBCL profile, after controlling for the effects of age, sex, and a history of maltreatment (Table 2). In both ACC and PCC, iomazenil binding activity had a statistically significant positive correlation with scores on the Anxiety/Depressed (Table 2; Figure 2), Internalizing, and Withdrawal Problems subscales of the CBCL (Table 2). In addition, significant positive correlations were noted for iomazenil binding activity in the ACC and Thought Problems on the CBCL, as well as for iomazenil binding activity in the PCC and Attention problems and Social Problems on the CBCL (Table 2). These significant correlations were not seen for other combinations in other brain regions, except for iomazenil binding activity in the midbrain and Thought Problems on the CBCL, and iomazenil binding activity in the right temporal region and Social Problems on the CBCL. There were no significant correlations between iomazenil binding activities in any brain region and any of the ADHD rating scales, CDI score, and CDC score

ADHD children without significant CBCL-DP	ADHD children with significant CBCL-DP
20	15
17±3	6 ± 9
10.7 ± 1.9	10.0 ± 1.8
40	80
23.5 ± 9.2	$30.6 \pm 9.0^{*}$
14.8 ± 5.7	$17.9 \pm 4.9^{*}$
9.2 ± 5.6	$12.6 \pm 6.0^{*}$
64.4 ± 9.7	80.8 ± 8.2**
62.7 ± 8.5	$71.1 \pm 4.8^{**}$
63.7 ± 9.0	$79.2 \pm 7.2^{**}$
58.1 ± 4.9	$66.4 \pm 4.5^{**}$
66.2 ± 5.4	$73.7 \pm 5.5^{**}$
62.7 ± 8.5	$71.1 \pm 4.8^{**}$
61.5 ± 5.6	$66.3 \pm 5.6^{**}$
55.5 ± 15.2	58.4 ± 9.5
62.0 ± 8.8	$66.9\pm8.1^{*}$
59.9 ± 9.7	$67.8\pm9.9^{\star}$
14.3 ± 9.6	15.6 ± 6.3
6.7 ± 3.8	$13.3 \pm 4.7^{**}$
	without significant CBCL-DP 20 17 ± 3 10.7 ± 1.9 40 23.5 ± 9.2 14.8 ± 5.7 9.2 ± 5.6 64.4 ± 9.7 62.7 ± 8.5 63.7 ± 9.0 58.1 ± 4.9 66.2 ± 5.4 62.7 ± 8.5 61.5 ± 5.6 55.5 ± 15.2 62.0 ± 8.8 59.9 ± 9.7 14.3 ± 9.6

CBCL–DP, child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile; ADHD-RS, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder rating scale; CDI, child depression inventor; CDC, children dissociative checklist; WISC, Wechsler intelligence scale for children.

Significant difference from children without significant CBCL–DP ('indicates p < 0.05, *'indicates p < 0.001).

(data not shown). Iomazenil binding activity in the PCC was significantly higher in ADHD children with a threshold CBCL–DP score than in ADHD children with scores <210 after controlling for the effects of age, sex, and a history of maltreatment (**Table 3**, *F*-value = 4.36, p < 0.05). Of the three CBCL–DP subscales, the Anxiety/Depression subscale had significant effects on higher iomazenil binding activity in the left superior frontal, middle frontal, and temporal regions, as well as in the PCC (**Table 4**).

Discussion

This is the first neuroimaging study showing that behavioral and affective symptoms in children with ADHD, reflected in CBCL–DP scores, are correlated with changes in cortical GABAergic neuronal activity. Overall, increased iomazenil activity in the ACC and PCC was associated with higher scores on many of the CBCL subscales. In ADHD children with a significant CBCL–DP, iomazenil activity was upregulated in the PCC. Of the three CBCL–DP subscales, the Anxiety/Depression subscale had a significant effect on iomazenil binding activity in many brain regions. These results suggest that behavioral and affective dysregulation in ADHD children may be characterized by changes of GABAergic neural activity. In this section, we discuss the role of the cingulate cortex in GABA function, the association between CBCL–DP scores and GABA function, and age-dependent differences in GABA function.

The cingulate cortex is one of the largest parts of the limbic lobe and the prefronto-limbic circuitry. The ACC plays key roles

in emotion, motivation, and motor functions, whereas the PCC is involved in emotion, facial recognition, and memory functions (25–27). In the present study, we found higher iomazenil binding activity in ACC and PCC that was associated with higher scores on many of the CBCL subscales in ADHD children with and without CBCL-DP. Similar findings have been reported in healthy adults. For example, Kim et al. (28) found a positive correlation in healthy subjects between high GABA concentrations in the ACC and a high harm avoidance temperament, characterized by worrying about potential problems, fearful of uncertainties, and being shy in unfamiliar environments. Moreover, increased activity in the PCC has been observed in emotional disorders, including obsessive-compulsive disorder, major depression, and social phobia (29, 30). Because the cingulate cortex has been suggested to have an important role in modulating human fear and anxiety by modulating the activity of other limbic structures, including the amygdala (31), the increased GABAergic function in the cingulate cortex of ADHD children in the present study may have inhibited excessive excitation of the limbic system, which contributes to the development of behavioral and affective dysregulation.

We found that the Anxiety/Depression subscale of the CBCL-DP explains the most variance with respect to SPECT data in various brain regions using "age," "sex," and "history of maltreatment" as covariates. The Aggression and Attention Problem subscales of the CBCL-DP had no significant effects on SPECT data in various brain regions. These findings strongly support previous converging lines of evidence regarding the association between GABAergic activation and increased anxiety (32). Conversely, several biochemical and genetic studies have provided evidence of a significant role of serotoninergic function in aggressive behavior. For example, an inverse correlation has been reported between downregulated platelet or CSF 5-hydroxyindolecetic acid (5-HIAA), a major metabolite of serotonin, and levels of aggression and impulsivity (33, 34). Furthermore, Haberstick et al. (35) reported an association between certain promoter polymorphisms in the serotonin transporter (5HTTLPR) and greater aggressive behavior in middle childhood, suggesting that differences in serotonergic functioning may be a contributing factor to different levels of aggressive behavior. In terms of the biological mechanism underlying attention function, an important role for dopaminergic neurons has been proposed. Several neuroimaging studies have shown aberrant dopamine transporter (DAT) levels in the nucleus accumbens, caudate, and midbrain, as well as a positive relationship between DAT levels in the putamen and inattention scores in ADHD patients (36-38). Together, these findings suggest that changes in several neurotransmitter systems, including serotoninergic, dopaminergic, and GABAergic neurons, are likely to be involved in constructing the clinical manifestations of the CBCL-DP.

Significant positive correlations between GABAergic inhibitory function and the Anxiety/Depression subscale were also seen in our study. Although previous neuroimaging studies have reported those correlations in adulthood with psychiatric disorders (17, 28), the present study is the first report of the correlation in childhood with psychiatric disorders. Despite the positive correlation in childhood, previous neuroimaging studies using iomazenil SPECT have revealed negative correlations between

TABLE 2 | Partial correlation coefficients between CBCL profiles and the iomazenil binding activites in each brain region.

	Superio	r frontal	Pari	etal	Middle	frontal	Tem	poral	Mid brain	ACC	PCC
	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L			
CBCL profiles											
Total problems	0.341	0.237	0.192	0.267	0.301	0.229	0.284	0.191	0.178	0.385	0.245
Internalizing problems	0.199	0.160	0.026	0.068	0.110	0.188	0.136	0.332	0.274	0.477*	0.536**
Externalizing problems	0.158	0.086	0.057	0.090	0.148	0.027	0.127	-0.072	0.032	0.078	-0.041
Aggressive behaviors ^a	0.119	0.052	0.036	0.077	0.113	-0.042	0.088	-0.111	-0.040	0.017	-0.026
Anxious/depressed ^a	0.309	0.284	0.120	0.129	0.264	0.335	0.246	0.369	0.355	0.536**	0.524**
Attention problem ^a	0.265	0.120	0.234	0.157	0.228	0.166	0.248	0.160	0.212	0.378	0.483**
Delinquent behavior	0.122	0.091	0.068	0.102	0.133	0.087	0.175	0.108	0.159	0.077	0.008
Withdrawn	0.278	0.105	0.163	0.006	0.192	0.057	0.338	0.214	-0.012	0.425*	0.509**
Somatic problems	-0.131	0.045	-0.162	0.035	-0.133	0.074	-0.246	0.080	0.216	-0.050	0.205
Social problems	0.304	0.112	0.325	0.217	0.264	0.108	0.406*	0.204	0.129	0.383	0.440*
Thought problems	0.322	0.221	0.269	0.207	0.307	0.320	0.310	0.239	0.546**	0.432*	0.360

CBCL, child behavior checklist; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; R, right; L, left.

*Indicates p < 0.05; **indicates p < 0.01.

^aIndicates subscale which comprises CBCL-DP (dysregulation profile).



TABLE 3 | Effect of the significant CBCL–DP (score \geq 210) on iomazenil binding activities in each brain region.

Brain area	Effect	F-Test	<i>p</i> -Value
Right superior frontal	Significant CBCL–DP	0.88	0.35
Left superior frontal	Significant CBCL–DP	0.18	0.67
Right parietal	Significant CBCL–DP	2.07	0.16
Left parietal	Significant CBCL–DP	0.37	0.55
Right middle frontal	Significant CBCL–DP	1.57	0.22
Left middle frontal	Significant CBCL–DP	0.44	0.51
Right temporal	Significant CBCL–DP	1.26	0.27
Left temporal	Significant CBCL–DP	0.05	0.82
Midbrain	Significant CBCL–DP	0.2	0.66
Anterior cingulate cortex	Significant CBCL-DP	0.99	0.33
Posterior cingulate cortex	Significant CBCL-DP	4.36	< 0.05

CBCL–DP, child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile.

GABA-benzodiazepine receptor binding activity and the severity of anxiety symptoms in adults with panic or traumatic disorders (17–19). It is well known that there are considerable changes in the number of GABA receptors and in subunit expression during brain development (39). Specifically, the greatest number of GABA receptors is found in the youngest children, with numbers decreasing exponentially with age, and there are age-related increases in α 1-subunit-containing GABA receptors (40). These age-related changes in GABA receptors may affect outcomes when assessing increases and/or decreases in overall iomazenil binding activity in children.

The present study has several limitations that require consideration in future studies. For example, in the present study, SPECT exhibited poor resolution around some limbic regions, such as the amygdala and hippocampus, which are important for emotion processing. In these small regions, the obtained radioactivity might differ from the true activity because of partial volume effect (PVE). The PVE can be defined as the underestimation of binding per unit brain volume in small objects or regions because of the blurring of the radioactivity (spillout and spill-in) between regions. These regions need to be resolved using MR imaging-based correction for PVE (41, 42). Brain imaging data from normal healthy children are not available

TABLE 4 Effect of the CBCL-DP	subscale on ioma	zenil binding activities
in each brain region.		

Brain area	Effect	F-Test	<i>p</i> -Value
Right superior frontal	Aggressive behavior	0.03	0.8708
	Anxious/depressed	2.79	0.1058
	Attention problem	0.12	0.7268
Left superior frontal	Aggressive behavior	0.01	0.9374
	Anxious/depressed	4.28	0.0479*
	Attention problem	1.6	0.2157
Right parietal	Aggressive behavior	0	0.9675
	Anxious/depressed	0.13	0.7249
	Attention problem	0.39	0.5367
Left parietal	Aggressive behavior	0.33	0.5703
	Anxious/depressed	0.67	0.4214
	Attention problem	0.02	0.8843
Right middle frontal	Aggressive behavior	0	0.9771
	Anxious/depressed	1.83	0.1871
	Attention problem	0.06	0.8060
Left middle frontal	Aggressive behavior	0.5	0.4873
	Anxious/depressed	5.1	0.0319*
	Attention problem	0.92	0.3457
Right temporal	Aggressive behavior	0.03	0.8709
	Anxious/depressed	1.46	0.2363
	Attention problem	0.02	0.8888
Left temporal	Aggressive behavior	0.12	0.7354
	Anxious/depressed	7.55	0.0104*
	Attention problem	1.91	0.1777
Mid brain	Aggressive behavior	0.66	0.4231
	Anxious/depressed	1.98	0.1699
	Attention problem	0.21	0.6482
Anterior cingulate cortex	Aggressive behavior	0.97	0.3331
	Anxious/depressed	3.94	0.0570
	Attention problem	1.06	0.3118
Posterior cingulate cortex	Aggressive behavior	0.99	0.3277
	Anxious/depressed	5.62	0.0248*
	Attention problem	1.26	0.2714

CBCL–DP, child behavior checklist–dysregulation profile.

*Indicates significant effects on higher iomazenil binding activity.

because of ethical concerns with SPECT studies of this population. Therefore, we focused our research questions on the correlation between GABAergic inhibitory function in specific brain regions and psychometric profiles. It is possible that, in addition to the

References

- Weinstein D, Staffelbach D, Biaggio M. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder: differential diagnosis in childhood sexual abuse. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2000) 20:359–78. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(98) 00107-X
- Ouyang L, Fang X, Mercy J, Perou R, Grosse SD. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms and child maltreatment: a population-based study. *J Pediatr* (2008) 153:851–6. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.06.002
- Althoff RR, Verhulst FC, Rettew DC, Hudziak JJ, van der Ende J. Adult outcomes of childhood dysregulation: a 14-year follow-up study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 49:1105–16. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.08.006
- Biederman J, Petty CR, Monuteaux MC, Evans M, Parcell T, Faraone SV, et al. The child behavior checklist-pediatric bipolar disorder profile predicts a subsequent diagnosis of bipolar disorder and associated impairments in ADHD youth growing up: a longitudinal analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) **70**:732–40. doi:10.4088/JCP.08m04821
- Holtmann M, Buchmann AF, Esser G, Schmidt MH, Banaschewski T, Laucht M. The child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile predicts substance use,

population of people with ADHD, our result is generalizable to the normal population. Furthermore, we selected iomazenil activity in the occipital regions as a reference, meaning that we could not evaluate inhibitory function in occipital regions. We did not clarify how putative dopaminergic or serotoninergic changes are involved in other subscales, such as the Aggression and Attention Problem subscales, of the CBCL–DP. It is possible that investigations incorporating the simultaneous assessment of benzodiazepine receptor binding activity and homovanillic acid (HVA) and 5HIAA in the urine (principal metabolites of dopamine and serotonin, respectively) could provide new insights into the underlying neurobiological defects or aberrant neuronal activity leading to the dysregulation profile in children.

In conclusion, the present 123I-iomazenil brain SPECT study provides evidence that changes in GABAergic inhibitory neuronal activity correlate with some elements of function measured by the CBCL–DP. Brain SPECT may be useful for the evaluation of the possible pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric symptoms observed in children.

Author Contributions

SN participated in the design of this study and compiled the manuscript. SN, YY, and HC saw the patients and obtained informed consent and their agreement to participate in the study. Diagnosis of comorbidity disorders was made by HC. SN and HC summarized participant behavioral and psychiatric assessments, including CBCL–DP data. Three radiologists (HT, HK, and MI) were in charge of radioactive measurements and calculations of iomazenil activity using ROIs. TK, a statistician, conducted the statistical analyses. PC and TM supervised the preparation of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology (#22591143, #25460643).

suicidality, and functional impairment: a longitudinal analysis. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2011) **52**:139–47. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02309.x

- Meyer SE, Carlson GA, Youngstrom E, Ronsaville DS, Martinez PE, Gold PW, et al. Long-term outcomes of youth who manifested the CBCL-pediatric bipolar disorder phenotype during childhood and/or adolescence. *J Affect Disord* (2009) 113:227–35. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.05.024
- Peyre H, Speranza M, Cortese S, Wohl M, Purper-Ouakil D. Do ADHD children with and without child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile have different clinical characteristics, cognitive features, and treatment outcomes? *J Atten Disord* (2015) 19:63–71. doi:10.1177/1087054712452135
- McGough JJ, McCracken JT, Cho AL, Castelo E, Sturm A, Cowen J, et al. A potential electroencephalography and cognitive biosignature for the child behavior checklist-dysregulation profile. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2013) 52:1173–82. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.08.002
- Biederman J, Petty CR, Day H, Goldin RL, Spencer T, Faraone SV, et al. Severity of the aggression/anxiety-depression/attention child behavior checklist profile discriminates between different levels of deficits in emotional regulation in youth with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* (2012) 33:236–43. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e3182475267

- Zepf FD, Wöckel L, Poustka F, Holtmann M. Diminished 5-HT functioning in CBCL pediatric bipolar disorder-profiled ADHD patients versus normal ADHD: susceptibility to rapid tryptophan depletion influences reaction time performance. *Hum Psychopharmacol* (2008) 23:291–9. doi:10.1002/hup.934
- Edden RA, Crocetti D, Zhu H, Gilbert DL, Mostofsky SH. Reduced GABA concentration in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:750–3. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2280
- D'Souza DC, Gil RB, Zuzarte E, MacDougall LM, Donahue L, Ebersole JS, et al. Gamma-aminobutyric acid-serotonin interactions in healthy men: implications for network models of psychosis and dissociation. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59:128–37. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.020
- 13. Scheel-Krüger J. Dopamine-GABA interactions: evidence that GABA transmits, modulates and mediates dopaminergic functions in the basal ganglia and the limbic system. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl* (1986) **107**:1–54.
- Higurashi N, Hamano S, Oritsu T, Minamitani M, Sasaki M, Ida H. Iomazenil hyperfixation in single photon emission computed tomography study of malformations of cortical development during infancy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* (2011) 15:372–5. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2011.03.007
- Kuroda H, Ogasawara K, Aso K, Beppu T, Kobayashi M, Chida K, et al. Spontaneous recovery of reduced cortical central benzodiazepine receptor binding potential on I-123 Iomazenil SPECT in a patient with status epilepticus. *Clin Nucl Med* (2010) 35:126–7. doi:10.1097/RLU.0b013e3181c7c168
- Verhoeff NP, Soares JC, D'Souza CD, Gil R, Degen K, Abi-Dargham A, et al. [¹²³I] Iomazenil SPECT benzodiazepine receptor imaging in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (1999) **91**:163–73. doi:10.1016/S0925-4927(99)00027-X
- Geuze E, van Berckel BN, Lammertsma AA, Boellaard R, de Kloet CS, Vermetten E, et al. Reduced GABAA benzodiazepine receptor binding in veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* (2008) 13:74–8. doi:10.1038/sj. mp.4002054
- Hasler G, Nugent AC, Carlson PJ, Carson RE, Geraci M, Drevets WC. Altered cerebral gamma-aminobutyric acid type A-benzodiazepine receptor binding in panic disorder determined by [¹¹C]flumazenil positron emission tomography. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2008) 65:1166–75. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.65.10.1166
- Bremner JD, Innis RB, Southwick SM, Staib L, Zoghbi S, Charney DS. Decreased benzodiazepine receptor binding in prefrontal cortex in combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157:1120–6. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.157.7.1120
- Mori T, Mori K, Fujii E, Toda Y, Miyazaki M, Harada M, et al. Evaluation of the GABAergic nervous system in autistic brain: (123)I-iomazenil SPECT study. *Brain Dev* (2012) 34:648–54. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2011.10.007
- 21. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR).* Washington: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- 22. Achenbach TM. Manual for the Child Behavior Checklist/4–18 and 1991 Child Profile. Burlington: University of Vermont Department of Psychiatry (1991).
- DuPaul GJ, Anastopoulos AD, Power TJ, Reid R, Ikeda MJ, McGoey K. Parent ratings of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms: factor structure and normative data. J Psychopathol Behav Assess (1998) 20:83–102. doi:10.1023/ A:1023087410712
- 24. Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A, Rattner Z, Al-Tikriti MS, Zea-Ponce Y, Zoghbi SS, et al. Single photon emission tomography measurement of benzodiazepine receptor number and affinity in primate brain: a constant infusion paradigm with [1231]iomazenil. *Eur J Pharmacol* (1993) 230:119–23. doi:10. 1016/0014-2999(93)90421-D
- Maddock RJ, Garrett AS, Buonocore MH. Posterior cingulate cortex activation by emotional words: fMRI evidence from a valence decision task. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2003) 18:30–41. doi:10.1002/hbm.10075
- Mega MS, Cummings JL. Frontal subcortical circuits. In: Salloway SP, Malloy PF, Duffy JD, editors. *The Frontal Lobes and Neuropsychiatrie Illness*. Washington: American Psychiatric Publishing (2001). p. 15–32.
- Devinsky O, Morrell MJ, Vogt BA. Contributions of anterior cingulate cortex to behaviour. *Brain* (1995) 118:279–306. doi:10.1093/brain/118.1.279
- Kim HJ, Kim JE, Cho G, Song IC, Bae S, Hong SJ, et al. Associations between anterior cingulate cortex glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid concentrations and the harm avoidance temperament. *Neurosci Lett* (2009) 464:103–7. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2009.07.087

- Bench CJ, Friston KJ, Brown RG, Scott LC, Frackowiak RS, Dolan RJ. The anatomy of melancholia – focal abnormalities of cerebral blood flow in major depression. *Psychol Med* (1992) 22:607–15. doi:10.1017/S003329170003806X
- McGuire PK, Bench CJ, Frith CD, Marks IM, Frackowiak RS, Dolan RJ. Functional anatomy of obsessive-compulsive phenomena. *Br J Psychiatry* (1994) 164:459–68. doi:10.1192/bjp.164.4.459
- Hahn A, Stein P, Windischberger C, Weissenbacher A, Spindelegger C, Moser E, et al. Reduced resting-state functional connectivity between amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex in social anxiety disorder. *Neuroimage* (2011) 56:881–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.064
- Shen Q, Fuchs T, Sahir N, Luscher B. GABAergic control of critical developmental periods for anxiety- and depression-related behavior in mice. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e47441. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047441
- Kruesi MJ, Hibbs ED, Zahn TP, Keysor CS, Hamburger SD, Bartko JJ, et al. A 2-year prospective follow-up study of children and adolescents with disruptive behavior disorders. Prediction by cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, homovanillic acid, and autonomic measures? *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1992) 49:429–35. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820060009001
- Golubchik P, Mozes T, Vered Y, Weizman A. Platelet poor plasma serotonin level in delinquent adolescents diagnosed with conduct disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 33:1223–5. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2009.07.003
- Haberstick BC, Smolen A, Hewitt JK. Family-based association test of the 5HTTLPR and aggressive behavior in a general population sample of children. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59:836–43. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.10.008
- 36. Jucaite A, Fernell E, Halldin C, Forssberg H, Farde L. Reduced midbrain dopamine transporter binding in male adolescents with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: association between striatal dopamine markers and motor hyperactivity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 57:229–38. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2004.11.009
- 37. Spencer TJ, Biederman J, Madras BK, Dougherty DD, Bonab AA, Livni E, et al. Further evidence of dopamine transporter dysregulation in ADHD: a controlled PET imaging study using altropane. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62:1059–61. doi:10. 1016/j.biopsych.2006.12.008
- da Silva N Jr, Szobot CM, Anselmi CE, Jackowski AP, Chi SM, Hoexter MQ, et al. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: is there a correlation between dopamine transporter density and cerebral blood flow? *Clin Nucl Med* (2011) 36:656–60. doi:10.1097/RLU.0b013e318219b49d
- 39. Rissman RA, De Blas AL, Armstrong DM. GABA(A) receptors in aging and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem (2007) 103:1285–92. doi:10.1111/j. 1471-4159.2007.04832.x
- Chugani DC, Muzik O, Juhász C, Janisse JJ, Ager J, Chugani HT. Postnatal maturation of human GABAA receptors measured with positron emission tomography. *Ann Neurol* (2001) 49:618–26. doi:10.1002/ana.1003
- 41. Kato H, Matsuda K, Baba K, Shimosegawa E, Isohashi K, Imaizumi M, et al. MR imaging-based correction for partial volume effect improves detectability of intractable epileptogenic foci on iodine 123 iomazenil brain SPECT images: an extended study with a larger sample size. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2012) 33:2088–94. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3121
- Kato H, Shimosegawa E, Oku N, Kitagawa K, Kishima H, Saitoh Y, et al. MRIbased correction for partial-volume effect improves detectability of intractable epileptogenic foci on 123I-iomazenil brain SPECT images. J Nucl Med (2008) 49:383–9. doi:10.2967/jnumed.107.046136

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Nagamitsu, Yamashita, Tanigawa, Chiba, Kaida, Ishibashi, Kakuma, Croarkin and Matsuishi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



A preliminary study of white matter in adolescent depression: relationships with illness severity, anhedonia, and irritability

Sarah E. Henderson¹, Amy R. Johnson¹, Ana I. Vallejo¹, Lev Katz¹, Edmund Wong¹ and Vilma Gabbay^{1,2}*

Department of Psychiatry, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA
 Nathan S. Kline Institute for Psychiatric Research, Orangeburg, NY, USA

Edited by:

Paul Croarkin, Mayo Clinic, USA

Reviewed by:

Faisal Al-Otaibi, Alfaisal University, Saudi Arabia Niels Bergsland, Buffalo Neuroimaging Analysis Center, USA Kirti Saxena, Baylor College of Medicine, USA Susannah J. Tye, Mayo Clinic, USA

*Correspondence:

Vilma Gabbay, Department of Psychiatry, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, One Gustave L. Levy Place, New York, NY 10029, USA e-mail: vilma.gabbay@mssm.edu

Major depressive disorder (MDD) during adolescence is a common and disabling psychiatric condition; yet, little is known about its neurobiological underpinning. Evidence indicates that MDD in adults involves alterations in white and gray matter; however, sparse research has focused on adolescent MDD. Similarly, little research has accounted for the wide variability of symptom severity among depressed teens. Here, we aimed to investigate white matter (WM) microstructure between 17 adolescents with MDD and 16 matched healthy controls (HC) using diffusion tensor imaging. We further assessed within the MDD group relationships between WM integrity and depression severity, as well as anhedonia and irritability – two core symptoms of adolescent MDD. As expected, adolescents with MDD manifested decreased WM integrity compared to HC in the anterior cingulum and anterior corona radiata. Within the MDD group, greater depression severity was correlated with reduced WM integrity in the genu of corpus callosum, anterior thalamic radiation, anterior cingulum, and sagittal stratum. However, anhedonia and irritability were associated with alterations in distinct WM tracts. Specifically, anhedonia was associated with disturbances in tracts related to reward processing, including the anterior limb of the internal capsule and projection fibers to the orbitofrontal cortex. Irritability was associated with decreased integrity in the sagittal stratum, anterior corona radiata, and tracts leading to prefrontal and temporal cortices. Overall, these preliminary findings provide further support for the hypotheses that there is a disconnect between prefrontal and limbic emotional regions in depression, and that specific clinical symptoms involve distinct alterations in WM tracts.

Keywords: depression, adolescent, white matter, diffusion tensor imaging, anhedonia, irritability

INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) in adolescence is a prevalent and disabling psychiatric illness associated with serious consequences including academic failure, social withdrawal, substance abuse, and most critically, suicide (1–5). Converging evidence derived from neuroimaging studies suggests that adolescent MDD entails morphological, functional, and neurochemical alterations (6–10). Importantly, since adolescence represents a critical period of rapid neuroplasticity [e.g., increased myelination, synaptic pruning; (11–13)], white matter (WM) alterations can contribute to the neurobiology of adolescent MDD. Indeed, in our prior investigation of gamma-Aminobutyric acid in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), we incidentally found reduced WM volume in adolescents with MDD compared to healthy controls [HC; (9)]. However, there has been sparse research focusing on WM alterations in this age group.

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) enables the non-invasive examination of *in vivo* structural connectivity by providing measures of WM microstructure and integrity based on the extent of water diffusion (14). Several DTI measures are typically quantified, with fractional anisotropy (FA) being the most commonly used to reflect WM integrity. Higher FA values suggest greater diffusion in the direction of the axon, and thus greater WM integrity. Other measures, including mean diffusivity (MD), radial diffusivity (RD), and axial diffusivity (AD), can also be determined to investigate different aspects of WM microstructure.

To date, most DTI research in MDD has investigated adults and consistently reported decreased FA in tracts connected to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) or tracts connecting the two hemispheres within the PFC (15, 16). Only one DTI study was carried out in adolescents with depression, demonstrating a similar pattern to adult MDD of reduced FA in tracts connected to the subgenual ACC and the PFC [i.e., uncinate fasciculus, inferiorfronto-occipital fasciculus, anterior cingulum, superior longitudinal fasciculus; (17)]. However, results may have been impacted by the concurrent use of psychotropic medication and past substance abuse in some subjects. Relatedly, medication-naïve adolescents with a familial risk for unipolar depression also demonstrated reduced FA compared to HC in similar tracts (18).

In this study, we aimed to expand on prior work by examining WM integrity in psychotropic medication-free adolescents with MDD compared to HC. Given the inherent heterogeneity of adolescent MDD, we further sought to identify specific WM alterations in relation to MDD severity as well as anhedonia and irritability - two core symptoms of adolescent MDD. Due to our desire to explore a range in depression severity, we included patients with mild to moderate severity. Based on others' and our prior findings (8, 15–17), we hypothesized that adolescents with MDD would manifest less restricted diffusion (i.e., decreased WM integrity) compared to HC in tracts connecting frontal, striatal, and limbic regions. We also predicted that similar tracts would be associated with depression severity. For anhedonia, we expected reduced WM integrity in tracts that have been implicated in reward-related processing in the ventral striatum [i.e., subgenual cingulate, forceps minor, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus, anterior thalamic radiation (ATR), anterior limb of the internal capsule; (19)], and that these would be distinct from those associated with irritability. Finally, only one study has examined irritability in a clinical population [i.e., Huntington's disease; (20)] and found involvement of the amygdala. As such, we predicted the impairment of tracts connecting to the amygdala (e.g., uncinate fasciculus, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus, inferior longitudinal fasciculus).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PARTICIPANTS

The sample population partially overlapped with that used for our previously published resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging research (8), and was comprised of 17 adolescents with MDD (ages 13–20 years, *M* = 16.8, *SD* = 2.2, 8 female) and 16 HC (ages 13–19 years, M = 16.4, SD = 1.4, 10 female) group matched for age, and all were right-handed. Depressed adolescents were recruited through the New York University (NYU) Child Study Center, the Bellevue Hospital Center Department of Psychiatry, and local advertisements in the NY metropolitan area. HC were recruited from the greater NY metropolitan area through local advertisements and from the families of NYU staff. The study was approved by the NYU School of Medicine and the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai institutional review boards. Prior to enrollment, study procedures were explained to the subjects and parents. Written informed consent was provided by participants age 18 and older; those under age 18 provided signed assent and a parent/guardian provided signed informed consent.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

All subjects were \leq 20 years old and did not present with any significant medical or neurological disorders. Other exclusionary criteria consisted of an IQ < 80, MRI contraindications as assessed by a standard screening form, a positive urine toxicology test or a positive urine pregnancy test in females.

All MDD subjects met the DSM-IV-TR diagnosis of MDD with a current episode ≥ 8 weeks duration, and raw severity score ≥ 40 (i.e., T score ≥ 63) during the initial evaluation on the Children's Depression Rating Scale-Revised (CDRS-R), and were psychotropic medication-free for at least 7 half-lives of the medication. To explore a wider range of depression severity we included patients presenting with mild to severe depression on the date of the scan. Exclusionary criteria for the MDD group included current or past DSM-IV-TR diagnoses of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, pervasive developmental disorder, panic disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, conduct disorder, Tourette's disorder, or a substance-related disorder in the past 12 months. Current diagnoses of post-traumatic stress disorder or an eating disorder were also exclusionary. In addition, acute suicidality requiring immediate inpatient admission was exclusionary. HC subjects did not meet the criteria for any major current or past DSM-IV-TR diagnoses and had never received psychotropic medication.

CLINICAL ASSESSMENTS

All subjects were assessed by a board-certified child and adolescent psychiatrist or a clinical psychologist at the NYU Child Study Center. Clinical diagnoses were established using the Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children-Present and Lifetime Version [KSADS-PL; (21)], a semi-structured interview performed with both the subjects and their parents. Depression severity was assessed by the CDRS-R and the Beck Depression Inventory, second edition [BDI-II; (22)]. Additionally, suicidality and anxiety were assessed using the Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation [BSSI; (23)] and the Multidimensional Anxiety Scale for Children [MASC; (24)], respectively. The Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test (25) or the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (26) were used to estimate IQ. Urine toxicology and pregnancy tests were administered on the day of the scan.

Anhedonia

Our approach to quantifying anhedonia allows for clinician- and self-rated assessments to contribute equally to the anhedonia score (range 1–13). As in our previous studies (8, 9, 27), the score for each subject was computed by summing the responses to three items associated with anhedonia from the clinician-rated CDRS-R (item 2: "difficulty having fun;" scale of 1–7) and the self-rated BDI-II (items 4: "loss of pleasure" and 12: "loss of interest;" scales of 0–3).

Irritability

Our approach again combined both clinician- and self-rated assessments to contribute to the irritability score (range 1–10). The score for each subject was computed by summing the responses to the items associated with irritability from the CDRS-R (item 8: "irritability;" scale of 1–7) and the BDI-II (item 17: "irritability;" scale of 0–3).

DATA ACQUISITION AND ANALYSIS

Diffusion data were acquired on a Siemens Allegra 3.0 T scanner at the NYU Center for Brain Imaging using a single-channel head coil. Diffusion-weighted echo-planar images (EPI) were acquired along 12 diffusion gradient directions for acquisition of 35 slices through the whole brain (TR = 6000 ms, TE = 82 ms, flip angle = 90°, *b* value = 1000 s/mm², FOV = 192 mm, 128 × 128 matrix, slice thickness = 2.5 mm, with four averages). High-resolution T1-weighted anatomical images were acquired using a magnetization-prepared gradient echo sequence (TR = 2530 ms; TE = 3.25 ms; TI = 1100 ms; flip angle = 7°; 128 slices; FOV = 256 mm; acquisition voxel size = 1.3 mm × 1 mm × 1.3 mm).

All preprocessing was performed using FMRIB's Software Library (FSL; Oxford, UK): FMRIB's Diffusion Toolbox (FDT). Preprocessing began with eddy current correction to correct for gradient-coil distortions and small head motions, using affine registration to a b0 reference volume. A diffusion tensor model was fitted to each voxel along the principal λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 directions to generate FA, MD, RD, and AD. We then implemented FSL's tract-based spatial statistics pipeline [TBSS; (28)], in which a nonlinear registration aligned each subject to the FMRIB58 FA template in $1 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm}$ standard space, and then warped each subject into standard Montreal Neurological Institute space (MNI152). A WM "skeleton" was then generated representing a single line running down the centers of all of the common WM fibers by using an FA cut-off of 0.2, and relevant diffusivity measures (i.e., FA, MD, RD, AD) were projected onto the skeleton. Group statistical analysis was then conducted only on voxels within the WM skeleton mask, therefore restricting the voxel-wise analysis only to voxels with high confidence of lying within equivalent major WM pathways in each individual.

In order to assess differences in FA, MD, RD, and AD between the MDD and HC groups, we used FSL's Randomise with 5000 permutations to perform voxel-wise independent samples *t*-tests using voxel-based thresholding while controlling for age and sex. Group comparisons did not withstand stringent correction for multiple comparisons using family-wise error correction (FWE; implemented by Randomise) or FDR correction (implemented by FSL's FDR program). As such, we performed a second, more exploratory analysis in which we accepted clusters of at least 10 contiguous voxels at p < 0.001.

To investigate relationships with depression severity, anhedonia, and irritability, Randomise was again used to perform a series of one-sample *t*-tests using the score for each category, respectively, while controlling for age and gender. Due to the low variability in scores in the HC group, as well as the nature of the study topic, the analysis was limited to the MDD group whose scores were normally distributed. Once again, tests did not withstand correction for multiple comparisons and we used the more exploratory approach of accepting clusters of at least 10 contiguous voxels at p < 0.001. We used FSL's cluster program to extract all clusters across the brain, and anatomical localization of each cluster was determined using the FSLView atlas toolbox and the relevant gray matter (Harvard-Oxford Cortical/Subcortical) and WM (Johns Hopkins University WM tractography) atlases. Brain imaging results were prepared for display using FSL's tbss_fill script, which displays results superimposed upon the WM skeleton from the group TBSS analysis.

RESULTS

PARTICIPANTS

Demographic and clinical characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. One subject with MDD had been treated with Lexapro and Ambien for 7 months, but was medication-free for approximately 14 months prior to scanning. A second subject with MDD had a brief trial with Prozac which was self-discontinued prior to participation in this study. All other subjects were psychotropic medication-naïve. Fifteen subjects with MDD had experienced

Table 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of adolescents with major depressive disorder (MDD) and healthy controls.

Characteristic	MDD subjects (<i>N</i> = 17)	Healthy controls (<i>N</i> = 16)
Age (range)	16.8±2.2 (13–20)	16.4±1.4 (13–19)
Gender (female/male)	8/9 (47/53%)	10/6 (63/38%) ^a
Ethnicity (Caucasian/African	9/2/5/0/1	6/5/1/1/3
American/Hispanic/Asian/other)	(53/12/29/0/6%)	(38/31/6/6/19%)
ILLNESS HISTORY		
Current episode duration in	24.4 ± 16.0 (7–72)	0
months (range)		
Number of MDD episodes	1 $(n = 15)$, 2 $(n = 2)$	0 (<i>n</i> = 16)
History of suicide attempts	0.2 ± 0.5 (0–2)	0
(range)		
Medication-naïve/medication-	15/2 (88/12%)	16/0 (100/0%)
free		
CDRS-R (range) ^b	45.7 ± 9.7 (29–64)	19.4±2.7 (17–27)
Anhedonia (range)	5.76±2.28 (2–10)	1.44 ± 0.73 (1–3)
Irritability (range)	4.71 ± 1.40 (2–7)	1.18 ± 0.83 (0–3)
BDI-II (range) ^c	19.2 ± 10.4 (1–37)	$1.9 \pm 2.6 \ (0-10)$
BSSI (range) ^d	$2.0 \pm 4.2 (0-14)$	0.1 ± 0.3 (0–1)
MASC (range) ^e	44.2 ± 21.3 (11–75)	33.5±12.4 (9–55)
CURRENT COMORBIDITY		
ADHD ^f	1 (6%)	0
Any anxiety disorder	8 (47%)	0
GAD ^g	7 (41%)	0

^aRespective percentages (may not add up to 100% due to rounding).

^bChildren's depression rating scale – revised.

^cBeck depression inventory, 2nd ed.

^dBeck scale for suicidal ideation

^eMultidimensional anxiety scale for children.

^fAttention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

^gGeneralized anxiety disorder.

only one episode of depression, with length of episode ranging from 4 to 48 months, and two patients reported having two distinct episodes. Two Shapiro–Wilk tests revealed that anhedonia and irritability were both normally distributed within the MDD group, $p_s = 0.81$, 0.48, respectively. Depression severity (excluding the anhedonia- or irritability-related items) was significantly correlated with both severity of anhedonia (r = 0.66, p < 0.005) and irritability (r = 0.66, p < 0.005) within our MDD sample. Anhedonia and irritability were not correlated (r = 0.37, p = 0.15).

WHOLE-BRAIN GROUP COMPARISON

No voxel-wise group comparisons for FA, MD, RD, or AD withstood correction for multiple comparisons. An exploratory analysis using a threshold of p < 0.001, uncorrected with clusters exceeding 10 contiguous voxels, revealed 4 significant clusters (**Table 2, Figure 1**). Compared with HC, the MDD group had lower FA in the anterior cingulum, and lower AD in the anterior corona radiata (ACR). However, the MDD group also had greater FA and lower RD in the posterior cingulum compared to HC.

Table 2 | Voxel-wise group comparison results.

Region	Tract	C	OG coordinat	es	Cluster size	Values mean (SD) HC/MDD
		x	Ŷ	z		HC/WDD
FA: MDD > HC						
L cerebral WM (hippocampus)	Posterior cingulum	-20	-39	-5	16	0.45 (0.06)
						0.57 (0.08)
FA: HC > MDD						
R cerebral WM (precuneus)	Anterior cingulum	18	-51	34	10	0.50 (0.05)
						0.43 (0.04)
MD: MDD > HC						
None						
MD: HC > MDD						
None						
RD: MDD > HC						
None						
RD: HC > MDD						
L cerebral WM (hippocampus)	Posterior cingulum	-20	-39	-5	16	0.0006 (7E-05)
						0.0005 (8E-05)
AD: MDD > HC						
None						
AD: HC > MDD						
L cerebral WM (putamen)	ACR	-23	22	-5	10	0.0013 (9E-05)
						0.0012 (8E-05)

Units for AD and $RD = mm^2/s$. Coordinates in MNI space. Threshold p < 0.001, uncorrected, k > 10. COG, center of gravity; FA, fractional anisotropy; MD, mean diffusivity; RD, radial diffusivity; AD, axial diffusivity; WM, white matter; L, left; R, right; ACR, anterior corona radiata.



FIGURE 1 (A) Increased WM integrity in the MDD group vs. HC in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus; (B) decreased WM integrity in the MDD group vs. HC in the anterior cingulum near the precuneus.

WHOLE-BRAIN CORRELATIONS WITH DEPRESSION SEVERITY IN MDD

Exploratory analyses revealed a total of 16 uncorrected clusters, with 5 overlapping clusters between the 4 diffusivity measures (**Table 3**, **Figure 2**). As depression severity increased, FA decreased in the genu of the corpus callosum, the sagittal stratum, the ATR, and the anterior cingulum. Additionally, a positive correlation between MD and depression severity was found in the same sagittal stratum cluster as the FA analysis, as well as in clusters in the ATR and corticospinal tract. Similarly, illness severity was positively correlated with RD in the same sagittal stratum cluster as the FA and MD analyses, the same genu of the corpus callosum and

ATR clusters as the FA analysis, the same ATR cluster as the MD analysis, and a cluster in the superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF). Finally, increased illness severity was associated with increased AD in the same corticospinal cluster as the MD analysis as well as in clusters in the inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus (IFOF), the SLF, and fibers projecting to the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC).

WHOLE-BRAIN CORRELATIONS WITH ANHEDONIA IN MDD

Analyses revealed a total of 14 uncorrected clusters, with 2 overlapping clusters between FA and RD (**Table 4**, **Figure 3**). As anhedonia increased, FA increased in a cluster in the posterior cingulum near

Table 3 | Voxel-wise correlations with depression severity (CDRS-R).

Region	Tract		COG		Cluster siz
		x	У	Z	
FA: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
FA: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (PHG)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-42	-35	-9	29
L cerebral WM (pallidum)	ATR	-10	-3	-3	20
L cerebral WM (ACC)	Genu of corpus callosum	-2	30	4	14
L cerebral WM (precuneus)	Anterior cingulum	-7	-72	39	11
MD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (PHG)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-41	-33	-13	20
R cerebral WM (pallidum)	ATR	14	-3	3	11
R cerebral WM (postcentral gyrus)	Corticospinal	22	-40	47	10
MD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
RD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (PHG)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-42	-35	-10	45
L cerebral WM (pallidum)	ATR	-10	-3	-4	17
R cerebral WM (supramarginal gyrus)	SLF	30	-39	37	13
L cerebral WM (ACC)	Genu of corpus callosum	-2	29	4	14
R cerebral WM (pallidum)	ATR	14	-2	3	10
RD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
AD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (postcentral gyrus)	Corticospinal	22	-33	44	25
R cerebral WM (precuneus)	IFOF	23	-55	30	17
L cerebral WM (MFG)	SLF	-31	21	25	10
R cerebral WM (OFC)	Frontal projection fibers	-24	19	-18	10
AD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					

Coordinates in MNI space. Threshold *p* < 0.001, uncorrected, *k* > 10. COG, center of gravity; *L*, left; *R*, right; *FA*, fractional anisotropy; MD, mean diffusivity; *RD*, radial diffusivity; *AD*, axial diffusivity; WM, white matter; PHG, parahippocampal gyrus; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; MFG, medial frontal gyrus; OFC, orbitofrontal gyrus; ILF; inferior longitudinal fasciculus; IFOF; inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus; ATR, anterior thalamic radiation; SLF; superior longitudinal fasciculus.

the hippocampus – similar to a cluster from the group comparison analysis – and decreased in the anterior limb of the internal capsule, OFC projection fibers, and the posterior cingulum near the precuneus. Furthermore, anhedonia was positively correlated with MD in OFC projection fibers, the external capsule, and the sagittal stratum. Additionally, increased anhedonia severity was associated with greater RD in the same posterior limb of the internal capsule and posterior cingulum clusters as the FA analysis, the same OFC projection fibers as the MD analysis, and clusters in the ATR and corticospinal tract. Finally, there were positive correlations between anhedonia and AD in the corticospinal tract and projection fibers into the occipital cortex.

WHOLE-BRAIN CORRELATIONS WITH IRRITABILITY IN MDD

Analyses revealed a total of 14 uncorrected clusters, with 2 overlapping clusters (**Table 5**, **Figure 4**). As irritability increased, FA decreased in clusters in the sagittal stratum and IFOF, while MD increased in the same sagittal stratum cluster as well as in clusters in the ACR, SLF, and IFOF. For RD, positive correlations with irritability were evident in the same sagittal stratum cluster, the anterior limb of the internal capsule, and the SLF. Positive correlations were also found between AD and irritability in the same ACR cluster as the MD analysis as well as in the IFOF, the corticospinal tract, and the SLF.

DISCUSSION

Consistent with our hypotheses, analyses revealed reduced WM integrity (i.e., decreased FA, and increased MD, RD, AD) in the MDD group compared to HC as well as in the more severely depressed, anhedonic, and irritable patients. Furthermore, despite significant correlations between the two dimensional measures and depression severity, we found distinct WM alterations for both anhedonia and irritability that differed from those for depression severity. Reduced integrity was found in fronto-striatal and thalamic tracts, the corpus callosum, and tracts connected to the inferior temporal (IT) cortex. Additionally, reduced integrity in the sagittal stratum was consistently found in our analyses to be correlated with increasing depression severity, anhedonia, and



irritability. Unexpectedly, analyses also revealed a cluster in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus which demonstrated more anisotropic diffusion, both as anhedonia increased and in the MDD group vs. HC. Finally, it is interesting to note that in many of our analyses there was overlap in the clusters demonstrating a relationship with FA and RD, potentially suggesting that structural issues related to RD are driving the observed relationships with FA in this and other studies.

GROUP DIFFERENCES IN WM INTEGRITY

Group differences were observed in both the posterior and anterior cingulum. Specifically, depressed adolescents demonstrated decreased WM integrity in the anterior cingulum near the precuneus, and increased integrity in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus, compared to HC. The cingulum connects the cingulate and entorhinal cortices and is broadly involved in attention, memory, and emotions (29, 30). The anterior portion of the cingulate has been implicated in emotional processing and depression (31). Altered functioning, connectivity, and diffusion around the precuneus are frequently reported in MDD (32, 33). Given the role of the precuneus in self-related processes, and that self-processing is typically altered in depression (34), this potentially suggests that reduced WM integrity contributes to altered functioning in this region early in the course of the disease.

The MDD group also demonstrated more coherent diffusion in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus. The posterior cingulate is involved in cognitive functions including attention and memory (35). Functional hyperactivity in the hippocampus (36–38), as well as decreased hippocampal volume (39), are consistent findings in adult MDD. Given the role of the hippocampus in learning and memory (40), but also in the regulation of motivation and emotion (41, 42), this region is critical to carrying out normal behaviors that may be altered in depression. Furthermore, greater WM integrity in tracts leading to the hippocampus would be consistent with the literature demonstrating hyperactivity of this region in non-medicated MDD patients. Overall, the categorical comparison between depressed adolescents and HC revealed differences in an important tract connecting prefrontal and limbic regions.

DEPRESSION SEVERITY AND WM INTEGRITY

Our use of an approach that accounts for a range of depression severity in our sample revealed a pattern of reduced WM integrity as depression severity increased. Specifically, we found reduced integrity in the genu of the corpus callosum, a region that connects prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortices. Many studies have documented altered diffusivity in the genu (16) as well as reduced volume (6, 43-45). Given that the prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortices are involved in critical processes, including decision-making, attention, reward processing, and the evaluation and regulation of emotion (46-48), an interruption in communication between these areas has implications for depression and mood disorders.

Additionally, we found decreased integrity in the sagittal stratum with increasing severity, not only in this analysis, but also in the dimensional analyses within the MDD population. The sagittal stratum is a complex fiber bundle connecting the occipital cortex to the rest of the brain, and includes fibers from many major tracts including the ILF and IFOF (49). The ILF and IFOF both connect the occipital cortex to temporal limbic structures (i.e., amygdala, hippocampus) and the PFC, although the IFOF connects directly

Table 4 | Voxel-wise correlations with anhedonia.

Region	Tract		COG		
		x	У	z	
FA: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (hippocampus)	Posterior cingulum	25	-31	-14	13
FA: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (thalamus)	Anterior limb IC (ATR)	14	-2	4	14
R cerebral WM (OFC)	IFOF	34	31	-6	12
L cerebral WM (precuneus)	Posterior cingulum	18	-58	42	10
MD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (OFC)	Projection fibers	17	20	-18	14
L cerebral WM (putamen)	External capsule (IFOF)	-32	-22	2	11
L cerebral WM (fusiform gyrus)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-40	-35	-14	11
MD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
RD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (pallidum)	ATR	-10	-2	-3	24
R cerebral WM (OFC)	Projection fibers	17	20	-17	14
R cerebral WM (precuneus)	IFOF	18	-58	44	11
R cerebral WM (postcentral gyrus)	Corticospinal	18	-39	57	10
R cerebral WM (thalamus)	Anterior limb IC (ATR)	14	-2	4	10
RD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
AD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (postcentral gyrus)	Corticospinal	22	-37	46	34
L cerebral WM (occipital)	Projection fibers	-15	-65	50	12
AD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					

Coordinates in MNI space. Threshold p < 0.001, uncorrected, k > 10. COG, center of gravity; L, left; R, right; FA, fractional anisotropy; MD, mean diffusivity; RD, radial diffusivity; AD, axial diffusivity; WM, white matter; OFC, orbitofrontal gyrus; IC, internal capsule; ATR, anterior thalamic radiation; IFOF, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus; ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus.

to the OFC and the ILF does so indirectly through the uncinate fasciculus (50). Therefore, both tracts are involved in connecting visual information with areas involved in emotional memories, judgments, and behaviors. A meta-analysis of diffusion studies of patients with MDD found WM alterations in both the ILF and IFOF (16). Additionally, alterations in WM have been found in the IFOF for depressed adolescents (17), adolescents with a familial risk for depression (18), and adults with MDD (51).

We also observed reduced integrity with increasing severity in bilateral clusters in the ATR near the pallidum. The ATR connects thalamic nuclei with the PFC through the anterior limb of the internal capsule. Reduced WM integrity has been reported in the ATR in several studies of depressed adults (16). Furthermore, given the role of the thalamus in motivation and goal pursuit (52, 53), altered connectivity within this circuit could contribute to the motivational deficits associated with depression.

Additionally, increased illness severity was associated with reduced integrity in the corticospinal tract near the postcentral gyrus. The corticospinal tract transmits motor impulses from the motor and premotor cortices to the spinal cord. Although this was an unexpected finding, motor disturbances and retardation are a relevant clinical symptom of depression (54). In this way, altered diffusivity may be related to the observed slowing and impairment of motor functions. Finally, we again found decreased integrity with increasing severity in the previously described anterior cingulum near the precuneus, which is consistent with the findings from our group analysis. Overall, our analysis with varied levels of depression severity was more robust than the categorical comparison and revealed a more extensive network of reduced WM integrity.

ANHEDONIA AND WM INTEGRITY

The dimensional analysis with anhedonia revealed an association between increased anhedonia and reduced integrity in the anterior limb of the internal capsule near the thalamus, a tract implicated in reward processing (19). The anterior limb of the internal capsule connects the thalamus with cingulate and prefrontal cortices, which are heavily involved in motivation, decision-making, and evaluating the saliency of emotional and rewarding stimuli. Additionally, increased anhedonia was correlated with reduced integrity in tracts (i.e., IFOF, projection fibers) connected to the posterior lateral OFC (BA 47), an area involved in many functions including emotional and reward processing, complex learning, and the inhibition of responses (46, 47, 55). Depressed patients

White matter in adolescent depression



FIGURE 3 | (A) Increased WM integrity as anhedonia increased in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus; decreased WM integrity as anhedonia increased in the **(B)** anterior limb of the internal capsule; **(C)** IFOF near the OFC; **(D)** posterior cingulum near the precuneus. Key: IFOF, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus; OFC, orbitofrontal cortex.

have demonstrated reduced gray matter volume in the posterior lateral OFC as well as altered functional responses to emotional stimuli, reward processing, and reversal learning (56).

We also found reduced integrity in the external capsule as anhedonia increased. The external capsule contains cholinergic fibers projecting from the basal forebrain to the cerebral cortex. Reduced integrity in the external capsule has been found previously in adult MDD (57, 58). Furthermore, we once again found reduced integrity in the previously discussed sagittal stratum and posterior cingulum near the precuneus with greater symptom severity. Finally, the analysis revealed increased integrity with increased anhedonia in the posterior cingulum near the hippocampus, in an area fairly close to the cluster that showed increased integrity in the MDD group in our categorical comparison. In this way, it is possible that anhedonic symptoms are related to the group differences we observed. Given the previously discussed role of the hippocampus and limbic system in the regulation of motivation and emotion, the relationship between hippocampal functioning and anhedonia represents an important area for future research.

IRRITABILITY AND WM INTEGRITY

As predicted, we found decreased integrity as irritability increased in a tract near the amygdala (i.e., sagittal stratum including the ILF and IFOF). However, increased irritability was correlated with decreased integrity in tracts primarily connecting to prefrontal and occipital cortices. We also found clusters in the previously discussed IFOF, although one was in the lingual gyrus while the other was in the middle frontal gyrus. The lingual gyrus has been implicated in processing emotional faces (59), which is typically altered in MDD (60). Altered cerebral blood flow and resting state connectivity have been demonstrated in the lingual gyrus in adults with MDD (61, 62). Additionally, decreased integrity in WM has previously been found around the middle frontal gyrus (63), an area broadly involved in a variety of higher-level cognitive processes (64) which are often compromised in MDD.

Reduced integrity related to elevated irritability was also found in the ACR, which connects the striatum to the ACC. Reduced integrity has previously been demonstrated in the ACR in pediatric bipolar patients (65), and dysfunctional activity in the ACC is typically considered a hallmark of depression (37, 42, 66–70). Furthermore, altered intrinsic functional connectivity (i.e., resting state) between the striatum and ACC has been documented for depressed adolescents (8). Finally, a cluster in the SLF in the IT gyrus was found. The SLF is a major bidirectional association tract connecting large parts of the frontal cortex with the parietal, temporal, and occipital lobes. Less restricted diffusion in the SLF has been previously demonstrated for depressed adolescents (17), adolescents with a genetic risk for depression (18), and adults with MDD (71).

MEASURES OF WM INTEGRITY

Although a complete discussion of RD and AD goes beyond the scope of this paper, it is interesting to note that for both the categorical and dimensional analyses we found overlap in

Table 5 | Voxel-wise correlations with irritability.

Region	Tract		COG		Cluster size
		x	У	Z	
FA: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
FA: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (IT)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-43	-33	-9	51
L cerebral WM (MFG)	IFOF	-31	33	12	13
MD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (IT)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-42	-34	-9	82
L cerebral WM (putamen)	ACR (ATR)	-22	17	17	19
L cerebral WM (IT)	SLF	-47	-39	-4	13
L cerebral WM (lingual gyrus)	IFOF	-14	-86	-6	11
MD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
RD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
L cerebral WM (IT)	Sagittal stratum (ILF + IFOF)	-45	-34	-8	99
R cerebral WM (supramarginal gyrus)	SLF	34	-43	33	15
R cerebral WM (supramarginal gyrus)	SLF	38	-43	26	12
R cerebral WM (putamen)	Anterior limb IC (ATR)	14	7	6	12
RD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					
AD: POSITIVE RELATIONSHIP					
R cerebral WM (postcentral gyrus)	Corticospinal	22	-30	46	22
R cerebral WM (precuneus)	IFOF	23	-55	32	18
L cerebral WM (MT)	SLF	-49	-46	-1	16
L cerebral WM (putamen)	ACR	-22	18	18	10
AD: NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP					
None					

Coordinates in MNI space. Threshold *p* < 0.001, uncorrected, *k* > 10. COG, center of gravity; L, left; R, right; FA, fractional anisotropy; MD, mean diffusivity; RD, radial diffusivity; AD, axial diffusivity; WM, white matter; IT, inferior temporal gyrus; MFG, medial frontal gyrus; MT, middle temporal gyrus; ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus; IFOF, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus; ACR, anterior corona radiata; ATR, anterior thalamic radiation; SLF, superior longitudinal fasciculus; IC, internal capsule.



FIGURE 4 | Decreased WM integrity as irritability increased in the (A) sagittal stratum in the IT; (B) IFOF near the MFG. Key: IT, inferior temporal cortex; IFOF, inferior-fronto-occipital fasciculus; MFG, medial frontal gyrus.

clusters with reduced FA and increased RD, but no overlapping relationships with AD. Increased RD may be caused by disturbances in myelin, whereas decreased AD has been suggested to reflect disrupted axonal integrity (72–74). As such, our findings

and those from previous research may reflect that alterations in FA for MDD are being driven more by issues of myelination than axonal integrity. However, further research is needed to replicate and expand upon a possible mechanism.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Although our findings are consistent with other clinical studies investigating altered WM in depressed adolescents, it should be noted that very liberal thresholds were used for the analyses and the inability to correct for multiple comparisons is an issue of concern. Although our statistical methodology and sample size were comparable to those of other studies of clinical populations using DTI (17, 63, 75), it is possible that the sample sizes used in many clinical studies are not large enough to produce adequate statistical power. In this way, it is difficult to adequately balance the concerns of committing a Type I error by not correcting while also avoiding a Type II error due to small sample sizes and reduced statistical power. Therefore, our findings are considered preliminary. Furthermore, the inclusion of patients with milder symptomatology may have weakened our ability to detect group differences.

Although small sample sizes may be a possible explanation for the relatively weak results in our and other clinical studies of adolescent depression, another possibility is that the adolescent brain is still malleable and the alterations in WM structure may not fully take hold until adulthood (11). Therefore, it is even more pressing to understand a neuroimmunological model of depression and the factors that may contribute to changes in WM before chronicity begins to take effect. For example, given past findings that depressed adolescents exhibit higher levels of circulating inflammatory cytokines (76), one possible explanation for the observed reduction in FA in adult MDD is that it may reflect effects of chronic low grade inflammation. Additionally, given our previous research on fronto-striatal functional connectivity in MDD, future studies should investigate altered WM microstructure using a targeted tractography approach. Finally, further research is needed to investigate this hypothesis and other models of the systemic consequences of depression. To this end, a better understanding of what FA, MD, AD, and RD illustrate in an adolescent population, as well as the factors that contribute to these diffusivity measures, is needed in the field.

CONCLUSION

Our investigation of altered WM microstructure in medicationfree adolescents with MDD revealed a general pattern of impaired WM integrity in the depressed adolescents, and as depression severity, anhedonia, and irritability increased. Our findings are consistent with an overall hypothesis that depression, even in adolescence, involves a disconnection of prefrontal, striatal, and limbic emotional areas (16). Although this represents a good step toward understanding depression during this critical period, more research is needed to understand the factors that ultimately contribute to altered WM microstructure in order to develop potential interventions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Chao-Gan Yan of the Child Mind Institute for his help with this project. This study was supported by grants from the NIH (AT004576, MH095807), the Brain & Behavior Research Foundation (formerly NARSAD), the Hope for Depression Research Foundation, and generous gifts from the Leon Levy Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Bukstein OG, Brent DA, Kaminer Y. Comorbidity of substance abuse and other psychiatric disorders in adolescents. Am J Psychiatry (1989) 146(9):1131–41.
- McCarty CA, Mason WA, Kosterman R, Hawkins JD, Lengua LJ, McCauley E. Adolescent school failure predicts later depression among girls. *J Adolesc Health* (2008) 43(2):180–7. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.01.023
- Seroczynski AD, Cole DA, Maxwell SE. Cumulative and compensatory effects of competence and incompetence on depressive symptoms in children. J Abnorm Psychol (1997) 106(4):586–97. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.106.4.586
- 4. Levy JC, Deykin EY. Suicidality, depression, and substance abuse in adolescence. *Am J Psychiatry* (1989) **146**(11):1462–7.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mental Health Surveillance Among Children – United States, 2005-2011. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013).
- Macmaster FP, Carrey N, Marie Langevin L. Corpus callosal morphology in early onset adolescent depression. J Affect Disord (2013) 145(2):256–9. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.04.047
- Yang TT, Simmons AN, Matthews SC, Tapert SF, Frank GK, Max JE, et al. Adolescents with major depression demonstrate increased amygdala activation. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 49(1):42–51. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2009.09. 004
- Gabbay V, Ely BA, Li Q, Bangaru SD, Panzer AM, Alonso CM, et al. Striatum-Based circuitry of adolescent depression and anhedonia. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2013) 52(6):14. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.04.003
- Gabbay V, Mao X, Klein RG, Ely BA, Babb JS, Panzer AM, et al. Anterior cingulate cortex γ-aminobutyric acid in depressed adolescents: relationship to anhedonia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69(2):139–49. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011. 131
- Forbes EE. fMRI studies of reward processing in adolescent depression. Neuropsychopharmacology (2011) 36(1):372–3. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.164
- Giorgio A, Watkins KE, Chadwick M, James S, Winmill L, Douaud G, et al. Longitudinal changes in grey and white matter during adolescence. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49(1):94–103. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.08.003
- Paus T. Mapping brain maturation and cognitive development during adolescence. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2005) 9(2):60–8. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.008
- Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd JN. Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? Nat Rev Neurosci (2008) 9(12):947–57. doi:10.1038/Nrn2513
- Alexander AL, Lee JE, Lazar M, Field AS. Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain. Neurotherapeutics (2007) 4(3):316–29. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2007.05.011
- Sexton CE, Mackay CE, Ebmeier KP. A systematic review of diffusion tensor imaging studies in affective disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66(9):814–23. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.05.024
- Liao Y, Huang X, Wu Q, Yang C, Kuang W, Du M, et al. Is depression a disconnection syndrome? Meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies in patients with MDD. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2013) 38(1):49–56. doi:10.1503/jpn.110180
- 17. Cullen KR, Klimes-Dougan B, Muetzel R, Mueller BA, Camchong J, Houri A, et al. Altered white matter microstructure in adolescents with major depression: a preliminary study. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2010) **49**(2):173–83.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2009.11.005
- Huang H, Fan X, Williamson DE, Rao U. White matter changes in healthy adolescents at familial risk for unipolar depression: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2011) 36(3):684–91. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.199
- Koch K, Wagner G, Schachtzabel C, Schultz CC, Gullmar D, Reichenbach JR, et al. Association between white matter fiber structure and reward-related reactivity of the ventral striatum. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2013). doi:10.1002/hbm.22284. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kloppel S, Stonnington CM, Petrovic P, Mobbs D, Tuscher O, Craufurd D, et al. Irritability in pre-clinical Huntington's disease. *Neuropsychologia* (2010) 48(2):549–57. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.10.016
- Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, et al. Schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for school-age children-present and lifetime version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1997) 36(7):980–8. doi:10.1097/00004583-199707000-00021
- Beck AT, Guth D, Steer RA, Ball R. Screening for major depression disorders in medical inpatients with the Beck depression inventory for primary care. *Behav Res Ther* (1997) 35(8):785–91. doi:10.1016/S0005-7967(97)00025-9

- Beck AT, Kovacs M, Weissman A. Assessment of suicidal intention: the scale for suicide ideation. J Consult Clin Psychol (1979) 47(2):343–52. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.47.2.343
- March JS, Parker JD, Sullivan K, Stallings P, Conners CK. The multidimensional anxiety scale for children (MASC): factor structure, reliability, and validity. JAm Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1997) 36(4):554–65. doi:10.1097/00004583-199704000-00019
- 25. Kaufman AS, Kaufman NL. *Manual for the Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test*. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service (1990).
- 26. Wechsler D. Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1999).
- Gabbay V, Ely BA, Babb J, Liebes L. The possible role of the kynurenine pathway in anhedonia in adolescents. J Neural Transm (2012) 119(2):253–60. doi:10.1007/s00702-011-0685-7
- Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Rueckert D, Nichols TE, Mackay CE, et al. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *Neuroimage* (2006) **31**(4):1487–505. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006. 02.024
- Rudrauf D, Mehta S, Grabowski TJ. Disconnection's renaissance takes shape: formal incorporation in group-level lesion studies. *Cortex* (2008) 44(8):1084–96. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2008.05.005
- Catani M. Thiebaut de Schotten M. A diffusion tensor imaging tractography atlas for virtual in vivo dissections. *Cortex* (2008) 44:1105–32. doi:10.1016/j. cortex.2008.05.004
- Steele JD, Christmas D, Eljamel MS, Matthews K. Anterior cingulotomy for major depression: clinical outcome and relationship to lesion characteristics. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63(7):670–7. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.07.019
- Messina I, Sambin M, Palmieri A, Viviani R. Neural correlates of psychotherapy in anxiety and depression: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(9):e74657. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074657
- 33. Li C, Sun X, Zou K, Yang H, Huang X, Wang Y, et al. Voxel based analysis of DTI in depression patients. Int J Magn Reson Imaging (2007) 1(1):43–8.
- Nejad AB, Fossati P, Lemogne C. Self-referential processing, rumination and cortical midline structures in major depression. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:666. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00666
- Vogt BA, Finch DM, Olson CR. Functional heterogeneity in cingulate cortex: the anterior executive and posterior evaluative regions. *Cereb Cortex* (1992) 2(6):435–43. doi:10.1093/cercor/2.6.435-a
- Campbell S, Macqueen G. The role of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of major depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2004) 29(6):417–26.
- Fitzgerald PB, Laird AR, Maller J, Daskalakis ZJ. A meta-analytic study of changes in brain activation in depression. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2008) 29(6):683–95. doi:10.1002/hbm.20426
- Cao X, Liu Z, Xu C, Li J, Gao Q, Sun N, et al. Disrupted resting-state functional connectivity of the hippocampus in medication-naive patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2012) 141(2–3):194–203. doi:10.1016/j.jad. 2012.03.002
- Sapolsky RM. Depression, antidepressants, and the shrinking hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2001) 98(22):12320–2. doi:10.1073/pnas.231475998
- Eichenbaum H, Yonelinas AP, Ranganath C. The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. *Annu Rev Neurosci* (2007) 30:123–52. doi:10.1146/ annurev.neuro.30.051606.094328
- Phillips ML, Drevets WC, Rauch SL, Lane R. Neurobiology of emotion perception I: the neural basis of normal emotion perception. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54(5):504–14. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00168-9
- Seminowicz DA, Mayberg HS, McIntosh AR, Goldapple K, Kennedy S, Segal Z, et al. Limbic-frontal circuitry in major depression: a path modeling meta-analysis. *Neuroimage* (2004) **22**(1):409–18. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.01. 015
- 43. Lyoo IK, Kwon JS, Lee SJ, Han MH, Chang CG, Seo CS, et al. Decrease in genu of the corpus callosum in medication-naive, early-onset dysthymia and depressive personality disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2002) 52(12):1134–43. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01436-1
- 44. Lacerda AL, Brambilla P, Sassi RB, Nicoletti MA, Mallinger AG, Frank E, et al. Anatomical MRI study of corpus callosum in unipolar depression. *J Psychiatr Res* (2005) **39**(4):347–54. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2004.10.004
- Kemp A, Macmaster FP, Jaworska N, Yang XR, Pradhan S, Mahnke D, et al. Age of onset and corpus callosal morphology in major depression. J Affect Disord (2013) 150(2):703–6. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.009

- Amodio DM, Frith CD. Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci (2006) 7(4):268–77. doi:10.1038/nrn1884
- Elliott R, Dolan RJ, Frith CD. Dissociable functions in the medial and lateral orbitofrontal cortex: evidence from human neuroimaging studies. *Cereb Cortex* (2000) 10(3):308–17. doi:10.1093/cercor/10.3.308
- 48. Fuster J. The Prefrontal Cortex. 4th ed. London: Elsevier (2008).
- Jellison BJ, Field AS, Medow J, Lazar M, Salamat MS, Alexander AL. Diffusion tensor imaging of cerebral white matter: a pictorial review of physics, fiber tract anatomy, and tumor imaging patterns. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2004) 25(3):356–69.
- 50. Ashtari M. Anatomy and functional role of the inferior longitudinal fasciculus: a search that has just begun. Dev Med Child Neurol (2012) 54(1):6–7. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.04122.x
- 51. Kieseppa T, Eerola M, Mantyla R, Neuvonen T, Poutanen VP, Luoma K, et al. Major depressive disorder and white matter abnormalities: a diffusion tensor imaging study with tract-based spatial statistics. J Affect Disord (2010) 120(1– 3):240–4. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2009.04.023
- Cho YT, Fromm S, Guyer AE, Detloff A, Pine DS, Fudge JL, et al. Nucleus accumbens, thalamus and insula connectivity during incentive anticipation in typical adults and adolescents. *Neuroimage* (2012) 66C:508–21. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2012.10.013
- Krebs RM, Boehler CN, Roberts KC, Song AW, Woldorff MG. The involvement of the dopaminergic midbrain and cortico-striatal-thalamic circuits in the integration of reward prospect and attentional task demands. *Cereb Cortex* (2012) 22(3):607–15. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr134
- Mergl R, Pogarell O, Juckel G, Rihl J, Henkel V, Frodl T, et al. Hand-motor dysfunction in depression: characteristics and pharmacological effects. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2007) 38(2):82–8. doi:10.1177/155005940703800210
- 55. Hooker C, Knight R. The role of lateral orbitofrontal cortex in the inhibitory control of emotion. In: Zald DH, Rauch SL editors. *The Orbitofrontal Cortex*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2006). p. 307–24.
- Drevets WC. Orbitofrontal cortex function and structure in depression. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2007) 1121:499–527. doi:10.1196/annals.1401.029
- 57. Korgaonkar MS, Grieve SM, Koslow SH, Gabrieli JD, Gordon E, Williams LM. Loss of white matter integrity in major depressive disorder: evidence using tractbased spatial statistical analysis of diffusion tensor imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2011) **32**(12):2161–71. doi:10.1002/hbm.21178
- Guo WB, Liu F, Xue ZM, Gao K, Wu RR, Ma CQ, et al. Altered white matter integrity in young adults with first-episode, treatment-naive, and treatmentresponsive depression. *Neurosci Lett* (2012) 522(2):139–44. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2012.06.027
- Kitada R, Johnsrude IS, Kochiyama T, Lederman SJ. Brain networks involved in haptic and visual identification of facial expressions of emotion: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49(2):1677–89. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.09. 014
- Stuhrmann A, Suslow T, Dannlowski U. Facial emotion processing in major depression: a systematic review of neuroimaging findings. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord* (2011) 1(1):10. doi:10.1186/2045-5380-1-10
- Zhang J, Wang J, Wu Q, Kuang W, Huang X, He Y, et al. Disrupted brain connectivity networks in drug-naive, first-episode major depressive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) **70**(4):334–42. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.05.018
- 62. Ito H, Kawashima R, Awata S, Ono S, Sato K, Goto R, et al. Hypoperfusion in the limbic system and prefrontal cortex in depression: SPECT with anatomic standardization technique. *J Nucl Med* (1996) **37**(3):410–4.
- 63. Ma N, Li L, Shu N, Liu J, Gong G, He Z, et al. White matter abnormalities in first-episode, treatment-naive young adults with major depressive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164(5):823–6. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.164.5.823
- 64. Talati A, Hirsch J. Functional specialization within the medial frontal gyrus for perceptual go/no-go decisions based on "what," "when," and "where" related information: an fMRI study. J Cogn Neurosci (2005) 17(7):981–93. doi:10.1162/0898929054475226
- Pavuluri MN, Yang S, Kamineni K, Passarotti AM, Srinivasan G, Harral EM, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging study of white matter fiber tracts in pediatric bipolar disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 65(7):586–93. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.10.015
- Drevets WC, Bogers W, Raichle ME. Functional anatomical correlates of antidepressant drug treatment assessed using PET measures of regional glucose metabolism. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2002) 12(6):527–44. doi:10.1016/S0924-977X(02)00102-5

- Davidson RJ, Pizzagalli D, Nitschke JB, Putnam K. Depression: perspectives from affective neuroscience. Annu Rev Psychol (2002) 53:545–74. doi:10.1146/ annurev.psych.53.100901.135148
- 68. de Kwaasteniet B, Ruhe E, Caan M, Rive M, Olabarriaga S, Groefsema M, et al. Relation between structural and functional connectivity in major depressive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(1):40–7. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2012.12.024
- Anand A, Li Y, Wang Y, Wu J, Gao S, Bukhari L, et al. Activity and connectivity of brain mood regulating circuit in depression: a functional magnetic resonance study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 57(10):1079–88. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02. 021
- Mayberg HS, Brannan SK, Tekell JL, Silva JA, Mahurin RK, McGinnis S, et al. Regional metabolic effects of fluoxetine in major depression: serial changes and relationship to clinical response. *Biol Psychiatry* (2000) 48(8):830–43. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01036-2
- Murphy ML, Frodl T. Meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies shows altered fractional anisotropy occurring in distinct brain areas in association with depression. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord* (2011) 1(1):3. doi:10.1186/ 2045-5380-1-3
- Della Nave R, Ginestroni A, Tessa C, Giannelli M, Piacentini S, Filippi M, et al. Regional distribution and clinical correlates of white matter structural damage in Huntington disease: a tract-based spatial statistics study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2010) **31**(9):1675–81. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A2128
- Kumar R, Macey PM, Woo MA, Harper RM. Rostral brain axonal injury in congenital central hypoventilation syndrome. *J Neurosci Res* (2010) 88(10):2146–54. doi:10.1002/jnr.22385
- 74. Kumar R, Nguyen HD, Macey PM, Woo MA, Harper RM. Regional brain axial and radial diffusivity changes during development. *J Neurosci Res* (2012) 90(2):346–55. doi:10.1002/jnr.22757

- 75. Versace A, Almeida JR, Hassel S, Walsh ND, Novelli M, Klein CR, et al. Elevated left and reduced right orbitomedial prefrontal fractional anisotropy in adults with bipolar disorder revealed by tract-based spatial statistics. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2008) **65**(9):1041–52. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.65. 9.1041
- Gabbay V, Klein RG, Alonso CM, Babb JS, Nishawala M, De Jesus G, et al. Immune system dysregulation in adolescent major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2009) 115(1–2):177–82. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.07.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 October 2013; accepted: 08 November 2013; published online: 25 November 2013.

Citation: Henderson SE, Johnson AR, Vallejo AI, Katz L, Wong E and Gabbay V (2013) A preliminary study of white matter in adolescent depression: relationships with illness severity, anhedonia, and irritability. Front. Psychiatry 4:152. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00152

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2013 Henderson, Johnson, Vallejo, Katz, Wong and Gabbay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Meta-analyses of developing brain function in high-risk and emerged bipolar disorder

Moon-Soo Lee^{1,2}, Purnima Anumagalla¹, Prasanth Talluri¹ and Mani N. Pavuluri¹*

¹ Pediatric Brain Research and Intervention Center, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

² College of Medicine, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea

Edited by:

Stephanie Ameis, The Hospital for Sick Children and University of Toronto, Canada

Reviewed by:

Meng-Chuan Lai, University of Cambridge, UK Nicholas Neufeld, University of Toronto, Canada Annette Beatrix Bruehl, University of Cambridge, UK

*Correspondence:

Mani N. Pavuluri, Pediatric Brain Research and Intervention Center, University of Illinois at Chicago, M/C 747, 1747 West Roosevelt Road, Chicago, IL 60608, USA e-mail: mpavuluri@psych.uic.edu **Objectives:** Identifying early markers of brain function among those at high risk (HR) for pediatric bipolar disorder (PBD) could serve as a screening measure when children and adolescents present with subsyndromal clinical symptoms prior to the conversion to bipolar disorder. Studies on the offspring of patients with bipolar disorder who are genetically at HR have each been limited in establishing a biomarker, while an analytic review in summarizing the findings offers an improvised opportunity toward that goal.

Methods: An activation likelihood estimation (ALE) meta-analysis of mixed cognitive and emotional activities using the GingerALE software from the BrainMap Project was completed. The meta-analysis of all fMRI studies contained a total of 29 reports and included PBD, HR, and typically developing (TD) groups.

Results: The HR group showed significantly greater activation relative to the TD group in the right DLPFC–insular–parietal–cerebellar regions. Similarly, the HR group exhibited greater activity in the right DLPFC and insula as well as the left cerebellum compared to patients with PBD. Patients with PBD, relative to TD, showed greater activation in regions of the right amygdala, parahippocampal gyrus, medial PFC, left ventral striatum, and cerebellum and lower activation in the right VLPFC and the DLPFC.

Conclusion: The HR population showed increased activity, presumably indicating greater compensatory deployment, in relation to both the TD and the PBD, in the key cognition and emotion-processing regions, such as the DLPFC, insula, and parietal cortex. In contrast, patients with PBD, relative to HR and TD, showed decreased activity, which could indicate a decreased effort in multiple PFC regions in addition to widespread subcortical abnormalities, which are suggestive of a more entrenched disease process.

Keywords: pediatric bipolar disorder, high risk, meta-analysis, GingerALE, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, amygdala

INTRODUCTION

The relationship between pediatric and adult bipolar disorder has been the subject of controversy. It is not clear whether pediatric bipolar disorder (PBD) is the pediatric form of the typical adult bipolar disorder or an entity of its own, as bipolar disorder usually manifests differently in childhood than in adulthood. Some studies in adults have reported that a portion of adults with bipolar I disorder experienced childhood or adolescent onset, and some of them began showing symptoms even before 12 years of age (1, 2). Identifying early markers of brain function among those at high risk (HR) for PBD could serve as a screening measure when children and adolescents present with subsyndromal clinical symptoms prior to the conversion to bipolar disorder (pediatric or adult form). These biomarkers can also aid as a stand-alone bio-signature for the identification of risk even prior to the emergence of any clinical symptoms and could allow an opportunity to prevent the onset of full-blown illness (3). One way to begin identifying the biomarkers is to examine the brain function in the genetically HR offspring of patients with bipolar disorder. While some studies of HR have been published (4-11), due to

their small sample sizes and corrections for multiple comparisons, the findings remain inconclusive.

To offer robust and reliable findings, we used a recently developed activation likelihood estimation (ALE) technique. This method assumes that the peak co-ordinates reported by each study represent the activation maps from which they are derived and uses the reported co-ordinates in voxel-wise analysis to assess the consistency of activation in any given set of studies (12–14). By performing the quantitative voxel-wise meta-analysis of already published results from the HR population and comparing them with those from the converted PBD and typically developing (TD) youth, we can provide objective, unbiased, and statistically based quantified evidence.

Ideally, a separate meta-analysis would be conducted for each individual domain, such as emotion processing or attention, as they relate to bipolar disorder diathesis. However, given the infancy of the current literature regarding HR patients, this is not practical, as no individual construct has included a sufficient number of studies to date. Instead, it is more feasible to study the commonalities probed across multiple domains in a systematic and



statistically driven fashion. There is a certain advantage to combining all the studies that include multi-domain probes. First, the brain does not work in isolation across individual domains; therefore, it is necessary to examine the brain's function as a whole while it is engaged in affective, cognitive, and motor control tasks (15). Furthermore, pooling several pilot studies produces an exploratory power of how the brain functions in a larger sample, eventually offering the possibility of correlating the results with the clinical manifestations of domains and disorders presenting with combined affective, cognitive, and motoric symptoms (16). This approach is a segue into future studies that can explore the interface of multiple domain functions in individual studies.

We consider emotional systems and circuits, in illness or wellness, to be closely linked to cognitive and motor control circuits of attention, working memory, and response inhibition (17). These systems interface at three tiers as shown in animal (18) and human studies of PBD (19): (1) at the prefrontal level between the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [VLPFC; inferior frontal gyrus; Brodmann areas (BAs) 45, 47] and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC; middle frontal gyrus; BAs 9, 9, 46), (2) at the intermediary cortex in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), such as between the dorsal (BA 32) and pregenual ACC (BA 24), and (3) at the subcortical level between the amygdala and striatum (19). While we could not determine which probe or domain dysfunction would contribute to activity in any given co-ordinate in this meta-analysis, we developed our hypotheses based on knowledge derived from the emerging literature. Emotion-processing tasks probing the affective systems entered into our meta-analysis would contribute to the increased prefrontal activity at the interface of VLPFC and DLPFC in HR and the decreased activity in PBD relative to TD (19). Increased subcortical amygdala activity would be a specific marker of PBD (20) relative to HR and TD. Based on our knowledge of attention and working memory task response, the DLPFC will manifest with increased activity in HR (6) and decreased activity in PBD (21), relative to TD. Impaired subcortical striatal activity would be a more entrenched specific marker of PBD's cognitive and motor dysfunction (20, 22, 23) relative to the HR and TD groups.

MATERIALS AND METHODS SEARCH STRATEGY

We identified primary studies through a comprehensive literature search of the MEDLINE (using both free-text and MeSH search) and PsychINFO databases using the following keywords: pediatric or child or adolescent, plus bipolar disorder or highrisk or at risk, and plus functional magnetic resonance imaging or fMRI. In addition, manual searches were conducted via reference sections of review articles and individual studies to check for any missing studies that were not identified using computerized searches. There were no language restrictions; in fact, all the included manuscripts were written in English. Only fMRI studies were chosen for review. An initial list of studies was produced that included any report of fMRI studies of PBD and HR offspring published in print or online by December 31, 2013. The selection process for the final list of primary studies for the planned meta-analyses in this study was very specific. The first-level literature search yielded 235 unique published articles with 49 studies meeting the initial inclusion criteria. A further manual search leads to eight other studies. After a second-level review of these 57 studies, only 29 contained the co-ordinates essential for inclusion in our meta-analysis (Figure 1). Any ambiguity in inclusion was resolved through a consensus decision by the authors of this manuscript. Study data (e.g., co-ordinates, participant numbers, and imaging spaces) were entered and crosschecked by participating authors.

SELECTION CRITERIA

"High risk" in this project refers to adolescents who have a biological parent diagnosed with BD. We selected studies with participants whose mean age was less than 19 years. Every study that we included had participants between the ages of 7 and 18 except for the study performed by Thermenos et al. (11), where the ages ranged up to 24. All reports included in the meta-analysis satisfied the following criteria: (1) a healthy comparison group is included, (2) the studies conducted whole-brain analyses, (3) all studies provided standard Talairach or Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) spatial co-ordinates for the key findings, (4) patient participants had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, and (5) there were at least five members in each of the participant groups. We included only those studies that reported activation foci as 3D co-ordinates in stereotactic space, examined active task constructs, and presented results for groups of participants.

Excluded manuscripts consisted of the following: (1) reviews or meta-analyses, (2) those with subject overlap, and (3) other MRI modalities (e.g., structural imaging, spectroscopy, diffusion tensor imaging, and functional connectivity studies).

ACTIVATION LIKELIHOOD ESTIMATION METHODS AND PAIRWISE ALE META-ANALYSIS

GingerALE software version (version 2.3.1) from the BrainMap project was used to conduct ALE meta-analysis of eligible studies (13, 14, 43). Meta-analyses were performed using the revised ALE software (i.e., GingerALE 2.3). The key modification in the revised ALE software included the change from fixed-effects (convergence between foci) to random-effects inference (convergence between studies but not individual foci reported for the same study), as well as greater meta-analytic weighting for primary studies that involved more participants. In line with our goal of gaining insight on the whole brain's function through tasks that probe combined domains, we performed exploratory analyses using all eligible data in the HR offspring, BD patient, and TD groups in the pediatric age group. Conversely, we did not separate the analyses by the type of the task or the brain domain probed. This method also helped to harness sample size and power. Activation co-ordinates reported in the MNI space were converted to Talairach co-ordinates using the Lancaster transform (icbm2tal) in GingerALE. Our meta-analysis was conducted in Talairach space. Co-ordinates originally presented as MNI space were transformed into Talairach space using Lancaster transformation. For uniformity, Talairach co-ordinates expressed by the previous Brett transformation (44) were converted into MNI space and re-transformed into Talairach space. The meta-analysis was performed using pairwise ALE meta-analysis.

Pairwise ALE meta-analyses included the following comparisons at first: greater activation in PBD versus HR, in HR versus PBD, in PBD versus TD, in TD versus PBD, in HR versus TD, and in TD versus HR. However, two pairwise ALE meta-analyses (greater activation in PBD versus HR and greater activation in TD versus HR) were not performed due to the lack of available data. The input co-ordinates were weighted to form estimates of activation likelihood for each intracerebral voxel. The activation likelihood of each voxel in standard space was then combined to form a statistic map of the ALE score at each voxel. Statistical significance of the ALE scores was determined by a permutation test controlling the false discovery rate (FDR) at p < 0.05(45). The statistic maps were thresholded by default at this critical value, and a recommended minimum cluster size was suggested from the cluster statistics. By using this minimum cluster size for the supra-threshold voxels, we can obtain the thresholded ALE image. Pairwise ALE analyses results were reported at p = 0.05 and were whole-brain corrected. A Talairach Daemon was used for anatomical locations for significant clusters.

RESULTS

The meta-analysis of all fMRI reports included 29 studies (PBD, HR, and TD). There was no overlap in patients who completed the same task across the selected studies. The primary studies included in the meta-analysis are listed in **Table 1**. Findings are summarized in **Table 2** and **Figure 2**.

HR AND TD: RECOGNIZING HIGH-RISK PARTICIPANTS

Participants in the HR group showed significantly greater activation in the right DLPFC, insula, inferior parietal lobule, and left cerebellum relative to TD. No other group differences were found. In case of greater activation in the TD group relative to HR, the analysis was not performed due to the lack of a large enough sample size and of experiments showing significant results.

PBD AND HR: RECOGNIZING THE EMERGENCE OF THE DISORDER

The HR group showed significant greater activation of the right DLPFC, insula, and left cerebellum than PBD. No other group differences were identified. In case of greater activation in the PBD group relative to HR, the analysis was also not performed due to a small sample size and few experiments showing significant results.

PBD AND TD: RECOGNIZING THE ILLNESS FROM WELLNESS

Patients with PBD demonstrated greater activation in the subcortical regions of the right amygdala, the parahippocampal gyrus, the subgenual ACC, and the medial PFC, and in the left ventral striatum, VLPFC, and cerebellum relative to TD. The TD group showed greater activation in the right VLPFC, DLPFC, superior frontal gyrus, dorsal ACC, and striatum than patients with PBD.

DISCUSSION

We found the recently published developmental meta-analysis of bipolar disorder performed by Wegbreit et al. The researchers compared different age groups with bipolar disorder (youths and adults). PBD youths showed increased activation in the amygdala, the inferior frontal gyrus, and precuneus compared to bipolar disorder adults during tasks using emotional stimuli. These findings revealed that these structures are underdeveloped and work less efficiently when compared with those of adults (46). However, our meta-analysis was conducted using the comparison between participants of the same age (participants' mean age is less than 19 years). The central findings of the meta-analyses of brain function among the PBD, HR, and TD groups, during the performance of mixed cognitive and emotional activities, illustrated a coherent pattern of group differences in line with our *a priori* hypothesis. The HR group showed a significantly greater activation in the right DLPFC-insular-parietal-cerebellar regions relative to TD, and this may be a bio-signature - an earlier sign of potential PBD development. At the junction of the DLPFC and VLPFC regions, where prefrontal systems interface in voluntary modulation of cognition, emotion, and motor control, brain function was amplified in the HR group (6, 7). Large future studies of symptomatic HR population (47) and genetic HR population must be compared both at a symptomatic and brain functional level to look at the definitive predictability of symptoms and the correlation of brain activity patterns.

Primary study	Sample size	Age (mean ± standard deviation, years)	Medication status	Task
Cerullo et al. (24)	PBD (11, female = 7), TD (13, female = 6)	Age range: 11–18, PBD: 14.2 ± 1.5, TD: 14.5 ± 1.9	All bipolar participants had been off atypical anti-psychotics for at least 72 h and had undetectable levels of mood stabilizers.	Continuous performance task with a response inhibition component
Chang et al. (25)	PBD (12, all male), TD (10, all male)	Age range: 9–18, PBD: 14.7±3.0, TD: 14.4±3.2	All PBD participants except one were taking medication at the time of the fMRI.	Two-back visuospatial working memory task and an affective task showing emotionally valenced pictures
Deveney et al. ^a (5)	PBD (19, female = 12), HR (13, female = 7), TD (21, female = 8)	PBD: 14.76 ± 2.9, HR: 13.46 ± 1.8, TD: 13.78 ± 2.0	10 of 19 PBD participants were medicated.	Stop signal task
Deveney et al. (26)	PBD (32, female = 17), TD (21, female = 8)	Age range: 8–18, PBD: 14.5±2.5, TD: 13.8±2.0	17 of 32 PBD youths were medicated.	Stop signal task
Dickstein et al. (27)	PBD (16, female = 7), TD (16, female = 7)	Age range: 7–18, PBD: 14.1 ± 2.5, TD: 13.9 ± 2.4	13 of 16 PBD youths were medicated.	Probabilistic reversal task
Dickstein et al. (28)	PBD (23, female = 14), TD (22, female = 12)	PBD: 14.2±3.1, TD: 14.7±2.3	18 of 23 PBD youths were medicated.	Encoding task and subsequent memory tas
Diler et al. (29)	PBD (10, female = 8), TD (10, female = 8)	Age range: 12–17, PBD: 15.6±0.9, TD: 15.6±1.2	7 of 10 youths were medicated.	Emotional face gender-labeling task
Diler et al. (30)	PBD (10, female = 8), TD (10, female = 8)	Age range: 12–17, PBD: 15.6±0.9, TD: 15.6±1.2	All PBD youths were medicated.	Go/no go block design cognitive control task
Garrett et al. (20)	PBD (20, female = 6), TD (21, female = 8)	Age range: 9–17, PBD: 15.63±2.10, TD: 15.35±2.68	Exact total percentage of medicated participants was not shown.	Emotional (happy, sad, and neutral) facial expression
Kim et al.ª (6)	PBD (28, female = 16), HR (13, female = 7), TD (21, female = 8)	Age range: 8–17, PBD: 14.37 ± 2.63, HR: 13.90 ± 2.02, TD: 13.73 ± 1.96	18 of 28 PBD youths were medicated.	The change task
Kim et al. (31)	PBD (18, female = 8), TD (15, female = 10)	Age range: 9–18, PBD: 14.29±2.54, TD: 14.98±2.03	15 of 18 PBD youths were medicated.	Emotional face gender-labeling task
Ladouceur et al.ª (7)	HR (16, female = 7), TD (15, female = 11)	Age range: 8–17, HR: 14.2±2.3, TD: 13.8±2.7	All participants were unmedicated.	Emotional face N-Back task
Leibenluft et al. (32)	PBD (26, female = 14), TD (17, female = 8)	PBD: 13.6 ± 2.6, TD: 14.6 ± 1.8	13 of 26 PBD youths were medicated.	Stop signal task
Mourao- Miranda et al. ^a (8)	HR (16, female = 9), TD (16, female = 9)	Age range: 12–17, HR: 14.8 ± 1.8, TD: 15.3 ± 1.2	All participants were unmedicated.	Emotional face gender-labeling task
Nelson et al. (33)	PBD (25, female = 13), TD (17, female = 8)	Age range: 8–17, PBD: 13.4 ± 2.5, TD: 14.6 ± 1.8	13 of 25 PBD youths were medicated.	The change task
Olsavsky et al. ^a (9)	PBD (32, female = 15), HR (13, female = 6), TD (56, female = 30)	Age range: 8–18, PBD: 14.7±2.7, HR: 14.0±2.4, TD: 14.0±2.6	24 of 32 PBD and 1 of HR youths were medicated.	Emotional face presentation

Table 1 | Primary fMRI studies of participants with pediatric bipolar disorder (PBD), those at high risk (HR) for PBD, and typically developing (TD): children included in meta-analysis.

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

Primary study	Sample size	Age (mean ± standard deviation, years)	Medication status	Task		
Passarotti et al. (34)			8 of 15 PBD youths had been medicated in the past. Patients were drug-free for at least 7 days before testing.	Stop signal task		
Passarotti et al. (22)	PBD (23, female = 13), TD (19, female = 10)	Age range: 10–18, PBD: 13.55±2.48, TD: 13.53±3.16	All participants were medication free or had a washout period of at least 4–7 days before scanning.	Emotional face N-Back task		
Passarotti et al. (35)	PBD (17, female = 11), TD (14, female = 7)	Age range: 10–18, PBD: 14.27±1.98, TD: 14.14±2.42	All participants were medication free or had a washout period.	Emotional valence Stroo _l task		
Passarotti et al. (36)	PBD (17, female = 12), TD (13, female = 7)	Age range: 10–18, PBD: 14.29±2.05, TD: 14.38±3.57	All patients were medication free for at least 7 days prior to scanning.	Emotional face N-Back task		
Pavuluri et al. (37)	PBD (10, female = 4), TD (10, female = 5)	Age range: 12–18, PBD: 14.9 ± 1.85, TD: 14.3 ± 2.36	All participants were unmedicated.	Emotional face presentation		
Pavuluri et al. (21)	PBD (10, female = 5), TD (10, female = 5)	Age range: 12–18, PBD: 15.2 ± 2.0, TD: 14.3 ± 2.1	All participants were unmedicated.	Incidental and directed emotion-processing task		
Pavuluri et al. (38)	PBD (13, female = 3), TD (13, female = 9)	Age range: 10–18, PBD: 14.4±2.2, TD: 14.4±2.8	All patients were medication free for at least 4–7 days prior to scanning.	Response inhibition task		
Pavuluri et al. (39)	PBD (17, female = 11), TD (14, female = 7)	Age range: 12–18, PBD: 14.3 ± 1.1, TD: 14.1 ± 2.4	All participants were unmedicated.	Pediatric affective color matching task		
Rich et al. (23)	PBD (22, female = 12), TD (21, female = 10)	Ager range: 9–17, PBD: 14.2 ± 3.1, TD: 14.5 ± 2.5	18 of 22 PBD youths were medicated.	Emotional face presentation		
Singh et al. (40)	PBD (24, female = 11), TD (24, female = 15)	Age range: 13–18, PBD: 15.7 ± 1.7, TD: 15.0 ± 1.4	20 of 24 PBD participants had a history of medication exposure.	Monetary incentive delay task, affective priming task		
Singh et al. (41)	PBD (26, female = 7), TD (22, female = 9)	Age range: 9–18, PBD: 15.4±2.37, TD: 14.3±2.33	History of medication exposure: valproic acid (13), lithium (8), antidepressants (16), atypical anti-psychotics (6), psychostimulants (14), or more than one medication (16).	Go/no go block design cognitive control task		
Thermenos et al.ª (11)	HR (10, female = 5), TD (10, female = 5)	Age range: 13–24, HR: 18.4 ± 4.2, TD: 17.1 ± 1.4	All participants were unmedicated.	2-back working memory task and 0-back control task		
Weathers et al. (42)	PBD (16, female = 8), TD (21, female = 9)	PBD: 14.65±2.19, TD: 13.79±1.97	9 of 16 PBD youths were medicated. Stop signal t			

^aStudies including HR groups.

Some studies were missing age range information and showed only the mean age. Accordingly, that information could not be included within the table. Specific medications were heterogeneous when reported and at times went unreported. Hence, we were only able to comment on participants' medicated/unmedicated status. Similarly, the mood and affect of participants were also largely unreported and, therefore, could not be included in the table.

A repeated and important observation of hemodynamics of the fMRI studies is the increased activity in the brain that reflects increased effort (48). If one construes TD as the reference point of normative activity, then the HR group showed increased effort to get the same work done by deploying the right DLPFC–insular– parietal regions relative to TD, while in PBD, these same regions went offline relative to TD. This finding is akin to the analogy of "stretching an elastic band" with increased DLPFC activity (requiring a greater effort than TD) in the HR group, whereas those with PBD who had a more severe illness had reached a breaking point with decreased right VLPFC and DLPFC activity (with no effort to spare relative to TD). We could not explain the increased left VLPFC activity in PBD relative to TD. While such a finding is not unexpected in a meta-analytic study, it was largely based upon the

Pairwise analysis	Side	Brain region	BA	Talairach			Cluster size (mm ³)	Extreme value
				x	Y	Z		
HR youths > TD youths	L	Cerebellum, culmen		-8	-50	-26	1472	0.022
(11 experiments)				-14	-36	-22		0.014
				-2	-54	-10	952	0.021
	R	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	9	46	8	22	1048	0.020
	R	Insular cortex	13	38	18	6	472	0.014
	R	Parietal lobe, inferior parietal lobule	40	32	-46	42	464	0.014
HR youths > BD youths	R	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	9	46	8	22	1056	0.020
(6 experiments)	L	Cerebellum		-8	-50	-26	944	0.022
	R	Insular cortex	13	38	18	6	496	0.014
BD > TD (43	R	Amygdala, limbic lobe, parahippocampal gyrus,		26	-2	-12	1120	0.0221
experiments)	R	Frontal lobe, medial prefrontal cortex	10	4	62	14	872	0.030
				12	40	10	568	0.023
	L	Ventral striatum		-16	-12	28	640	0.024
	R	Somatosensory association cortex	7	42	-58	48	576	0.020
				2	-64	56	392	0.019
	L	Cerebellum		-16	-36	-24	560	0.022
	L	Lentiform nucleus, putamen, lateral globus pallidus		-22	6	-4	464	0.018
				-12	4	-6	368	0.017
				-16	-4	-8		0.013
	L	Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex	47	-30	20	-8	336	0.017
	R	Subgenual cingulate cortex	25	2	0	-4	256	0.016
TD > PBD (21	R	Dorsal cingulate cortex	32	2	36	12	1576	0.017
experiments)	R	Dorsal striatum		10	10	6	696	0.014
	R	Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex	47	38	24	-4	336	0.011
	R	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	8	32	24	38	224	0.013
	R	Superior frontal gyrus	10	24	48	2	216	0.011

Table 2 Activation likelihood estimation (ALE) meta-analysis findings for fMRI studies comparing pediatric bipolar disorder (PBD) patients,
participants with a high risk (HR) for PBD, and typically developing (TD) children.

R: right, L: left.

participants of only one study (21). However, it can be explained by bilateral disturbances in the VLPFC in PBD, albeit with the common and prominent right-sided abnormality than the left (32, 37). In the end, while one can postulate with explanations consistent with repeatedly published findings, definitive interpretations are not possible in understanding the nature of abnormal hemodynamic activity. For example, decreased (5) or increased (6) activation of the striatum with failed trials cannot easily differentiate HR from PBD based on any individual study. It could be mediated by the severity of illness in case of PBD, subsyndromal symptoms in HR, type of task, or hemodynamic relationship between the striatum and the PFC control regions.

With regard to recognizing the fully formed illness, typically noted underactivity of the higher cortical regions of emotion modulation (i.e., the interfacing dyad of the right VLPFC and DLPFC in the prefrontal regions) and overactivity of the subcortical amygdala consistently reported in BD Type I participants relative to TD adolescents (19) has also emerged as a significant finding in the current meta-analyses. The VLPFC is believed to serve the dual function of emotion (49) and motor (50) control via top–down regulation of the amygdala (51) and striatum (52), respectively. The DLPFC also serves a dual function, but it is predominantly through diverse cognitive functions involving executive control, response selection, problem solving, and emotion (53), and by being closely connected to the medial PFC, VLPFC, and the subcortical regions directly (54) as well as indirectly (52). The cognitive and emotion control regions in the PFC are not able to moderate the overactive subcortical regions, a consistent finding that was further underscored in our meta-analysis. In addition to the top-down affect modulation circuitry problems, increased activity is lateralized to the left side in the evaluative medial PFC, pregenual ACC, and the striatal loop (55); furthermore, all these regions are known to be closely connected to the amygdala (56). This subcortical and medial PFC loop is the affective evaluation circuit that is overactive in PBD. These findings could explain the excessive reactivity to negative emotions reported in PBD (21, 57) and are also in line with the concept suggested for bipolar disorder in general, including adult patients. Phillips and Swartz conceptualized bipolar disorder as multiple dysfunctions in prefrontal hippocampal-amygdala, emotion processing,



analysis. (**A**) High-risk youth > typically developing youth. (**B**) High-risk youth > youth with bipolar disorder. (**C**) Youth with bipolar disorder > typically developing youth. (**D**) Typically developing youth > youth with bipolar disorder. (**A**) DLPFC: dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, x = 46, y = 8, z = 22, cluster

size = 1048 mm³, extreme value = 0.020; **(B)** DLPFC: x = 46, y = 8, z = 22, cluster size = 1056 mm³, extreme value = 0.020; **(C)** Amygdala: x = 26, y = -2, z = -12, cluster size = 1120 mm³, extreme value = 0.022; **(D)** DLPFC: x = 32, y = 24, z = 38, cluster size = 224 mm³, extreme value = 0.013; VLPFC: ventrolateral prefrontal cortex.

and emotion-regulation circuits, together with an "overactive," left-sided ventral striatal-ventrolateral, and orbitofrontal cortical reward-processing circuit (58). These results attest to the fact that, in relative terms of group comparison from fMRI studies, cognitive DLPFC and the corresponding dorsal circuitry hub that includes the parietal region and the insula are more involved in the HR population, while the wider multiple cortico (VLPFC, DLPFC, and

medial PFC) and subcortical (limbic and basal ganglia) regions are implicated in PBD.

Published structural and fMRI studies of HR have not been conclusive and are limited to a comparison with the TD at times (7, 11). Singh et al. (59) reported that 8- to 12-year-old children with a familial risk for mania did not exhibit any statistically significant volumetric differences in the PFC, thalamus, striatum, or amygdala compared with the TD group. However, they concluded that longitudinal studies will be needed to examine whether structural changes over time may be associated with a HR for BD (59). Bechdolf et al. (60) reported volume reduction in emotion-processing regions (i.e., the insula and amygdala) in HR, relative to TD, that corresponded to the functional abnormality involving increased amygdala activity in HR (9). While we found abnormal function in the insula in HR in this meta-analysis, three-way comparison did not reveal increased amygdala activity in HR. Existing studies consistently reported smaller amygdala and hippocampus (61), larger basal ganglia (62), and reduced PFC gray matter (63) in PBD. Hemodynamic (64) and resting state connectivity (65) findings in PBD relative to TD also point to frontolimbic and frontostriatal functional disturbance in PBD. Such uniformity in multi-modal imaging findings attests to the high reliability in establishing a significant pattern of brain dysfunction specific to PBD.

Limitations of this study include fewer and unequal numbers of participants in the HR group and the inclusion of studies that employed variable tasks used to probe multiple domains. However, due to the broad array of daily functions that draws from the active involvement of multiple and highly integrated networks, and the dual engagement of VLPFC, DLPFC, ACC, and the striatum in both cognitive and emotional tasks, this study was a reasonable first attempt to examine the entire brain's level of functionality from the existing data.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the authors of the included published papers for their important contributions to the field. Support for this work was provided by endowed funds by the Colbeth Foundation and Berger-Colbeth Chair funds. All authors had full access to the data in the study. Dr. Pavuluri takes responsibility for directing the analysis and interpretation of the data. Dr. Moon-Soo Lee ensured the accuracy of the data analysis. Drs. Anumagalla, Talluri, and Lee entered the data and checked them for accuracy. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied following the full consensus of all authors.

REFERENCES

- Baldessarini RJ, Tondo L, Vazquez GH, Undurraga J, Bolzani L, Yildiz A, et al. Age at onset versus family history and clinical outcomes in 1,665 international bipolar-I disorder patients. *World Psychiatry* (2012) 11(1):40–6. doi:10.1016/j. wpsyc.2012.01.006
- Wozniak J, Petty CR, Schreck M, Moses A, Faraone SV, Biederman J. High level of persistence of pediatric bipolar-I disorder from childhood onto adolescent years: a four year prospective longitudinal follow-up study. *J Psychiatr Res* (2011) 45(10):1273–82. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.006
- Phillips ML, Kupfer DJ. Bipolar disorder diagnosis: challenges and future directions. *Lancet* (2013) 381(9878):1663–71. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13) 60989-7
- Chang K, Karchemskiy A, Kelley R, Howe M, Garrett A, Adleman N, et al. Effect of divalproex on brain morphometry, chemistry, and function in youth at highrisk for bipolar disorder: a pilot study. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol* (2009) 19(1):51–9. doi:10.1089/cap.2008.060
- Deveney CM, Connolly ME, Jenkins SE, Kim P, Fromm SJ, Brotman MA, et al. Striatal dysfunction during failed motor inhibition in children at risk for bipolar disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 38(2):127–33. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.02.014
- Kim P, Jenkins SE, Connolly ME, Deveney CM, Fromm SJ, Brotman MA, et al. Neural correlates of cognitive flexibility in children at risk for bipolar disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* (2012) 46(1):22–30. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.09.015

- Ladouceur CD, Diwadkar VA, White R, Bass J, Birmaher B, Axelson DA, et al. Fronto-limbic function in unaffected offspring at familial risk for bipolar disorder during an emotional working memory paradigm. *Dev Cogn Neurosci* (2013) 5:185–96. doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2013.03.004
- Mourao-Miranda J, Oliveira L, Ladouceur CD, Marquand A, Brammer M, Birmaher B, et al. Pattern recognition and functional neuroimaging help to discriminate healthy adolescents at risk for mood disorders from low risk adolescents. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e29482. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029482
- Olsavsky AK, Brotman MA, Rutenberg JG, Muhrer EJ, Deveney CM, Fromm SJ, et al. Amygdala hyperactivation during face emotion processing in unaffected youth at risk for bipolar disorder. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2012) 51(3):294–303. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.12.008
- Roberts G, Green MJ, Breakspear M, McCormack C, Frankland A, Wright A, et al. Reduced inferior frontal gyrus activation during response inhibition to emotional stimuli in youth at high risk of bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(1):55–61. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.11.004
- 11. Thermenos HW, Makris N, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Brown AB, Giuliano AJ, Lee EH, et al. A functional MRI study of working memory in adolescents and young adults at genetic risk for bipolar disorder: preliminary findings. *Bipolar Disord* (2011) 13(3):272–86. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2011.00920.x
- Kober H, Wager TD. Meta-analysis of neuroimaging data. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci (2010) 1(2):293–300. doi:10.1002/wcs.41
- Eickhoff SB, Laird AR, Grefkes C, Wang LE, Zilles K, Fox PT. Coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of neuroimaging data: a randomeffects approach based on empirical estimates of spatial uncertainty. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2009) **30**(9):2907–26. doi:10.1002/hbm.20718
- Turkeltaub PE, Eickhoff SB, Laird AR, Fox M, Wiener M, Fox P. Minimizing within-experiment and within-group effects in activation likelihood estimation meta-analyses. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2012) 33(1):1–13. doi:10.1002/hbm.21186
- Andreasen NC. Linking mind and brain in the study of mental illnesses: a project for a scientific psychopathology. *Science* (1997) 275(5306):1586–93. doi:10.1126/science.275.5306.1586
- Kupferschmidt DA, Zakzanis KK. Toward a functional neuroanatomical signature of bipolar disorder: quantitative evidence from the neuroimaging literature. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) **193**(2):71–9. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.02.011
- Pavuluri MN, Sweeney JA. Integrating functional brain neuroimaging and developmental cognitive neuroscience in child psychiatry research. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2008) 47(11):1273–88. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e318185d2d1
- Panksepp J. At the interface of the affective, behavioral, and cognitive neurosciences: decoding the emotional feelings of the brain. *Brain Cogn* (2003) 52(1):4–14. doi:10.1016/S0278-2626(03)00003-4
- Pavuluri MN, O'Connor MM, Harral EM, Sweeney JA. An fMRI study of the interface between affective and cognitive neural circuitry in pediatric bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res* (2008) 162(3):244–55. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2007. 10.003
- Garrett AS, Reiss AL, Howe ME, Kelley RG, Singh MK, Adleman NE, et al. Abnormal amygdala and prefrontal cortex activation to facial expressions in pediatric bipolar disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2012) 51(8):821–31. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.06.005
- Pavuluri MN, Passarotti AM, Harral EM, Sweeney JA. An fMRI study of the neural correlates of incidental versus directed emotion processing in pediatric bipolar disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2009) 48(3):308–19. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181948fc7
- Passarotti AM, Sweeney JA, Pavuluri MN. Emotion processing influences working memory circuits in pediatric bipolar disorder and attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 49(10):1064–80. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.07.009
- 23. Rich BA, Vinton DT, Roberson-Nay R, Hommer RE, Berghorst LH, McClure EB, et al. Limbic hyperactivation during processing of neutral facial expressions in children with bipolar disorder. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) **103**(23):8900–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603246103
- Cerullo MA, Adler CM, Lamy M, Eliassen JC, Fleck DE, Strakowski SM, et al. Differential brain activation during response inhibition in bipolar and attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorders. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2009) 3(3):189–97. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7893.2009.00132.x
- Chang K, Adleman NE, Dienes K, Simeonova DI, Menon V, Reiss A. Anomalous prefrontal-subcortical activation in familial pediatric bipolar disorder: a functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2004) 61(8):781–92. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.61.8.781

- 26. Deveney CM, Connolly ME, Jenkins SE, Kim P, Fromm SJ, Pine DS, et al. Neural recruitment during failed motor inhibition differentiates youths with bipolar disorder and severe mood dysregulation. *Biol Psychol* (2012) **89**(1):148–55. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.10.003
- 27. Dickstein DP, Finger EC, Skup M, Pine DS, Blair JR, Leibenluft E. Altered neural function in pediatric bipolar disorder during reversal learning. *Bipolar Disord* (2010) **12**(7):707–19. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2010.00863.x
- 28. Dickstein DP, Rich BA, Roberson-Nay R, Berghorst L, Vinton D, Pine DS, et al. Neural activation during encoding of emotional faces in pediatric bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2007) **9**(7):679–92. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007. 00418.x
- 29. Diler RS, Ladouceur CD, Segreti A, Almeida JR, Birmaher B, Axelson DA, et al. Neural correlates of treatment response in depressed bipolar adolescents during emotion processing. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2013) 7(2):227–35. doi:10.1007/s11682-012-9219-7
- Diler RS, Segreti AM, Ladouceur CD, Almeida JR, Birmaher B, Axelson DA, et al. Neural correlates of treatment in adolescents with bipolar depression during response inhibition. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol (2013) 23(3):214–21. doi:10.1089/cap.2012.0054
- 31. Kim P, Thomas LA, Rosen BH, Moscicki AM, Brotman MA, Zarate CA Jr, et al. Differing amygdala responses to facial expressions in children and adults with bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) **169**(6):642–9. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 2012.11081245
- 32. Leibenluft E, Rich BA, Vinton DT, Nelson EE, Fromm SJ, Berghorst LH, et al. Neural circuitry engaged during unsuccessful motor inhibition in pediatric bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry (2007) 164(1):52–60. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 164.1.52
- 33. Nelson EE, Vinton DT, Berghorst L, Towbin KE, Hommer RE, Dickstein DP, et al. Brain systems underlying response flexibility in healthy and bipolar adolescents: an event-related fMRI study. *Bipolar Disord* (2007) 9(8):810–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00419.x
- Passarotti AM, Sweeney JA, Pavuluri MN. Neural correlates of response inhibition in pediatric bipolar disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res* (2010) 181(1):36–43. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.07.002
- 35. Passarotti AM, Sweeney JA, Pavuluri MN. Differential engagement of cognitive and affective neural systems in pediatric bipolar disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2010) 16(1):106–17. doi:10.1017/S1355617709991019
- Passarotti AM, Sweeney JA, Pavuluri MN. Fronto-limbic dysfunction in mania pre-treatment and persistent amygdala over-activity post-treatment in pediatric bipolar disorder. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2011) 216(4):485–99. doi:10.1007/ s00213-011-2243-2
- Pavuluri MN, O'Connor MM, Harral E, Sweeney JA. Affective neural circuitry during facial emotion processing in pediatric bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(2):158–67. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.07.011
- Pavuluri MN, Passarotti AM, Harral EM, Sweeney JA. Enhanced prefrontal function with pharmacotherapy on a response inhibition task in adolescent bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry (2010) 71(11):1526–34. doi:10.4088/JCP. 09m05504yel
- 39. Pavuluri MN, Passarotti AM, Parnes SA, Fitzgerald JM, Sweeney JA. A pharmacological functional magnetic resonance imaging study probing the interface of cognitive and emotional brain systems in pediatric bipolar disorder. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol* (2010) 20(5):395–406. doi:10.1089/cap.2009.0105
- Singh MK, Chang KD, Kelley RG, Cui X, Sherdell L, Howe ME, et al. Reward processing in adolescents with bipolar I disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2013) 52(1):68–83. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.10.004
- Singh MK, Chang KD, Mazaika P, Garrett A, Adleman N, Kelley R, et al. Neural correlates of response inhibition in pediatric bipolar disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol (2010) 20(1):15–24. doi:10.1089/cap.2009.0004
- 42. Weathers JD, Stringaris A, Deveney CM, Brotman MA, Zarate CA Jr, Connolly ME, et al. A developmental study of the neural circuitry mediating motor inhibition in bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) **169**(6):633–41. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11081244
- Eickhoff SB, Bzdok D, Laird AR, Kurth F, Fox PT. Activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis revisited. *Neuroimage* (2012) 59(3):2349–61. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2011.09.017
- Brett M, Johnsrude IS, Owen AM. The problem of functional localization in the human brain. Nat Rev Neurosci (2002) 3(3):243–9. doi:10.1038/nrn756

- 45. Laird AR, Fox PM, Price CJ, Glahn DC, Uecker AM, Lancaster JL, et al. ALE metaanalysis: controlling the false discovery rate and performing statistical contrasts. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2005) 25(1):155–64. doi:10.1002/hbm.20136
- Wegbreit E, Cushman GK, Puzia ME, Weissman AB, Kim KL, Laird AR, et al. Developmental meta-analyses of the functional neural correlates of bipolar disorder. JAMA Psychiatry (2014) 71(8):926–35. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2014.660
- 47. Correll CU, Hauser M, Penzner JB, Auther AM, Kafantaris V, Saito E, et al. Type and duration of subsyndromal symptoms in youth with bipolar I disorder prior to their first manic episode. *Bipolar Disord* (2014) **16**(5):478–92. doi:10.1111/bdi.12194
- 48. Pavuluri M. Neurobiology of bipolar disorder in youth: brain domain dysfunction is translated to decode the pathophysiology and understand the nuances of the clinical manifestation. In: Strakowski SM, DelBello MP, Adler CM, editors. *Bipolar Disorder in Youth*. New York: Oxford University Press (2014). p. 282–304.
- Passarotti AM, Sweeney JA, Pavuluri MN. Neural correlates of incidental and directed facial emotion processing in adolescents and adults. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci (2009) 4(4):387–98. doi:10.1093/scan/nsp029
- Goya-Maldonado R, Walther S, Simon J, Stippich C, Weisbrod M, Kaiser S. Motor impulsivity and the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. *Psychiatry Res* (2010) 183(1):89–91. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.04.006
- Banks SJ, Eddy KT, Angstadt M, Nathan PJ, Phan KL. Amygdala-frontal connectivity during emotion regulation. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci (2007) 2(4):303–12. doi:10.1093/scan/nsm029
- Leh SE, Ptito A, Chakravarty MM, Strafella AP. Fronto-striatal connections in the human brain: a probabilistic diffusion tractography study. *Neurosci Lett* (2007) 419(2):113–8. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2007.04.049
- Duncan J, Owen AM. Common regions of the human frontal lobe recruited by diverse cognitive demands. *Trends Neurosci* (2000) 23(10):475–83. doi:10.1016/ S0166-2236(00)01633-7
- Chudasama Y, Robbins TW. Functions of frontostriatal systems in cognition: comparative neuropsychopharmacological studies in rats, monkeys and humans. *Biol Psychol* (2006) 73(1):19–38. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2006.01.005
- 55. Rogers RD, Ramnani N, Mackay C, Wilson JL, Jezzard P, Carter CS, et al. Distinct portions of anterior cingulate cortex and medial prefrontal cortex are activated by reward processing in separable phases of decision-making cognition. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55(6):594–602. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.11.012
- Cavada C, Company T, Tejedor J, Cruz-Rizzolo RJ, Reinoso-Suarez F. The anatomical connections of the macaque monkey orbitofrontal cortex. A review. *Cereb Cortex* (2000) 10(3):220–42. doi:10.1093/cercor/10.3.220
- Rich BA, Holroyd T, Carver FW, Onelio LM, Mendoza JK, Cornwell BR, et al. A preliminary study of the neural mechanisms of frustration in pediatric bipolar disorder using magnetoencephalography. *Depress Anxiety* (2010) 27(3):276–86. doi:10.1002/da.20649
- Phillips ML, Swartz HA. A critical appraisal of neuroimaging studies of bipolar disorder: toward a new conceptualization of underlying neural circuitry and a road map for future research. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) **171**(8):829–43. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13081008
- Singh MK, Delbello MP, Adler CM, Stanford KE, Strakowski SM. Neuroanatomical characterization of child offspring of bipolar parents. JAm Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2008) 47(5):526–31. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e318167655a
- 60. Bechdolf A, Wood SJ, Nelson B, Velakoulis D, Yucel M, Takahashi T, et al. Amygdala and insula volumes prior to illness onset in bipolar disorder: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) 201(1):34–9. doi:10.1016/ j.pscychresns.2011.06.010
- Blumberg HP, Kaufman J, Martin A, Whiteman R, Zhang JH, Gore JC, et al. Amygdala and hippocampal volumes in adolescents and adults with bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2003) 60(12):1201–8. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.12. 1201
- 62. DelBello MP, Zimmerman ME, Mills NP, Getz GE, Strakowski SM. Magnetic resonance imaging analysis of amygdala and other subcortical brain regions in adolescents with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2004) **6**(1):43–52. doi:10.1046/j.1399-5618.2003.00087.x
- 63. Dickstein DP, Milham MP, Nugent AC, Drevets WC, Charney DS, Pine DS, et al. Frontotemporal alterations in pediatric bipolar disorder: results of a voxel-based morphometry study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) **62**(7):734–41. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.7.734

64. Wegbreit E, Passarotti AM, Ellis JA, Wu M, Witowski N, Fitzgerald JM, et al. Where, when, how high, and how long? The hemodynamics of emotional response in psychotropic-naive patients with adolescent bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord* (2013) 147(1–3):304–11. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.11.025

 Wu M, Lu LH, Passarotti AM, Wegbreit E, Fitzgerald J, Pavuluri MN. Altered affective, executive and sensorimotor resting state networks in patients with pediatric mania. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2013) 38(4):232–40. doi:10.1503/jpn. 120073

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 June 2014; accepted: 24 September 2014; published online: 03 November 2014.

Citation: Lee M-S, Anumagalla P, Talluri P and Pavuluri MN (2014) Meta-analyses of developing brain function in high-risk and emerged bipolar disorder. Front. Psychiatry 5:141. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00141

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2014 Lee, Anumagalla, Talluri and Pavuluri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Stress, inflammation, and cellular vulnerability during early stages of affective disorders: biomarker strategies and opportunities for prevention and intervention

Adam J. Walker^{1,2}, Yesul Kim^{1,2}, J. Blair Price¹, Rajas P. Kale^{1,3}, Jane A. McGillivray², Michael Berk^{4,5,6,7} and Susannah J. Tye^{1,2,8}*

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

² School of Psychology, Deakin University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

³ School of Engineering, Deakin University, Geelong, VIC, Australia

⁴ School of Medicine, Deakin University, Geelong, VIC, Australia

⁵ Department of Psychiatry, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

⁶ Orygen Youth Health Research Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

⁷ The Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

⁸ Department of Psychiatry, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

Edited by:

Stephanie Ameis, University of Toronto, Canada

Reviewed by:

Vilma Gabbay, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, USA Ellen Grishman, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Susannah J. Tye, Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, 200 First Street SW, Rochester, MN 55905, USA e-mail: tye.susannah@mayo.edu The mood disorder prodrome is conceptualized as a symptomatic, but not yet clinically diagnosable stage of an affective disorder. Although a growing area, more focused research is needed in the pediatric population to better characterize psychopathological symptoms and biological markers that can reliably identify this very early stage in the evolution of mood disorder pathology. Such information will facilitate early prevention and intervention, which has the potential to affect a person's disease course. This review focuses on the prodromal characteristics, risk factors, and neurobiological mechanisms of mood disorders. In particular, we consider the influence of early-life stress, inflammation, and allostatic load in mediating neural mechanisms of neuroprogression. These inherently modifiable factors have known neuroadaptive and neurodegenerative implications, and consequently may provide useful biomarker targets. Identification of these factors early in the course of the disease will accordingly allow for the introduction of early interventions which augment an individual's capacity for psychological resilience through maintenance of synaptic integrity and cellular resilience. A targeted and complementary approach to boosting both psychological and physiological resilience simultaneously during the prodromal stage of mood disorder pathology has the greatest promise for optimizing the neurodevelopmental potential of those individuals at risk of disabling mood disorders.

Keywords: prodrome, depression, bipolar, biomarker, stress, inflammation, cellular resilience, plasticity

INTRODUCTION

There is increasing appreciation for the need to both identify and treat mood disorders during their earliest stages (1). Although some dispute remains, maladaptive changes in mood and behavior first become evident during the prodromal period (2). However, the low specificity of these changes makes the prodromal stage difficult to definitively characterize prior to disease onset (3). Observable changes in mood and general physiologic functioning can include increases in sadness, anhedonia, irritability, anger, and anxiety, together with alterations in sleep and energy (4). Correlating these symptoms with prodromal biomarkers offers an exciting juncture whereby targeted interventions could be opportunistically employed to prevent neurodegenerative changes from accruing as the disease progresses (5). The potential to intervene during the prodromal stage of psychiatric illness through the detection and remediation of novel biomarkers has perhaps been best studied in schizophrenia, wherein most individuals experience a lengthy prodromal period prior to the full emergence of diagnosable psychotic symptoms (6). As an exemplar, low levels of nervonic acid appear to be a risk factor for conversion from

high-risk to frank psychosis (7), and this risk of conversion may be reduced by targeted omega-3 fatty acid supplementation (8). Encouraging results from this work have renewed interest in the early detection of affective disorders, particularly bipolar disorder, with the hope that earlier and more targeted interventions might slow disease progression (3, 9–12). This can significantly impact neuroprogression and subsequent disease course for the individual (13). This concept of "neuroprogression" refers to the cumulative restructuring of the central nervous system which in turn mediates the development and persistence of psychiatric illness (14, 15). This process results from disturbances in inflammatory mediators, neurotrophins, oxidative stress, and energy regulation (14, 15).

BIOMARKER STRATEGIES FOR PRODROMAL MOOD DISORDERS

STRESS AND ALLOSTATIC LOAD Stress sensitization and early detection

Stress is one of the best-studied mediators by which genetic vulnerabilities are translated into mood disorder pathology through the process of neuroprogression (16–18). Numerous studies have demonstrated that both depression and bipolar disorder are more prevalent in individuals who have experienced adverse early-life events. This is partly because such experiences prime future physiologic and neural responses to stress, elicit a state of chronic inflammation (19), alter cellular mediators of plasticity and energy metabolism, and increase cellular "wear and tear" (20-22). Earlylife stress (2) can be particularly deleterious because of its potential to influence the programing of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis (23) to induce persistent sensitization of neuroendocrine, autonomic, oxidative, and immune responses to stress. Over time these sensitized systems cumulatively contribute to the cellular and synaptic alterations underlying neuroprogression (21, 24-26). Specific examples include changes in reactivity of inflammatory cytokines [e.g., interleukin 6 (IL-6)] (25), alterations in markers for lipid peroxidation [e.g., 8-iso-prostaglandin $F(2\alpha)$], oxidative damage to DNA (8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine) and RNA (8-hydroxyguanosine) (24), as well as altered cortisol, adrenocorticotropic hormone, and corticotrophin releasing factor responses (26). Identification of the state of physiologic and cellular resilience or sensitivity to stress may provide an important indicator of the level of neuroprogression and stress-mediated disease pathology for affective disorders, potentially prior to the initial manifestation of the mood episode (22).

One mechanism whereby HPA axis sensitization is likely to occur is through epigenetic regulation of stress response processes (21, 27). Evidence shows that exposure to various forms of stress result in multiple epigenetic changes in limbic regions as well as the HPA axis (21, 27). Interestingly, a recent study by Klendel and colleagues (18) found that only individuals who exhibited allele-specific DNA demethylation in functional glucocorticoid response elements of FK506 binding protein 5 (FKBP5), were prone to developing persistent cortisol dysregulation (18, 21). Further, this association was found to be dependent on an interaction effect with trauma in early life, suggesting that key developmental stages are directly related to stability of the observed effects across time (18). In another study, significant interactions between peripheral FKBP5 mRNA expression and disease progression were reported, suggesting that polymorphisms in the gene directly impact the extent of neuroendocrine dysregulation, and corresponding neuroprogression (28). The FKBP5 risk allele and corresponding levels of mRNA expression may represent useful biomarkers. These markers could be employed to identify individuals in the prodromal stages of stress-sensitive psychiatric disorders, such as major depression or bipolar disorder. Such detection would facilitate early intervention and could improve resilience and alleviate allostatic load in the prodromal individual.

Early-life stress and accumulation of allostatic load

Accumulation of allostatic load is a key mechanism through which early-life stress is thought to result in psychopathology (29). This is mediated via a series of enduring adaptive changes across a range of systems primed both to respond rapidly to challenge, as well as to restore homeostatic equilibrium (30). Adaptive allostatic mechanisms may fail when chronically challenged or when regulatory systems falter. This leads to a state of allostatic overload, which is thought to considerably impact the clinical course of mood disorders (31–33). Without sufficient opportunity for recovery, the brain and body are repeatedly exposed to molecular mediators of stress that can increase the level of cellular "wear and tear" (33). These mediators, which include metabolic factors, inflammatory cytokines, neurotrophins, and oxidative species, collectively impact an individual's mental and physical resilience as outlined below [for more detailed reviews see Ref. (6, 34, 35)]. Both physiological (i.e., immune and/or metabolic) and psychological (i.e., bullying) stressors contribute significantly to allostatic load, and thus need to be considered together when assessing both risk and relative staging of mood disorder pathology (6, 34).

Enhancing an individual's capacity to buffer the physiologic toll that accumulates through allostatic overload should be considered an important early intervention strategy. As allostatic load accumulates and attempts to maintain cellular homeostasis fail, cell danger signals are propagated and pro-apoptotic cell signaling pathways become increasingly engaged (36-39). This may play a role in medical comorbidities such as heart disease (40), as well as interfere with the therapeutic mechanisms of antidepressants and mood stabilizers to impair treatment efficacy (41-43). Internal stressors that activate the HPA axis and associated allostatic systems can limit an individual's capacity for allostasis even prior to the onset of external stressors (36). For example, an endogenous load can build through the expression of homocysteine or inflammatory cytokines, limiting the capacity of adaptive responses in the face of subsequent stressors. Interventions that counter this load and reduce levels of proinflammatory mediators or interfere with their neuromodulatory actions could limit neuroprogression in both bipolar and unipolar depression, as well as enhance capacity for antidepressant efficacy (44-46).

INFLAMMATORY PROFILE

Stress during earlier life is not only associated with disruption of the HPA axis, but may also serve to sensitize proinflammatory responses to future insults (47-49). Inflammatory mechanisms are increasingly appreciated for their critical role in mood disorder pathophysiology, in particular via their regulation of neuronal excitability, synaptic transmission, synaptic plasticity and neuronal survival (41, 50, 51). Of specific interest are proinflammatory mediators, such as cytokines [i.e., interleukin 1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a)] and C-reactive protein (CRP). CRP is often used as a biomarker for inflammation in studies due to its relationship with proinflammatory cytokines and role in the immune response. As demonstrated by Slopen and colleagues (49), individuals at ages 10 and 15 who reported adverse life events at critical stages between the ages of 1.5 and 8 years were found to have significantly increased levels of CRP and IL-6. These heightened concentrations were correlated with immune activation and depressive-like symptoms. Notably, increased CRP levels have been used previously to predict depression severity and recurrence rates in males (48, 52).

There is a growing literature supporting the use of inflammatory biomarkers as predictors of ensuing mood disorder pathology (22). Research to date has been focused on investigating the relationship between inflammatory cytokines and affective disorders in adults; however, their specific role in early onset/adolescent psychopathology is less well explored (53). Cytokines are thought to influence neurodevelopment during key stages, such as adolescence, interacting with biological systems including those of stress hormones and gonadal hormones (53). As such, perturbation of inflammatory balance in adolescents may significantly contribute to neuroprogression and development of psychiatric illness (19, 53, 54). For example, elevated serum levels of TNF- α , IL-6, and interleukin-10 (IL-10) have been reported during the early stages of bipolar disorder (55), and CRP appears to be a biomarker of *de novo* depression risk (56).

As the mood disorder pathology progresses, an increasing number of proinflammatory cytokines are observed, including elevated levels of interferon gamma (IFN-γ) (22, 54, 55). Notably, increases in IFN- γ are associated with dysregulation of the tryptophan metabolite pathway via direct role in indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) activation. Activation of IDO is commonly found in later stages of mood disorders, and is a biomarker of depression-like behavior mediated by neural inflammation in animal models (48). Proinflammatory cytokines activate IDO, resulting in depletion of serotonin and augmentation of quinolinic acid (QUIN) metabolism over kynurenic acid (KYNA). Tryptophan metabolites (kynurenine, KYNA, 3-hydroxykynurenine, and QUIN) act as neuromodulators to influence behavioral, neuroendocrine, and neurochemical aspects of depression (57-60). Consequently, this accumulation of QUIN facilitates neurodegeneration over neuroprotection, impacting mood disorder neuroprogression and resultant disability (61).

It is noteworthy to mention several other findings regarding altered inflammation in youth with psychiatric pathology. Increased mRNA and protein expression levels of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF- α were reported in the anterior prefrontal cortex of adolescent suicide victims compared with normal control subjects (62). Elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines (among others: TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IFN- γ) were also observed in the serum of pediatric patients who experienced first-episode psychosis, in addition to increased leukocyte counts and evidence of blood-brain barrier damage (63). Quantification of inflammatory biomarkers (e.g., TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10, or CRP) may thus prove useful for detecting individuals at risk for developing a mood disorder. A recent study by Byrne and colleagues (64) suggests that levels of peripheral cytokines (e.g., IFN- γ) and CRP in salivary samples may correlate with serum samples in young people. Salivary assay may prove to be a simpler, less invasive method of estimating peripheral levels of inflammatory markers in adolescents (64). This provides one avenue whereby prodromal individuals could potentially be identified and their disease onset delayed.

DIMINISHED SYNAPTIC INTEGRITY

Homeostatic control of synaptic connections within key moodrelated circuits plays a critical role in the etiology of mood disorders (65). Stress and inflammation as discussed in previous sections are implicated in disruption of synaptic signaling and integrity during the early stages of mood disorder pathogenesis. This is mediated in part through the inhibition of neurotrophin function, of which brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is the most thoroughly characterized. BDNF plays an important role in neuronal development, survival, and function, including activity-dependent synaptic plasticity (66). Synaptic plasticity is characterized by various processes, including synaptic remodeling, synaptogenesis, long-term potentiation, and long-term depression, all of which critically mediate the flow of electrochemical information throughout the central nervous system (67, 68). Stress, allostatic load, inflammation, antidepressants, and mood stabilizers exert major effects on signaling pathways that regulate cellular plasticity, suggesting these are critical neurobiological mediators of mood dysfunction and therapeutic intervention (69–72).

Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3), part of the signaling cascade regulated by BDNF, plays an important role in synaptic homeostasis through regulation of synaptic deconsolidation (pruning) and glutamate receptor cycling (73). Increased GSK-3-mediated synaptic deconsolidation has been suggested to be an important factor contributing to reduced spine density in mood disorders (74). Additionally, levels of activated GSK-3 are increased in postmortem brain tissue from individuals with unipolar and bipolar depression (74). In addition to BDNF, GSK-3 is deactivated by signals originating from numerous signaling pathways demonstrated to be dysregulated in mood disorders (e.g., Wnt and PI3K pathways), and is either the direct or downstream target of many mood stabilizer and antidepressant medications (75). GSK-3 activity is modulated by serotonin and dopamine, and is a critical node at the intersection of multiple neurotransmitter and cell signaling cascades (68). As a result, GSK-3 modulates not only synaptic plasticity but also apoptotic mechanisms and, in turn, plays a critical role in mediating cellular resilience (75). For this reason, GSK-3 has received much attention for its potential to be targeted as an early intervention strategy during the prodrome period.

IDENTIFYING IMPAIRED CELLULAR RESILIENCE

Stress, allostatic overload, and neuroinflammation function together to impair synaptic plasticity and cellular resilience. Disrupted plasticity along with increased cellular vulnerability contributes significantly to the pathophysiology of mood disorders and directly to the neuroprogressive nature of the disease course (3, 76). Some of the key mechanisms of disease progression affecting cellular resilience include: oxidative stress, decreased neurotrophic factor expression, reduced neurogenesis, impaired regulation of calcium, altered endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial function, together with dysregulated energy metabolism and insulin signaling. Each of these mechanisms are mediated by allostatic overload and neuroinflammation [for detailed reviews see Ref. (3, 36, 76–78)]. Together, these processes demonstrate that in addition to synaptic integrity, maintenance of cellular homeostasis is critical for facilitating cellular resilience and attenuating mood disorder pathogenesis (79), which is also likely to enhance the capacity for treatment response during later stages of the disorder (80).

Cellular vulnerability and resilience are mediated by apoptotic and anti-apoptotic intracellular signaling cascades, respectively. Apoptosis is important for the regulation of developmental processes and prevention of cancerous growths. Excessive apoptosis in neuronal systems, however, leads to neurodegeneration and certain cell populations are at increased risk of stress-mediated apoptotic cell death (80). Apoptosis is a tightly regulated and energy-dependent process, which coordinates programed cell death in response to different stimuli (81). This can occur through stimulation of death receptor proteins

Early stage affective disorders

[i.e., tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor] by cytokines of the TNF superfamily or in response to mitochondrial degradation. These stimuli result in activation of executioner caspases that function to coordinate cellular process necessary for apoptosis, including cessation of cell repair processes and cell cycle progression, cytoskeletal and nuclear disassembly, and flagging the cell for phagocytosis (82). Distinct classes of antidepressants and mood stabilizers have been demonstrated to facilitate cellular resilience to prevent progression of pro-apoptotic processes, and novel treatments are currently being developed to target these specific mechanisms (83). Biomarkers that characterize the level of neuronal vulnerability relative to resilience may prove useful as biomarkers of prodromal mood disorder pathology. This has been demonstrated for later stages of bipolar disorder (84), however more studies are needed to determine the utility of such cell danger biomarkers during the mood disorder prodrome (22).

OPPORTUNITIES FOR PREVENTION AND INTERVENTION

IDENTIFYING VULNERABILITIES AND BUILDING RESILIENCE AT THE CELLULAR LEVEL

Identification of individuals at risk of developing a mood disorder, or those in the prodromal stage, provides a potential opportunity to target these mechanisms for neuroprotective interventions that enhance cellular resilience, maintain synaptic plasticity and boost psychological resilience (Figure 1) (85). One of the longest held notions of brain plasticity is that certain critical periods or windows exist in development, during which circuitry is consolidated for lifetime functionality. Recently, there is a rising consensus that developmentally induced plasticity can, to an extent, be reversed by "re-opening" those windows of plasticity (86). Hyman and Nestler (87) have underscored the importance of shifting the brain into an "adaptive state" to necessitate the antidepressant response. Their theory of "initiation and adaption" is exemplified by psychotropic drugs wherein primary molecular targets that initiate alterations in brain function activate homeostatic mechanisms that return the system to an adaptive and treatment responsive state (87). Plasticity and cellular resilience are thus necessary for the efficacy of antidepressants and mood stabilizing treatments. McGorry and colleagues (6, 88) and others (89) have demonstrated this concept with pre-psychotic interventions, and repeatedly emphasized the need to take advantage of the "windows of opportunity" present within the prodromal stages of psychiatric disease (6, 88, 89). During this stage, the course of the disease remains theoretically plastic and amenable to intervention (90). Previous literature indicates that once risk or prodromal symptoms of mood disorders are identified, there is some (91), but not unequivocal (92) evidence that early intervention in adolescents can significantly reduce mood-related symptoms and incidence of fully diagnosable psychiatric disorders such as depression (93-95). Neuroprotective pharmacotherapies together with appropriate psychotherapy may reduce the risk of neuropsychiatric disease progression in young people which, together with allostatic load reducing behavioral interventions, may significantly slow the trajectory of the disease course into adulthood (6, 36, 96). Such interventions may include reducing lifestyle mediators of allostatic load (19, 97).



FIGURE 1 | A representation of the conceptual balance between vulnerability and resilience in prodromal individuals. The scale's balance beam teeters between vulnerability and resilience as scale pans are loaded with different positive and negative biological, psychological and social factors. The presence or absence of these factors influence the ability of the individual to cope with stressors, and maintain allostasis. (A) Prodromal individuals are somewhat predisposed to vulnerability; but with intervention (B) an individual may adopt more adaptive environmental coping strategies, support mechanisms, general healthy lifestyle choices, and/or receive pharmacological interventions that collectively enhance physiological and psychological resilience.

COGNITIVE AND BEHAVIORAL INTERVENTIONS TO BUFFER STRESS AND BUILD RESILIENCE

Individuals provided with effective social and emotional support to help cope with stressors that are adverse and potentially taxing will be much better placed to limit associated biological costs and maintain allostasis (98). The absence of emotional or social support and the implementation of maladaptive coping strategies can enhance the toxic effects of stress and contribute to allostatic overload (98). Exposure to regular and controllable stressors over the course of childhood and adolescence is essential for the development of effective coping strategies. Through such exposure, an individual can develop a repertoire of these coping strategies. Mathew and Nanoo (99) found that adaptive coping strategies (e.g., employing self-control, accepting responsibilities, problem solving, seeking social support, or positive reappraisal) are protective for suicide risk in adolescents. Conversely, maladaptive coping strategies, such as confrontation, distancing, and escape-avoidance were reported to be significant risk factors associated with adolescent suicide attempts (99). These findings provide evidence to support the notion that coping strategies can act as protective factors against both the development and progression of mood disorders. Importantly, educating children and adolescents in protective coping skills may be a promising intervention that could be implemented as early as elementary school. In recent years, patterns of threat perception such as optimism have attracted much attention in relation to later mood,

coping, and immune change in response to stress (100, 101). Moreover, it has been found to be protective against the development of depressive symptoms in later life (102). Its potential role in buffering against the negative emotional consequence of adverse events has led to a view of optimism as an index of resilience (103). Optimists may also choose lifestyles that promote physical as well as mental health, thereby reducing other aspects of allostatic load.

Healthy lifestyle, similar to optimism, provides a solid foundation for adaptation, and increases available resources for buffering the neurodegenerative effects of stress. Specifically, previous literature highlights the importance of healthy diet, adequate sleep, avoidance of smoking, and sufficient exercise (104). A populationbased study reported higher emotional well-being among physically active youths, independent of social class and health status (105). Across a 2-year period, Motl and colleagues (106) found changes in physical activity were inversely related to a change in depressive symptoms. Levels of physical activity in childhood can modulate the risk of adult depression (107). Exercise modulates many of the core biomarkers of neuroprogression, including inflammation, oxidative stress, and neurotrophins (108). Poor eating habits and sleep have been linked to the manifestation of toxic stress and unhealthy growth in pediatrics by disrupting the architecture of the plastic, adaptive brain (109). There is now extensive evidence that poor diet quality is a risk for adolescent depression (110), and new data suggests that maternal diet influences the mental health of offspring (111). Similarly, smoking increases the risk of mood and anxiety disorders, and appears to influence similar biological pathways (112, 113). Parents and care givers of younger children need to be informed of the potential impact that a healthy lifestyle can have in mitigating mood-related symptoms and problematic behaviors. Low-risk interventions such as those aforementioned are critical for enhancing both psychological and biological resilience to stress. When such perspectives and lifestyle health behaviors are consolidated early in childhood and adolescence, the cumulative effect may be meaningful (103).

CONCLUSION

Early intervention offers the possibility of altering the trajectory of mood disorder pathology. In so doing, we may curtail the progressive nature of the illness, both through neuroprotection and maintenance of peripheral health. Prevention and intervention treatments should go beyond stabilizing mood to include various and complementary strategies for reducing allostatic load, perhaps through psychoeducation and lifestyle-related interventions, including effective stress management. The combination of these techniques with specific pharmacotherapies may significantly improve functional outcomes by both reducing cellular insults and enhancing resilience. In so doing, this optimizes the capacity for maintenance of synaptic integrity and cellular resilience, which must be aggressively targeted as a therapeutic strategy during the prodromal stage of mood disorder pathology (90). This neuroprotective approach not only slows neuroprogression associated with the disease, but lays a foundation for more treatment-responsive outcomes during later stages.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Adam J. Walker, Yesul Kim, J. Blair Price, Rajas P. Kale, Jane A. McGillivray, Michael Berk, and Susannah J. Tye each made contributions to the writing of this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a Mayo Minnesota Partnership grant to Susannah J. Tye. Adam J. Walker is supported by an Australian Postgraduate Award. Yesul Kim is supported by a Deakin University Award. Michael Berk is supported by a NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship 1059660.

REFERENCES

- 1. Madhusoodanan S. Preventive psychiatry: we are getting closer to fulfilling the promise of reducing mental illness. *Ann Clin Psychiatry* (2010) **22**(4):217–8.
- Skjelstad DV, Malt UF, Holte A. Symptoms and signs of the initial prodrome of bipolar disorder: a systematic review. J Affect Disord (2010) 126(1–2):1–13. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2009.10.003
- Berk M, Hallam K, Lucas N, Hasty M, McNeil CA, Conus P, et al. Early intervention in bipolar disorders: opportunities and pitfalls. *Med J Aust* (2007) 187(7 Suppl):S11–4.
- Egeland JA, Hostetter AM, Pauls DL, Sussex JN. Prodromal symptoms before onset of manic-depressive disorder suggested by first hospital admission histories. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2000) 39(10):1245–52. doi:10.1097/ 00004583-200010000-00011
- Strakowski SM, DelBello MP, Zimmerman ME, Getz GE, Mills NP, Ret J, et al. Ventricular and periventricular structural volumes in first- versus multiple-episode bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2002) 159(11):1841–7. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.159.11.1841
- McGorry PD, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Yuen HP, Francey S, Cosgrave EM, et al. Randomized controlled trial of interventions designed to reduce the risk of progression to first-episode psychosis in a clinical sample with subthreshold symptoms. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2002) 59(10):921–8. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.59.10.921
- Amminger GP, Schafer MR, Klier CM, Slavik JM, Holzer I, Holub M, et al. Decreased nervonic acid levels in erythrocyte membranes predict psychosis in help-seeking ultra-high-risk individuals. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17(12):1150–2. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.167
- Amminger GP, Schafer MR, Papageorgiou K, Klier CM, Cotton SM, Harrigan SM, et al. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids for indicated prevention of psychotic disorders: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67(2):146–54. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.192
- Bauer ME, Wieck A, Lopes RP, Teixeira AL, Grassi-Oliveira R. Interplay between neuroimmunoendocrine systems during post-traumatic stress disorder: a mini review. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2010) 17(3):192–5. doi:10.1159/000258721
- Leopold K, Ritter P, Correll CU, Marx C, Ozgurdal S, Juckel G, et al. Risk constellations prior to the development of bipolar disorders: rationale of a new risk assessment tool. J Affect Disord (2012) 136(3):1000–10. doi:10.1016/j.jad. 2011.06.043
- 11. Luby JL, Navsaria N. Pediatric bipolar disorder: evidence for prodromal states and early markers. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2010) 51(4):459–71. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02210.x
- Schultze-Lutter F, Schimmelmann BG, Klosterkotter J, Ruhrmann S. Comparing the prodrome of schizophrenia-spectrum psychoses and affective disorders with and without psychotic features. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 138(2–3):218–22. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.04.001
- Weissman MM, Wolk S, Goldstein RB, Moreau D, Adams P, Greenwald S, et al. Depressed adolescents grown up. *JAMA* (1999) 281(18):1707–13. doi:10.1001/jama.281.18.1707
- Berk M, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Dean OM, Giorlando F, Maes M, et al. Pathways underlying neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: focus on inflammation, oxidative stress and neurotrophic factors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(3):804–17. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.001
- Gama CS, Kunz M, Magalhaes PV, Kapczinski F. Staging and neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: a systematic review of the literature. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr* (2013) 35(1):70–4. doi:10.1016/j.rbp.2012.09.001
- 16. Eley TC, Liang H, Plomin R, Sham P, Sterne A, Williamson R, et al. Parental familial vulnerability, family environment, and their interactions as predictors

of depressive symptoms in adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2004) 43(3):298–306. doi:10.1097/00004583-200403000-00011

- Klengel T, Binder EB. Gene x environment interactions in the prediction of response to antidepressant treatment. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 16(3):701–11. doi:10.1017/S1461145712001459
- Klengel T, Mehta D, Anacker C, Rex-Haffner M, Pruessner JC, Pariante CM, et al. Allele-specific FKBP5 DNA demethylation mediates gene-childhood trauma interactions. *Nat Neurosci* (2013) 16(1):33–41. doi:10.1038/nn.3275
- Berk M, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, O'Neil A, Pasco JA, Moylan S, et al. So depression is an inflammatory disease, but where does the inflammation come from? BMC Med (2013) 11:200. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-200
- Anda RF, Butchart A, Felitti VJ, Brown DW. Building a framework for global surveillance of the public health implications of adverse childhood experiences. *Am J Prev Med* (2010) **39**(1):93–8. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2010.03.015
- Ehlert U. Understanding the trans-generational consequences of prenatal stress. J Psychosom Res (2013) 75(4):297–8. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2013. 09.002
- Fries GR, Pfaffenseller B, Stertz L, Paz AV, Dargel AA, Kunz M, et al. Staging and neuroprogression in bipolar disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2012) 14(6):667–75. doi:10.1007/s11920-012-0319-2
- Lai MC, Huang LT. Effects of early life stress on neuroendocrine and neurobehavior: mechanisms and implications. *Pediatr Neonatol* (2011) 52(3):122–9. doi:10.1016/j.pedneo.2011.03.008
- Aschbacher K, O'Donovan A, Wolkowitz OM, Dhabhar FS, Su Y, Epel E. Good stress, bad stress and oxidative stress: insights from anticipatory cortisol reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2013) 38(9):1698–708. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2013.02.004
- Carpenter LL, Gawuga CE, Tyrka AR, Lee JK, Anderson GM, Price LH. Association between plasma IL-6 response to acute stress and early-life adversity in healthy adults. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2010) 35(13):2617–23. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.159
- Heim C, Newport DJ, Heit S, Graham YP, Wilcox M, Bonsall R, et al. Pituitary-adrenal and autonomic responses to stress in women after sexual and physical abuse in childhood. *JAMA* (2000) 284(5):592–7. doi:10.1001/jama. 284.5.592
- Stankiewicz AM, Swiergiel AH, Lisowski P. Epigenetics of stress adaptations in the brain. *Brain Res Bull* (2013) 98(0):76–92. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2013. 07.003
- Menke A, Klengel T, Rubel J, Bruckl T, Pfister H, Lucae S, et al. Genetic variation in FKBP5 associated with the extent of stress hormone dysregulation in major depression. *Genes Brain Behav* (2013) 12(3):289–96. doi:10.1111/gbb. 12026
- Howell BR, Sanchez MM. Understanding behavioral effects of early life stress using the reactive scope and allostatic load models. *Dev Psychopathol* (2011) 23(4):1001–16. doi:10.1017/S0954579411000460
- McEwen BS, Stellar E. Stress and the individual. Mechanisms leading to disease. Arch Intern Med (1993) 153(18):2093–101. doi:10.1001/archinte.153.18.2093
- Kapczinski F, Dias VV, Kauer-Sant'Anna M, Frey BN, Grassi-Oliveira R, Colom F, et al. Clinical implications of a staging model for bipolar disorders. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2009) 9(7):957–66. doi:10.1586/ern.09.31
- 32. Kapczinski F, Vieta E, Andreazza AC, Frey BN, Gomes FA, Tramontina J, et al. Allostatic load in bipolar disorder: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2008) **32**(4):675–92. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2007.10.005
- McEwen BS. Mood disorders and allostatic load. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54(3):200–7. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00177-X
- Moylan S, Maes M, Wray NR, Berk M. The neuroprogressive nature of major depressive disorder: pathways to disease evolution and resistance, and therapeutic implications. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18(5):595–606. doi:10.1038/mp. 2012.33
- Pasco JA, Jacka FN, Williams LJ, Henry MJ, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA, et al. Leptin in depressed women: cross-sectional and longitudinal data from an epidemiologic study. J Affect Disord (2008) 107(1–3):221–5. doi:10.1016/j.jad. 2007.07.024
- Brietzke E, Kapczinski F, Grassi-Oliveira R, Grande I, Vieta E, McIntyre RS. Insulin dysfunction and allostatic load in bipolar disorder. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2011) 11(7):1017–28. doi:10.1586/ern.10.185

- Gallo LC, Shivpuri S, Gonzalez P, Fortmann AL, de los Monteros KE, Roesch SC, et al. Socioeconomic status and stress in Mexican-American women: a multimethod perspective. *J Behav Med* (2013) 36(4):379–88. doi:10.1007/s10865-012-9432-2
- Grande I, Magalhaes PV, Kunz M, Vieta E, Kapczinski F. Mediators of allostasis and systemic toxicity in bipolar disorder. *Physiol Behav* (2012) 106(1):46–50. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.10.029
- Naviaux RK. Metabolic features of the cell danger response. *Mitochondrion* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.mito.2013.08.006
- Wang YM, Liu XD, Zhang DF, Chen JH, Liu SZ, Berk M. The effects of apoptosis vulnerability markers on the myocardium in depression after myocardial infarction. *BMC Med* (2013) 11:32. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-32
- Brietzke E, Kapczinski F. TNF-alpha as a molecular target in bipolar disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2008) 32(6):1355–61. doi:10. 1016/j.pnpbp.2008.01.006
- Tye SJ. Allostatic overload: transcriptomic insights into the molecular basis of antidepressant resistance. *Bipolar Disord* (2013) 15(s1):1–163.
- Walker AJ, Burnett SA, Hasebe K, McGillivray JA, Gray LJ, McGee SL, et al. Chronic adrenocorticotropic hormone treatment alters tricyclic antidepressant efficacy and prefrontal monoamine tissue levels. *Behav Brain Res* (2013) 242:76–83. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.12.033
- 44. Almeida OP, Flicker L, Yeap BB, Alfonso H, McCaul K, Hankey GJ. Aspirin decreases the risk of depression in older men with high plasma homocysteine. *Transl Psychiatry* (2012):2. doi:10.1038/tp.2012.79
- Goldstein BI, Kemp DE, Soczynska JK, McIntyre RS. Inflammation and the phenomenology, pathophysiology, comorbidity, and treatment of bipolar disorder: a systematic review of the literature. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) **70**(8):1078–90. doi:10.4088/JCP.08r04505
- 46. Padmos RC, Van Baal GC, Vonk R, Wijkhuijs AJ, Kahn RS, Nolen WA, et al. Genetic and environmental influences on pro-inflammatory monocytes in bipolar disorder: a twin study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66(9):957–65. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.116
- Danese A, Pariante CM, Caspi A, Taylor A, Poulton R. Childhood maltreatment predicts adult inflammation in a life-course study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104(4):1319–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.0610362104
- Maes M, Berk M, Goehler L, Song C, Anderson G, Galecki P, et al. Depression and sickness behavior are Janus-faced responses to shared inflammatory pathways. *BMC Med* (2012) 10:66. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-10-66
- Slopen N, Kubzansky LD, McLaughlin KA, Koenen KC. Childhood adversity and inflammatory processes in youth: a prospective study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2013) 38(2):188–200. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.05.013
- Dantzer R, Kelley KW. Twenty years of research on cytokine-induced sickness behavior. *Brain Behav Immun* (2007) 21(2):153–60. doi:10.1016/j.bbi. 2006.09.006
- Yirmiya R, Goshen I. Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2011) 25(2):181–213. doi:10.1016/ j.bbi.2010.10.015
- Liukkonen T, Silvennoinen-Kassinen S, Jokelainen J, Rasanen P, Leinonen M, Meyer-Rochow VB, et al. The association between C-reactive protein levels and depression: results from the northern Finland 1966 birth Cohort study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) **60**(8):825–30. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.02.016
- Mills NT, Scott JG, Wray NR, Cohen-Woods S, Baune BT. Research review: the role of cytokines in depression in adolescents: a systematic review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2013) 54(8):816–35. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12080
- Gabbay V, Klein RG, Alonso CM, Babb JS, Nishawala M, De Jesus G, et al. Immune system dysregulation in adolescent major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2009) 115(1–2):177–82. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.07.022
- 55. Kauer-Sant'Anna M, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Bond DJ, Lam RW, Young LT, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and inflammatory markers in patients with early- vs. late-stage bipolar disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2009) 12(4):447–58. doi:10.1017/S1461145708009310
- Pasco JA, Nicholson GC, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, Henry MJ, Kotowicz MA, et al. Association of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein with de novo major depression. Br J Psychiatry (2010) 197(5):372–7. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.109.076430
- Biesmans S, Meert TF, Bouwknecht JA, Acton PD, Davoodi N, De Haes P, et al. Systemic immune activation leads to neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in mice. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:271359. doi:10.1155/2013/271359

- Erhardt S, Olsson SK, Engberg G. Pharmacological manipulation of kynurenic acid: potential in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. *CNS Drugs* (2009) 23(2):91–101. doi:10.2165/00023210-200923020-00001
- Schiepers OJ, Wichers MC, Maes M. Cytokines and major depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2005) 29(2):201–17. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2004.11.003
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2012) 13(7):465–77. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- Steiner J, Walter M, Gos T, Guillemin GJ, Bernstein HG, Sarnyai Z, et al. Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immunemodulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-94
- 62. Pandey GN, Rizavi HS, Ren X, Fareed J, Hoppensteadt DA, Roberts RC, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines in the prefrontal cortex of teenage suicide victims. *J Psychiatr Res* (2012) 46(1):57–63. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.08.006
- Falcone T, Carlton E, Lee C, Janigro M, Fazio V, Forcen FE, et al. Does systemic inflammation play a role in pediatric psychosis? *Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses* (2013) 1–43. doi:10.3371/CSRP.FACA.030813
- 64. Byrne ML, O'Brien-Simpson NM, Reynolds EC, Walsh KA, Laughton K, Waloszek JM, et al. Acute phase protein and cytokine levels in serum and saliva: a comparison of detectable levels and correlations in a depressed and healthy adolescent sample. *Brain Behav Immun* (2013) 34:164–75. doi:10.1016/j.bbi. 2013.08.010
- Duman RS, Aghajanian GK. Synaptic dysfunction in depression: potential therapeutic targets. *Science* (2012) 338(6103):68–72. doi:10.1126/science.1222939
- 66. Duman RS, Voleti B. Signaling pathways underlying the pathophysiology and treatment of depression: novel mechanisms for rapid-acting agents. *Trends Neurosci* (2012) 35(1):47–56. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2011.11.004
- Mesulam MM. Neuroplasticity failure in Alzheimer's disease: bridging the gap between plaques and tangles. *Neuron* (1999) 24(3):521–9. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81109-5
- Zarate CA Jr, Singh J, Manji HK. Cellular plasticity cascades: targets for the development of novel therapeutics for bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59(11):1006–20. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.10.021
- Drevets WC. Neuroimaging and neuropathological studies of depression: implications for the cognitive-emotional features of mood disorders. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* (2001) 11(2):240–9. doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00203-8
- 70. D'Sa C, Duman RS. Antidepressants and neuroplasticity. *Bipolar Disord* (2002) 4(3):183–94. doi:10.1034/j.1399-5618.2002.01203.x
- Nestler EJ, Barrot M, DiLeone RJ, Eisch AJ, Gold SJ, Monteggia LM. Neurobiology of depression. *Neuron* (2002) 34(1):13–25. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(02) 00653-0
- Young LT. Neuroprotective effects of antidepressant and mood stabilizing drugs. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2002) 27(1):8–9.
- Collingridge GL, Peineau S, Howland JG, Wang YT. Long-term depression in the CNS. Nat Rev Neurosci (2010) 11(7):459–73. doi:10.1038/nrn2867
- 74. Li X, Jope RS. Is glycogen synthase kinase-3 a central modulator in mood regulation? *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2010) **35**(11):2143–54. doi:10.1038/npp. 2010.105
- Gould TD, Manji HK. Glycogen synthase kinase-3: a putative molecular target for lithium mimetic drugs. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2005) **30**(7):1223–37. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300731
- 76. Machado-Vieira R, Soeiro-De-Souza MG, Richards EM, Teixeira AL, Zarate CA Jr. Multiple levels of impaired neural plasticity and cellular resilience in bipolar disorder: developing treatments using an integrated translational approach. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2013). doi:10.3109/15622975.2013.830775
- Baek JH, Bernstein EE, Nierenberg AA. One-carbon metabolism and bipolar disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry (2013) 47(11):1013–8. doi:10.1177/ 0004867413502091
- Nierenberg AA, Kansky C, Brennan BP, Shelton RC, Perlis R, Iosifescu DV. Mitochondrial modulators for bipolar disorder: a pathophysiologically informed paradigm for new drug development. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2013) 47(1):26–42. doi:10.1177/0004867412449303
- Krishnan V, Nestler EJ. The molecular neurobiology of depression. Nature (2008) 455(7215):894–902. doi:10.1038/nature07455

- McKernan DP, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. "Killing the blues": a role for cellular suicide (apoptosis) in depression and the antidepressant response? *Prog Neurobiol* (2009) 88(4):246–63. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.04.006
- Mattson MP. Apoptosis in neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2000) 1(2):120–9. doi:10.1038/35040009
- Earnshaw WC. Apoptosis. A cellular poison cupboard. *Nature* (1999) 397(6718):387–9. doi:10.1038/17015
- Dodd S, Maes M, Anderson G, Dean OM, Moylan S, Berk M. Putative neuroprotective agents in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 42:135–45. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.11.007
- Herberth M, Koethe D, Levin Y, Schwarz E, Krzyszton ND, Schoeffmann S, et al. Peripheral profiling analysis for bipolar disorder reveals markers associated with reduced cell survival. *Proteomics* (2011) 11(1):94–105. doi:10.1002/pmic. 201000291
- 85. Maes M, Fisar Z, Medina M, Scapagnini G, Nowak G, Berk M. New drug targets in depression: inflammatory, cell-mediated immune, oxidative and nitrosative stress, mitochondrial, antioxidant, and neuroprogressive pathways. And new drug candidates – Nrf2 activators and GSK-3 inhibitors. *Inflammopharmacology* (2012) 20(3):127–50. doi:10.1007/s10787-011-0111-7
- Davidson RJ, McEwen BS. Social influences on neuroplasticity: stress and interventions to promote well-being. *Nat Neurosci* (2012) 15(5):689–95. doi:10.1038/nn.3093
- Hyman SE, Nestler EJ. Initiation and adaptation: a paradigm for understanding psychotropic drug action. *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) 153(2):151–62.
- McGorry PD. Truth and reality in early intervention. Aust N Z J Psychiatry (2012) 46(4):313–6. doi:10.1177/0004867412442172
- van der Gaag M, Smit F, Bechdolf A, French P, Linszen DH, Yung AR, et al. Preventing a first episode of psychosis: meta-analysis of randomized controlled prevention trials of 12 month and longer-term follow-ups. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149(1–3):56–62. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.004
- Berk M, Conus P, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Yucel M, Wood SJ, et al. From neuroprogression to neuroprotection: implications for clinical care. *Med J Aust* (2010) 193(4 Suppl):S36–40.
- Kessing LV, Hansen HV, Christensen EM, Dam H, Gluud C, Wetterslev J. Do young adults with bipolar disorder benefit from early intervention? J Affect Disord. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.10.001
- Hansen HV, Christensen EM, Dam H, Gluud C, Wetterslev J, Kessing LV. The effects of centralised and specialised intervention in the early course of severe unipolar depressive disorder: a randomised clinical trial. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(3):e32950. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032950
- 93. Clarke GN, Hornbrook M, Lynch F, Polen M, Gale J, Beardslee W, et al. A randomized trial of a group cognitive intervention for preventing depression in adolescent offspring of depressed parents. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2001) 58(12):1127–34. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.58.12.1127
- Harrington R, Rutter M, Fombonne E. Developmental pathways in depression: multiple meanings, antecedents, and endpoints. *Dev Psychopathol* (1996) 8:610–6. doi:10.1017/S095457940000732X
- Kuo ES, Vander Stoep A, Herting JR, Grupp K, McCauley E. How to identify students for school-based depression intervention: can school record review be substituted for universal depression screening? J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs (2013) 26(1):42–52. doi:10.1111/jcap.12010
- 96. Conus P, Ward J, Hallam KT, Lucas N, Macneil C, McGorry PD, et al. The proximal prodrome to first episode mania – a new target for early intervention. *Bipolar Disord* (2008) 10(5):555–65. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2008. 00610.x
- Berk M, Sarris J, Coulson CE, Jacka FN. Lifestyle management of unipolar depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl (2013) 127(Suppl 443):38–54. doi:10.1111/acps.12124
- Karatsoreos IN, McEwen BS. Resilience and vulnerability: a neurobiological perspective. F1000Prime Rep (2013) 5:13.
- Mathew A, Nanoo S. Psychosocial stressors and patterns of coping in adolescent suicide attempters. *Indian J Psychol Med* (2013) 35(1):39–46. doi:10.4103/ 0253-7176.112200
- 100. Segerstrom SC, Taylor SE, Kemeny ME, Fahey JL. Optimism is associated with mood, coping, and immune change in response to stress. *J Pers Soc Psychol* (1998) 74(6):1646–55. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.74.6.1646
- 101. Wadee AA, Kuschke RH, Kometz S, Berk M. Personality factors, stress and immunity. Stress Health (2001) 17(1):25–40. doi:10.1002/1532-2998(200101) 17:1<25::AID-SMI873>3.0.CO;2-N
- 102. Giltay EJ, Zitman FG, Kromhout D. Dispositional optimism and the risk of depressive symptoms during 15 years of follow-up: the Zutphen Elderly Study. *J Affect Disord* (2006) **91**(1):45–52. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2005.12.027
- 103. Adler NE. Health disparities: what's optimism got to do with it? JAdolesc Health (2007) 40(2):106–7. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.12.003
- 104. Jorm AF. Mental health literacy: empowering the community to take action for better mental health. Am Psychol (2012) 67(3):231–43. doi:10.1037/ a0025957
- 105. Steptoe A, Wardle J, Pollard TM, Canaan L, Davies GJ. Stress, social support and health-related behavior: a study of smoking, alcohol consumption and physical exercise. J Psychosom Res (1996) 41(2):171–80. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(96)00095-5
- 106. Motl RW, Birnbaum AS, Kubik MY, Dishman RK. Naturally occurring changes in physical activity are inversely related to depressive symptoms during early adolescence. *Psychosom Med* (2004) 66(3):336–42. doi:10.1097/01.psy. 0000126205.35683.0a
- 107. Jacka FN, Pasco JA, Williams LJ, Leslie ER, Dodd S, Nicholson GC, et al. Lower levels of physical activity in childhood associated with adult depression. J Sci Med Sport (2011) 14(3):222–6. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2010.10.458
- 108. Moylan S, Eyre HA, Maes M, Baune BT, Jacka FN, Berk M. Exercising the worry away: how inflammation, oxidative and nitrogen stress mediates the beneficial effect of physical activity on anxiety disorder symptoms and behaviours. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2013) **37**(4):573–84. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2013.02.003
- 109. Garner AS, Shonkoff JP. Early childhood adversity, toxic stress, and the role of the pediatrician: translating developmental science into lifelong health. *Pediatrics* (2012) **129**(1):e224–31. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-2662
- 110. Jacka FN, Kremer PJ, Berk M, de Silva-Sanigorski AM, Moodie M, Leslie ER, et al. A prospective study of diet quality and mental health in adolescents. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(9):e24805. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024805
- 111. Jacka FN, Ystrom E, Brantsaeter AL, Karevold E, Roth C, Haugen M, et al. Maternal and early postnatal nutrition and mental health of offspring by age

5 years: a prospective cohort study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2013) 52(10):1038–47. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.07.002

- 112. Moylan S, Gustavson K, Karevold E, Overland S, Jacka FN, Pasco JA, et al. The impact of smoking in adolescence on early adult anxiety symptoms and the relationship between infant vulnerability factors for anxiety and early adult anxiety symptoms: the TOPP Study. *PLoS One* (2013) **8**(5):e63252. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063252
- 113. Moylan S, Jacka FN, Pasco JA, Berk M. How cigarette smoking may increase the risk of anxiety symptoms and anxiety disorders: a critical review of biological pathways. *Brain Behav* (2013) 3(3):302–26. doi:10.1002/brb3.137

Conflict of Interest Statement: Michael Berk has received grant/research support from the NIH, Cooperative Research Centre, Simons Autism Foundation, Cancer Council of Victoria, Stanley Medical Research Foundation, MBF, NHMRC, Beyond Blue, Rotary Health, Geelong Medical Research Foundation, Bristol Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, Meat and Livestock Board, Organon, Novartis, Mayne Pharma, Servier and Woolworths, has been a speaker for Astra Zeneca, Bristol Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, Janssen Cilag, Lundbeck, Merck, Pfizer, Sanofi Synthelabo, Servier, Solvay, and Wyeth, and served as a consultant to Astra Zeneca, Bristol Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, Janssen Cilag, Lundbeck, Merck, and Servier. The other authors have no conflicts to report.

Received: 29 October 2013; accepted: 17 March 2014; published online: 09 April 2014. Citation: Walker AJ, Kim Y, Price JB, Kale RP, McGillivray JA, Berk M and Tye SJ (2014) Stress, inflammation, and cellular vulnerability during early stages of affective disorders: biomarker strategies and opportunities for prevention and intervention. Front. Psychiatry **5**:34. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00034

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2014 Walker, Kim, Price, Kale, McGillivray, Berk and Tye. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Neural responses during social and self-knowledge tasks in bulimia nervosa

Carrie J. McAdams¹* and Daniel C. Krawczyk^{1,2}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

² School of Behavioral and Brain Sciences, Center for Brain Health, The University of Texas at Dallas, Dallas, TX, USA

Edited by:

Paul Croarkin, Mayo Clinic, USA

Reviewed by:

Peter G. Enticott, Monash University, Australia Jamie Morris, University of Virginia, USA

*Correspondence:

Carrie J. McAdams, Department of Psychiatry, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 6363 Forest Park Road BL6.110E, Dallas, TX 75390-8828, USA e-mail: carrie.mcadams@ utsouthwestern.edu

Self-evaluation closely dependent upon body shape and weight is one of the defining criteria for bulimia nervosa (BN). We studied 53 adult women, 17 with BN, 18 with a recent history of anorexia nervosa (AN), and 18 healthy comparison women, using three different fMRI tasks that required thinking about self-knowledge and social interactions: the Social Identity task, the Physical Identity task, and the Social Attribution task. Previously, we identified regions of interest (ROI) in the same tasks using whole-brain voxel-wise comparisons of the healthy comparison women and women with a recent history of AN. Here, we report on the neural activations in those ROIs in subjects with BN. In the Social Attribution task, we examined activity in the right temporoparietal junction (RTPJ), an area frequently associated with mentalization. In the Social Identity task, we examined activity in the precuneus (PreC) and dorsal anterior cingulate (dACC). In the Physical Identity task, we examined activity in a ventral region of the dACC. Interestingly, in all tested regions, the average activation in subjects with bulimia was more than the average activation levels seen in the subjects with a history of anorexia but less than that seen in healthy subjects. In three regions, the RTPJ, the PreC, and the dACC, group responses in the subjects with bulimia were significantly different from healthy subjects but not subjects with anorexia. The neural activations of people with BN performing fMRI tasks engaging social processing are more similar to people with AN than healthy people. This suggests biological measures of social processes may be helpful in characterizing individuals with eating disorders.

Keywords: mentalization, identity, theory of mind, eating disorders, anorexia, bulimia, neuroimaging, social behavior

INTRODUCTION

Bulimia nervosa (BN) is an eating disorder characterized by frequent binge-eating followed by purging behaviors in concert with a self-esteem that is overly associated with body shape and weight (1). The symptoms of many eating disorder patients change during their lives (2, 3). For example, a patient may develop restricting behaviors with weight loss in high school, begin binging and purging behaviors at a low weight, continue binge-purge behaviors at a healthy weight throughout college, and then cease the purging behaviors but have occasional binge-eating problems. Such a patient would have met criteria for anorexia nervosa (AN), restricting subtype initially, then AN, binge-purge subtype, then BN, and finally binge-eating disorder. This diagnostic instability makes clinical treatment as well as research into eating disorders challenging (4, 5). A better understanding of biological and cognitive similarities and differences that contribute to eating disorders may improve clinical treatment. Currently, treatment of BN leads to sustained recovery in only about half of the patients (6, 7). Through the use of fMRI, we examined neural activations related to social processes in BN.

A specific set of neural regions is modulated in response to tasks that require thinking about people in healthy subjects (8, 9); this provides a framework to assess differences related to psychiatric illnesses. Severe impairments in social interaction are one of the diagnostic criteria for autistic spectrum disorders (1), but problems in social cognition have been reported in many psychiatric illnesses (10–14). Decreased social cognition has been reported in a variety of behavioral tasks in adults with AN (15–17). In BN, recent studies have concluded that there was little evidence of social cognition differences in psychological tasks (18, 19), although far fewer studies of social cognition have been completed in BN than in AN.

Because both BN and AN include in their diagnostic criteria an association between appearance and self-esteem (1), these experiments focused on neural pathways related to thinking about oneself. Self-esteem is a term used to describe one's overall sense of one's own value as a person, and is generally considered a fairly stable psychological characteristic (20). Although the diagnostic criteria in eating disorders connect self-esteem specifically to physical appearance, similarly unrealistic social expectations are reported and observed in eating disorder patients (21, 22). Selfknowledge, as used in MRI tasks, relates to the ability to evaluate oneself, and is expected to be a process that involves self-esteem as well as other criteria. For example, an individual whose self-esteem is highly related to appearance might be very good at her work, and correctly describe herself as a competent employe, but maintain an overall low self-esteem because of perceived inadequacies of appearance. Furthermore, low self-esteem has been related to

prognosis in AN (23, 24) as well as onset of bulimic symptoms (25). Negative beliefs about one's self, unrelated to physical appearance, have been observed in eating disorders (26, 27), and neural differences in the processing of these negative self-beliefs have been seen in BN (28). These data show not only that psychological similarities in self-esteem are present in AN and BN, but also that self-esteem is an important factor in assessing the prognosis and severity of eating disorders.

In healthy people, midline cortical structures, including the cingulate (Cing), dorsal anterior cingulate (dACC), and precuneus (PreC), have been specifically associated with thinking about oneself, using a variety of self-knowledge, appraisal, and viewing tasks (29). Most commonly, these areas show activation during neuroimaging tasks that ask healthy subjects to reflect upon whether specific characteristics describe oneself (30). Performance of this type of task is likely to acutely stimulate similar cognitive processes as those that generate one's longer-term sense of self-esteem. We recently reported differences in brain activations in AN and CN based on differences in self-knowledge using two neuroimaging tasks that required self-evaluations, one using social adjectives and the other physical descriptors (31). In that study, we identified regions in the dACC, PreC, and Cing with different activations in subjects with AN compared to the healthy controls. Here, we consider the responses of subjects with BN in the same self-evaluative tasks.

In addition to self-evaluative tasks, we included a more general social processing neuroimaging task that robustly engages additional regions in the social processing network associated with considering other people (32). This task, the Social Attribution Task, strongly activates the right temporoparietal junction (RTPJ), a region that has been closely associated with theory of mind (TOM), and mentalization [for reviews, see (9, 33)], as well as the fusiform gyrus, a region closely associated with facial processing (34, 35). Furthermore, differences in fMRI activations in both adult participants with AN (36) as well as adolescent participants with AN (37) have been examined using this task. In this manuscript, we describe the neural activations of subjects with BN during the Social Attribution Task.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the institutional review boards at both the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center and The University of Texas at Dallas. Additionally, the study adhered to the guidelines as set out in the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was required from all participants, and subjects were reimbursed for time spent participating.

PARTICIPANTS

A total of 53 female participants, between 18 and 42 years of age, were recruited for this study from the general public, from treatment providers, and support groups in the Dallas–Fort Worth area. Subjects volunteered to spend 2 h in clinical assessments and completing questionnaires and 1.5 h completing behavioral tasks in the MRI scanner, and were compensated for their time financially. The participant groups consisted of 18 healthy controls (CN), 18 individuals with a recent history of anorexia but were currently in the process of recovering from AN, and 17 individuals recovering from BN. All AN and BN participants had met full DSM-IV criteria for either AN or BN within the previous 2 years. The AN subjects were required to be maintaining a minimum BMI of 17.5 with no weight loss for the 3 months preceding the MRI scans. This was based primarily on a detailed eating disorder symptom and weight history obtained at the initial screening interview, only after which was it divulged that low or unstable weight was an exclusion factor for MRI scans. One of the AN and one of the CN participants did not complete the Social Attribution task and one of the BN participants did not complete the Social and Physical Identity neuroimaging task; these subjects were excluded in the analyses involving those tasks. Another BN participant was excluded from the neuroimaging analyses of the Social and Physical Identity tasks due to excessive movement. Eleven of the AN subjects had the restricting subtype and seven had the binge-purge subtype of AN. All subjects were recruited and scanned between 2009 and 2012. Because of difficulty recruiting BN subjects, data collection of AN and CN subjects finished nearly 1 year before the last four BN subjects were obtained. Therefore, the AN and CN data were analyzed and published in two earlier papers, one describing results obtained from the Social Attribution task and the other results from the two Identity tasks (31, 36).

Subjects provided written informed consent to participate in this study at an initial appointment. All subjects were then interviewed using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV disorders (SCID-RV). Participants were also screened for MRI compatibility. Some of the subjects had a history of recurrent MDD (1, CN; 7, AN; 9 BN) but none had met symptom criteria for an MDE for at least 3 months prior to the neuroimaging studies. No participants had a current or past diagnosis of any psychotic disorders or bipolar disorder based on the SCID-RV; no participants were currently taking mood-stabilizers, antipsychotics, or benzodiazepines. Participants on antidepressants whose dosage had not changed for at least 3 months prior to their MRI scans were included (1 CN; 8 AN; 7 BN).

Participants also completed the Quick Inventory of Depression, Self-Report (QIDS-SR), a self-report questionnaire consisting of 16 items to assess current symptoms of depression (38), and the Eating Attitudes Test-26 (EAT-26), a self-report questionnaire consisting of 26 items that relate to current eating behaviors (39). Subjects also completed the Self-Liking and Self-Competence Self-Esteem Questionnaire (SLCS), a 16 item self-report questionnaire that provides two measures of self-esteem (40), and the Social Problem-Solving Inventory (SPSI-R), a 26 item self-report questionnaire (41).

NEUROIMAGING TASKS

Three fMRI tasks were employed, the Social Attribution Task, the Social Identity task, and the Physical Identity task. Most subjects (35 of 53) preferred to complete the tasks in two scanner sessions, the first session consisting of the Social Attribution Task, and the second both the Identity Tasks. If all tasks were completed in 1 day, the Identity tasks were run before the Social Attribution task, and the total scan time was 80 min. When completed on separate days, the first day lasted about 30 min and the second session was about 50 min.

The Social Attribution Task presented short videos of moving shapes (32, 36). Briefly, subjects were asked to view the shapes in two conditions: the visuospatial or Bumper condition, preceded by the question "Bumper cars: Same weight?" and the social attribution or People condition, preceded by the question "People: All friends?". Each animation consisted of a moving display of three white shapes (circle, triangle, and square) and a white box with one side that opened as if hinged on a black background. Although the same shapes were presented in both conditions, the movements of the shapes in the two tasks differed. During the visuospatial task, the shapes moved around the box for the duration of the animation periodically bumping into one another. During the social task, the shapes moved in ways that suggested social behavior was occurring among the shapes (e.g., playing, fighting, avoiding etc.). We recorded responses to the weight and friendship questions about the animations to determine accuracy and maintenance of concentration.

The Identity tasks consisted of the presentation of written appraisal statements projected onto a screen within the MRI scanner (31). For both the Social Identity and the Physical Identity task, three different types of appraisals were shown: self (evaluation of an attribute about one's own identity based on one's own opinion), Friend (evaluation of an attribute about a close female friend), and Reflected (evaluation of an attribute about one's self from one's friend's perspective). Each statement was presented above a scale reading 1 "Strongly Disagree," 2 "Slightly Disagree," 3, "Slightly Agree," and 4 "Strongly Agree." Subjects were asked to read each statement and select a rating via a hand-held button. The Friend and Reflected statements were personalized to contain the name of a specific female friend of each subject. Each task was conducted separately, with all runs of the Social task preceding any runs of the Physical task. In the Social task, the statements were presented in a format ending with a socially descriptive adjective (ex. Self Statement "I believe I am nice," Friend statement "I believe my friend is mean," Reflected statement, "My friend believes I am responsible"). For the Physical task, the statements were presented in the format ending with a physical body part and a descriptor (ex. Self statement "I believe my arms are toned," Friend statement "I believe my friend's eyes are bloodshot," Reflected statement "My friend believes my stomach is flabby"). In all cases my friend was replaced with the name of a close female friend of the subject.

MRI ACQUISITION AND ANALYSIS

All images were acquired with a 3T Philips MRI scanner. High resolution MP-RAGE 3D T1-weighted images were acquired for anatomical localization with the following imaging parameters: repetition time (TR) = 2100 ms, echo time (TE) = 3.7 ms; slice thickness of 1 mm with no gap, a 12°flip angle, and 1 mm³ voxels. For both fMRI tasks, each slice was acquired with a 22.0 cm² field of view, a matrix size of 64×64 , and a voxel size of $3.4 \text{ mm} \times 3.4 \text{ mm} \times 3 \text{ mm}$ using a one-shot gradient T2*-weighted echoplanar (EPI) image sequence sensitive to blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast. Head motion was limited using foam head-padding.

For the Social Attribution task, images were acquired during four runs, each lasting 128 s and presenting four 17-s videos, two in each condition (People or Bumper). These sequences were acquired using a TR of 1.5 s, an TE of 25 ms, and a flip angle of 60°, and volumes were composed of 33 tilted axial slices (3 mm thick, 1 mm slice gap) designed to maximize whole-brain coverage while minimizing signal dropout in the ventral anterior brain regions. For the Identity tasks, images were acquired during eight runs (four for Social and four for Physical), each lasting 360 s, and presenting 12 statements of each condition (Self, Friend, and Reflected). These sequences were acquired using a TR of 2 s, an TE of 35 ms, and a flip angle of 0°, and volumes were composed of 36 axial slices (4 mm thick, no gap).

Prior to statistical analyses, preprocessing for all tasks consisted of spatial realignment to the first volume of acquisition, normalization to the MNI standard template, and spatial smoothing with a 6 mm 3D Gaussian kernel. fMRI task data were analyzed using Statistical Parametric Mapping software (SPM5, Wellcome Department of Imaging Neuroscience London)¹ run in MATLAB 7.4², and viewed with xjview³.

The fMRI data were analyzed separately for each of the three tasks. For the Social Attribution task, the data were analyzed using a general linear model to create contrast images with a block design (blocks: People and Bumper); the Identity tasks were analyzed separately using an event-related design, in which each type of event (events: Self, Friend, and Reflected) corresponded to the BOLD signal during the 4s presentation of each statement. With both techniques, the general linear model was used to create contrast images with activation of each condition assessed using a multiple regression analysis set as boxcar functions. Each regressor was convolved with a canonical hemodynamic response function (HRF) provided in SPM5 and entered into the modified general linear model of SPM5. Parameter estimates (e.g., beta values) were extracted from this GLM analysis for the regressors. Resulting single-subject one-sample t-test contrast images were created for each participant for each of the three tasks. These contrast images were combined for group map analyses.

REGIONS OF INTEREST

Previously we identified four regions showing group differences with whole-brain voxel-wide comparisons of the AN and CN group maps using the contrasts of conditions in the three tasks (31, 36). These were the *a priori* regions of interest (ROI) for this study focusing on BN. In the Social Attribution Task, the wholebrain voxel-wide comparisons of the AN and CN groups led to identification of a 94 voxel region in the RTPJ (MNI 52, -64, 20) that showed more modulation in the People condition than the Bumper condition in the CN subjects compared to the AN subjects. In the Social Identity Task, the whole-brain voxel-wide comparisons of the Reflected-Self contrast for the AN and CN groups led to identification of a 379 voxel region in the dACC (MNI 6, 26, 36) with the opposite modulation in the CN subjects compared to the AN subjects. In the Social Identity Task, the whole-brain voxel-wide comparisons of the Self-Friend contrast for the AN and CN groups led to identification of a 43 voxel region in the PreC (MNI -8, -48, 46) with more modulation in the Self

¹www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm

²http://www.mathworks.com

³http://www.alivelearn.net/xjview8/

condition than the Friend condition in the CN subjects compared to the AN subjects. In the Physical Identity Task, the whole-brain voxel-wide comparisons of the Self-Friend contrast for the AN and CN groups led to identification of a 61 voxel region in a ventral region of the dACC adjacent to the corpus callosum (cc-dACC, MNI -6, 20, 24) showing more modulation in the CN subjects than the AN subjects. In addition to the ROIs defined by group differences in these tasks, we also examined activations in medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC; vmPFC) and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) based on prior reports of differences in these areas with similar tasks in eating disorder subjects. We created 5 mm spherical ROIs centered on the published coordinates for MPFC [10, 64, 18, (37)], vmPFC [-12, 44, -12, (42)], and DLPFC [-48, 6, 38 (28)]. For all ROI analyses, we extracted the percent signal change occurring within each of these regions for each subject using the MarsBar toolbox⁴ and transferred this data to (SPSS, Inc., Chicago). In SPSS, we first conducted a three-group ANOVA to identify whether differences were present across the three subject groups for each ROI, and conducted follow-up analyses of significant results using between-group *t*-tests.

RESULTS

PSYCHOLOGICAL SCALES AND DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

The three groups were not significantly different in age or years of education. The AN group had a significantly lower body mass index than either the CN and BN groups (**Table 1**). The BN and AN groups both scored higher than the CN group on measures of depression and eating behaviors but were not significantly different from each other. The AN and BN subjects also reported lower levels of both self-liking and self-competence compared to the CN subjects. On the SPSI-R, the AN and BN groups had lower overall scores on social problem solving as well as lower levels of positive

Table 1 | Sociodemographic and symptom scale values for the participants.

⁴sourceforge.net/projects/marsbar

problem orientation and higher levels of negative problem orientation than the CN groups. The AN subjects also showed higher levels of avoidance than the CN subjects, whereas the BN subjects had lower levels of rational-problem solving than the CN subjects. However, there were no significant differences in the AN and BN groups in comparisons for any of the SPSI-R subscales.

SOCIAL ATTRIBUTION TASK

The Social Attribution Task required subjects to respond to a question about each video. There were no differences in the accuracy of the subjects in response to either the Bumper visuospatial-weight question [mean percent correct, CN 59%, AN 64%, BN 69%, F(50) = 2.17, p = 0.13], or the People social-friendship question [mean percent correct, CN 77%, AN 81%, and BN 84%, F(50) = 1.67, p = 0.20]. There were also no differences in reaction times for subjects in either task [Bumper, mean reaction time in seconds, CN 1.22, AN 1.30, BN 1.35, F(50) = 0.28, p = 0.76; People, mean reaction time in seconds, CN 1.30, AN 1.35, BN 1.40, F(50) = 0.15, p = 0.86].

The People–Bumper contrast of the Social Attribution Task resulted in significant clusters of activation in the middle temporal gyri, and temporoparietal junctions (TPJ) in all three groups (**Table 2**). Additionally, the CN subjects had bilateral activations in inferior frontal gyri, the fusiform gyri, the medial frontal gyrus, and the PreC. The AN and BN subjects also had activations in the right inferior frontal gyrus, but not the left inferior frontal gyrus. The AN subjects also showed modulation of the medial frontal gyrus like the CN subjects, and also activated a region in the ventral anterior Cing. The BN subjects did not modulate MPFC, like the CN and AN groups, but did modulate the PreC and the fusiform gyri, like the CN subjects but differing from the AN subjects.

In **Figure 1**, we show the percent signal change occurring in the ROI for this contrast, the RTPJ, in the CN, AN, and BN groups during the Social Attribution task [means People–Bumper, CN 0.35,

Average age (years)24.5 (18–39) ^a 26.1 (18–40)28.1 (19–42)No differencesMean years of education15.8 (14–20)14.9 (12–19)15.8 (13–18)No differencesCurrent body mass index ^b 23.2 (18–35)19.6 (18–23)22.1 (19–27) $1 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 2, p = 0.001; 3 > 1, p = 0.001; 1 > 3, p = 0.002; 1 >$					
Mean years of education15.8 (14–20)14.9 (12–19)15.8 (13–18)No differencesCurrent body mass indexb23.2 (18–35)19.6 (18–23)22.1 (19–27) $1 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 1, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p < 0.002; 1 > 0.001; 3 > 1, p < 0.002; 1 > 0.002; 1 > 0.002; 1 > 0.00$		Healthy control $(n = 18)$	Anorexia nervosa (<i>n</i> = 18)	Bulimia nervosa (<i>n</i> = 17)	Between group comparisons ^c
Current body mass index23.2 (18–35)19.6 (18–23)22.1 (19–27) $1 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 1, p = 0.001; 1 > 3, p = 0.002; 1 > 3, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p $	Average age (years)	24.5 (18–39) ^a	26.1 (18–40)	28.1 (19–42)	No differences
Quick inventory of depression $3.7 (0-9)$ $8.5 (2-17)$ $6.8 (1-16)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Eating attitudes test $4.3 (0-15)$ $27.4 (1-61)$ $18.8 (2-51)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Self liking from SLSCd $30.7 (19-40)$ $17.2 (8-29)$ $20.4 (8-32)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Self competence from SLSCd $30.2 (24-40)$ $24.7 (18-37)$ $27 (17-38)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Social problem solving inventory $15.3 (12-18)$ $12.1 (6-18)$ $11.6 (6-14)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Positive problem orientation $13.7 (7-18)$ $10.4 (3-19)$ $10.3 (3-15)$ $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$ Negative problem orientation $3.9 (0-8)$ $10.8 (3-16)$ $9.2 (1-20)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving $13.2 (6-18)$ $10.8 (0-16)$ $8.3 (3-17)$ $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style $3 (0-14)$ $6.6 (0-17)$ $5.5 (0-13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Mean years of education	15.8 (14–20)	14.9 (12–19)	15.8 (13–18)	No differences
Eating attitudes test4.3 (0-15) $27.4 (1-61)$ $18.8 (2-51)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Self liking from SLSCd $30.7 (19-40)$ $17.2 (8-29)$ $20.4 (8-32)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Self competence from SLSCd $30.2 (24-40)$ $24.7 (18-37)$ $27 (17-38)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Social problem solving inventory $15.3 (12-18)$ $12.1 (6-18)$ $11.6 (6-14)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Positive problem orientation $13.7 (7-18)$ $10.4 (3-19)$ $10.3 (3-15)$ $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$ Negative problem orientation $3.9 (0-8)$ $10.8 (3-16)$ $9.2 (1-20)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving $13.2 (6-18)$ $10.8 (0-16)$ $8.3 (3-17)$ $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style $3 (0-14)$ $6.6 (0-17)$ $5.5 (0-13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Current body mass index ^b	23.2 (18–35)	19.6 (18–23)	22.1 (19–27)	1 > 2, p = 0.003; 3 > 2, p=0.001
Self liking from SLSCd $30.7 (19-40)$ $17.2 (8-29)$ $20.4 (8-32)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Self competence from SLSCd $30.2 (24-40)$ $24.7 (18-37)$ $27 (17-38)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Social problem solving inventory $15.3 (12-18)$ $12.1 (6-18)$ $11.6 (6-14)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Positive problem orientation $13.7 (7-18)$ $10.4 (3-19)$ $10.3 (3-15)$ $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$ Negative problem orientation $3.9 (0-8)$ $10.8 (3-16)$ $9.2 (1-20)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving $13.2 (6-18)$ $10.8 (0-16)$ $8.3 (3-17)$ $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style $3 (0-14)$ $6.6 (0-17)$ $5.5 (0-13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Quick inventory of depression	3.7 (0–9)	8.5 (2–17)	6.8 (1–16)	2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p = 0.012
Self competence from SLSCd $30.2 (24-40)$ $24.7 (18-37)$ $27 (17-38)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Social problem solving inventory $15.3 (12-18)$ $12.1 (6-18)$ $11.6 (6-14)$ $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Positive problem orientation $13.7 (7-18)$ $10.4 (3-19)$ $10.3 (3-15)$ $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$ Negative problem orientation $3.9 (0-8)$ $10.8 (3-16)$ $9.2 (1-20)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving $13.2 (6-18)$ $10.8 (0-16)$ $8.3 (3-17)$ $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style $3 (0-14)$ $6.6 (0-17)$ $5.5 (0-13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Eating attitudes test	4.3 (0–15)	27.4 (1–61)	18.8 (2–51)	2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p = 0.001
Social problem solving inventory15.3 (12–18)12.1 (6–18)11.6 (6–14) $1 > 2, p < 0.001; 1 > 3, p$ Positive problem orientation13.7 (7–18)10.4 (3–19)10.3 (3–15) $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$ Negative problem orientation3.9 (0–8)10.8 (3–16) 9.2 (1–20) $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving13.2 (6–18)10.8 (0–16) 8.3 (3–17) $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style3 (0–14) 6.6 (0–17) 5.5 (0–13) $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Self liking from SLSC ^d	30.7 (19–40)	17.2 (8–29)	20.4 (8–32)	1 > 2, <i>p</i> < 0.001; 1 > 3, <i>p</i> = 0.02
Positive problem orientation13.7 (7–18)10.4 (3–19)10.3 (3–15) $1 > 2, p = 0.02; 1 > 3, p =$	Self competence from SLSC ^d	30.2 (24–40)	24.7 (18–37)	27 (17–38)	1 > 2, <i>p</i> < 0.001; 1 > 3, <i>p</i> = 0.04
Negative problem orientation $3.9 (0-8)$ $10.8 (3-16)$ $9.2 (1-20)$ $2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p$ Rational problem solving $13.2 (6-18)$ $10.8 (0-16)$ $8.3 (3-17)$ $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style $3 (0-14)$ $6.6 (0-17)$ $5.5 (0-13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Social problem solving inventory	15.3 (12–18)	12.1 (6–18)	11.6 (6–14)	1 > 2, <i>p</i> < 0.001; 1 > 3, <i>p</i> < 0.001
Rational problem solving13.2 (6–18)10.8 (0–16)8.3 (3–17) $1 > 3, p = 0.007$ Avoidance style3 (0–14) $6.6 (0–17)$ $5.5 (0–13)$ $2 > 1, p = 0.028$	Positive problem orientation	13.7 (7–18)	10.4 (3–19)	10.3 (3–15)	1 > 2, <i>p</i> = 0.02; 1 > 3, <i>p</i> = 0.02
Avoidance style 3 (0–14) 6.6 (0–17) 5.5 (0–13) 2 > 1, p = 0.028	Negative problem orientation	3.9 (0–8)	10.8 (3–16)	9.2 (1–20)	2 > 1, p < 0.001; 3 > 1, p = 0.001
	Rational problem solving	13.2 (6–18)	10.8 (0–16)	8.3 (3–17)	1 > 3, <i>p</i> = 0.007
Impulsivity/careless style 3.4 (0–10) 3.6 (0–15) 5.9 (0–16) No differences	Avoidance style	3 (0–14)	6.6 (0–17)	5.5 (0–13)	2 > 1, <i>p</i> = 0.028
	Impulsivity/careless style	3.4 (0–10)	3.6 (0–15)	5.9 (0–16)	No differences

^aAll entries under the subject groups contain the mean (range).

^bMean and range for AN subjects exclude one higher weight outlier.

°Statistical values obtained using a three group ANOVA for each metric; p values provided for significant differences (<0.05).

^dSLSC: self-Liking and self-competence scale.

Table 2 I	Clusters in the CN	AN, AN, and BN c	group maps during the	People-Bumper contr	ast of the social attribution task.
	01401010 111 1110 01	<i>,,,</i> ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,,	group maps during the	i oopio Bainpoi oona	

Group	Region	Volume	Cluster P	Peak T	MNI <i>x</i> , <i>y</i> , <i>z</i>
CN	Temporal	4366	0	11.66	60, -8, -16
CN	Inferior frontal	769	0	10.9	54, 28, 8
CN	Inferior frontal	313	0	10.67	-52, 22, -4
CN	Temporoparietal	2273	0	9.07	-60, -44, 12
CN	Temporal	918	0	8.64	-54, 0, -20
CN	Cerebellum	281	0	7.47	-10, -80, -46
CN	Fusiform	764	0	7.39	44, -34, -20
CN	Precuneus	609	0	6.68	8, -46, 36
CN	Prefrontal	344	0	6.13	4, 56, 14
CN	Caudate	81	0.036	5.77	-6, 2, 4
CN	Precentral	151	0.001	5.58	44, 6, 42
CN	Medial frontal	86	0.027	4.95	-6, 46, 40
AN	Temporoparietal	531	0	9.71	56, -42, 10
AN	Inferior frontal	194	0.003	9.22	50, 30, 10
AN	Temporal	204	0.003	9.21	-56, -10, -16
AN	Temporal	402	0	8.18	54, -2, -20
AN	Medial frontal	244	0.001	6.6	6, 54, 14
AN	Cingulate	137	0.02	5.89	-2.48, -10
AN	Temporoparietal	111	0.048	5	46, 10, -34
BN	Temporoparietal	2152	0	12.34	50, -58, 2
BN	Temporal	667	0	8.65	54, -10, -14
BN	Fusiform	255	0	7.97	34, -34, -18
BN	Temporal pole	645	0	7.77	-42, 6, -36
BN	Precuneus	638	0	7.5	14, -60, 22
BN	Temporoparietal	1312	0	7.23	-48, -58, 6
BN	Inferior frontal	224	0	6.93	50, 28, 4
BN	Fusiform	282	0	6.12	-36, -50, -18



AN 0.09, BN 0.17, F(50) = 9.7, p < 0.001]. The BN group showed significantly less modulation of this region than the CN group [t(33) = 2.7, p = 0.01; Cohen's d = -0.85; effect size = -0.39] and no difference compared to the AN group [t(33) = -1.2, p = 0.23]. Similar to the AN group, the differences in activation are primarily the result of less activation of this region during the People

condition. We also examined percent signal change by subject group in a MPFC ROI previously described in a similar task as related to outcomes in adolescent AN (37). Although the BN subjects had less activation in this ROIs than the other groups, it was not statistically different from either of the other groups [means, CN 0.30, AN 0.22, BN 0.17, F(50) = 2.1, p = 0.13].

SOCIAL IDENTITY TASK

The Social Identity Task required subjects to read and respond to social adjectives presented in three different conditions (Self, Friend, and Reflected) in the scanner. For each statement, we obtained a response on a four point scale and a reaction time. There were no significant differences across the three groups in any condition for either average response [mean response, Self: CN 2.53, AN 2.44, BN, 2.49, F(51) = 0.178, p = 0.84; Friend: CN 2.49, AN 2.46, BN 2.46, F(51) = 1.54, p = 0.22; Reflected: CN 2.53, AN 2.38, BN 2.41, F(51) = 0.75, p = 0.48] or the reaction times [mean reaction times in seconds, Self: CN 2.07, AN 2.18, BN 2.26, F(51) = 0.35, p = 0.70; Friend: CN 2.03, AN 1.97, BN 2.10, F(51) = 1.97, p = 0.15; Reflected: CN 2.17, AN 2.15, BN 2.16, F(51) = 0.42, p = 0.66].

The Social Identity Task activates regions associated with selfknowledge and personal mentalization. In the personal mentalization contrast (Social Reflected-Self), subjects were asked to imagine what a close friend thinks about their social characteristics in contrast to their own belief about themselves. This contrast differs somewhat from the mentalization processes activated in the Social Attribution task because the mentalization is now attributed to a known individual. The largest clusters of activation occurred in the PreC in all subject groups (Table 3). For both the CN and BN groups, this cluster also included a portion of the posterior Cing, but the AN group had a smaller PreC cluster and an additional cluster in the posterior Cing. The BN and CN groups also had other activation clusters including some consistent with activations seen in the impersonal mentalization task (CN subjects, cluster in left medial temporal gyrus; BN subjects, bilateral clusters in the TPJs). In Figure 2, the BN group showed a lower degree of modulation of the ROI from this task contrast, the dACC, than the CN group [means, Reflected–Self, CN 0.076, BN -0.011, t(31) = 2.2, p = 0.03, Cohen's d = -0.79, effect size = -0.37], and no difference from the AN group [means, Reflected-Self, AN -0.091, BN -0.01, t(31) = -2.0, p = 0.06].

The self-knowledge comparison (Social Self–Friend) led to very different activation patterns in the AN and BN subjects compared to the CN subjects (**Table 4**). Notably, the CN subjects only activated clusters in the occipital lobes, whereas the AN and BN subjects had many clusters with the largest in occipital, parietal, and frontal cortex. In **Figure 2**, the BN group also showed significantly less modulation of the ROI from this task contrast, the PreC, than the CN group [means, Self–Friend, CN 0.083, BN -0.001, t(31) = 2.7, p = 0.01, Cohen's d = -0.94, effect size = -0.43], and no difference from the AN group [means, Social Self–Friend, AN -0.039, BN -0.001, t(31) = -0.9, p = 0.36]. We also examined percent signal change in the vmPFC and DLPFC but found no differences in either region across the three groups [vmPFC, means CN 0.02, AN 0.02, BN 0.18, F(50) = 1.75, p = 0.31].

PHYSICAL IDENTITY TASK

The Physical Identity Task required subjects to read and respond to physical descriptive phrases presented in three different conditions (Self, Friend, and Reflected) in the scanner. For each statement, we obtained a response related to agreeing or disagreeing with the description using a four point scale and a reaction time. There were no significant differences across the three groups in any condition for either average response [mean response, Self: CN 2.39, AN 2.40, BN, 2.36, F(51) = 0.178, p = 0.84; Friend: CN 2.36, AN 2.40, BN 2.31, F(51) = 1.54, p = 0.22; Reflected: CN 2.31, AN 2.31, BN 2.24, F(51) = 0.75, p = 0.48) or the reaction times [mean reaction times in milliseconds, Self: CN 2339, AN 2294, BN 2367, F(51) = 0.35, p = 0.70; Friend: CN 2392, AN 2267, BN 2440, F(51) = 1.97, p = 0.15; Reflected: CN 2493, AN 2414, BN 2492, F(51) = 0.42, p = 0.66].

In the Physical Identity self-knowledge contrast (Physical Self-Friend), very different activation patterns were present in the three groups (**Table 5**). The CN subjects had several clusters in the anterior and middle Cing; the AN subjects had clusters in the inferior frontal gyri; and the BN subjects showed no activation clusters at all. In **Figure 2**, the BN group showed no differences in the modulation of the ROI for this task contrast, the cc-dACC, with either the CN group [means Physical Self–Friend, CN 0.12, BN 0.04, t(31) = 1.8, p = 0.09] or the AN group [means, Physical Self–Friend, AN -0.014, BN 0.04, t(31) = -1.3]. We also examined percent signal change in vmPFC and DLPFC but found no differences in either region across the three groups [vmPFC, means CN 0.06, AN 0.04, BN -0.04, F(50) = 0.44, p = 0.65; DLPFC, means CN 0.06, AN 0.00, BN 0.05, F(50) = 1.35, p = 0.27].

Table 3	Clusters in the	CN, AN, and BN	group maps	during the Ref	lected-Self contras	t of the social identity	task.
Tuble 0	olusions in the	one, Ane, unite bit	group maps	auning the net		t of the social facility	tuon.

Group	Region	Volume	Cluster P	Peak T	MNI <i>x</i> , <i>γ</i> , <i>z</i>
CN	Lingual gyrus	151	0.001	8.15	18, -82, -6
CN	Posterior cingulate	1008	0	6.74	8, -24, 28
CN	Middle temporal	135	0.002	6.36	-52, -16, -12
CN	Cuneus	79	0.035	5.83	16, -76, 10
CN	Superior frontal	140	0.002	4.84	-2, 8, 56
AN	Precuneus	137	0.002	6.02	-8, -64, 34
AN	Posterior cingulate	85	0.024	5.44	4, -30, 24
BN	Precuneus	2180	0	12.76	12, -70, 34
BN	Temporoparietal	202	0	8.63	48, -42, 16
BN	Temporoparietal	361	0	6.88	-48, -58, 20
BN	Cingulate	108	0.003	6.31	18, -36, 40



FIGURE 2 | ROIs and the percent signal change in each group for the Social and Physical Identity contrasts. (A) The upper row shows the extent of each ROI in red; from left to right, the dACC (MNI x = 6; Social Identity Reflected–Self); the precuneus (x = -8; Social Identity Self–Friend); and the cc-dACC (x = -6; Physical Identity Self–Friend). (B) The bar graphs shows the average percent signal modulation within each ROI for the CN (green), AN (blue), and BN (red) groups. Percent signal change was computed for the contrast and task that defined each ROI; the Social Identity task for the dACC and PreC; the Physical Identity task for the cc-dACC.

DISCUSSION

Neuroimaging work in the last decade has shown that neural regions involved in self-knowledge are often also activated in social cognitive processing, so the same brain regions that enable understanding one's own self may also be involved in understanding others (8, 9, 30). One diagnostic criterion for both AN and BN is related to self-knowledge: body shape or weight having undue influence on self-esteem (1). Additionally, problems related to understanding self and others have long been observed in AN (14, 43, 44). Recently, neural evidence of differences in social processing has been reported in AN subjects (36, 37). Here, we assessed whether BN subjects showed more similarities to AN or CN subjects in their neural activations in response to fMRI tasks requiring social processing.

First, it is worth observing that the psychiatric and demographic data for the subjects with AN and BN were only significantly different from each other in that the AN subjects had a lower body mass index. On all other scales, including measures of self-esteem and social behavior, the two subject groups did not differ from one another. There were two differences in comparisons with the CN group on subscales of the SPSI-R: AN subjects had a higher avoidance style and BN subjects showed less rational-problem solving than the CN subjects, but there were no significant differences on these measures in the direct comparisons of the AN and BN subjects. These results are consistent with studies of clinical and personality characteristics in the literature that have examined both AN and BN subjects: few differences are identified, supporting a theory that similar psychological processes underlie both disorders (45–49). Many self-report and clinical measures of psychiatric symptoms depend both upon a subject's willingness to admit to their symptoms and concerns as well as their ability to recognize and report on their actual symptoms (50). In eating disorders, minimization and denial of symptoms are frequently observed, making psychological and cognitive assessments challenging (51, 52). Neuroimaging data is less likely to be affected by these problems. This study suggests that neural data may provide increased sensitivity for the detection of altered brain function in eating disorders.

Few studies have examined social cognition in BN (19). Interestingly, nearly all of these studies have examined social cognition using facial stimuli, either in a recognition of feelings portrayed by faces (16, 18), an identification of emotions in faces (53, 54), or through an emotional facial Stroop task (48). Amongst these tasks, only the emotional Stroop task, showed strong differences in direct comparisons of BN and CN subjects. Akin to these studies, the neural data from the Social Attribution task showed more similar activation clusters in the BN and CN group maps than in the AN and CN group maps. Notably, both the CN and BN subjects showed significant activations bilaterally in the fusiform face areas in the People-Bumper contrast but the AN group did not have activation in this region. In concert with the numerous behavioral observations of differences related to facial emotion processing in AN (15-17, 55), our neuroimaging data suggest that the neural regions that subserve the processing of facial expressions may be intact in BN but not in the AN (Figure 1; Table 1).

However, the BN subjects did show less modulation than the CN subjects within the RTPJ, the ROI previously identified as showing differences in the task activations using the whole-brain comparisons of the AN and CN groups. This area has been most consistently associated with TOM across a wide variety of imaging tasks that include imagining human movement, interpreting stories, and viewing complex videos (32, 56–59). Our demonstration of reduced modulation of this region in the BN group suggests that there are similarities in the neural processing of TOM in both types of eating disorders. This finding further highlights the fact that neuroimaging markers for cognitive processes may be more sensitive to measuring certain aspects of processing, as the behavioral studies have not detected mentalization differences in BN subjects.

Bydlowski (60) reported reduced TOM in BN subjects using the Levels of Emotional Awareness Scale (LEAS). This is a TOM task that involves answering questions about one's own emotions and another person's emotional state based on responses to short vignettes, rather than viewing faces or videos. In PET imaging studies, LEAS scores has been positively correlated with emotional arousal in the dACC in healthy people (61-63) but negatively correlated in post-traumatic stress disorder patients (63). Interestingly, the Social Identity mentalization contrast showed an opposite pattern of modulation in the dACC in the AN and BN groups compared to the CN group. In concert with our data, these results suggest that neural differences in the dACC related to social and emotional processing are present in both AN and BN. Interestingly, activations of the dACC are more commonly observed in tasks with personal relevance (30), a condition present in our Identity task mentalization condition but not the Social Attribution task.

Group	Region	Volume	Cluster P	Peak T	MNI <i>x</i> , <i>y</i> , <i>z</i>
CN	Lingual	915	0	8.7	-4, -94, -4
CN	Lingual	454	0	6.83	8, -82, -4
CN	Occipital	115	0.007	6.13	32, -86, 12
CN	Occipital	290	0	6.11	-24, -68, -18
AN	Occipital	4399	0	8.86	24, -92, -2
AN	Superior parietal	1358	0	8.8	-22, -64, 48
AN	Caudate	95	0.009	7.35	16, 14, -2
AN	Middle frontal	1293	0	7.27	-54, 18, 30
AN	Superior frontal	923	0	7.23	6, 8, 58
AN	Inferior frontal	560	0	6.46	-44, 40, 2
AN	Superior temporal	166	0	6.14	48, 16, -10
AN	Precuneus	539	0	5.97	18, -70, 50
AN	Middle frontal	75	0.03	5.79	36, 32, 28
AN	Inferior parietal	75	0.03	5.71	38, -50, 42
AN	Cerebellum	74	0.032	5.64	10, -76, -44
AN	Inferior frontal	137	0.001	5.04	36, 2, 22
BN	Occipital	839	0	9.3	-12, -92, 14
BN	Parietal	1087	0	8.48	-52, -22, 38
BN	Occipital	979	0	8.13	14, -86, -2
BN	Cingulate	991	0	8.02	4, 8, 64
BN	Precuneus	185	0	7.17	22, -56, 36
BN	Fusiform	216	0	6.46	-36, -62, -18
BN	Precentral	128	0.001	6.46	54, 2, 38
BN	Inferior frontal	482	0	6.33	-56, 12, 22
BN	Precentral	169	0	6.1	48, -16, 42

Table 4 | Clusters in the CN, AN, and BN group maps during the Self-Friend contrast of the social identity task.

Table 5 | Clusters in the CN, AN, and BN group maps during the Self-Friend contrast of the physical identity task.

Group	Region	Volume	Cluster P	Peak T	MNI <i>x, y, z</i>
CN	Anterior cingulate	614	0	7.64	-6, 22, 24
CN	Anterior cingulate	104	0.011	6.23	2, 42, 12
CN	Cingulate gyrus	184	0	5.14	6, -8, 34
AN	Inferior frontal	80	0.022	4.84	40, 16, -16
AN	Medial frontal	70	0.04	4.49	-2, 36, 38
AN	Inferior frontal	70	0.04	4.45	-50, 20, -6
BN	No regions				

One of the most intriguing findings relates to the differences seen in both eating disorder patients and healthy people with a mentalization process that is personal (*my friend thinks...*) compared to the impersonal task (*People: All friends?*). Very different neural regions are engaged in these two tasks, demonstrating that tasks that separate personal and impersonal mentalization may be important for examination of psychopathology related to social processing. Our neural data implies that the consideration of one's own self may fundamentally alter social cognitive processing. Recognition of the specific neurocognitive demands of both imaging and behavioral tasks may be essential in detecting psychological and biological differences in eating disorders. Further research with more complicated behavioral and neuroimaging tasks that assess personal and impersonal mentalization are warranted in BN. Stein and Corte (64) described identity as the stable yet evolving set of memory structures relating to one's own experiences, and dissociable into different dimensions, which they referred to as self-schemas. They proposed that in eating disorders, the selfschemas related to emotional and physical understanding of one's own self-state are impaired (64–66). Limitations in assessment of their own emotions are seen in the elevated levels of alexithymia reported in both AN and BN (46, 60, 67–69). Problems in selfesteem are also present and often precede the development of both AN and BN (20–22, 70, 71). The presence of negative selfbeliefs unrelated to shape and weight has been proposed as a core component of eating disorders (26, 27).

In Social Identity self-knowledge contrast (Social Self-Friend), the group maps of the AN and BN subjects were very different from the CN subjects. The CN subjects only activated areas in

the occipital and lingual cortex, whereas the AN and BN subjects showed significant activations not only in those areas, but also in frontal, parietal, and temporal regions (Table 4). Additionally, we observed reduced activation of the dorsal PreC in AN and BN subjects, the area previously identified with greater modulation in the CN subjects than the AN. Consistent with our findings, reduced modulation of the PreC has been reported in two other imaging tasks in BN. Ashworth and colleagues (72) examined cognitive processing related to social emotional appraisals by asking subjects to remember and match negative facial expressions, and Pringle and colleagues (28) asked subjects to consider whether negative eating and depression words were self-relevant or not. Together with our data, these studies support an idea that PreC activity in response to self-evaluation may be altered in eating disorders. The PreC has connections with temporal, limbic, and parietal regions, suggesting that it serves to integrate current physical and emotional status with prior experiences (73). The reduced modulation of the PreC in the eating disorder subjects observed here implies a reduced connection between physiological state and personal experience, supporting an idea that the psychological processes that mediate identity formation are disrupted in eating disorders.

In the physical self-knowledge contrast, subjects were asked to think about their own physical appearance. This task strongly activated a ventral region of the dACC, immediately adjacent to the corpus callosum in the CN subjects, with little modulation in the AN subjects, and no clusters identified in the BN subjects. In this comparison, BN subjects were not significantly different from either the AN or the CN subjects. The variance of the BN group was nearly twice that of either the AN or CN group for this ROI, supporting an idea that some subjects with BN may have problems activating this cortical area and others may not. For the other ROIs, the variance of the BN group was similar to that of the AN and CN groups. Interestingly, Marsh and colleagues have focused on the neural circuits involved in self-regulation in BN, and also reported differences in the activation of this area of the dACC in BN (74, 75). From a cognitive perspective, the differences in the cc-dACC suggests that some subjects with BN, but not all, think about their current physical or physiological state differently than healthy people. This neural difference may correspond to less information about physiological needs being available in the minds of eating disorder patients, making it easier for these individuals to develop feeding behaviors that are removed from nutritional needs. Future studies may want to focus on whether the activation of the cc-dACC can be related to psychological measures of body shape perception and interoceptive awareness.

Recently, Schulte-Ruther and colleagues (37) used an fMRI task similar to the Social Attribution task to examine whether longitudinal changes in social cognitive regions were associated with weight recovery in adolescents being treated for AN. They observed reduced activation of temporal and medial frontal regions both before and after weight recovery in AN subjects compared to CN subjects. They also reported that stronger modulation of one social cognition region, the MPFC at the start of treatment, was predictive of outcome. We also examined responses in this MPFC ROI, but found no differences in the three subject groups. One major difference in the studies is that all our subjects were at a stable weight when scanned, whereas the earlier study had observed changes in this region related to outcomes following treatment. Nevertheless, the observation that MPFC may be relevant to recovery is particularly exciting when considered in the context of a study by Somerville and colleagues (76) in which healthy people with low self-esteem showed modulation of responses in their vACC and MPFC in response to social feedback whereas people with high self-esteem showed no changes in this region in response to feedback. Low self-esteem has previously been shown to be predictive of the development of eating disorders (20, 22, 25) as well as an indicator of outcome and severity (77, 78). Neural responses within the ACC and MPFC to social feedback may provide a biological mechanism that connects social cognitive responses and self-esteem with eating pathology; understanding how biological factors impact specific patients may lead to improved outcomes by providing more individualized treatments in the future.

Additionally, two earlier studies have identified frontal cortical regions associated with eating disorders and processing verbal stimuli. Pringle and colleagues (28) found differences in dorsolateral PFC in response to negative emotional words considered in the context of oneself, and Miyake et al. (42) has reported differences in vmPFC associated with responses to selecting a negative body image words compared to selecting the most neutral of a random word sets. Although we did not observe differences across our subject groups in these same regions in either the Social Identity task or the Physical Identity task, this is likely related to differences in task design. Our subjects performed Self-appraisals, Friend-appraisals, and Reflected-appraisals, using the same sets of adjectives. As such, neither of the studies showing effects in frontal regions had a comparison situation involving the same stimuli words referenced to a different person. This suggests that the areas we have identified in the dACC, cc-dACC, and PreC may be specific for altered cognitions related to one's own self in eating disorder subjects, whereas frontal activation differences may relate to the cognitions evoked by physical and emotional descriptive terms.

There are a number of limitations to these studies. First, the sample groups were small and as such the study may be underpowered to identify both differences and similarities that are present. Furthermore, the BN group showed more variability in their neural activations than the AN and CN groups, and that variability may warrant collecting a larger group to identify specific differences. Additionally, a larger study could explore the relationships between neural activity and clinical symptoms for both AN and BN. Potentially, neural data may provide an additional tool to assess the severity and symptoms present in a specific patient with an ED.

Another limitation of any single-time point psychiatric study is that the presence of neural differences does not determine whether these differences are a cause or an effect of the disorder. In eating disorders, medical issues are likely to alter brain function. Purging behaviors alter electrolytes, a critical factor for neuronal signaling (79). Restriction leads to nutritional deficiencies and hormonal changes, additional factors that alter brain function (80). Neurodevelopment is critically dependent on myelination (81, 82), and that process may be impacted with the presence of an eating disorder in adolescence and young adulthood. The size of the anterior Cing, a brain region fundamental in self-processing, decreases with the severity of starvation in AN (83). Our studies show differences in neural activations in response to social tasks in patients currently or recently with eating disorders, including both AN and BN.

Differences in neural activations in psychiatric populations may be a result of a variety of processes. They can emerge because of pre-existing biological differences that lead to the disorder, because of the effects of having the disorder such as electrolyte changes, or may merely be a reflection of current psychological differences related to processing stimuli relevant to the disorder. Most commonly, differences are viewed as a biological predisposition to the illness but it is impossible to determine if these differences existed before the eating disorder and if they will still be present following recovery from the eating disorder. Our data show that there are differences in the neural activity that underlies social processing in people with BN. Clinically, this implies that social processing pathways, including TOM and self-knowledge, are engaged differently during an eating disorder. This reinforces choosing treatment models with a focus on issues related to social interaction and function in addition to disordered eating behaviors (84-86). Neural evidence of social processing differences in eating disorders may be important in helping patients accept treatments that appear indirectly related to alteration of eating patterns.

In summary, these experiments examined the neural modulations in response to fMRI tasks focusing on self-knowledge and social cognition in BN. We observed modulation in the BN group that was consistently intermediate between the AN and CN groups. In three ROIs, all of which were activated in CN during MRI tasks involving social evaluation, the BN subjects were significantly different from the CN subjects but not from the AN subjects. This suggests that neural processes that mediate social thinking are similar in AN and BN. Recently, Lavender and colleagues (87)

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994).
- Castellini G, Lo Sauro C, Mannucci E, Ravaldi C, Rotella CM, Faravelli C, et al. Diagnostic crossover and outcome predictors in eating disorders according to DSM-IV and DSM-V proposed criteria: a 6-year follow-up study. *Psychosom Med* (2011) **73**(3):270–9. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31820a1838
- Ackard DM, Fulkerson JA, Neumark-Sztainer D. Stability of eating disorder diagnostic classifications in adolescents: five-year longitudinal findings from a population-based study. *Eat Disord* (2011) 19(4):308–22. doi:10.1080/10640266.2011.584804
- Dalle Grave R. Eating disorders: progress and challenges. *Eur J Intern Med* (2011) 22(2):153–60. doi:10. 1016/j.ejim.2010.12.010
- Fairburn CG, Cooper Z. Eating disorders, DSM-5 and clinical reality. Br J Psychiatry (2011) 198(1):8–10. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp. 110.083881

- Agras WS, Crow SJ, Halmi KA, Mitchell JE, Wilson GT, Kraemer HC. Outcome predictors for the cognitive behavior treatment of bulimia nervosa: data from a multisite study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157(8):1302–8. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.157.8.1302
- Keski-Rahkonen A, Hoek HW, Linna MS, Raevuori A, Sihvola E, Bulik CM, et al. Incidence and outcomes of bulimia nervosa: a nationwide population-based study. *Psychol Med* (2009) **39**(5):823–31. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003942
- Beauchamp MH, Anderson V. SOCIAL: an integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychol Bull* (2010) 136(1):39–64. doi:10.1037/a0017768
- Lieberman MD. Social cognitive neuroscience: a review of core processes. *Annu Rev Psychol* (2007) 58:259–89. doi:10.1146/annurev. psych.58.110405.085654
- Abdi Z, Sharma T. Social cognition and its neural correlates in schizophrenia and autism. CNS Spectr (2004) 9(5):335–43.
- Korkmaz B. Theory of mind and neurodevelopmental disorders of childhood. *Pediatr Res* (2011) 69(5

examined outcomes for BN using a group therapy focusing on emotional and social mind training, and found recovery rates similar to more established cognitive behavior therapy. That study, in concert with our neural data, suggest that further exploration of social processing interventions may lead to improved outcomes in BN. One interesting observation in that pilot treatment study was that subjects in the emotional and social training group were more likely to attend sessions, suggesting that this type of treatment may help to engage patients in treatment. The fourth region, cc-dACC, was identified in a contrast of the Physical Identity task. In this area, the BN subjects were not significantly different from either the AN or the CN subjects. This suggests that cognitions surrounding physical appearance may be altered less in BN than in AN, or less consistently altered amongst patients with BN. Overall, our studies demonstrate similarities in neural processing in BN and AN, and suggest that there may be shared biological mechanisms related to processing social concepts that differ systematically from neural modulations seen in healthy CN subjects.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank M. Michelle McClelland, Sunbola Ashimi, Lauren Monier, and Joanne Thambuswamy for assistance in the execution of this project. We thank The Elisa Project and Texas Health Presbyterian Hospital of Dallas for assistance in recruitment of subjects. This work was supported by unspecified funds from the School of Behavioral and Brain Science at the University of Texas at Dallas, the UT Southwestern Medical Center Physician Scientist Training Program, and National Institutes of Mental Health grant K23 MH093684-01A1.

Pt 2):101R-8R. doi:10.1203/PDR. 0b013e318212c177

- 12. Inoue Y, Yamada K, Kanba S. Deficit in theory of mind is a risk for relapse of major depression. *J Affect Disord* (2006) **95**(1–3):125–7. doi:10.1016/ j.jad.2006.04.018
- Harrington L, Siegert RJ, McClure J. Theory of mind in schizophrenia: a critical review. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (2005) **10**(4):249–86. doi:10. 1080/13546800444000056
- 14. Zucker NL, Losh M, Bulik CM, LaBar KS, Piven J, Pelphrey KA. Anorexia nervosa and autism spectrum disorders: guided investigation of social cognitive endophenotypes. *Psychol Bull* (2007) **133**(6):976–1006. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.133.6.976
- 15. Gillberg IC, Billstedt E, Wentz E, Anckarsater H, Rastam M, Gillberg C. Attention, executive functions, and mentalizing in anorexia nervosa eighteen years after onset of eating disorder. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2010) 32(4):358–65. doi:10.1080/13803390903066857
- Harrison A, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Attentional bias, emotion recognition, and emotion

regulation in anorexia: state or trait? *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) **68**(8):755–61. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2010.04.037

- Russell TA, Schmidt U, Doherty L, Young V, Tchanturia K. Aspects of social cognition in anorexia nervosa: affective and cognitive theory of mind. *Psychiatry Res* (2009) 168(3):181–5. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2008.10.028
- Kenyon M, Samarawickrema N, Dejong H, Van den Eynde F, Startup H, Lavender A, et al. Theory of mind in bulimia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2012) 45(3):377–84. doi:10.1002/eat.20967
- 19. Dejong H, Van den Eynde F, Broadbent H, Kenyon MD, Lavender A, Startup H, et al. Social cognition in bulimia nervosa: a systematic review. *Eur Psychiatry* (2011) **28**(1):1–6. doi:10.1016/j. eurpsy.2011.07.002
- Bardone AM, Perez M, Abramson LY, Joiner TE Jr. Self-competence and self-liking in the prediction of change in bulimic symptoms. *Int J Eat Disord* (2003) 34(3):361–9. doi:10.1002/ eat.10197

- Daley KA, Jimerson DC, Heatherton TF, Metzger ED, Wolfe BE. State self-esteem ratings in women with bulimia nervosa and bulimia nervosa in remission. *Int J Eat Disord* (2008) 41(2):159–63. doi:10.1002/ eat.20447
- Button EJ, Sonuga-Barke EJ, Davies J, Thompson M. A prospective study of self-esteem in the prediction of eating problems in adolescent schoolgirls: questionnaire findings. Br J Clin Psychol (1996) 35(Pt 2):193–203. doi:10.1111/j. 2044-8260.1996.tb01176.x
- Surgenor LJ, Maguire S, Russell J, Touyz S. Self-liking and selfcompetence: relationship to symptoms of anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2007) 15(2):139–45. doi:10.1002/erv.734
- 24. Paterson G, Power K, Yellowlees A, Park K, Taylor L. The relationship between two-dimensional selfesteem and problem solving style in an anorexic inpatient sample. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2007) **15**(1):70–7. doi:10.1002/erv.708
- 25. Vohs KD, Bardone AM, Joiner TE Jr, Abramson LY, Heatherton TF. Perfectionism, perceived weight status, and self-esteem interact to predict bulimic symptoms: a model of bulimic symptom development. J Abnorm Psychol (1999) 108(4):695–700. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.108.4.695
- Cooper MJ, Wells A, Todd G. A cognitive model of bulimia nervosa. Br J Clin Psychol (2004) 43(Pt 1):1–16. doi:10.1348/014466504772812931
- 27. Waller G, Sines J, Meyer C, Foster E, Skelton A. Narcissism and narcissistic defences in the eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2007) **40**(2):143–8. doi:10.1002/eat.20345
- Pringle A, Ashworth F, Harmer CJ, Norbury R, Cooper MJ. Neural correlates of the processing of self-referent emotional information in bulimia nervosa. *Neuropsychologia* (2011) 49(12):3272–8. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2011.07.032
- Northoff G, Bermpohl F. Cortical midline structures and the self. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2004) 8(3):102-7. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004. 01.004
- Heatherton TF. Neuroscience of self and self-regulation. Annu Rev Psychol (2011) 62:363–90. doi:10.1146/ annurev.psych.121208.131616
- McAdams CJ, Krawczyk DC. Who am I? How do I look? Neural differences in self-identity in anorexia nervosa. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci (2012). doi:10.1093/scan/nss093

- 32. Schultz RT, Grelotti DJ, Klin A, Kleinman J, Van der Gaag C, Marois R, et al. The role of the fusiform face area in social cognition: implications for the pathobiology of autism. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2003) **358**(1430):415–27. doi:10.1098/rstb.2002.1208
- 33. Fonagy P, Target M. The mentalization-focused approach to self pathology. J Pers Disord (2006) 20(6):544–76. doi:10.1521/pedi.2006.20.6.544
- 34. Pelphrey KA, Mack PB, Song A, Guzeldere G, McCarthy G. Faces evoke spatially differentiated patterns of BOLD activation and deactivation. *Neuroreport* (2003) 14(7):955–9. doi:10.1097/ 01.wnr.0000074345.81633.ad
- 35. Pinkham AE, Hopfinger JB, Pelphrey KA, Piven J, Penn DL. Neural bases for impaired social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. *Schiz-ophr Res* (2008) **99**(1–3):164–75. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.10.024
- 36. McAdams CJ, Krawczyk DC. Impaired neural processing of social attribution in anorexia nervosa. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) **194**(1):54–63. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.06. 016
- 37. Schulte-Ruther M, Mainz V, Fink GR, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, Konrad K. Theory of mind and the brain in anorexia nervosa: relation to treatment outcome. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2012) 51(8):832.e–41.e. doi:10. 1016/j.jaac.2012.06.007
- 38. Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Ibrahim HM, Carmody TJ, Arnow B, Klein DN, et al. The 16-Item quick inventory of depressive symptomatology (QIDS), clinician rating (QIDS-C), and self-report (QIDS-SR): a psychometric evaluation in patients with chronic major depression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54(5):573–83. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01866-8
- Berland NW, Thompson JK, Linton PH. Correlation between the eat-26 and the eat-40, the eating disorders inventory, and the restrained eating inventory. *Int J Eat Disord* (1986) 5(3):569–74. doi:10.1002/ 1098-108X(198603)5:3<569::AID-EAT2260050314>3.0.CO:2-3
- Tafarodi RW, Swann WB Jr. Selflinking and self-competence as dimensions of global self-esteem: initial validation of a measure. *J Pers* Assess (1995) 65(2):322–42. doi:10. 1207/s15327752jpa6502_8
- 41. D'Zurilla TJ, Chang EC, Nottingham EJT, Faccini L. Social

problem-solving deficits and hopelessness, depression, and suicidal risk in college students and psychiatric inpatients. *J Clin Psychol* (1998) **54**(8):1091–107. doi:10. 1002/(SICI)1097-4679(199812)54: 8<1091::AID-JCLP9>3.0.CO;2-J

- 42. Miyake Y, Okamoto Y, Onoda K, Shirao N, Otagaki Y, Yamawaki S. Neural processing of negative word stimuli concerning body image in patients with eating disorders: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* (2010) 50(3):1333–9. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.12.095
- Gillberg C. Are autism and anorexia nervosa related? Br J Psychiatry (1983) 142:428. doi:10.1192/bjp. 142.4.428b
- 44. Wentz E, Lacey JH, Waller G, Rastam M, Turk J, Gillberg C. Childhood onset neuropsychiatric disorders in adult eating disorder patients. A pilot study. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2005) 14(8):431–7.
- 45. Castro-Fornieles J, Gual P, Lahortiga F, Gila A, Casula V, Fuhrmann C, et al. Self-oriented perfectionism in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2007) 40(6):562–8. doi:10. 1002/eat.20393
- 46. Corcos M, Guilbaud O, Speranza M, Paterniti S, Loas G, Stephan P, et al. Alexithymia and depression in eating disorders. *Psychiatry Res* (2000) **93**(3):263–6. doi:10. 1016/S0165-1781(00)00109-8
- 47. Wagner A, Barbarich-Marsteller NC, Frank GK, Bailer UF, Wonderlich SA, Crosby RD, et al. Personality traits after recovery from eating disorders: do subtypes differ? *Int J Eat Disord* (2006) **39**(4):276–84. doi:10.1002/eat.20251
- Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Emotional functioning in eating disorders: attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. *Psychol Med* (2010) 40(11):1887–97. doi:10. 1017/S0033291710000036
- 49. Kaye WH, Bulik CM, Thornton L, Barbarich N, Masters K. Comorbidity of anxiety disorders with anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161(12):2215–21. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.12.2215
- 50. Moller HJ. Standardised rating scales in psychiatry: methodological basis, their possibilities and limitations and descriptions of important rating scales. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2009) **10**(1):6–26. doi:10.1080/15622970802264606
- 51. Vandereycken W, Van Humbeeck I. Denial and concealment of eating disorders: a retrospective

survey. Eur Eat Disord Rev (2008) 16(2):109–14. doi:10.1002/erv.857

- 52. Darcy AM, Katz S, Fitzpatrick KK, Forsberg S, Utzinger L, Lock J. All better? How former anorexia nervosa patients define recovery and engaged in treatment. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2010) 18(4):260–70. doi: 10.1002/erv.1020
- Kessler H, Schwarze M, Filipic S, Traue HC, von Wietersheim J. Alexithymia and facial emotion recognition in patients with eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2006) **39**(3):245–51. doi:10.1002/ eat.20228
- 54. Legenbauer T, Vocks S, Ruddel H. Emotion recognition, emotional awareness and cognitive bias in individuals with bulimia nervosa. *J Clin Psychol* (2008) 64(6):687–702. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20483
- 55. Harrison A, Tchanturia K, Naumann U, Treasure J. Social emotional functioning and cognitive styles in eating disorders. *Br J Clin Psychol* (2012) **51**(3):261–79. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.2011.02026.x
- 56. Pelphrey KA, Morris JP, McCarthy G. Grasping the intentions of others: the perceived intentionality of an action influences activity in the superior temporal sulcus during social perception. J Cogn Neurosci (2004) 16(10):1706–16. doi:10.1162/ 0898929042947900
- Saxe R, Wexler A. Making sense of another mind: the role of the right temporo-parietal junction. *Neuropsychologia* (2005) 43(10):1391–9. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2005.02.013
- Frith CD, Frith U. The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron* (2006) 50(4):531–4. doi:10.1016/j.neuron. 2006.05.001
- Frith C. What do imaging studies tell us about the neural basis of autism? *Novartis Found Symp* (2003) 251:149–66. doi:10.1002/ 0470869380.ch10 discussion 66–76, 281–97,
- Bydlowski S, Corcos M, Jeammet P, Paterniti S, Berthoz S, Laurier C, et al. Emotion-processing deficits in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2005) **37**(4):321–9. doi:10.1002/ eat.20132
- 61. Lane RD, Reiman EM, Axelrod B, Yun LS, Holmes A, Schwartz GE. Neural correlates of levels of emotional awareness. Evidence of an interaction between emotion and attention in the anterior cingulate cortex. J Cogn Neurosci (1998) 10(4):525–35. doi:10.1162/ 089892998562924

- 62. McRae K, Reiman EM, Fort CL, Chen K, Lane RD. Association between trait emotional awareness and dorsal anterior cingulate activity during emotion is arousal-dependent. *Neuroimage* (2008) 41(2):648–55. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2008.02.030
- 63. Frewen P, Lane RD, Neufeld RW, Densmore M, Stevens T, Lanius R. Neural correlates of levels of emotional awareness during trauma script-imagery in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychosom Med* (2008) **70**(1):27–31. doi:10. 1097/PSY.0b013e31815f66d4
- 64. Stein KF, Corte C. Identity impairment and the eating disorders: content and organization of the self-concept in women with anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2007) 15(1):58–69. doi:10.1002/erv.726
- 65. Stein KF, Corte C. Reconceptualizing causative factors and intervention strategies in the eating disorders: a shift from body image to self-concept impairments. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs* (2003) 17(2): 57–66. doi:10.1053/apnu.2003. 50000
- 66. Stein KF, Corte C. The identity impairment model: a longitudinal study of self-schemas as predictors of disordered eating behaviors. *Nurs Res* (2008) 57(3):182–90. doi:10.1097/01.NNR.0000319494. 21628.08
- Bourke MP, Taylor GJ, Parker JD, Bagby RM. Alexithymia in women with anorexia nervosa. A preliminary investigation. *Br J Psychiatry* (1992) 161:240–3. doi:10.1192/bjp. 161.2.240
- 68. Cochrane CE, Brewerton TD, Wilson DB, Hodges EL. Alexithymia in the eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (1993) 14(2):219–22. doi:10.1002/1098-108X(199309) 14:2<219::AID-EAT2260140212> 3.0.CO;2-G
- 69. Schmidt U, Jiwany A, Treasure J. A controlled study of alexithymia

in eating disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (1993) **34**(1):54–8. doi:10.1016/ 0010-440X(93)90036-4

- Cervera S, Lahortiga F, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Gual P, de Irala-Estevez J, Alonso Y. Neuroticism and low self-esteem as risk factors for incident eating disorders in a prospective cohort study. *Int J Eat Disord* (2003) 33(3):271–80. doi:10.1002/eat. 10147
- 71. Gual P, Perez-Gaspar M, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Lahortiga F, de Irala-Estevez J, Cervera-Enguix S. Self-esteem, personality, and eating disorders: baseline assessment of a prospective population-based cohort. Int J Eat Disord (2002) 31(3):261–73. doi:10.1002/eat.10040
- 72. Ashworth F, Pringle A, Norbury R, Harmer CJ, Cowen PJ, Cooper MJ. Neural response to angry and disgusted facial expressions in bulimia nervosa. *Psychol Med* (2011) 41(11):2375–84. doi:10. 1017/S0033291711000626
- Cavanna AE, Trimble MR. The precuneus: a review of its functional anatomy and behavioural correlates. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 3):564–83. doi:10.1093/brain/awl004
- 74. Marsh R, Steinglass JE, Gerber AJ, Graziano O'Leary K, Wang Z, Murphy D, et al. Deficient activity in the neural systems that mediate self-regulatory control in bulimia nervosa. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66(1):51–63. doi:10. 1001/archgenpsychiatry.2008.504
- 75. Marsh R, Horga G, Wang Z, Wang P, Klahr KW, Berner LA, et al. An FMRI study of selfregulatory control and conflict resolution in adolescents with bulimia nervosa. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(11):1210–20.
- 76. Somerville LH, Kelley WM, Heatherton TF. Self-esteem modulates medial prefrontal cortical responses to evaluative

social feedback. *Cereb Cortex* (2010) **20**(12):3005–13. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhq049

- 77. Paterson G, Power K, Collin P, Greirson D, Yellowlees A, Park K. A mediational model of selfesteem and social problem-solving in anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2011) **19**:112–20. doi:10.1002/ erv.1021
- McCormick LM, Keel PK, Brumm MC, Watson DB, Forman-Hoffman VL, Bowers WA. A pilot study of personality pathology in patients with anorexia nervosa: modifiable factors related to outcome after hospitalization. *Eat Weight Disord* (2009) 14(2–3):e113–20.
- 79. Mehler PS, Crews C, Weiner K. Bulimia: medical complications. J Womens Health (2004) 13(6):668–75. doi:10.1089/jwh.2004.13.668
- Bailer UF, Kaye WH. A review of neuropeptide and neuroendocrine dysregulation in anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord* (2003) 2(1):53–9. doi:10.2174/1568007033338689
- Goldman-Rakic PS. Development of cortical circuitry and cognitive function. *Child Dev* (1987) 58(3):601–22. doi:10.2307/1130201
- 82. Spader HS, Ellermeier A, O'Muircheartaigh J, Dean DC III, Dirks H, Boxerman JL, et al. Advances in myelin imaging with potential clinical application to pediatric imaging. *Neurosurg Focus* (2013) 34(4):E9. doi:10.3171/2013.1.FOCUS12426
- McCormick LM, Keel PK, Brumm MC, Bowers W, Swayze V, Andersen A, et al. Implications of starvation-induced change in right dorsal anterior cingulate volume in anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2008) 41(7):602–10. doi:10.1002/ eat.20549
- 84. Bhadoria R, Webb K, Morgan JF. Treating eating disorders: a review of the evidence. *Evid Based Ment*

Health (2010) **13**(1):1–4. doi:10. 1136/ebmh.13.1.1

- Bulik CM, Baucom DH, Kirby JS. Treating anorexia nervosa in the couple context. J Cogn Psychother (2012) 26(1):19–33. doi:10.1891/ 0889-8391.26.1.19
- Lock J. Evaluation of family treatment models for eating disorders. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2011) 24(4):274–9. doi:10.1097/YCO. 0b013e328346f71e
- 87. Lavender A, Startup H, Naumann U, Samarawickrema N, Dejong H, Kenyon M, et al. Emotional and social mind training: a randomised controlled trial of a new group-based treatment for bulimia nervosa. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(10):e46047. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0046047

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 June 2013; accepted: 28 August 2013; published online: 12 September 2013.

Citation: McAdams CJ and Krawczyk DC (2013) Neural responses during social and self-knowledge tasks in bulimia nervosa. Front. Psychiatry **4**:103. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00103

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2013 McAdams and Krawczyk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Altered SPECT ¹²³I-iomazenil Binding in the Cingulate Cortex of Children with Anorexia Nervosa

Shinichiro Nagamitsu¹*, Rieko Sakurai², Michiko Matsuoka³, Hiromi Chiba³, Shuichi Ozono¹, Hitoshi Tanigawa⁴, Yushiro Yamashita¹, Hayato Kaida⁵, Masatoshi Ishibashi⁶, Tatsuki Kakuma⁷, Paul E. Croarkin⁸ and Toyojiro Matsuishi¹

¹ Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ² Graduate School of Medicine, Kurume University, Fukuoka, Japan, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁴ Center of Diaginostic Imaging, Kurume University Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁵ Department of Radiology, Kinki University Faculty of Medicine, Osakasayama, Japan, ⁶ Department of Radiology, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁷ Biostatistics Center, Kurume University School of Medicine, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁸ Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gregor Hasler, University of Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Annette Beatrix Bruehl, University of Zürich, Switzerland Jochen Kindler, University of Bern, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Shinichiro Nagamitsu kaoru@med.kurume-u.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroimaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 August 2015 Accepted: 01 February 2016 Published: 16 February 2016

Citation:

Nagamitsu S, Sakurai R, Matsuoka M, Chiba H, Ozono S, Tanigawa H, Yamashita Y, Kaida H, Ishibashi M, Kakuma T, Croarkin PE and Matsuishi T (2016) Altered SPECT ¹²³I-iomazenil Binding in the Cingulate Cortex of Children with Anorexia Nervosa. Front. Psychiatry 7:16. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00016 Several lines of evidence suggest that anxiety plays a key role in the development and maintenance of anorexia nervosa (AN) in children. The purpose of this study was to examine cortical GABA(A)-benzodiazepine receptor binding before and after treatment in children beginning intensive AN treatment. Brain single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) measurements using ¹²³I-iomazenil, which binds to GABA(A)benzodiazepine receptors, was performed in 26 participants with AN who were enrolled in a multimodal treatment program. Sixteen of the 26 participants underwent a repeat SPECT scan immediately before discharge at conclusion of the intensive treatment program. Eating behavior and mood disturbances were assessed using Eating Attitudes Test with 26 items (EAT-26) and the short form of the Profile of Mood States (POMS). Clinical outcome scores were evaluated after a 1-year period. We examined association between relative iomazenil-binding activity in cortical regions of interest and psychometric profiles and determined which psychometric profiles show interaction effects with brain regions. Further, we determined if binding activity could predict clinical outcome and treatment changes. Higher EAT-26 scores were significantly associated with lower iomazenil-binding activity in the anterior and posterior cingulate cortex. Higher POMS subscale scores were significantly associated with lower iomazenil-binding activity in the left frontal, parietal cortex, and posterior cingulate cortex (PCC). "Depression-Dejection" and "Confusion" POMS subscale scores, and total POMS score showed interaction effects with brain regions in iomazenil-binding activity. Decreased binding in the anterior cingulate cortex and left parietal cortex was associated with poor clinical outcomes. Relative binding increases throughout the PCC and occipital gyrus were observed after weight gain in children with AN. These findings suggest that cortical GABAergic receptor binding is altered in children with AN. This may be a state-related change, which could be used to monitor and guide the treatment of eating disorders.

Keywords: anorexia nervosa, cingulate cortex, GABA, children, iomazenil SPECT

INTRODUCTION

Anorexia nervosa (AN) typically presents in females during adolescence. It is a serious psychiatric illness conferring substantial morbidity and mortality, which manifests as disturbances in eating habits, excessive preoccupation with weight, restricted caloric intake, and body image distortion (1). Although some research regarding the outcome of childhood AN is encouraging in terms of mortality and recovery from AN (2), long-term comorbid psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety disorders and affective disorders, represent unfavorable prognostic factors (3). Anxiety is present in the majority of children with AN prior to abnormal eating or body image distortions (4). Anxiety in children with AN is also associated with decreased body mass index (BMI) (5, 6). Moreover, trait anxiety scales in children show significant positive correlations with eating disorder psychopathology such as "drive for thinness," "body dissatisfaction," and "perfectionism" (5).

Several lines of evidence implicate gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)ergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of anxiety (7). Recently, a large-scale candidate gene study found that allele frequency differences in the GABA receptor SNP, GABRG1, are related to levels of trait anxiety in AN and bulimia nervosa (8). Furthermore, elevated GABA(A) receptor levels in the amygdala were reported in activity-based anorexia (ABA), an animal model of the behavioral phenotype of AN (9). Upregulated GABA(A) receptor function may be associated with anxiety in ABA animals. Several neuroimaging studies have shown negative correlations between GABA-benzodiazepine receptor binding activity and severity of anxiety symptoms in adults with panic or traumatic disorders (10, 11). However, to date, no study has examined GABA(A) receptor binding or function in AN. It is possible that GABAergic neurons may play an important role in both premorbid anxiety of AN and the pathogenesis of childhood AN.

Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) is a nuclear medicine tomographic modality employing gamma rays, and in which, injected radionuclides are attached to ligands selective for specific receptors of interest. ¹²³I-iomazenil is a radioactive ligand for central-type benzodiazepine receptors, which form a complex with GABA(A) receptors. Thus, ¹²³I-iomazenil SPECT measures GABA(A) receptor binding and indirectly assays GABA(A) receptor function. ¹²³I-iomazenil is a frequently used radionuclide tracer for presurgical evaluation of patients with refractory partial epilepsy (12). Moreover, recent neuroimaging studies have explored the role of GABAergic inhibitory function in psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease, and developmental disorders, as well as anxiety disorders including panic and traumatic stress disorders (10, 11, 13-17). In these reports, significant correlations between GABAergic function and dimensional scales measuring anxiety, panic, negative cognitions, and psychiatric status were found.

The aims of this study were to (1) determine if GABA(A) receptor binding is associated with AN symptoms and anxiety in children initiating clinical treatment for AN; (2) determine which brain regions are involved; (3) determine if measures of GABA(A) receptor binding can predict a participant's clinical outcome; and (4) determine if these measures change with successful treatment. We hypothesized that lower cortical iomazenil-binding activity

is associated with greater baseline symptom severity and poor clinical outcome in children with AN.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki and informed consent was obtained from participants and parents or legal guardians prior to enrollment in the imaging study. The procedures for assent, informed consent, and study design were approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of Kurume University School of Medicine. Twenty-six female participants were recruited who fulfilled the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition (DSM-IV) criteria for AN, and had been admitted to the Department of Pediatrics, Kurume University School of Medicine between 2007 and 2012 for clinical treatment in an eating disorders program. All were restricted-type AN. The flow diagram for the study is shown in Figure 1. The eating disorder treatment program has a multimodal approach, which includes parenteral nutrition, psychotherapy, and behavioral intervention. On initiation of treatment, participants and families have extensive psychoeducation focused on major physical risk factors associated with restricted body weight and therapeutic goals for hospitalization. Individual behavior therapy with reward reinforcement is used to facilitate recovery. Although oral feeding was sufficient for the majority of participants, parenteral nutrition was implemented for select participants with severe AN. Behavioral therapy was combined with nutritional counseling and individual psychotherapy to target difficult emotions and family relational





stress. As part of the treatment, participants completed the Eating Attitude Test (EAT-26), a standardized, self-report measure of eating disorder symptoms, which is widely used for screening and measurement of symptoms and characteristics of eating disorders (18). Participants rated their mood using the short form of the Profile of Mood States (POMS), a validated measure that consists of 30 items describing six moods: "Tension-Anxiety," "Depression-Dejection," "Anger-Hostility," "Vigor," "Fatigue', and "Confusion" (19). High Vigor scores reflect a good mood or emotion, and low scores in the other subscales reflect a good mood or emotion. Total mood disturbance (TMD) was obtained by subtraction of the Vigor score from the sum of Tension-Anxiety, Depression-Dejection, Anger-Hostility, Fatigue, and Confusion scores. Each original POMS score was converted to a T-score (20). We selected the POMS for measurement of anxiety, as we have neither a Japanese version of State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (STAIC) nor other validated Japanese psychometric scales for anxiety. Upon enrollment in the study, a diagnosis of AN and comorbidities was confirmed in all participants by semi-structured interviews using the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) (21), which were performed by two psychiatrists (Michiko Matsuoka and Hiromi Chiba). All participants underwent cognitive assessment using the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC-III). Psychometric profiles were performed before treatment. Participants were medication naïve and did not receive pharmacological treatment during the course of the study. Twenty-three participants had secondary amenorrhea and three had not yet reached menarche. In all participants, brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examination was performed on admission to identify any structural abnormalities, e.g., regional brain atrophy. Participants with severe, co-occurring medical illnesses (such as superior mesenteric artery syndrome) were excluded. Ethical concern regarding the use of ionizing radiation in healthy children precluded the enrollment of a control group for this study.

Clinical Outcome Measures

Follow-up clinical assessments were performed 1 year after hospital discharge by one pediatrician (Shinichiro Nagamitsu) and two psychiatrists (Michiko Matsuoka and Hiromi Chiba). A structured approach was used to define clinical outcome a priori. Clinical outcome score was based on eight items, as defined in prior work (22). This included weight change, menstrual status, abnormal eating behavior, body image, binge eating or purging behaviors, insight, school attendance, and quality of family relationship. Improved or impaired answers were scored "0" and "1," respectively. For items of weight change and school attendance, improved and unimproved ratings were scored "0" and "2," respectively. The middle score "1" indicates "unchanged condition." The outcome was considered good with total scores less than "4" and poor with total scores of "4" or over. The clinical outcome raters (Shinichiro Nagamitsu, Michiko Matsuoka, and Hiromi Chiba) were blinded regarding SPECT data.

Iomazenil SPECT

All 26 children underwent brain imaging using SPECT. The first $^{123}\mathrm{I}\mbox{-}\mathrm{iomazenil}$ SPECT examination was performed before

treatment and the second one immediately before discharge (16 of 26 participants). Mean duration between the first and second SPECT examinations was approximately 4 months. Briefly, participants were injected intravenously with a bolus of 95–117 MBq ¹²³I-iomazenil (Nihon Medi-Physics Co., Tokyo, Japan), which binds with high affinity to the GABA(A)-benzodiazepine receptor. The SPECT scan was performed 3 h after injection of the tracer without any sedation, using a large field-of-view dual-detector camera and a computer system equipped with a low-energy, high-resolution, and parallel-hole collimator. The dual detector camera rotated over 180° in a circular orbit and in 32 steps of 40 s each to cover 360° in approximately 22 min.

Image and Statistical Analyses

Images of ¹²³I-iomazenil scintigraphs were analyzed by threedimensional stereotactic surface projections (3D-SSP) using iSSP3 software (Nihon Medi-Physics Co.). Stereotactic anatomical standardization was performed as described previously (23). Briefly, rotational correction of the SPECT data set and three-dimensional centering were performed, followed by realignment to the anterior commissure-posterior commissure line. Differences in individual brain size were accounted for by linear scaling and regional anatomical differences minimized using a non-linear warping technique (24). Consequently, each brain was anatomically standardized to match a standard atlas brain. Brain MRI was performed using a superconducting magnet operating at 1.5 T. For coregistered SPECT and MRI analysis, a method of image integration was applied using Fusion Viewer software (Nihon Medi-Physics Co.) with a registration algorithm based on maximum mutual information (Figure 2). Subsequently, cortical and subcortical regions of interest (ROIs) in the acquired SPECT



FIGURE 2 | Designated regions of interest (ROIs) in fusion images of ¹²³I-iomazenil SPECT and MRI. The top panel shows brain MRI (transverse and sagittal T₁ sequences), the middle panel the corresponding results of ¹²³I-iomazenil SPECT, and the bottom panel fusion imaging. Outlined regions in the bottom panel indicate designated ROIs, namely, (a) the superior frontal, (b) parietal, (c) frontal, (d) middle temporal, and (e) occipital regions; (f) anterior and (g) posterior cingulate gyrus.

data were defined. Using elliptical templates, ROIs were drawn manually for the major cortical and subcortical brain regions in a representative subject. To eliminate the disadvantage of lower reliability with manual operations, the same elliptical templates were used to define ROIs in other subjects. ROIs were placed over the following regions: superior frontal, middle frontal, parietal, middle temporal, and occipital regions; the cerebellum in each hemisphere; and the anterior and posterior cingulate cortex (ACC and PCC, respectively; Figure 2). Two neuroradiologists (Hitoshi Tanigawa and Masatoshi Ishibashi), blinded to clinical symptoms, independently drew ROIs. Each relative iomazenilbinding activity in ROIs was expressed as a ratio of that in the cerebellum, as patients with AN have no cerebellar symptoms. Spearman's correlation was used to determine correlations between relative iomazenil binding in each region on baseline SPECT scan and age, BMI-standard deviation score (BMI-SDS), EAT-26, and POMS subscale score. To test for possible differential relationships between POMS and iomazenil-binding activity in brain regions, the brain regions were classified into three groups: center region, left hemisphere region, and right hemisphere region. ROIs were grouped accordingly: ACC and PCC as the center region; left of superior frontal, parietal, frontal, temporal, and occipital as the left hemisphere region; and right of superior frontal, parietal, frontal, temporal, and occipital as the right hemisphere region. POMS subscales were separately analyzed using the mixed-effect model (SAS 9.3 PROC MIXED). Regions, POMS subscale, and their interactions were treated as fixed effects in the model, while the intercept was treated as a random effect, therefore accounting for correlations among iomazenil-binding activities. When the interaction between all three regions and POMS subscale was significant, ROIs were analyzed within the region and POMS using mixed model regression to determine significances between ROIs. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare between participants with good and poor outcomes.

NeurologicalStatisticalImageAnalysissoftware(NEUROSTAT, Stat_1tZ), which can perform a paired *t* test between two corresponding groups using cross-sectional images, was adopted to examine changes in iomazenil binding between the first and second SPECT. Statistical significance was set at *Z*-score >2, a level commonly used to discriminate abnormalities. The regions identified were transformed into three-dimensional anatomical data and Talairach coordinates to show brain landmarks.

RESULTS

Participants' Characteristics

The mean and SD of age before treatment was 14.1 (1.3) years of age (range, 10.5–15.6 years of age) (**Table 1**). Mean (SD) BMI before and after treatment were 13.7 (2.0) and 15.7 (0.9), respectively. Mean (SD) BMI-SDS before and after treatment were -3.7 (1.9) and -2.3 (1.1), respectively. Mean (SD) EAT-26 score before therapy was 22.4 (12.0), which was higher compared with the reference control value (25). Five participants had co-occurring psychiatric disorders including two with autism spectrum disorders, one with learning disability, and two with selective mutism. Mean (SD) scores for each of the POMS subscales were

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics and POMS scores for subjects with relative iomazenil-binding activity in each brain region.

	Before treatm	nent (1st SPCET)	After treatment (2nd SPCET)
	All subjects	Subjects having 2nd SPECT	
N	26	16	16
Age	14.1 ± 1.3	14.4 ± 1.1	14.8 ± 1.1
BMI	13.7 ± 2.0	13.3 ± 1.6	15.7 ± 0.9
BMI-SDS	-3.7 ± 1.9	-4.1 ± 1.9	-2.3 ± 1.1
EAT-26	22.4 ± 12.0		
Menstrual cycle			
Not experienced	2		
Secondary	22		
amenorrhea			
POMS			
Tension-Anxiety	46.1 ± 10.3		
Depression-Dejection	53.1 ± 11.8		
Anger-Hostility	50.3 ± 11.9		
Vigor	43.4 ± 11.8		
Fatigue	47.4 ± 11.4		
Confusion	52.1 ± 15.5		
Total score	205.6 ± 59.4		
WISC-III	105 ± 13		
	_		
Relative iomazenil-bindin	0		
R superior frontal	1.41 ± 0.11	1.40 ± 0.11	1.45 ± 0.12
L superior frontal	1.44 ± 0.15	1.45 ± 0.13	1.48 ± 0.16
R parietal	1.46 ± 0.14	1.48 ± 0.14	1.50 ± 0.14
L parietal	1.51 ± 0.16	1.55 ± 0.15	1.53 ± 0.13
R middle frontal	1.41 ± 0.11	1.41 ± 0.11	1.46 ± 0.10
L middle frontal	1.45 ± 0.14	1.47 ± 0.14	1.52 ± 0.12
R middle temporal	1.46 ± 0.12	1.46 ± 0.12	$1.54 \pm 0.12^{*}$
L middle temporal	1.44 ± 0.14	1.47 ± 0.14	$1.54 \pm 0.11^{*,+}$
R occipital	1.74 ± 0.14	1.78 ± 0.14	$1.88 \pm 0.26^{*}$
Loccipital	1.77 ± 0.20	1.79 ± 0.19	$1.88 \pm 0.21^{\ddagger}$
Anterior cingulate	1.44 ± 0.13	1.47 ± 0.12	$1.59 \pm 0.24^{*,+}$
Posterior cingulate	1.65 ± 0.17	1.69 ± 0.16	1.80 ± 0.33‡

SPECT, single-photon emission computed tomography; BMI, body mass index; EAT-26, Eating Attitude Test with 26 items; POMS, Profile of Mood States; WISC-III, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children; R, right; L, left.

*Significant difference compared with all subjects (P < 0.05).

[†]Significant difference compared with subjects at second SPECT (P < 0.05). [‡]Trend toward significance in all subjects (P < 0.1).

46.1 (10.3) for Tension–Anxiety, 53.1 (11.8) for Depression– Dejection, 50.3 (11.9) for Anger–Hostility, 43.4 (11.8) for Vigor, 47.4 (11.4) for Fatigue, and 52.1 (15.5) for Confusion. Mean (SD) score for TMD of POMS was 205.6 (59.4). The subscale scores of Tension–Anxiety and Depression–Dejection were higher than normal ranges (26), but the differences did not reach significance. Mean (SD) IQ was 105 (13). None of the participants showed regional brain atrophy on brain MRI examination. Mean duration of hospitalization was approximately 4 months. Mean (SD) age on the second SPECT examination was 14.8 (1.1). The range of duration between the first and second SPECT was from 86 to 250 days (mean, 128 days).

Participants' Outcome

Clinical outcome scores 1 year after treatment were examined in 20 out of 26 participants. Three participants did not complete the

treatment. It was not possible to examine three other participants, as two were transferred to locked psychiatric units and one was transferred to a local hospital. After the evaluations, 13 participants were classified as having a good outcome and 7 with a poor outcome.

Baseline Correlations between ¹²³I-iomazenil Binding and Clinical

Measures

Relative iomazenil-binding activities in each brain region are summarized in Table 1. There were significant associations between some clinical measures and relative iomazenil-binding activity in several brain regions. Higher EAT-26 scores were significantly associated with lower iomazenil-binding activity in the ACC (Table 2). Higher "Tension-Anxiety" score at the beginning of therapy was significantly associated with lower iomazenilbinding activity in the left superior frontal, parietal, middle frontal cortex, and PCC (Table 2). Higher "Anger-Hostility," "Confusion," and "Total" scores at the beginning of therapy were significantly associated with lower iomazenil-binding activity in the same regions and left occipital cortex (Table 2). Furthermore, "Depression-Dejection" and "Fatigue" scores were also significantly associated with lower iomazenil-binding activity in the PCC (Table 2). There were no associations between BMI-SDS and iomazenil-binding activity in any brain region. However, there were significant positive correlations between age and iomazenil-binding activity in the left and right middle frontal, left parietal, and PCC (*r* = 0.415, 0.392, 0.430, and 0.454, respectively, P < 0.05) (data not shown).

Interactions between POMS Subscales and Brain Regions in Iomazenil-Binding Activity

The mixed-effect model detected significant interaction effects between three main brain regions and POMS total scale and subscales of "Depression–Dejection" and "Confusion" (**Table 3**). In the three main brain regions, significant differences were identified between the left and right hemisphere regions on POMS total score and subscales of "Depression–Dejection" and "Confusion" (**Table 4**). Furthermore, significant differences between left and right hemisphere regions were identified in the superior frontal region on POMS total score (t = -2.63, P = 0.0094), superior frontal and occipital regions on the subscale of "Confusion" (t = -3.16, P = 0.0018; t = -3.49, P = 0.0062, respectively), and superior frontal region on the subscale of "Depression–Dejection" (t = -2.75, P = 0.0065). This finding remained significant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (P = 0.01).

Comparison of ¹²³I-iomazenil-Binding Activity Before and After Treatment

Relative iomazenil-binding activity after treatment was significantly increased in the ACC, right occipital, and bilateral middle temporal gyrus (**Table 1**). Comparisons of adjusted iomazenilbinding activity before and after weight gain were examined in the same 16 participants using NEUROSTAT. There were significant increases in iomazenil-binding activity after treatment in the ACC, PCC, frontal gyrus, occipital gyrus, and hippocampus (**Figure 3**). By contrast, there was a significant decrease in iomazenil-binding activity after treatment in the bilateral inferior temporal cortex (data not shown). The Talairach coordinates of sites with *Z*-scores >3.0 are listed with the associated brain regions in **Table 5**.

Association between ¹²³I-iomazenil-Binding Activity in the ACC and Clinical Outcome

There was a significant baseline difference in iomazenil-binding activity between participants with good and poor clinical outcome scores in the ACC (1.48 ± 0.09 vs. 1.32 ± 0.12 , respectively, P < 0.05) (**Figure 4**) and left parietal gyrus (1.57 ± 0.12 vs. 1.40 ± 0.15 , respectively, P < 0.05). Relative baseline iomazenil-binding activity in the ACC and left parietal gyrus in participants with a poor clinical outcome were significantly lower than those with a good clinical outcome.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first investigation on SPECT $^{123}\mbox{I-iomazenil}$ brain imaging in children with AN. Using SPECT

TABLE 2 Correlation coef	ficients between PO	MS subscale scores	, EAT-26, and ior	nazenil-binding a	ctivity in each bra	n region from the first	SPECT.

	ТА	D	AH	v	F	С	Total	EAT-26
R superior frontal	0.036	0.290	-0.034	-0.014	0.161	0.097	0.116	-0.203
L superior frontal	-0.473*	-0.428*	-0.494*	0.155	-0.332	-0.646**	-0.530*	-0.338
R parietal	0.022	0.312	-0.037	-0.057	0.019	-0.001	0.073	-0.100
L parietal	-0.413*	-0.250	-0.414*	-0.029	-0.314	-0.604**	-0.417*	-0.338
R frontal	-0.213	0.057	-0.179	-0.073	0.054	-0.094	-0.061	-0.431
L frontal	-0.498*	-0.320	-0.468*	0.100	-0.288	-0.598**	-0.476*	-0.390
R temporal	-0.095	0.226	-0.241	-0.144	0.015	-0.009	0.009	-0.151
L temporal	-0.210	-0.130	-0.367	-0.040	-0.101	-0.374	-0.245	-0.141
R occipital	-0.175	0.003	-0.356	-0.111	-0.162	-0.222	-0.168	-0.109
L occipital	-0.0355	-0.378	-0.510*	0.027	-0.288	-0.589**	-0.454*	-0.097
Anterior cingulate	-0.043	-0.008	-0.034	-0.277	-0.016	-0.156	-0.005	-0.606**
Posterior cingulate	-0.553*	-0497*	-0.476*	0.262	-0.440*	-0.641**	-0.594*	-0.312

POMS, Profile of Mood States; TA, Tension–Anxiety; D, Depression–Dejection; AH, Anger–Hostility; V, Vigor; F, Fatigue; C, Confusion; EAT-26, Eating Attitude Test with 26 items. *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01 indicate significant correlations. ¹²³I-iomazenil brain imaging, we found association between cortical GABAergic receptor binding and clinical manifestations of childhood AN. Higher EAT-26 and mood disturbance scores were significantly associated with lower GABAergic inhibitory binding in various brain regions. Poor clinical outcome was also associated with lower GABAergic receptor binding in the ACC and left parietal region. GABAergic receptor binding was mainly activated in the ACC, PCC, frontal gyrus, and occipital gyrus after treatment.

TABLE 3 | Interaction effects between POMS subscales and three main regions (center, left, and right hemispheres).

POMS subscales	df (between regions)	df (within regions)	F	P-value
POMS total	2	194	3.52	<0.05*
Tension–Anxiety	2	194	2.07	0.13
Depression-Dejection	2	194	4.09	<0.05*
Anger–Hostility	2	194	2.16	0.12
Vigor	2	194	0.22	0.8
Fatigue	2	193	1.49	0.23
Confusion	2	194	5.65	<0.01*

POMS, Profile of Mood States.

*Indicates significance.

TABLE 4 | Interaction between three regions and POMS subscales.

	PON	IS total	Confusion		Depression- dejection	
	t	P-value	t	P-value	t	P-value
Center–left	0.88	0.38	-1.22	0.22	-0.5	0.62
Center–right Left–right	-1.12 2.65	0.27 0.0087*	-1.32 3.36	0.19 <0.001*	-1.61 2.79	0.11 0.0057*

*indicates significance.

We found significant correlation between reduced GABAergic receptor binding in various brain regions and mood disturbances, as assessed using POMS subscales. Mixed model regression showed significant effects for the interactions between brain regions and POMS total scale and subscales of "Depression-Dejection" and "Confusion." Furthermore, the effect of these POMS profiles showed significantly different binding activities between the left and right hemispheres, especially in the superior frontal region. These results indicate that GABAergic neuronal activity correlates to mood disturbances in children with AN. The potential involvement of GABAergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of AN was recently investigated by genetic allele frequency analysis of GABRG1 in AN patients. This study showed significant correlation between specific allele frequency in this GABA receptor SNP and levels of trait anxiety in the patients (8). Further, in an animal model of AN, elevated GABA(A) receptor expression in the amygdala was associated with increased anxiety (9). It remains unclear whether GABA(A) receptor function is associated with the underlying pathophysiology of childhood AN or a result of long-term starvation. However, a relative strength of our present findings is that at repeat SPECT scan, the participants were not completely weight-restored [mean BMI 15.7 (0.9 SD)], suggesting that changes in brain ¹²³I-iomazenil binding may be related to clinical improvement rather than mere weight restoration. Nonetheless, this does suggest that GABAergic receptor-mediated inhibitory function may be associated with mood disturbances in children with AN.

We also found a significant negative correlation between ¹²³I-iomazenil-binding activity in the ACC and abnormal eating attitude described by EAT-26 score, with a greater decrease in activity in the ACC of AN children with poor clinical outcomes,



FIGURE 3 | Image analysis (1tZ) of increased iomazenil-binding changes before and after weight gain in the brain of children with AN. Significant increases in iomazenil-binding activity before and after weight gain are shown in the anterior and posterior cingulate cortex, occipital cortex, frontal cortex, and hippocampus, as indicated by the bright orange color.

TABLE 5 | Brain regions and Talairach coordinates showing significantly increased and decreased iomazenil binding in children with anorexia nervosa before and after weight gain.

Regions	т	P-value			
	x	Y	Ζ	Z score	_
Increased regions					
Right anterior cingulate gyrus	3	-19	36	6.33	< 0.00001
Right occipital gyrus	17	-103	-4	5.43	< 0.00001
Left medial frontal gyrus	-1	19	-14	4.89	< 0.00001
Left occipital gyrus	-1	-94	2	4.31	< 0.00001
Right posterior cingulate gyrus	6	-40	22	3.99	<0.00005
Right parahippocampal gyrus	26	-31	-25	3.84	< 0.0001
Right medial frontal gyrus	3	29	4	3.84	< 0.0001
Decreased regions					
Right inferior temporal gyrus	55	-24	-9	4.28	< 0.00001
Left inferior temporal gyrus	-53	-19	-14	3.05	<0.01



compared with those with good clinical outcomes. Furthermore, binding activity in the ACC was significantly increased after treatment. As the present clinical outcome score was composed of current BMI and presence of menstruation, as well as changes of eating behavior and social interaction, GABAergic functional activity in the ACC may be related to biological vulnerability of recovery from AN symptoms. Converging lines of evidence suggest correlations between morphological or functional neural changes and differential clinical outcomes in AN. For example, McCormick et al. (27) reported that although the dorsal ACC gray matter volume is significantly reduced in patients with AN compared with normal controls, greater normalization of the right dorsal ACC volume following weight restoration prospectively predicted sustained remission at 1 year post-hospitalization. Functional MRI studies have shown that increased activation in the dorsal ACC and prefrontal cortex in response to food stimuli differentiates recovered AN patients from chronically ill AN patients (28). Further, subcallosal cingulate deep brain stimulation has recently been applied as a treatment strategy for treatment-refractory AN and associated with improvement in mood, anxiety, affective regulation, and increased BMI (29). Taken together, our findings contribute to emerging evidence that variations in functional activities of the ACC may be predictors of outcomes of AN.

Similar to the ACC, neural activities in the PCC may play important roles in the pathophysiology of AN. The PCC is functionally coupled with other brain regions as a default mode network and involved in self-related aspects of cognitive processing such as self-reference and self-reflection (30). Functional brain imaging suggests that dysfunction in resting-state functional connectivity in regions involved in self-referential processing might be associated with development of AN (31). Further, several lines of evidence show that less activation in the PCC is associated with altered inhibitory processing, which might represent a behavioral characteristic and impairment of emotional processing in AN (32, 33). In the present study, several higher mood disturbance scores were significantly associated with lower GABAergic inhibitory binding, mainly in the PCC. Similarly, the PCC was one of the brain regions in which iomazenil-binding activity increased after treatment. In a previous neuroimaging study in children with AN, increased cerebral blood flow (CBF) was observed in the parietal cortex and PCC after inpatient treatment (34). Taken together, increased GABAergic inhibitory function in the PCC after weight gain in our study might indicate improved self-referential processing and cognitive control, which were missing during their starvation period.

We found evidence of increased ¹²³I-iomazenil-binding activity in the occipital cortex after treatment in children with AN. In general, iomazenil-binding activity is strongest in the occipital cortex, indicating that GABA receptors are densely distributed in this area. GABA is involved in interocular suppression in the visual cortex and plays a central role in determining visual cortex selectivity (35). As the brain has a limited capacity, attention allows relevant incoming information to be selectively enhanced while suppressing irrelevant information, the processing for which may be modulated by GABAergic inhibitory function (36, 37). A recent MR spectroscopy study revealed negative correlation between the amount of occipital GABA and cognitive failure in healthy patients, indicating that the inhibitory capacity in sensory areas affects their ability to ignore information that is irrelevant to current behavioral goals (37). In AN patients, cognitive deficits in impaired visuospatial ability, impaired complex visual memory, and impaired selective attention have been reported (38, 39). As GABA plays an important part in stimulus processing and suppression in sensory areas, increased GABAergic inhibitory activation observed in the occipital cortex in AN participants in our study may reflect enhanced suppression of visual information processing, possibly resulting in the improvement of cognitive deficits.

The present study has several limitations that require consideration in future studies. First, brain imaging data from normal healthy children are not available because ethics approval was not feasible for SPECT studies in healthy control children. Therefore,

we focused our research on the correlation between GABAergic inhibitory function in brain regions and psychometric profiles, and changes in these functions before and after treatment in AN participants. Thus, we could not determine if the basic GABAergic inhibitory function is upregulated or downregulated, compared to healthy controls. Second, it is possible that changes in iomazenil binding after treatment might be associated with confounding effects, secondary to starvation and restored body weight. However, as the average period for repeat SPECT was short (4 months), weight restoration was not complete. Furthermore, our previous neuroimaging report regarding CBF changes after treatment in AN patients showed no global increase in CBF changes except specific brain regions (bilateral parietal lobe and PCC) (34). Consequently, confounding effects are unlikely to be a cause of our SPECT findings. Third, SPECT exhibits poor resolution around some limbic regions, such as the amygdala and hippocampus, which are important for emotion processing. In these small regions, the obtained radioactivity might differ from the true activity because of a partial volume effect (PVE). The PVE can be defined as underestimation of binding per unit brain volume in small objects or regions because of blurring of radioactivity (spill-out and spill-in) between regions (40, 41). These regions need to be resolved using MR imaging-based correction for PVE. Fourth, we did not examine the participants' psychometric profiles at the end of hospitalization. Although the majority of participants obtained proper eating habits, attended school, and improved parental relationships by the discharge period, these socio-emotional behaviors were not evaluated using the psychometric profile. To confirm our understanding of altered ¹²³I-iomazenil-binding activity due to therapeutic intervention, improvement of socio-emotional difficulties should be

REFERENCES

consecutively measured.

- Fairburn CG, Harrison PJ. Eating disorders. Lancet (2003) 361:407–46. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12378-1
- Wentz E, Gillberg IC, Anckarsäter H, Gillberg C, Råstam M. Adolescentonset anorexia nervosa: 18-year outcome. Br J Psychiatry (2009) 194:168–74. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.048686
- Saccomani L, Savoini M, Cirrincione M, Vercellino F, Ravera G. Long-term outcome of children and adolescents with anorexia nervosa: study of comorbidity. *J Psychosom Res* (1998) 44:565–71. doi:10.1016/S0022-3999(97)00210-9
- Touchette E, Henegar A, Godart NT, Pryor L, Falissard B, Tremblay RE, et al. Subclinical eating disorders and their comorbidity with mood and anxiety disorders in adolescent girls. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 185:185–92. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2010.04.005
- Schulze UM, Calame S, Keller F, Mehler-Wex C. Trait anxiety in children and adolescents with anorexia nervosa. *Eat Weight Disord* (2009) 14:163–8. doi:10.1007/BF03327817
- Dellava JE, Thornton LM, Hamer RM, Strober M, Plotnicov K, Klump KL, et al. Childhood anxiety associated with low BMI in women with anorexia nervosa. *Behav Res Ther* (2010) 48:60–7. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2009.09.009
- Nemeroff CB. The role of GABA in the pathophysiology and treatment of anxiety disorders. *Psychopharmacol Bull* (2003) 37:133–46.
- Bloss CS, Berrettini W, Bergen AW, Magistretti P, Duvvuri V, Strober M, et al. Genetic association of recovery from eating disorders: the role of GABA receptor SNPs. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2011) 36:2222–32. doi:10.1038/ npp.2011.108
- 9. Aoki C, Sabaliauskas N, Chowdhury T, Min JY, Colacino AR, Laurino K, et al. Adolescent female rats exhibiting activity-based anorexia express elevated

In conclusion, GABAergic inhibitory receptor function in the brain may play an important role in manifesting clinical symptoms of childhood AN. Lower GABAergic ¹²³I-iomazenil binding in specific brain regions at initiation of treatment is associated with clinical severity of mood disturbances and abnormal eating attitude in this sample of participants. Decreased binding in the ACC and left parietal cortex were associated with poor clinical outcomes. Conversely, increased changes in GABAergic receptor binding in the ACC, PCC, and occipital gyrus might be important for the recovery process of childhood AN. Although GABAergic function in the cingulate cortex might be evaluated as a potential predictor of clinical outcome, it will be important to determine the association between function and long-term prognosis. Further research focused on GABAergic receptor-mediated function among participants with eating disorders is warranted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SN participated in the design of this study and compiled the manuscript. SN, MM, HC, SO, and YY saw the patients and obtained informed consent and their agreement to participate in the study. Three radiologists (HT, HK, and MI) were in charge of radioactive measurements and calculations of iomazenil activity using ROIs. RS and TK, statistician, conducted the statistical analyses. PC and TM supervised the preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology (#22591143 and #25460643) and Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, (#14428000).

levels of GABA(A) receptor $\alpha 4$ and δ subunits at the plasma membrane of hippocampal CA1 spines. *Synapse* (2012) **66**:391–407. doi:10.1002/syn.21528

- Bremner JD, Innis RB, Southwick SM, Staib L, Zoghbi S, Charney DS. Decreased benzodiazepine receptor binding in prefrontal cortex in combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157:1120–6. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.7.1120
- Cameron OG, Huang GC, Nichols T, Koeppe RA, Minoshima S, Rose D, et al. Reduced gamma-aminobutyric acid(A)-benzodiazepine binding sites in insular cortex of individuals with panic disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2007) 64:793–800. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.7.793
- Higurashi N, Hamano S, Oritsu T, Minamitani M, Sasaki M, Ida H. Iomazenil hyperfixation in single photon emission computed tomography study of malformations of cortical development during infancy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* (2011) 15:372–5. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2011.03.007
- Busatto GF, Pilowsky LS, Costa DC, Ell PJ, David AS, Lucey JV, et al. Correlation between reduced in vivo benzodiazepine receptor binding and severity of psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1997) 154:56–63.
- Rissman RA, De Blas AL, Armstrong DM. GABA(A) receptors in aging and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem (2007) 103:1285–92. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04832.x
- Ahn K, Gil R, Seibyl J, Sewell RA, D'Souza DC. Probing GABA receptor function in schizophrenia with iomazenil. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2011) 36:677–83. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.198
- Oblak AL, Gibbs TT, Blatt GJ. Reduced GABAA receptors and benzodiazepine binding sites in the posterior cingulate cortex and fusiform gyrus in autism. *Brain Res* (2011) 1380:218–28. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.09.021
- 17. Nagamitsu S, Yamashita Y, Tanigawa H, Chiba H, Kaida H, Ishibashi M, et al. Upregulated GABA inhibitory function in ADHD children with child

behavior checklist-dysregulation profile: 123I-iomazenil SPECT study. Front Psychiatry (2015) 6:84. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00084

- Garner DM, Olmsted MP, Bohr Y, Garfinkel PE. The eating attitudes test: psychometric features and clinical correlates. *Psychol Med* (1982) 12:871–8. doi:10.1017/S0033291700049163
- Yoshihara K, Hiramoto T, Sudo N, Kubo C. Profile of mood states and stressrelated biochemical indices in long-term yoga practitioners. *Biopsychosoc Med* (2011) 5:6. doi:10.1186/1751-0759-5-6
- McNair DM, Lorr M, Droppleman LF. Manual for the Profile of Mood States. San Diego: Educational and Industrial Testing Services (1971). 27 p.
- Otsubo T, Tanaka K, Koda R, Shinoda J, Sano N, Tanaka S, et al. Reliability and validity of Japanese version of the mini-international neuropsychiatric interview. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2005) 59:517–26. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01408.x
- Helverskov JL, Clausen L, Mors O, Frydenberg M, Thomsen PH, Rokkedal K. Trans-diagnostic outcome of eating disorders: a 30-month follow-up study of 629 patients. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2010) 18:453–63. doi:10.1002/erv.1025
- Minoshima S, Berger KL, Lee KS, Mintun MA. An automated method for rotational correction and centering of three-dimensional functional brain images. J Nucl Med (1992) 33:1579–85.
- Minoshima S, Koeppe RA, Frey KA, Kuhl DE. Anatomic standardization: linear scaling and nonlinear warping of functional brain images. *J Nucl Med* (1994) 35:1528–37.
- Rojo-Moreno L, García-Miralles I, Plumed J, Barberá M, Morales MM, Ruiz E, et al. Children's eating attitudes test: validation in a sample of Spanish schoolchildren. *Int J Eat Disord* (2011) 44:540–6. doi:10.1002/eat.20855
- Shibuya I, Nagamitsu S, Okamura H, Ozono S, Chiba H, Ohya T, et al. High correlation between salivary cortisol awakening response and psychometric profiles in healthy children. *Biopsychosoc Med* (2014) 8:9. doi:10.1186/1751-0759-8-9
- McCormick LM, Keel PK, Brumm MC, Bowers W, Swayze V, Andersen A, et al. Implications of starvation-induced change in right dorsal anterior cingulate volume in anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2008) 41:602–10. doi:10.1002/eat.20549
- Uher R, Brammer MJ, Murphy T, Campbell IC, Ng VW, Williams SC, et al. Recovery and chronicity in anorexia nervosa: brain activity associated with differential outcomes. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54:934–42. doi:10.1016/ S0006-3223(03)00172-0
- Lipsman N, Woodside DB, Giacobbe P, Hamani C, Carter JC, Norwood SJ, et al. Subcallosal cingulate deep brain stimulation for treatment-refractory anorexia nervosa: a phase 1 pilot trial. *Lancet* (2013) 381:1361–70. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)62188-6
- Brewer JA, Garrison KA, Whitfield-Gabrieli S. What about the "Self" is processed in the posterior cingulate cortex? *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:647. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00647
- Cowdrey FA, Filippini N, Park RJ, Smith SM, McCabe C. Increased resting state functional connectivity in the default mode network in recovered anorexia nervosa. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2014) 35:483–91. doi:10.1002/hbm.22202
- 32. Miyake Y, Okamoto Y, Onoda K, Shirao N, Okamoto Y, Yamawaki S. Brain activation during the perception of stressful word stimuli concerning

interpersonal relationships in anorexia nervosa patients with high degrees of alexithymia in an fMRI paradigm. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) **201**:113–9. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.07.014

- Wierenga C, Bischoff-Grethe A, Melrose AJ, Grenesko-Stevens E, Irvine Z, Wagner A, et al. Altered BOLD response during inhibitory and error processing in adolescents with anorexia nervosa. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e92017. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092017
- Komatsu H, Nagamitsu S, Ozono S, Yamashita Y, Ishibashi M, Matsuishi T. Regional cerebral blood flow changes in early-onset anorexia nervosa before and after weight gain. *Brain Dev* (2010) 32:625–30. doi:10.1016/j. braindev.2009.09.022
- Sengpiel F, Vorobyov V. Intracortical origins of interocular suppression in the visual cortex. J Neurosci (2005) 25:6394–400. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0862-05.2005
- Desimone R, Duncan J. Neural mechanisms of selective visual attention. Annu Rev Neurosci (1995) 18:193–222. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.18.030195.001205
- Sandberg K, Blicher JU, Dong MY, Rees G, Near J, Kanai R. Occipital GABA correlates with cognitive failures in daily life. *Neuroimage* (2014) 87:55–60. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.10.059
- Lask B, Gordon I, Christie D, Frampton I, Chowdhury U, Watkins B. Functional neuroimaging in early-onset anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2005) 37:49–51. doi:10.1002/eat.20117
- Weider S, Indredavik MS, Lydersen S, Hestad K. Neuropsychological function in patients with anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2015) 48:397–405. doi:10.1002/eat.22283
- Kato H, Matsuda K, Baba K, Shimosegawa E, Isohashi K, Imaizumi M, et al. MR imaging-based correction for partial volume effect improves detectability of intractable epileptogenic foci on iodine 123 iomazenil brain SPECT images: an extended study with a larger sample size. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2012) 33:2088–94. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3121
- Kato H, Shimosegawa E, Oku N, Kitagawa K, Kishima H, Saitoh Y, et al. MRIbased correction for partial-volume effect improves detectability of intractable epileptogenic foci on 123I-iomazenil brain SPECT images. *J Nucl Med* (2008) 49:383–9. doi:10.2967/jnumed.107.046136

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The Reviewer, JK, and handling Editor, GH, declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Nagamitsu, Sakurai, Matsuoka, Chiba, Ozono, Tanigawa, Yamashita, Kaida, Ishibashi, Kakuma, Croarkin and Matsuishi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessing and stabilizing aberrant neuroplasticity in autism spectrum disorder: the potential role of transcranial magnetic stimulation

Pushpal Desarkar^{1,2*}, Tarek K. Rajji^{1,2}, Stephanie H. Ameis^{1,2,3,4} and Zafiris Jeff Daskalakis^{1,2}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Temerty Centre for Therapeutic Brain Intervention, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Department of Psychiatry, The Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴ Research Imaging Centre, Campbell Family Mental Health Research Institute, The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH), Toronto, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lena Palaniyappan, University of Nottingham, UK

Reviewed by:

Kwang-Hyuk Lee, University of Sheffield, UK Lindsay M. Oberman, Harvard Medical School, USA Melissa Kirkovski, Deakin University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Pushpal Desarkar, Department of Psychiatry, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, 1001 Queen Street West, Unit 4-4, Toronto, ON M6J 1H4, Canada pushpal.desarkar@camh.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 July 2015 Accepted: 25 August 2015 Published: 09 September 2015

Citation:

Desarkar P, Rajji TK, Ameis SH and Daskalakis ZJ (2015) Assessing and stabilizing aberrant neuroplasticity in autism spectrum disorder: the potential role of transcranial magnetic stimulation. Front. Psychiatry 6:124. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00124 Exciting developments have taken place in the neuroscience research in autism spectrum disorder (ASD), and results from these studies indicate that brain in ASD is associated with aberrant neuroplasticity. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) has rapidly evolved to become a widely used, safe, and non-invasive neuroscientific tool to investigate a variety of neurophysiological processes, including neuroplasticity. The diagnostic and therapeutic potential of TMS in ASD is beginning to be realized. In this article, we briefly reviewed evidence of aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD, suggested future directions in assessing neuroplasticity using repetitive TMS (rTMS), and discussed the potential of rTMS in rectifying aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, transcranial magnetic stimulation, neuroplasticity, EEG, treatment

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a complex neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by persistent deficits in social communication and interaction and stereotyped behaviors, interests, and activities [*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th Edition (DSM-5)] (1). The most recent US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention data estimate that ASD now affects 1 in 68 children (2). These data establish ASD as the most common neurodevelopmental disorder. Thus, the social, clinical, and economic burden of ASD is tremendous.

Since the turn of the century, significant advancements have been made in ASD research, and a range of macro- and micro-structural, neurochemical, functional, anatomic, and genetic abnormalities have been proposed [see reviews by Rubenstein and Merzenich (3), Parellada et al. (4), Chen et al. (5), Ameis and Catani (6)]; however, despite gaining important leads, the exact etiology of ASD is still unknown and successful treatment remains elusive. Thus, there is an urgent need to explore novel and effective investigational and mechanism-driven treatment paradigms for ASD.

One mechanism that has recently received a large amount of support suggesting its role in the pathophysiology of ASD is aberrant neuroplasticity (7, 8) In fact, several lines of evidence from genetic (9–13) to animal model (7, 14), neuroimaging (15, 16), and brain stimulation (17, 18) research have all begun to implicate aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD. One neuroscientific tool that has become a widely used, safe, and non-invasive way to probe aberrant neuroplasticity is transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). Perhaps a fair example of this is the use of

94

TMS/rTMS in the study of Parkinson's disease [see review by Shukla and Vaillancourt (19)], depression (20), and schizophrenia (21). The diagnostic and therapeutic potential of rTMS in ASD is beginning to be realized. In this article, we will briefly review evidence of aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD, suggest future directions in assessing neuroplasticity using rTMS, and discuss the potential of rTMS in rectifying aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD.

Aberrant Neuroplasticity in ASD

Before describing the evidence in favor of aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD, it may be worthwhile briefly revisiting neuroplasticity first. Neuroplasticity refers to neuron's ability to reorganize and alter their anatomical and functional connectivity in response to the environmental input. Long-term potentiation (LTP), which involves a net increase in synaptic efficacy, and long-term depression (LTD), which indicates a net decrease in synaptic efficacy, are the two prototypes of neuroplasticity (22).

In a simplistic model, LTP is mediated by glutamate via *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors (23). The basic process of LTP generation involves the removal of the Mg²⁺ block of the post-synaptic NMDA receptors by a strong wave of depolarization in the dendritic spine, leading to a rapid inflow of Ca²⁺ that activates several kinases, eventually leading to the generation of LTP. Similarly, LTD too perhaps is dependent on NMDA receptors. The mechanism of LTD generation, however, requires milder activation of post-synaptic NMDA receptors, which leads to an intermediate intracellular Ca²⁺ elevation (23). One key regulator of LTP and LTD is gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) released by the inhibitory interneurons (24). At the synaptic level, the fine balance between excitation (mediated by glutamate) and inhibition (mediated by GABA) could be crucial for optimal level of neuroplasticity (25).

Evidence from the Structural Neuroimaging Studies in ASD

Most of the symptoms of ASD develop in the first few years of life when synaptic development and maturation are occurring at a rapid rate, and one of the most consistent morphological findings that emerged from the structural neuroimaging studies in ASD is early brain overgrowth (15) [also see review by Courchesne et al. (16)]. Such atypical brain enlargement appears to be most pronounced between 2 and 5 years of age (16), and it preferentially affects the frontal and temporal cortices (5). Furthermore, recent evidence indicates that atypical cortical development in ASD subjects persists beyond toddlerhood. In particular, evidence of cortical thinning has been observed among adolescents and young adults (26). These observations led to the hypothesis that ASD is associated with a significant disruption of the typical synaptic maturation and plasticity (5).

Evidence from the Genetic Studies in ASD

Of all the proposed neurobiological theories of ASD, the potential contribution of genetic factors is backed by a large body of evidence [see review by Chen et al. (5)]. It is important to note that many ASD-associated genes reported by genome-wide association studies encode proteins related to synaptic formation, transmission, and neuroplasticity, and results from recent genetic studies involving ASD clients have consistently linked mutations involving several genes supporting synaptic maturation and neuroplasticity. The examples of such mutations involve genes critically involved in (a) synaptic maturation, e.g., neuroligin 3 and 4 (10), c3orf58, NHE9, and PCDH10 (13); (b) neuronal migration, e.g., CNTNAP2 (12); and (c) dendritic development, e.g., SHANK3 (12).

Evidence from Animal Models of ASD

Further evidence of aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD is shown by animal models. Perhaps one of the best known among these models is the valproic acid (VPA) rat model of autism. This model predicts that brain in ASD is likely to be hyperplastic. It has been found that, following a Hebbian Pairing Stimulation protocol, the amount of post-synaptic LTP measured in the neocortex and the amygdala doubled in VPA-treated rats compared with controls (14). However, other animal models utilizing genetically modified mice showed that ASD brain could be characterized by both impairment and enhancement of neuroplasticity. For example, Shank3(G/G) mice (27) and mice with MECP2 mutations (model of Rett's syndrome) (28) were shown to have cellular hypoplasticity, but mice with neuroligin-3 mutation were associated with hyperplasticity (29). Such divergent outcomes with regard to the direction of neuroplasticity in these animal experiments could be due to the nature of the genetic modifications used and their impact on the brain substrates of neuroplasticity. Nevertheless, a key insight emerging from these animal models is that if the brain becomes too much or too less plastic (i.e., hyper or hypo), cognition and behavior will be affected. It has been suggested that an optimum level of plasticity is necessary for optimal performance (30), and this process essentially involves keeping excitability within a normal physiological range (31).

Excitation/Inhibition Imbalance in ASD

Perhaps one of the widely cited neurobiological models in ASD over the past decade is the increased excitation/inhibition ratio in ASD brain (3). It has been suggested that the excitation-inhibition imbalance could be the key determinant of neuroplasticity abnormalities in neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASD (32), and a deficit in the inhibitory neurotransmission has been implicated in the etiopathogenesis of ASD [see review by Baroncelli et al. (25)]. It is believed that such deficits could develop during neuronal maturation (25). At the synaptic level, abnormally increased NMDA-mediated state of excitation, and/or abnormally reduced GABA-mediated inhibition, may lead to abnormally increased neuronal excitability and neuroplasticity. In fact, studies involving subjects with ASD have shown that excitatory glutamate receptors (NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptor 5) are overexpressed, whereas inhibitory gamma aminobutyric acid A $(GABA_A)$ and B $(GABA_B)$ receptors are underexpressed in the ASD brain (25, 33). Additionally, post-mortem studies of minicolumnar morphometry in subjects with ASD also demonstrate a significant reduction of the peripheral neuropil space, which is the site of GABA-ergic lateral inhibition in the brain (34).

Transcranial magnetic stimulation has also been used to investigate excitation-inhibition imbalance in ASD. Specifically,

paired-pulse TMS paradigms, involving the "pairing" of a "conditioning stimulus" with a "test stimulus" at different interstimulus intervals, have been used to assess cortical inhibition (CI) and facilitation. CI is the neurophysiological process in which inhibitory GABA-ergic interneurons selectively attenuate the activity of pyramidal neurons in the cortex. It has been suggested that CI is key to the regulation of neuroplasticity, and the therapeutic effects of rTMS could be mediated by the induction of local changes in CI (35). Emerging evidence indicates that post-synaptic GABA_B receptor-mediated CI is crucial for the regulation of neuroplasticity. GABA_B regulates neuroplasticity in two ways: (a) they contribute to the regulation of inhibition by mediating long-lasting inhibitory post-synaptic potentials (IPSPs) and (b) they reduce GABA_A receptor-mediated inhibition through presynaptic autoinhibition of inhibitory interneurons (36). Using paired-pulse TMS paradigms, studies have found evidence for excitationinhibition imbalance in a subgroup of individuals with ASD (37, 38). Other studies have shown no abnormality in CI (18, 39) or a heterogeneous response to this paradigm (40). The heterogeneity in these findings reflects the known heterogeneity of ASD at both the behavioral and the physiological level.

rTMS in the Assessment of Neuroplasticity in ASD

Repetitive TMS, which involves repetitive delivery of pulses (>1 Hz), is used to modulate cortical activity for investigative and therapeutic purposes [see review by Kobayashi and Pascual-Leone (41)]. rTMS has been increasingly used to study neuroplasticity in humans. The basic premise is that rTMS can modulate activity in the targeted brain region for a duration that can outlast the effects of stimulation itself (30). It is believed that rTMS induces such lasting changes in the brain through altering neuroplasticity mechanisms (42). So far, two rTMS paradigms – theta-burst stimulation (TBS) (17) and paired associative stimulation (PAS) (18) – have been used to assess neuroplasticity in ASD.

Theta-Burst Stimulation

Theta-burst stimulation involves the delivery of a burst of three pulses at 50 Hz (i.e., 20 ms between stimulus) repeated at intervals of 200 ms (i.e., 5 Hz, hence called theta-burst) (43). TBS comprises two well-established patterned stimulation protocols - continuous TBS (also known as cTBS) and intermittent TBS or iTBS. cTBS paradigm involves the delivery of continuous uninterrupted TBS for 40 s. In the iTBS paradigm, a 2-s train of TBS is repeated every 10 s for a total of 190 s. However, the total number of pulses delivered may vary from one study to another. In the original study, Huang et al. (43) used 600 pulses. iTBS produces sustained enhancement, whereas cTBS is associated with lasting suppression of cortical activity, indexed by potentiation and suppression of motor-evoked potential (MEP) following single-pulse TMS in the contralateral thumb muscle, respectively (43). It is believed that such lasting changes induced by iTBS and cTBS reflect LTP- and LTD-like mechanisms in the brain (43), and in previous experiments, they have been found to be mediated by NMDA receptor (44) and GABA receptor pathways (45), respectively.

Paired Associative Stimulation

Paired associative stimulation is another well-established rTMS paradigm that has been associated with the induction of LTP-like neuroplasticity (PAS-LTP). It has been shown that PAS-LTP is mediated by NMDA receptors (46). The PAS protocol involves the repetitive delivery of two paired (180 pairs at 0.1 Hz for 30 min) stimulations: (1) an electrical peripheral nerve stimulation of the right median nerve, and 25 ms later, a (2) TMS pulse delivered to the contralateral motor cortex (M1) (hence PAS-25). PAS-25 results in LTP-like neuroplasticity that manifests as the potentiation of MEP in the thumb muscle following single-pulse TMS (46).

Safety of rTMS in ASD

Available limited data indicate that rTMS, when applied within established safety guidelines, is well tolerated and safe in both adult and pediatric ASD populations (47, 48). There is no current evidence of increased risk of seizure (48).

rTMS Studies Assessing Neuroplasticity in ASD

Asperger's disorder (AD), which was a subtype of the DSM-IV Pervasive Developmental Disorder, has now been subsumed under ASD in DSM-5 (1). A more direct evidence of aberrant neuroplasticity in AD subjects has been shown by recent rTMS studies using TBS and PAS paradigms. All these studies, however, have assessed neuroplasticity in the motor cortex (M1). One group found greater and long-lasting modulation of neuroplasticity (reflective of aberrant hyperplasticity) following both forms of TBS (cTBS and iTBS) in a small cohort (40) and, subsequently, in a relatively bigger sample of adults with AD (17). Another group, examining LTP-like neuroplasticity in a mixed cohort of adolescents and adults with AD using PAS, obtained similar results, i.e., aberrant neuroplasticity (18); however, the direction of aberrant neuroplasticity was different. In this study, it was found that, compared to typically developing subjects, PASinduced LTP-like plasticity was significantly deficient (reflective of aberrant hypoplasticity) in the AD group.

Assessing Neuroplasticity in ASD Subjects Using rTMS: Future Considerations

At present, research assessing neuroplasticity using rTMS in ASD population is at an early stage. Studies so far have only tested high-functioning ASD subjects at the motor cortex (M1). Furthermore, findings obtained in the adult population may not be generalized to the pediatric population. For example, Oberman et al. (47) found a "paradoxical facilitatory effect" to cTBS in more than one-third of their sample consisting of children and adolescents. Therefore, to what extent current findings can be generalized is certainly not very clear at present. The potential factors that need to be considered by future research are heterogeneity in the ASD population, potential impact of the presence/absence of comorbidities including intellectual disabilities, medication use, developmental age, site of stimulation, stimulation parameters (e.g., TBS versus PAS), etc.

The other important point for consideration is that all existing studies utilizing rTMS have assessed neuroplasticity at the motor

cortex (M1) of ASD brain. In the future, studies need to look at neuroplasticity in other potential areas of interest in the ASD brain. Information regarding which sites to choose for assessing neuroplasticity in ASD brain may come from existing rTMS intervention studies. So far, studies that used rTMS for therapeutic purposes to improve either symptoms or physiological and cognitive indices have focused on four areas of ASD brain - the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), supplementary motor area, and right pars triangularis and pars opercularis [for a review see Oberman et al. (49)]. The DLPFC was chosen due to its extensive network connection with other specialized distributed and local networks in brain (34). Dorsomedial PFC (dmPFC) is another key area for stimulation since it is believed to be uniquely linked with the mentalizing ability (50). A recent trial of deep rTMS delivered bilaterally to the dmPFC significantly improved social relatedness in ASD subjects (51). Therefore, both DLPFC and mPFC could be potential sites of interest for studying neuroplasticity in ASD. Other brain areas related to mentalizing, such as the temporoparietal junction (TPJ) (52), and facial processing, such as superior temporal sulcus (53), could be potential sites for stimulation as well.

Establishing a stimulation paradigm to reliably assess neuroplasticity from these key areas of brain is challenging; however, the combination of TMS with electroencephalography (TMS–EEG) offers researchers an exciting opportunity to gather a more direct measure of neuroplasticity from these areas of brain. Previously, our group established that TMS–EEG can be a reliable method to measure neuroplasticity from M1 and also DLPFC (54). More recently, using a pioneering technique that combines PAS with EEG – "PAS–EEG," our group assessed and successfully demonstrated PAS-induced potentiation of cortical evoked activity, which is reflective of LTP-like neuroplasticity, in DLPFC (55). A similar TMS–EEG approach may be useful for studying neuroplasticity in other key areas of brain. For example, TBS can be combined with EEG to investigate neuroplasticity measures.

In the future, TMS–EEG can also be combined with various social–cognitive tasks and functional neuroimaging to better elucidate the brain–behavior relationship in ASD. Ultimately, TMS–EEG will be combined with genetic research to better elucidate the link between underlying genetic factors (i.e., polymorphisms) and aberration in neuroplasticity captured more directly by TMS–EEG cortical readout. Results from a few early exploratory studies assessing the impact of single-nucleotide polymorphisms, e.g., brain-derived neurotrophic factor valine-to-methionine substitution at codon 66 (Val66Met) genotype (56), on TMS-induced plasticity measures have so far been encouraging.

Can rTMS be Used as a Therapeutic Tool to Rectify Aberrant Neuroplasticity in ASD?

Repetitive TMS affords researchers to design specific stimulation protocols that can modulate neuroplasticity, and such neuroplasticity-based brain stimulation interventions look promising. Recently, in a randomized double-blind sham-controlled study, our group demonstrated that application of 1,500 pulses/session of high-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS to DLPFC can "normalize" working memory deficits in schizophrenia (57). One possible mechanism of such improvement is enhancement of neuroplasticity in the DLPFC. There is a need to explore similar approach to treat aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD.

What rTMS Stimulation Protocol to Choose for Stabilizing Aberrant Neuroplasticity in ASD?

Since aberrant neuroplasticity has been linked with the pathogenesis of ASD (7, 8), there is an urgent need to explore treatment paradigms that can stabilize aberrant neuroplasticity and thus potentially facilitate optimal social and cognitive performance and improve restricted and repetitive behaviors in ASD. In this regard, we would like to propose the potential role of extended dosing (i.e., 6,000 pulses) of high-frequency (i.e., 20 Hz) rTMS (58).

In healthy adults, rTMS applied on M1 has been shown to enhance GABA-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission indexed by lengthening of the cortical silent period (CSP), a CI measure reflective of GABA_B-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission, with increased stimulation frequency. Our group found that the enhancement was maximal at 20 Hz (31). This finding breaks with convention that high-frequency stimulation results in excitation, whereas low-frequency stimulation results in inhibition, as 20-Hz rTMS, but not 1-Hz rTMS, resulted in a CSP prolongation (31, 58). One explanation is that 20-Hz rTMS may exert its inhibitory effect by selectively affecting networks involving fastspiking inhibitory interneurons that mainly oscillate at higher (i.e., 30-70 Hz) frequencies (58). A recent study by our group investigating differing durations or doses of rTMS on CI in M1 in healthy subjects found that even a single session of extended dosing (6,000 pulses) with high-frequency (20 Hz) pulses led to significant lengthening of the GABA_B-mediated CSP compared with other paradigms (58). This effect was not seen with active or sham 1- or 20-Hz rTMS at 1,200 pulses or 3,600 pulses.

It has been suggested that, depending on the direction and magnitude of inhibition, GABA_B receptor-mediated neurotransmission may attenuate neuroplasticity. In fact, baclofen, a GABAB agonist, significantly attenuated LTP-like neuroplasticity in M1 induced by PAS (59). Since extended dosing (i.e., 6,000 pulses) of such specific high-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS protocol (58) appears to maximally enhance GABA_B-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission, one approach would be to assess if such protocols are able to stabilize aberrant hyperplasticity seen in ASD. This line of approach is also consistent with the excitation-inhibition imbalance in ASD, i.e., a general deficit in GABA-ergic inhibition, an increased excitation/inhibition ratio (3), and an evidence of reduced expression of GABA_B receptors (33). In the future, proofof-principle studies are needed to test this assumption. Because of its simplicity and reliability, such experiments may begin at M1 to see if the delivery of 6,000 pulses at 20 Hz can stabilize aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD subjects. If successful, further pilot studies will be required to assess whether rectifying aberrant neuroplasticity translates into actual clinical improvement or not. These pilot studies may potentially stimulate key areas of ASD brain discussed above, i.e., DLPFC, TPJ, and dmPFC, and determine key stimulation parameters, duration of sessions, etc.

In summary, existing genetic and animal studies of ASD and evidence emerging from human rTMS studies have consistently indicated aberrant neuroplasticity in ASD brain. However, at this point, there are many unanswered questions regarding the exact etiopathological connection between aberrant neuroplasticity in the brain and development of autistic symptoms. Nevertheless, existing evidence still indicates that aberrant neuroplasticity could play a critical role in the pathogenesis of ASD. Therefore, it can be postulated that it may be possible to attain optimal social and cognitive performance in ASD by stabilizing aberrant neuroplasticity. In this context, we discussed a novel mechanism-driven approach toward achieving such goal using rTMS. If successful, this information will not only help us better understand the brain mechanisms involved in ASD but also stimulate trials testing mechanism-driven novel brain stimulation treatment paradigms for ASD.

Acknowledgments

PD is supported by the Innovation Fund from the Alternate Funding Plan of the Academic Health Sciences Centres of

References

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th Edition (DSM-5)*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Baio J. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years-autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2010. MMWR Surveill Summ (2014) 63:1–21.
- Rubenstein JL, Merzenich MM. Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/ inhibition in key neural systems. *Genes Brain Behav* (2003) 2(5):255–67. doi:10.1034/j.1601-183X.2003.00037.x
- Parellada M, Penzol MJ, Pina L, Moreno C, González-Vioque E, Zalsman G, et al. The neurobiology of autism spectrum disorders. *Eur Psychiatry* (2014) 29(1):11–9. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.02.005
- Chen JA, Penagarikano O, Belgard TG, Swarup V, Geschwind DH. The emerging picture of autism spectrum disorder: genetics and pathology. *Annu Rev Pathol* (2015) 10:111–44. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-012414-040405
- Ameis SH, Catani M. Altered white matter connectivity as a neural substrate for social impairment in autism spectrum disorder. *Cortex* (2015) 62:158–81. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2014.10.014
- Markram K, Markram H. The intense world theory a unifying theory of the neurobiology of autism. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2010) 21(4):224. doi:10.3389/ fnhum.2010.00224
- Murdoch JD, State MW. Recent developments in the genetics of autism spectrum disorders. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2013) 23(3):310–5. doi:10.1016/j. gde.2013.02.003
- Dolen G, Bear MF. Fragile X syndrome and autism: from disease model to therapeutic targets. J Neurodev Disord (2009) 1:133-40. doi:10.1007/ s11689-009-9015-x
- Jamain S, Quach H, Betancur C, Råstam M, Colineaux C, Gillberg IC, et al. Mutations of the X-linked genes encoding neuroligins NLGN3 and NLGN4 are associated with autism. *Nat Genet* (2003) 34(1):27–9. doi:10.1038/ng1136
- Tsai SJ. Is autism caused by early hyperactivity of brain derived neurotrophic factor? *Med Hypotheses* (2005) 65:79–82. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2005.01.034
- Durand CM, Betancur C, Boeckers TM, Bockmann J, Chaste P, Fauchereau F, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. *Nat Genet* (2007) 39(1):90–8. doi:10.1038/ng1933

Ontario and Dean's Fund, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto. TR receives research support from Brain Canada, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation (previously known as NARSAD), Canadian Foundation for Innovation, Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, Ontario Ministry of Research and Innovation, the US National Institute of Health, and the Weston Brain Institute. SA receives financial support from the O'Brien Scholar's Program, an Ontario Mental Health Foundation New Investigator Fellowship, and The University of Toronto Dean's Fund New Staff Grant. In the last 5 years, ZD received research and equipment in-kind support for an investigator-initiated study through Brainsway Inc. ZD has also served on the advisory board for Hoffmann-La Roche Limited and Merck and received speaker support from Sepracor and Eli Lilly. This work was supported by the Ontario Mental Health Foundation (OMHF), the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Brain and Behaviour Research Foundation, the Temerty Family and Grant Family, the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH) Foundation, and the Campbell Institute. We would like to thank Dr. Amanda Sawyer for her contribution toward preparing this manuscript.

- Morrow EM, Yoo SY, Flavell SW, Kim TK, Lin Y, Hill RS, et al. Identifying autism loci and genes by tracing recent shared ancestry. *Science* (2008) 321(5886):218–23. doi:10.1126/science.1157657
- Markram K, Rinaldi T, LaMendola D, Sandi C, Markram H. Abnormal fear conditioning and amygdala processing in an animal model of autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2008) 33:901–12. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301453
- Courchesne E, Campbell K, Solso S. Brain growth across the life span in autism: age-specific changes in anatomical pathology. *Brain Res* (2011) 22(1380):138–45. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.09.101
- Courchesne E, Pierce K, Schumann CM, Redcay E, Buckwalter JA, Kennedy DP, et al. Mapping early brain development in autism. *Neuron* (2007) 56(2):399–413. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.10.016
- Oberman L, Eldaief M, Fecteau S, Ifert-Miller F, Tormos JM, Pascual-Leone A. Abnormal modulation of corticospinal excitability in adults with Asperger disorder. *Eur J Neurosci* (2012) 36:2782–8. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08172.x
- Jung NH, Janzarik WG, Delvendahl I, Münchau A, Biscaldi M, Mainberger F, et al. Impaired induction of long-term potentiation-like plasticity in patients with high-functioning autism and Asperger syndrome. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2013) 55(1):83–9. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12012
- Shukla W, Vaillancourt DE. Treatment and physiology in Parkinson's disease and dystonia: using transcranial magnetic stimulation to uncover the mechanisms of action. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* (2014) 14(6):449. doi:10.1007/ s11910-014-0449-5
- Player MJ, Taylor JL, Weickert CS, Alonzo A, Sachdev P, Martin D, et al. Neuroplasticity in depressed individuals compared with healthy controls. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013) 38(11):2101–8. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.126
- Rajji TK, Rogasch NC, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Neuroplasticity-based brain stimulation interventions in the study and treatment of schizophrenia: a review. *Can J Psychiatry* (2013) 58(2):93–8.
- Bliss TVP, Cooke SF. Long-term potentiation and long-term depression: a clinical perspective. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* (2011) 66(Suppl 1):3–17. doi:10.1590/ S1807-59322011001300002
- Huerta PT, Volpe BT. Transcranial magnetic stimulation, synaptic plasticity and network oscillations. J Neuroeng Rehabil (2009) 6:1–10. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-6-7
- Li R, Huang F, Abbas A, Wigstrom H. Role of NMDA receptor subtypes in different forms of NMDA-dependent synaptic plasticity. *BMC Neurosci* (2007) 8:55. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-8-55

- Baroncelli L, Braschi C, Spolidoro M, Begenisic T, Maffei L, Sale A. Brain plasticity and disease: a matter of inhibition. *Neural Plast* (2011) 2011:286073. doi:10.1155/2011/286073
- Wallace GL, Eisenberg IW, Robustelli B, Dankner N, Kenworthy L, Giedd JN, et al. Longitudinal cortical development during adolescence and young adulthood in autism spectrum disorder: increased cortical thinning but comparable surface area changes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2015) 54(6):464–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2015.03.007
- Speed HE, Kouser M, Xuan Z, Reimers JM, Ochoa CF, Gupta N, et al. Autismassociated insertion mutation (InsG) of Shank3 Exon 21 causes impaired synaptic transmission and behavioral deficits. *J Neurosci* (2015) 35(26):9648–65. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3125-14.2015
- Moretti P, Levenson JM, Battaglia F, Atkinson R, Teague R, Antalffy B, et al. Learning and memory and synaptic plasticity are impaired in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *J Neurosci* (2006) 26:319–27. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2623-05.2006
- Etherton M, Földy C, Sharma M, Tabuchi K, Liu X, Shamloo M, et al. Autismlinked neuroligin-3 R451C mutation differentially alters hippocampal and cortical synaptic function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) **108**(33):13764–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1111093108
- Pascual-Leone A, Freitas C, Oberman L, Horvath JC, Halko M, Eldaief M, et al. Characterizing brain cortical plasticity and network dynamics across the age-span in health and disease with TMS-EEG and TMS-fMRI. *Brain Topogr* (2011) 24:302–15. doi:10.1007/s10548-011-0196-8
- Daskalakis ZJ, Möller B, Christensen BK, Fitzgerald PB, Gunraj C, Chen R. The effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cortical inhibition in healthy human subjects. *Exp Brain Res* (2006) 174:403–12. doi:10.1007/ s00221-006-0472-0
- Gatto CL, Broadie K. Genetic controls balancing excitatory and inhibitory synaptogenesis in neurodevelopmental disorder models. *Front Synaptic Neurosci* (2010) 2010(2):4. doi:10.3389/fnsyn.2010.00004
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Reutiman TJ, Thuras PD. Expression of GABA(B) receptors is altered in brains of subjects with autism. *Cerebellum* (2009) 8(1):64–9. doi:10.1007/s12311-008-0075-3
- Casanova MF, Sokhadze E, Opris I, Wang Y, Li X. Autism spectrum disorders: linking neuropathological findings to treatment with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Acta Paediatr* (2015) 104(4):346–55. doi:10.1111/apa.12943
- Fitzgerald PB, Fountain S, Daskalakis ZJ. A comprehensive review of the effects of rTMS on motor cortical excitability and inhibition. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2006) 117(12):2584–96. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2006.06.712
- Deisz RA. The GABA(B) receptor antagonist CGP 55845A reduces presynaptic GABA(B) actions in neocortical neurons of the rat in vitro. *Neuroscience* (1999) 93:1241–9. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00203-1
- Enticott PG, Rinehart NJ, Tonge BJ, Bradshaw JL, Fitzgerald PB. A preliminary transcranial magnetic stimulation study of cortical inhibition and excitability in high-functioning autism and Asperger disorder. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2010) 52(8):e179–83. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03665.x
- Enticott PG, Kennedy HA, Rinehart NJ, Tonge BJ, Bradshaw JL, Fitzgerald PB. GABAergic activity in autism spectrum disorders: an investigation of cortical inhibition via transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Neuropharmacology* (2013) 68:202–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.06.017
- Théoret H, Halligan E, Kobayashi M, Fregni F, Tager-Flusberg H, Pascual-Leone A. Impaired motor facilitation during action observation in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Curr Biol* (2005) 15(3):R84–5. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2005.01.022
- Oberman L, Ifert-Miller F, Najib U, Bashir S, Woollacott I, Gonzalez-Heydrich J, et al. Transcranial magnetic stimulation provides means to assess cortical plasticity and excitability in humans with fragile X syndrome and autism spectrum disorder. *Front Synaptic Neurosci* (2010) 2:26. doi:10.3389/ fnsyn.2010.00026
- Kobayashi M, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neurology. Lancet Neurol (2003) 2:145–56. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00321-1
- Ziemann U, Paulus W, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A, Byblow WD, Berardelli A, et al. Consensus: motor cortex plasticity protocols. *Brain Stimul* (2008) 1:164–82. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.006
- Huang YZ, Edwards MJ, Rounis E, Bhatia KP, Rothwell JC. Theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Neuron* (2005) 45:201–6. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2004.12.033

- Huang YZ, Chen RS, Rothwell JC, Wen HY. The after-effect of human theta burst stimulation is NMDA receptor dependent. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2007) 118:1028–32. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2007.01.021
- Stagg CJ, Wylezinska M, Matthews PM, Johansen-Berg H, Jezzard P, Rothwell JC, et al. Neurochemical effects of theta burst stimulation as assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *J Neurophysiol* (2009) 101(6):2872–7. doi:10.1152/jn.91060.2008
- Stefan K, Kunesch E, Cohen LG, Benecke R, Classen J. Induction of plasticity in the human motor cortex by paired associative stimulation. *Brain* (2000) 123:572–84. doi:10.1093/brain/123.3.572
- Oberman LM, Pascual-Leone A, Rotenberg A. Modulation of corticospinal excitability by transcranial magnetic stimulation in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2014) 8:627. doi:10.3389/ fnhum.2014.00627. eCollection 2014.
- 48. Oberman LM, Enticott PG, Casanova MF, Rotenberg A, Pascual-Leone A, McCracken JT. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) therapy for autism: an international consensus conference held in conjunction with the international meeting for autism research on May 13th and 14th, 2014. Front Hum Neurosci (2015) 8:1034. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.01034. eCollection 2014.
- Oberman LM, Rotenberg A, Pascual-Leone A. Use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord (2015) 45:524–36. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-1960-2
- Gallagher HL, Frith CD. Functional imaging of 'theory of mind'. *Trends Cogn* Sci (2003) 7(2):77–83. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(02)00025-6
- Enticott PG, Fitzgibbon BM, Kennedy HA, Arnold SL, Elliot D, Peachey AA, et al. Double-blind, randomized trial of deep repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) for autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Stimul* (2014) 7(2):206–11. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2013.10.004
- Kennedy DP, Adolphs R. The social brain in psychiatric and neurological disorders. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2012) 16(11):559–72. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2012.09.006
- Nomi JS, Uddin LQ. Face processing in autism spectrum disorders: from brain regions to brain networks. *Neuropsychologia* (2015) 71:201–16. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2015.03.029
- Daskalakis ZJ, Farzan F, Barr MS, Maller JJ, Chen R, Fitzgerald PB. Longinterval cortical inhibition from the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex: a TMS-EEG study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2008) 33(12):2860–9. doi:10.1038/ npp.2008.22
- Rajji TK, Sun Y, Zomorrodi-Moghaddam R, Farzan F, Blumberger DM, Mulsant BH, et al. PAS-induced potentiation of cortical evoked activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013) 38(12):2545–52. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.161
- Cheeran B, Talelli P, Mori F, Koch G, Suppa A, Edwards M, et al. A common polymorphism in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene (BDNF) modulates human cortical plasticity and the response to rTMS. *J Physiol* (2008) 586:5717–25. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.159905
- Barr MS, Farzan F, Rajji TK, Voineskos AN, Blumberger DM, Arenovich T, et al. Can repetitive magnetic stimulation improve cognition in schizophrenia? Pilot data from a randomized controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 73(6):510–7. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.08.020
- de Jesus DR, Favalli GPD, Hoppenbrouwers SS, Barr MS, Chen R, Fitzgerald PB, et al. Determining optimal rTMS parameters through changes in cortical inhibition. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2014) **125**(4):755–62. doi:10.1016/j. clinph.2013.09.011
- McDonnell MN, Orekhov Y, Ziemann U. Suppression of LTP-like plasticity in human motor cortex by the GABAB receptor agonist baclofen. *Exp Brain Res* (2007) 180:181–6. doi:10.1007/s00221-006-0849-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Desarkar, Rajji, Ameis and Daskalakis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Neurocognitive effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in adolescents with major depressive disorder

Christopher A. Wall^{1,2}*, Paul E. Croarkin^{1,2}, Shawn M. McClintock^{3,4}, Lauren L. Murphy¹, Lorelei A. Bandel¹, Leslie A. Sim^{1,2} and Shirlene M. Sampson¹

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

² Division of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

³ Neurocognitive Research Laboratory, Division of Brain Stimulation and Neurophysiology, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, USA

⁴ Department of Psychiatry, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

Edited by:

Stephanie Ameis, University of Toronto, Canada

Reviewed by:

Peter G. Enticott, Deakin University, Australia Daniel Blumberger, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Canada

*Correspondence:

Christopher A. Wall, Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic, 200 First Street South West, Rochester, MN 55905, USA e-mail: wall.chris@mayo.edu **Objectives:** It is estimated that 30–40% of adolescents with major depressive disorder (MDD) do not receive full benefit from current antidepressant therapies. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) is a novel therapy approved by the US Food and Drug Administration to treat adults with MDD. Research suggests rTMS is not associated with adverse neurocognitive effects in adult populations; however, there is no documentation of its neurocognitive effects in adolescents. This is a secondary *post hoc* analysis of neurocognitive outcome in adolescents who were treated with open-label rTMS in two separate studies.

Methods: Eighteen patients (mean age, 16.2 ± 1.1 years; 11 females, 7 males) with MDD who failed to adequately respond to at least one antidepressant agent were enrolled in the study. Fourteen patients completed all 30 rTMS treatments (5 days/week, 120% of motor threshold, 10 Hz, 3,000 stimulations per session) applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Depression was rated using the Children's Depression Rating Scale-Revised. Neurocognitive evaluation was performed at baseline and after completion of 30 rTMS treatments with the Children's Auditory Verbal Learning Test (CAVLT) and Delis–Kaplan Executive Function System Trail Making Test.

Results: Over the course of 30 rTMS treatments, adolescents showed a substantial decrease in depression severity. Commensurate with improvement in depressive symptoms was a statistically significant improvement in memory and delayed verbal recall. Other learning and memory indices and executive function remained intact. Neither participants nor their family members reported clinically meaningful changes in neurocognitive function.

Conclusion: These preliminary findings suggest rTMS does not adversely impact neurocognitive functioning in adolescents and may provide subtle enhancement of verbal memory as measured by the CAVLT. Further controlled investigations with larger sample sizes and rigorous trial designs are warranted to confirm and extend these findings.

Keywords: adolescents, depression, neurocognition, memory, learning, TMS

INTRODUCTION

Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) is a novel treatment approach for medication-resistant patients with major depressive disorder (MDD). Repetitive TMS has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of adults with MDD who fail to achieve satisfactory improvement from one prior adequate antidepressant treatment trial. Although several sham-controlled studies have indicated that rTMS is efficacious in adults with MDD (1–4), there have been few studies in adolescents. We recently reported results of an open-label pilot study that found rTMS to be a potentially effective adjunctive therapy for adolescents with treatment-resistant MDD (5). Adolescents showed statistically significant improvement in the Children's Depression

Rating Scale-Revised (CDRS-R) from baseline through the rTMS treatment series (30 sessions) and at 6-month follow-up. A second, recently completed replication trial in 10 adolescents revealed similar findings for clinical improvement in treatment completers (submitted). In both studies, assessments of cognitive functioning were performed at baseline and treatment completion.

A number of studies have indicated that rTMS treatment for MDD is not associated with adverse effects on neuropsychological functions such as attention, learning, and memory (2, 3, 6–9), but these investigations have only included adults. Not only have studies not shown any deterioration in neuropsychological functioning from rTMS, but several investigations have shown an improvement in neurocognitive function in adult patients with MDD. For example, in a sham-controlled study by Avery et al. (1), adults with MDD showed considerably improved performance on measures of attention, learning and memory, and cognitive flexibility following 10 sessions of 10 Hz rTMS applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (L-DLPFC). Furthermore, two sham-controlled studies reported improvement in verbal memory performance as a result of multiple sessions of 10 Hz rTMS treatment to the L-DLPFC in adults with MDD (10, 11). Also, following multiple sessions of 10 Hz rTMS to the L-DLPFC in depressed adults, Fitzgerald et al. (12) found that there was significant improvement in neuropsychological function, including autobiographical memory; and Martis et al. (13) reported improvement in working memory and executive function. Recently, Luber and Lisanby described a review of over 60 TMS studies that reported "significant improvements in speed and accuracy in a variety of tasks involving perceptual, motor, and executive processing" (14).

In the present study we evaluated the neurocognitive effects of rTMS when used as an adjunctive treatment for adolescents with treatment-resistant MDD. We hypothesized that adolescents would demonstrate no difference in measures of memory, executive functioning, or auditory and visual learning tasks following a robust course of left-sided, high-frequency rTMS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS PARTICIPANTS

Participants were diagnostically assessed by a board-certified child and adolescent psychiatrists (Paul E. Croarkin and Christopher A. Wall). This included a comprehensive clinical evaluation and standardized diagnostic interview that utilized the Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children - Present and Lifetime Version (K-SADS-PL) (15). At the time of enrollment, all participants were receiving active antidepressant treatment for an MDD episode according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) (16). Clinically significant depressive symptoms were defined by CDRS-R (17) total score of at least 40 (t score >63). Participants included those with treatment failure/non-response to at least one adequate antidepressant trial [i.e., treated with stable selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) dose regimen for at least 6 weeks as defined by a score of ≥ 3 on the Antidepressant Treatment History Form] (18). All participants continued treatment with a stable dose of their prestudy antidepressant during the rTMS course. Participants in psychotherapy were ineligible if they had changed therapists, type of psychotherapy, or providers in the 4 weeks prior to rTMS initiation. Participants were allowed to continue previous sleep aids such as melatonin, trazodone, or diphenhydramine during treatment. Stimulants, antipsychotics, mood stabilizers, and tricyclic antidepressants were not permitted during the active treatment phase.

Patients with comorbid secondary diagnoses of dysthymia, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, or anxiety disorders were eligible for enrollment. However, patients with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, bipolar spectrum disorders, substance abuse or dependence, somatoform disorders, dissociative disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, eating disorders, mental retardation, or pervasive developmental disorder/autism spectrum disorders were excluded from participation. Medical exclusions included preexisting seizure disorders or active neurologic conditions (e.g., brain tumor, dyskinesias, or paralysis). The screening process included a urine toxicology screen for drugs of abuse and a urine pregnancy test. All participants and treaters wore earplugs during the sessions to minimize the risk of auditory threshold changes.

STUDY OVERVIEW

Both trials were prospective, open, multicenter pilot trial of active rTMS in adolescents with MDD confirmed by the K-SADS-PL. Both studies received institutional review board approval and were performed under United States Food and Drug Administration Investigational Device Exemptions: trial #1 - G060269 and trial #2 - G110091. All patients provided written informed assent, and parents provided written informed consent per institutional review board-approved guidelines. Recruitment, outcomes, and potential adverse effects were monitored by a Data and Safety Monitoring Board comprised of clinicians with no direct involvement in the study.

rTMS PROCEDURES

Identification of the treatment site and stimulus dosing were based on previously defined techniques and guidelines noted in adult rTMS trials (4, 19). In both trials, the motor cortex was identified, using the rTMS machinery via a single pulse administered every 3–5 s, at the location that produced a localized contraction of the contralateral abductor pollicis brevis muscle. Once this site was defined, the resting motor threshold (MT) was determined using a computer-assisted maximum likelihood threshold-hunting algorithm (MT Assist, Neuronetics Inc., Malvern, PA, USA). Repeat MT determinations occurred at least once every 10 treatments to assess for possible changes that could produce safety issues due to changes in cortical excitability.

In trial #1, the L-DLPFC treatment location was determined by moving the treatment coil 5 cm anterior to the MT location along a left superior oblique plane (20). In trial #2, the L-DLPFC treatment location was determined via an MRI-based neurolocalization technique. The identified treatment site was then marked and spatial coordinates were recorded with a mechanical coil positioning system to ensure reproducibility of the coil placement.

In both trials, a total of 30 treatments were administered across a range of 6–8 weeks. This range was chosen for potential variation in patient schedules related to school and family events. Thus, each patient was offered a total of 40 treatment opportunities in which to complete 30 treatments. Each treatment was titrated to 120% of calculated MT, at a frequency of 10 Hz, with stimulus train duration of 4 s and an inter-train interval of 26 s, for a total of 3,000 stimulations per treatment session. In trial #1, rTMS was delivered using the Neuronetics Model 2100 Therapy System; in trial #2 treatments were delivered using the NeuroStar System (Neuronetics, Inc., Malvern, PA, USA).

NEUROCOGNITIVE ASSESSMENTS

Neurocognitive testing was administered by trained psychometrists at baseline and upon completion of the active rTMS treatments. Testing was typically performed in the afternoon hours, although not universally due to scheduling accommodations related to subject school obligations, family work hours, and clinician/psychometrist availability. A doctorate-level child psychologist (Leslie A. Sim) analyzed the results. The neurocognitive battery was tailored to assess a variety of neurocognitive domains including psychomotor speed, simple attention, learning, memory, and executive function. Specifically, the battery included the Children's Auditory Verbal Learning Test-2 (CAVLT-2) (21) and the Delis–Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS) (22) Trail Making Test.

The CAVLT-2 (21) is a measure designed to quantify a child's (ages 6.6-17.11) verbal learning and memory abilities. The measure is comprised of a 16-item word list that is administered across five trials, and the participant is asked to recall the words after each trial. A different set of words is then presented and the participant is asked to immediately recall the items from the new list (Interference Trial). Following the interference list, the participant is instructed to recall as many items as possible from the original list (immediate recall). Following a 15 min delay, the participant is asked to recall the original list for a final time (delayed recall). Finally, the participant is presented with a 32-item word list and asked to recognize the 16 words from the original list (Recognition Trial). The CAVLT-2 yields multiple indices of learning and memory, including immediate memory span, level of learning, immediate recall, delayed recall, recognition accuracy, and total intrusions.

The D-KEFS Trail Making Test is used to assess components of cognitive flexibility on a visual-motor sequencing task (23). It consists of five conditions: (a) Visual Scanning, (b) Number Sequencing, (c) Letter Sequencing, (d) Motor Speed, and (e) Number-Letter Switching. The D-KEFS Trail Making Test was selected to assess aspects of executive function, particularly cognitive flexibility, as it is influenced by mood and anxiety states. Importantly, the D-KEFS has been normed for the age group of children in this trial and provides standardized scores (24). Based on adequate reliability and validity of these tests along with appropriate developmental normative data, these neuropsychological measures (CAVLT-2 and D-KEFS TMT) were thought to be developmentally appropriate tools to assess subtle changes in cognitive function of adolescents receiving rTMS treatments.

Safety and participant comfort were assessed and recorded before and after each study visit with prompted opportunities to report adverse events.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The primary aim of this study was to assess whether adjunctive rTMS is a safe and feasible treatment approach in adolescents. This question was evaluated by neurocognitive assessments that occurred at baseline and immediately following treatment number 30. Within patient changes from baseline to treatment completion were examined with comparative statistics.

Neurocognitive measurements obtained at baseline and immediately following treatment were summarized using mean and standard deviation (\pm SD). The paired *t*-test was used to assess whether scores changed significantly from baseline to end of treatment. For these analyses, two-tailed *P*-values of ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant. In addition to the primary analyses which included all enrolled subjects, a subset analysis was performed that was restricted to subjects who completed treatment. All analyses were performed using SAS software, version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

RESULTS

Of the 18 adolescents enrolled in both trials, 14 adolescents (5 males and 9 females; ages 13.9-17.8 years; mean age, 16.3 ± 1.1 years) completed the entire rTMS treatment course (clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT00587639). Fourteen out of 14 adolescents who completed the entire treatment course also completed neurocognitive testing at baseline and treatment completion. Subjectively, no reportable changes in memory, cognitive functioning, or attention were noted by any of the participating adolescents or their families. Objectively, subtle but statistically significant improvement was observed in immediate memory and delayed recall as measured by the CAVLT when measured in all study participants (Table 1; Figure 1) and participants who completed all 30 rTMS sessions of the treatment protocol (Table 2; Figure 2). All other CAVLT indices of learning and memory (interference, immediate recall, or level of learning) remained stable over the course of treatment (Table 1).

No significant changes were noted on the D-KEFS Trail Making Test indices from baseline to treatment completion for either the all participant group (**Table 3**; **Figure 3**) or the treatment completers only group (**Table 4**; **Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first report on neurocognitive outcomes within a clinical trial of rTMS in depressed adolescents. The neurocognitive safety findings of this case series of high-frequency rTMS in treatment-resistant depressed adolescents are consistent with previously reported findings in clinical trials of rTMS in adults with psychiatric illness. Previous adult trials have frequently included cognitive assessments that demonstrated rTMS to have no adverse effects on cognitive functions (2, 3, 6–9, 25). Interestingly, a number of these clinical trials in adults have shown time-limited improvements in various aspects of cognitive function, mainly in attention, concentration, working memory, and processing speed (10– 13). Similarly, modest improvements in attention, and verbal and learning and memory were observed in this cohort of adolescents.

LIMITATIONS

Clearly, these findings must be interpreted with caution due to the small total number of participants and the lack of a control group. However, if there was a distinct pattern of clinically and psychometrically meaningful adverse cognitive effects – as could

CAVLT subscales		N	Score Mean	Change from baseline Mean (SD)	Change (95% Cl)	P-value	Cohen's d
			Iviean	Mean (SD)	(35 /8 CI)		
Immediate Memory Scale	BL	18	98.6	-	-	_	-
	PT	18	113.1	14.5 (12.0)	(8.5, 20.5)	<0.0001	0.81
Level of learning	BL	18	98.4	-	_	_	-
	PT	18	106.2	7.7 (17.7)	(-1.1, 16.5)	0.0814	0.37
Interference	BL	18	104.4	-	_	-	-
	PT	18	109.2	4.7 (13.1)	(-1.8, 11.2)	0.1434	0.30
Immediate recall	BL	18	98.5	-	-	-	-
	PT	18	100.2	1.7 (11.9)	(-4.2, 7.6)	0.5596	0.08
Delayed recall	BL	18	94.7	-	_		
	PT	18	102.3	7.6 (13.8)	(0.7, 14.5)	0.0319	0.33

Table 1 | Children's Auditory Verbal Learning Task (CAVLT) results (all participants).

BL, baseline; PT, post-treatment.



be found in a robust course of electroconvulsive therapy – we would expect to see these findings even in this small group of participants. It is reassuring to note that none of the participants or their family members described any impairments (or marked improvements) in learning, memory, or other untoward cognitive effects.

CONCLUSION

Collectively, the findings of this study combined with our prior clinical findings suggest that rTMS may be a safe, feasible, and

potentially efficacious adjunctive therapy for adolescents with MDD given the lack of negative changes in cognitive functioning and reduced overall side-effect burden (4, 5). Future studies of rTMS in adolescents will need to monitor for cognitive changes, which would benefit from the use of a comprehensive, standardized, and validated neurocognitive battery that will be sensitive to cognitive changes, particularly in those cognitive domains essential for continued academic maturation and instrumental activities of daily living. Such a neurocognitive battery should assess domains of intellectual ability, processing speed, attention,

Table 2	Children's Auditory V	/erbal Learning Task (CAVLT) results (treatment completers).
---------	-----------------------	-----------------------------	-----------------------------------

CAVLT subscales		N	Score Mean	Change from baseline Mean (SD)	Change (95% Cl)	P-value	Cohen's d
Immediate Memory Scale	BL	14	95.6	_	_	_	_
	PT	14	109.4	13.8 (12.6)	(6.5, 21.1)	0.0013	0.77
Level of learning	BL	14	99.4	-	_	_	_
	PT	14	105.1	5.7 (18.8)	(-5.2, 16.6)	0.2764	0.25
Interference	BL	14	101.1	-	_	-	-
	PT	14	106.1	5.0 (13.2)	(-2.6, 12.6)	0.1786	0.31
Immediate recall	BL	14	97.3	-	_	-	-
	PT	14	99.9	2.6 (13.3)	(-5.1, 10.3)	0.4707	0.11
Delayed recall	BL	14	94.9	_	_		
	PT	14	100.9	6.0 (14.1)	(-2.1, 14.1)	0.1353	0.24

BL, baseline; PT, post-treatment.



Table 3 | Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS) Trail Making Test results (all participants).

D-KEFS subscales		N	Score	Change from baseline	Change	P-value	Cohen's <i>d</i>
			Mean	Mean (SD)	(95% CI)		
Number sequencing	BL	18	10.1	-	_	_	_
	PT	18	11.1	1.1 (3.2)	(-0.5, 2.7)	0.1735	0.38
Letter sequencing	BL	18	10.3	_	_	_	-
	PT	18	11.3	1.0 (2.9)	(-0.4, 2.4)	0.1604	0.42
Composite score	BL	18	10.7	-	_	_	-
	PT	18	11.8	1.1 (2.9)	(-0.4, 2.6)	0.1259	0.43



Table 4	Dalla Kar	lan Evaautiva I	Cumatian Cuatan	n (D-KEFS) Trail Ma	aking Taat saasilta	two others a set o a set	alatara)
lable 4	i Dells-Rac	nan Executive i	runction System	II (D-KEFS) Irali ivia	aking lest results.	ttreatment com	Dietersi

D-KEFS subscales		N	Score	Change from baseline	Change	P-value	Cohen's d
			Mean	Mean (SD)	(95% CI)		
Number Sequencing	BL	14	10.3	-	-	_	_
	PT	14	11.1	0.9 (3.6)	(-1.2, 3.0)	0.3854	0.28
Letter sequencing	BL	14	10.9	-	-	-	-
	PT	14	11.6	0.7 (2.7)	(-0.9, 2.3)	0.3405	0.31
Composite score	BL	14	11.2	-	-	_	-
	PT	14	12.0	0.8 (3.1)	(-1.0, 2.6)	0.3629	0.30



learning and memory, working memory, and executive function. Indeed, Semkovska and McLoughlin recommended the development of standardized and validated tools to measure the ability to recall autobiographical events in patients with depression (26). Such a measure would be of particular value in the adolescent population.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. Paul E. Croarkin has received grant/research support from the National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression (NARSAD), Pfizer Inc., and Stanley Medical Research Foundation. Drs. Christopher A. Wall and Shirlene M. Sampson have received equipment support (disposable e-shields and Senstar shields) from Neuronetics, Malvern, PA, USA. Dr. Shawn M. McClintock has received grant/research support from NARSAD, the National Institute of Mental Health, and was a consultant for Shire. Dr. Lauren L. Murphy, Dr. Leslie A. Sim, Dr. Shirlene M. Sampson and Ms. Lorelei A. Bandel have no potential conflicts to declare. The authors would like to thank Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) members from both trials including Louis Kraus, MD (DSMB Chair, Rush University Medical Center), John E. Huxsahl, MD (Division of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic), Kirti Saxena, MD (University of Texas Southwestern), Simon Kung, MD (Mayo Clinic), and Tanya Brown Ph.D. (Mayo Clinic) for providing oversight during the conduct of these studies. We would also like to thank the O'Shaughnessy (Woolls') Foundation for providing generous infrastructure support of the neurostimulation program.

REFERENCES

- 1. Avery D, Claypoole K, Robinson L, Neumaier JF, Dunner DL, Scheele L, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of medicationresistant depression: preliminary data. *J Nerv Ment Dis* (1999) **187**:114–7.
- Fitzgerald P, Benitez J, de Castella A, Daskalakis ZJ, Brown TL, Kulkarni J. A randomized, controlled trial of sequential bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for treatment-resistant depression. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163:88–94. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.88
- George MS, Nahas Z, Molloy M, Speer AM, Oliver NC, Li XB, et al. A controlled trial of daily left prefrontal cortex TMS for treating depression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2000) 48:962–70. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01048-9
- O'Reardon JP, Solvason HB, Janicak PG, Sampson S, Isenberg KE, Nahas Z, et al. Efficacy and safety of transcranial magnetic stimulation in the acute treatment of major depression: a multisite randomized controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(11):1208–16. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.01.018
- Wall CA, Croarkin PE, Sim LA, Husain MM, Janicak PG, Kozel FA, et al. Adjunctive use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in depressed adolescents: a prospective, open pilot study. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2011) **72**(9):1263–9. doi:10.4088/JCP.11m07003
- Loo CK, Mitchell PB, Croker VM, Malhi GS, Wen W, Gandevia SC, et al. Doubleblind controlled investigation of bilateral prefrontal transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of resistant major depression. *Psychol Med* (2003) 33:33–40. doi:10.1017/S0033291702006839
- Loo CK, Mitchell PB, McFarquhar TF, Malhi GS, Sachdev PS. A sham-controlled trial of the efficacy and safety of twice-daily rTMS in major depression. *Psychol Med* (2007) 37:341–9. doi:10.1017/S0033291706009597
- O'Connor M, Brenninkmeyer C, Morgan A, Bloomingdale K, Thall M, Vasile R, et al. Relative effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation and electroconvulsive therapy on mood and memory: a neurocognitive risk-benefit analysis. *Cogn Behav Neurol* (2003) 16:118–27. doi:10.1097/00146965-200306000-00005
- Vanderhasselt MA, De Raedt R, Leyman L, Baeken C. Acute effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on attentional control are related to antidepressant outcomes. J Psychiatry Neurosci (2009) 34(2):119–26.

- Holtzheimer PE III, Russo J, Claypoole KH, Roy-Byrne P, Avery DH, Holtzheimer P III, et al. Shorter duration of depressive episode may predict response to repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Depress Anxiety* (2004) 19:24–30. doi:10.1002/da.10147
- 11. Padberg F, Zwanzger P, Thoma H, Kathmann N, Haag C, Greenberg BD, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in pharmacotherapy-refractory major depression: comparative study of fast, slow and sham rTMS. *Psychiatry Res* (1999) 88:163–71. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(99) 00092-X
- Fitzgerald PB, Brown TL, Marston NA, Daskalakis ZJ, De Castella A, Kulkarni J. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2003) **60**:1002–8. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.9.1002
- Martis B, Alam D, Dowd SM, Hill SK, Sharma RP, Rosen C, et al. Neurocognitive effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in severe major depression. *Neurophysiol Clin* (2003) 114:1125–32. doi:10.1016/S1388-2457(03) 00046-4
- Luber B, Lisanby SH. Enhancement of human cognitive performance using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). *Neuroimage* (2013) 85(Pt 3):961–70. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.007
- Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, et al. Schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for school-age children-present and lifetime version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1997) 36(7):980–8. doi:10.1097/00004583-199707000-00021
- 16. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (4th ed. text rev.). Washington, DC: APA (2000).
- Poznanski EO, Freeman LN, Mokros HB. Children's Depression Rating Scale revised (September 1984). *Psychopharmacol Bull* (1985) 21(4):979–89.
- Sackeim HA. The definition and meaning of treatment-resistant depression. J Clin Psychiatry (2001) 62(Suppl 16):10–7.
- George MS, Lisanby SH, Avery D, McDonald WM, Durkalski V, Pavlicova M, et al. Daily left prefrontal transcranial magnetic stimulation therapy for major depressive disorder: a sham-controlled randomized trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67(5):507–16. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.46
- George MS, Wassermann EM, Williams WA, Callahan A, Ketter TA, Basser P, et al. Daily repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) improves mood in depression. *Neuroreport* (1995) 6(14):1853–6. doi:10.1097/00001756-199510020-00008
- Talley JL. Children's Auditory Verbal Learning Test. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (1993).
- Delis DC, Kramer JH, Kaplan E, Holdnack J. Reliability and validity of the Delis-Kaplan executive function system: an update. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2004) 10(2):301–3. doi:10.1017/S1355617704102191
- Shunk AW, Davis AS, Dean RS. Review of the Delis Kaplan executive function system (D-KEFS). Appl Neuropsychol (2007) 13(4):275–9. doi:10.1207/ s15324826an1304_9
- Fine EM, Delis DC, Holdnack J. Normative adjustments to the D-KEFS trail making test: corrections for education and vocabulary level. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2011) 25(8):1331–44. doi:10.1080/13854046.2011.609838
- Padberg F, George MS. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the prefrontal cortex in depression. *Exp Neurol* (2009) 219(1):2–13. doi:10.1016/ j.expneurol.2009.04.020
- Semkovska M, McLoughlin DM. Objective cognitive performance associated with electroconvulsive therapy for depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68(6):568–77. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06. 009

Conflict of Interest Statement: Study 1 was funded by an American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry/Eli Lilly Pilot Research Award (Dr. Christopher A. Wall); a Small Grant Award from the Department of Psychiatry and Psychology, Mayo Clinic (Dr. Christopher A. Wall); and a Stanley Medical Research Institute Center Grant (Dr. Paul E. Croarkin). For Study 2 Dr. Christopher A. Wall received funding via funded by the Klingenstein Third Generation Foundation Fellowship in Child and Adolescent Depression; the Mayo Clinic CReFF award and Mayo Clinic Kids' Cup scholarship. Funding was also provided by the National Institute of Mental Health (K23 MH087739, Dr. Shawn M. McClintock). Neuronetics, Malvern, PA, USA provided equipment support, but had no involvement in the protocol design or analysis. The other co-authors declare that the research was conducted in the

absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 October 2013; paper pending published: 18 October 2013; accepted: 25 November 2013; published online: 12 December 2013.

Citation: Wall CA, Croarkin PE, McClintock SM, Murphy LL, Bandel LA, Sim LA and Sampson SM (2013) Neurocognitive effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in adolescents with major depressive disorder. Front. Psychiatry **4**:165. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00165 This article was submitted to Neuropsychiatric Imaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry.

Copyright © 2013 Wall, Croarkin, McClintock, Murphy, Bandel, Sim and Sampson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

